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Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 11(6) –Appointment 
of Arbitrator by Designation – Held – Mere change of incumbents by reason of 
transfer or retirement would not make any difference as they were made 
members of Arbitral Tribunal by designation and not by name. [Ellora Paper 
Mills Ltd. Vs. State of M.P.] …2110

(DB)…2072

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 11¼6½ & y{; o mn~ns'; & 

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 11¼6½ & inuke 
}kjk e/;LFk dh fu;qfDr & 

Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Sections 11(6), 12(5) & 21 
and Arbitration and Conciliation (Amendment) Act, 2015 (3 of 2016), Section 
26 – Change of Arbitrator – Held – Apex Court concluded that Amendment 
Act of 2015 cannot have retrospective operation in the arbitration proceedings 
which had already commenced unless parties otherwise agree – In instant 
case, proceedings commenced before amendment came into force – 
Applicant failed to produce any material to show any bias or partiality on 
part of any member of Arbitral Tribunal – No need to appoint another arbitrator. 
[Ellora Paper Mills Ltd. Vs. State of M.P.] …2110

Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 11(6) – Aims & 
Objects – Held – This Act is a self contained code dealing with every aspect of 
arbitration – The legislative policy in consolidating all the laws relating to 
domestic arbitration, international commercial arbitration, enforcement of 
foreign arbitral awards is aimed at ensuring not only speedy disposal of 
arbitration cases but also timely execution of awards. [M.P. Road Development 
Corporation Vs. The Ministry of Road, Transport and Highways (MORT& H)] 

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk,¡ 11¼6½] 12¼5½ o 21 ,oa 
ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg ¼la'kks/ku½ vf/kfu;e] 2015 ¼2016 dk 3½] /kkjk 26 & e/;LFk dk 
ifjorZu &

 (Note : An asterisk (*) denotes Note number)
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Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 16 & 37(2) – Held 
– It is evident from Section 37(2) that it purposely does not provide for an 
appeal against an order of Arbitral Tribunal rejecting the plea referred u/S 
16(2) or 16(3) – Plea of petitioner jurisdiction or that proper notice of 
appointment of arbitrator was not given, may only be available to it as 
ground of challenge to the award if eventually it is passed against it. [M.P. 
Road Development Corporation Vs. The Ministry of Road, Transport and 
Highways (MORT & H)] (DB)…2072

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 11¼6½ o 37 & ns[ksa & 
lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226@227 

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 16 o 34 & O;kfIr o 
vf/kdkfjrk & 

Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 11(6) & 37 – See – 
Constitution – Article 226/227 [M.P. Road Development Corporation Vs. The 
Ministry of Road, Transport and Highways (MORT & H)] (DB)…2072

Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 16 & 34 –  Scope 
& Jurisdiction – Held – Once if Arbitral Tribunal takes a decision to reject the 
plea referred u/S 16(2) or 16(3), it shall continue with arbitral proceedings 
and make an arbitral award – It cannot be said that aggrieved party has been 
left remediless against rejection of his objection regarding jurisdiction of 
Tribunal, the only thing is that its remedy has been deferred till stage of 
Section 34 of the Act – No infirmity in Tribunal's order – Petition dismissed. 
[M.P. Road Development Corporation Vs. The Ministry of Road, Transport 
and Highways (MORT & H)] (DB)…2072
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(DB)…2072

(DB)…2072

Arbitration and Conciliation (Amendment) Act, 2015 (3 of 2016), 
Section 26 – See – Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996, Sections 11(6), 12(5) 
& 21 [Ellora Paper Mills Ltd. Vs. State of M.P.] …2110

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk,¡ 16¼2½] 34 o 37 ,oa 
ek/;LFke~ vf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e] e-Á- ¼1983 dk 29½] /kkjk 7&A & fookn dk 
U;k;fu.kZ;u & vf/kfu;e dh iz;ksT;rk &

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 16 o 37¼2½ & 

Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Sections 16(2), 34 & 37 
and Madhyastham Adhikaran Adhiniyam, M.P. (29 of 1983), Section 7-A – 
Adjudication of Dispute – Applicability of Act – Held – If despite existence of 
Arbitration Tribunal under the Act of 1983, parties have agreed for 
arbitration in accordance with ICADR Rules and Arbitration Act and 
consciously did not mention in agreement about existence of Arbitration 
Tribunal established under Act of 1983, which then was already in existence, 
petitioner cannot be permitted now to raise this plea. [M.P. Road Development 
Corporation Vs. The Ministry of Road, Transport and Highways (MORT & H)] 

ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg ¼la'kks/ku½ vf/kfu;e] 2015 ¼2016 dk 3½] /kkjk 26 & ns[ksa 
& ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e] 1996] /kkjk,¡ 11¼6½] 12¼5½ o 21 

Binding Precedent – Held – Observation made by Court in a 
judgment or order is not binding on Court – Reasons for the decision and 
findings of Court on an issue is binding precedent. [Suresh Kumar Kurve Vs. 
State of M.P.] …*15
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Civil Services (Classification, Control and Appeal) Rules, M.P. 1966, 
Rules 10, 14 & 15 and Constitution – Article 311(2)(b) – Punishment of 
Dismissal – Dispensing with Departmental Enquiry – Grounds – Lady 
constable lodged FIR against male constable (petitioner) u/S 452, 354, 354-
Gh, 376 & 506 IPC – Petitioner dismissed from service without departmental 
enquiry on ground that calling prosecutrix in enquiry would tarnish her 
image, dignity and respect – Held – Lady constable who can file FIR and 
would appear before Court, there should be no hitch while appearing in 
enquiry that too before police officers – Reason assigned for dispensing with 
regular departmental enquiry is unreasonable and unjustified – Article 
311(2)(b) cannot be applied – Impugned order of dismissal set aside – 
Petition allowed. [Amit Chaurasia Vs. State of M.P.] …2049

flfoy lsok ¼oxhZdj.k] fu;a=.k vkSj vihy½ fu;e] e-Á- 1966] fu;e 10] 14 o 
15 ,oa lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 311¼2½¼b½ & inP;qfr dk n.M & foHkkxh; tkap ls 
vfHkeqfDr & vk/kkj & 

flfoy lsok ¼oxhZdj.k] fu;a=.k vkSj vihy½ fu;e] e-Á- 1966] fu;e 10 o 14 
& eq[; n.M & foHkkxh; tkap &

…2049

Civil Services (Classification, Control and Appeal) Rules, M.P. 1966, 
Rule 10 & 14 – Major Punishment – Departmental Enquiry – Held – Major 
punishment like dismissal from service can be inflicted after conducting a 
regular departmental enquiry as per provisions of Rule 14 of the Rules of 
1966. [Amit Chaurasia Vs. State of M.P.] …2049

ck/;dkjh iwoZ fu.kZ; & 
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Constitution – Article 226 – Interference in Contractual Matter – Scope 
& Jurisdiction – Held – Interference can be made in contract matters if 
decision making process is arbitrary, capricious and hits Wednesbury principles. 
[Mohd. Sultan Khan Vs. Union of India] (DB)…2041

Constitution – Article 226 – Dismissal – Judicial Review – Scope – Held 
– Apex Court concluded that dismissal without conducting a departmental 
enquiry on the ground of being not reasonably practicable, is open for 
judicial review – Petition maintainable. [Amit Chaurasia Vs. State of M.P.] 

Constitution – Article 226 – Tender – Review of Decision – Decision of 
disqualification of Respondent No. 4 was reviewed by Committee and his bid 
was accepted – Held – In absence of enabling provision, decision to review the 
previous decision was wholly impermissible – No reasons assigned in 
minutes as to what compelled the committee to review the decision – Such 

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 14 & fu;qfDr & p;fur vH;fFkZ;ksa ds vf/kdkj & 

…2049

Constitution – Article 14 – Appointment – Rights of Selected Candidates 
– Held – State must give some justifiable and non-arbitrary reasons for not 
filling up the posts – It is not at the whims and fancies of State to keep the 
advertised post vacant when select list is operative, as same would run 
counter to the mandate of Article 14 of Constitution. [Shailesh Kumar 
Sonwane Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2092

Constitution – Article 22 – See – National Security Act, 1980, Section 
3(3) [Kamleshwar Dixit Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2035

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 22 & ns[ksa & jk"Vªh; lqj{kk vf/kfu;e] 1980] /kkjk 3¼3½ 

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & inP;qfr & U;kf;d iqufoZyksdu & O;kfIr & 

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & lafonkRed ekeys esa gLr{ksi & O;kfIr o 
vf/kdkfjrk &
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lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & fufonk & fofu'p; dk iqufoZyksdu &

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & vf/kdkj i`PNk dh ;kfpdk & lqus tkus dk vf/kdkj 
& 

Constitution – Article 226 – Writ of Quo Warranto – Maintainability – 
Held – Writ of quo warranto can be issued against a person and related to a 
post which he is substantively holding – Appointment of R-4 not challenged 
nor his appointment order has been filed – Posting and working of R-4 
cannot be a reason for issuing writ of quo warranto – Petition filed to either 
settle personal score or gain publicity and cannot be treated as PIL – Petition 
not maintainable and dismissed with cost of Rs. 10,000. [Arun Singh Chouhan 
Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…*12

decision to review is arbitrary, unjust, unreasonable and attracts Wednesbury 
Principles – Contract given to Respondent No. 4 set aside – Respondents 
directed to consider claim of petitioner – Petition allowed. [Mohd. Sultan 
Khan Vs. Union of India] (DB)…2041

Constitution – Article 226 – Writ of Quo Warranto – Locus Standi – Held 
– For issuance of writ of quo warranto, locus standi is insignificant but to 
maintain a regular writ petition, petitioner must show that he is a “person 
aggrieved”. [Arun Singh Chouhan Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…*12

(DB)…*12

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & vf/kdkj i`PNk dh ;kfpdk & iks"k.kh;rk & 
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Constitution – Article 226 – Writ of Quo Warranto – Necessary Party – 
Apex Court concluded that the person against whom the writ of quo 
warranto is prayed for is a necessary party. [Arun Singh Chouhan Vs. State 
of M.P.] (DB)…*12

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 ,oa ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ 
fu;e] e-iz-] 2016] fu;e 17¼3½ & p;u lwph dh fof/kekU;rk vof/k & eqdnesckth dh 
vof/k dk viotZu &

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & vf/kdkj i`PNk dh ;kfpdk & vko';d i{kdkj & 

Constitution – Article 226 and District Court Establishment (Recruitment 
and Conditions of Service) Rules, M.P., 2016, Rule 17(3) – Validity Period of 
Select List – Exclusion of Litigation Period – Held – Validity period of 18 
months was to expire on 20.03.2020 and writ petition was filed on 20.02.2020, 
thus right of petitioners were existing on date of filing petition – Act of Court 
shall prejudice no one – Respondent directed to exclude the period from date 
of filing petition till date of judgment, for calculating validity period. 
[Shailesh Kumar Sonwane Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2092

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 ,oa ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh 
dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 10¼3½ & fof/kd dk;Zokfg;ka & O;kfIr o vf/kdkfjrk &

Constitution – Article 226 and NALSA (Effective Implementation of 
Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015, Clause 10(3) – Legal Proceedings 
– Scope & Jurisdiction – Held – State authority/District authority may file 
appropriate legal proceedings as per clause 10(3) by way of complaint before 
Lokayukt as per relevant provisions or may file private complaint against the 
erring persons or may file a petition if subject matter requires so by way of a 
Public Interest Litigation under Article 226 of Constitution. [Omnarayan 
Sharma Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2025



11 INDEX

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 ,oa ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh 
dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 10¼3½ & LoPN Hkkjr vfHk;ku & 'kkSpky;ksa dk fuekZ.k 
& 

Constitution – Article 226 and NALSA (Effective Implementation of 
Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015, Clause 10(3) – Swachh Bharat 
Mission – Constructions of Toilets – Held – Allegations of irregularities/ 
corruption and siphoning off money of beneficiaries in respect of 
construction of toilets are prima facie serious in nature – Collector and CEO, 
Zila Panchayat directed to look into the allegations with utmost promptitude 
and role of concerned persons be enquired expeditiously. [Omnarayan 
Sharma Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2025

Constitution – Article 226/227 and Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 
of 1996), Section 11(6) & 37 – Scope of Interference – Apex Court concluded 
that the legislative object of enacting the consolidated Act is to minimize 
judicial intervention while the matter is in process of arbitration – Once 
arbitration has commenced in Arbitral Tribunal, parties have to wait until 
award is pronounced, however right of appeal is available to them u/S 37 
even at an early stage. [M.P. Road Development Corporation Vs. The Ministry 
of Road, Transport and Highways (MORT & H)] (DB)…2072

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226@227 ,oa ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 
26½] /kkjk 11¼6½ o 37 & gLr{ksi dh O;kfIr &

Constitution – Article 311(2)(b) – See – Civil Services (Classification, 
Control and Appeal) Rules, M.P. 1966, Rules 10, 14 & 15 [Amit Chaurasia Vs. 
State of M.P.] …2049

lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 311¼2½¼b½ & ns[ksa & flfoy lsok ¼oxhZdj.k] fu;a=.k vkSj 
vihy½ fu;e] e-Á- 1966] fu;e 10] 14 o 15 
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nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;qDr dh vkifRr;ksa dk U;k;fu.kZ;u & 

nkf.Md i)fr & =qfViw.kZ vUos"k.k & 

Criminal Practice – Adjudication of Objections of Accused – Held – 
Where life and liberty of a person is involved, objections of accused should be 
decided by assigning reasons and should not be decided by holding the same 
to be “non-effective” – Trial Court is expected to at-least mention the nature 
of objections raised by accused – Rejection of objection to DNA report by 
terming as “non-effective objection” was not in accordance with law. [State of 
M.P. Vs. Nandu @ Nandkishore Gupta] (DB)…2122

Criminal Practice – Discrepancy in Prosecution Documents – Typographical 
Error – Held – When there is any discrepancy which does not go to the root of 
the matter thereby making it inadmissible or unreliable, then prosecution 
witness should also get opportunity to explain such discrepancy – Without 
asking any question, prosecution cannot be thrown overboard on account of 
some typographical error. [In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] 

(DB)…2150

nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;kstu nLrkostksa esa folaxfr & Vad.k =qfV & 

Criminal Practice – Faulty Investigation – Held – Every faulty investigation 
would not make the prosecution unreliable but the faulty investigation must 
lead to an inference that investigation was been done with a preconceived 
notions – If prosecution established the guilt of accused beyond reasonable 
doubt, then some minor omission on part of IO would not give dent to the 
prosecution case. [In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150
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(DB)…2150

Criminal Practice – Identification of Accused – Held – Villagers have 
the ability of identifying the things even in poor light – Villages have limited 
number of inhabitants and are closely watched by each and every resident of 
the village – Evidence of witness that he identified accused from his back, 
style of walking and body buildup, cannot be said to be unreliable. [In 
Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150

nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;qDr dh igpku & 

(DB)…2150

Criminal Practice – Rape Case – Injury on Genital Organ of Accused – 
Held – Presence of injuries on male organ is not necessary in all cases – As per 
Modi's Jurisprudence, it is not necessary that there should always be mark of 
injuries on the penis of accused – Absence of any injury on penis of accused 
would not belie the prosecution case. [In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] 

nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;kstu lk{kh & xq.koRrk o la[;k &

Criminal Practice – Prosecution Witness – Quality & Quantity – Held – 
Evidence is to be weighed and not counted – It is the quality and not the 
quantity of witnesses which decided the fate of trial – Each and every possible 
witness is not required to be examined – If prosecution witnesses, so 
examined are trustworthy and reliable then their evidence cannot be 
discarded only on ground that some more witnesses should have been 
examined to corroborate the prosecution witnesses. [In Reference (Suo 
Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150

nkf.Md i)fr & cykRlax izdj.k & vfHk;qDr ds tuukax ij pksV & 



14INDEX

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 230 & 231 – 
Prosecution Evidence & Cross-examination – Expeditious Trial – Held – If 
trial Court has proceeded expeditiously by examining the witnesses on the 
date so fixed, no fault can be found on part of trial Court – No objection 
raised by counsel for accused that witnesses are appearing on their first date 
of appearance, therefore he is not in a position to cross-examine them 
effectively – No application of recall of witness filed by accused on ground 
that certain questions could not be put to them as the evidence is being 
recorded expeditiously – Objection rejected. [State of M.P. Vs. Nandu @ 
Nandkishore Gupta] (DB)…2122

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 230 o 231 & vfHk;kstu lk{; o 
izfr&ijh{k.k & 'kh?kz fopkj.k & 

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Sections 233, 234 & 273 – 
Fair opportunity to Accused – Held – Evidence of PW-15 & PW-16 recorded 
in absence of accused – Procedures adopted by trial Court certainly 
prejudiced the accused – Matter remanded back to trial Court to record 
evidence of above witnesses afresh in presence of accused and proceed 
further from stage of filing of DNA report – Accused shall be granted 
opportunity to file written objection/lead evidence in defence to DNA report 
and if application for cross-examination of Scientific Officer is filed, same 
shall be decided – After following provisions of Section 233 Cr.P.C., case be 
fixed for final hearing giving atleast one week time to prepare and argue the 
case – Impugned judgment set aside – Reference & appeal disposed. [State of 
M.P. Vs. Nandu @ Nandkishore Gupta] (DB)…2122

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk,¡ 233] 234 o 273 & vfHk;qDr dks 
mfpr volj & 
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(DB)…2122

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 235¼2½ & n.Mkns'k dk iz'u & 
lquokbZ dk volj & 

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 234 & vafre rdZ & 

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 234 –  Final 
Arguments – Held – Final argument is Final Sum up of the case – Court must 
give patient hearing to both parties, so that they can effectively present their 
case – Order rejecting the objection to DNA report and fixing the case for 
final arguments on the same day and hearing the final arguments on same 
day is held to be bad in law – DNA report be exhibited afresh after deciding 
the objections or after examining the Scientific Officer. [State of M.P. Vs. 
Nandu @ Nandkishore Gupta] (DB)…2122

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 235(2) – Question 
of Sentence – Opportunity of Hearing – Held – No opportunity of effective 
hearing on the question of sentence as required u/S 235(2) Cr.P.C. was given 
to accused – No suggestion was given to accused that Court is intending to 
award death sentence so as to give opportunity to accused to argue in light of 
“Aggravating” and “Mitigating circumstances” – Even trial Court has not 
considered the “Mitigating” circumstances – Sentence modified to life 
imprisonment till natural death – Appeal partly allowed. [In Reference (Suo 
Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150
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Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 273 – Evidence in 
Presence of Accused – Held – Accused was in jail and was not produced by 
prosecution, thus there was no question of disturbing the proceedings in 
Court – Any Undertaking or No Objection given by counsel for accused 
without instructions of accused cannot be said to be given on behalf of 
accused and it would not bind him – He was not responsible for his absence 
but it was the prosecution who failed to keep him present in Court – Case 
remanded back to record evidence of PW-15 & PW-16 in presence of 
accused. [State of M.P. Vs. Nandu @ Nandkishore Gupta] (DB)…2122

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 273 & vfHk;qDr dh mifLFkfr esa 
lk{; & 

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 317 & 273 – Presence 
of Accused – Held – Only when an application u/S 317 is filed and a statement 
made by accused that his presence through his counsel may be accepted and 
he don't have any objection regarding question of identity or recording of 
evidence of witness in his absence, then the effect of such declaration can be 
considered – In present case, accused was in jail, thus provisions of Section 
317 are not applicable. [State of M.P. Vs. Nandu @ Nandkishore Gupta] 

(DB)…2122

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 317 o 273 & vfHk;qDr dh 
mifLFkfr & 

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 366 – Fair Procedure 
– Held – Reference u/S 366 is a continuation of trial, thus it is obligatory on 
High Court to ensure that persons who are facing trial for murder are 
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n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 438 & vfxze tekur dk 
jn~ndj.k & fopkj fd;s tkus ;ksX; dkjd &

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 438 ,oa n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 
45½] /kkjk 302 & vfxze tekur & jn~ndj.k & 

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 438 – Cancellation 
of Anticipatory Bail – Factors to be Considered – Discussed and explained. 
[Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P.] (SC)…2000

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 438 and Penal 
Code (45 of 1860), Section 302 – Anticipatory Bail – Cancellation – Counter 
FIR by Parties – R-2 in both appeals (accused persons) were granted 
anticipatory bail by High Court – Held – The offence is of serious nature in 
which a person was murdered – FIR and statements u/S 161 & 164 Cr.P.C. 
indicates a specific role of accused persons in the crime – Fact of previous 
enmity also exists – Order granting anticipatory bail has ignored material 
aspects, including the nature and gravity of offence and specific allegations – 
Sufficient case made out for cancelling the anticipatory bail – Orders 
granting anticipatory bail to R-2 in both appeals set aside – Appeals allowed. 
[Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P.] (SC)…2000

provided fair procedure and no prejudice should be caused to them due to 
procedural lapse. [State of M.P. Vs. Nandu @ Nandkishore Gupta] 

(DB)…2122

n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 366 & mfpr izfØ;k & 
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District Court Establishment (Recruitment and Conditions of Service) 
Rules, M.P., 2016, Rule 17(3) – See – Constitution – Article 226 [Shailesh 
Kumar Sonwane Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2092

Criminal Trial – Standard of Proof – Held – Standard of proof in a 
criminal trial is proof beyond reasonable doubt because the right to personal 
liberty of a citizen can never be taken away by the standard of preponderance 
of probability – Apex Court concluded that suspicion, however strong, cannot 
take place of legal proof. [Amar Singh Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2212

nkf.Md fopkj.k & lcwr dk ekud & 

ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2016] fu;e 17¼3½ 
& ns[ksa & lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 

District Court Establishment (Recruitment and Conditions of Service) 
Rules, M.P., 2016, Rule 17(3) and District Court Establishment (Recruitment 
and Conditions of Service) Rules, M.P., 2019, Rule 17(3) – Select List/Wait List 
Candidates – Validity Period of Select / Wait List – Applicability of Rules – 
Though posts were lying vacant, petitioners (wait list candidates) were 
denied appointment on ground that as per Rules of 2019, validity period of 
select list was reduced from 18 months to 12 months and accordingly the list 
has lapsed – Held – Norms of process of selection cannot be changed by 
changing Rules in middle of selection process – Selection process commenced 
as per 2016 Rules, wherein as per Rule 17(3), validity period will be 18 
months – 2019 Rules have not been made retrospective by any express 
provision – Decision of respondents set aside – Petitioners have right to be 
considered for appointment on unfilled posts – Respondents directed 
accordingly – Petitions disposed. [Shailesh Kumar Sonwane Vs. State of 
M.P.] (DB)…2092

ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2016] fu;e 17¼3½ 
,oa ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2019] fu;e 17¼3½ & 
p;u lwph@izrh{kk lwph ds vH;FkhZ & p;u@izrh{kk lwph dh fof/kekU;rk vof/k & 
fu;eksa dh iz;ksT;rk & 
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ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2019] fu;e 17¼3½ 
& ns[ksa & ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2016] fu;e 
17¼3½ 

lk{; vf/kfu;e ¼1872 dk 1½] /kkjk 145 & yksi o fojks/kkHkkl & 

Legal Services Authorities Act (39 of 1987), Section 29-A and NALSA 
(Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015 – 
Framing Regulations – Held – State authority is requested to contemplate for 
framing suitable regulations as per provisions of Act of 1987, especially u/S 
29-A for effective implementation of different schemes of Government of 
India/State Government falling under the Scheme of 2015 – It is also 
requested to contemplate about preparation of a software/Mobile 
Application for keeping a tab over the complaints received and their 
outcome. [Omnarayan Sharma Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2025

District Court Establishment (Recruitment and Conditions of Service) 
Rules, M.P., 2019, Rule 17(3) – See – District Court Establishment (Recruitment 
and Conditions of Service) Rules, M.P., 2016, Rule 17(3) [Shailesh Kumar 
Sonwane Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2092

Evidence Act (1 of 1872), Section 145 – Omission & Contradictions – 
Held – If the attention of the witness is not drawn towards the omissions in his 
previous statement, then the accused cannot take advantage of such omission 
and contradictions – If a party intends to contradict a witness, then his 
attention must be called to those parts of it which are to be used for purpose 
of contradicting him. [In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150

fof/kd lsok Ákf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e ¼1987 dk 39½] /kkjk 29&A ,oa ukylk ¼xjhch 
mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015 & fofu;e fojfpr djuk &
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Legal Services Authorities Act (39 of 1987) and  NALSA (Effective 
Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015, Clause 9, 10 & 
11 – Complaint of Corruption – Held – If any complaint is received regarding 
inaction, inappropriate execution, corruption or any matter related thereto 
which comes under purview of the Act of 1987 and Scheme of 2015, then 
District Legal Services Authority (DLSA) shall proactively take care of situation 
by proceeding as per clause 9, 10 & 11 of the Scheme 2015. [Omnarayan Sharma 
Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2025

Madhyastham Adhikaran Adhiniyam, M.P. (29 of 1983), Section 7-A – 
See – Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996, Sections 16(2), 34 & 37 [M.P. 
Road Development Corporation Vs. The Ministry of Road, Transport and 
Highways (MORT & H)] (DB)…2072

(DB)…2072

fof/kd lsok Ákf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e ¼1987 dk 39½ ,oa ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu 
;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 9] 10 o 11 & Hkz"Vkpkj dh 
f'kdk;r@ifjokn &

(DB)…2025

ek/;LFke~ vf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e] e-Á- ¼1983 dk 29½] /kkjk 7&A & ns[ksa & 
ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e] 1996] /kkjk,¡ 16¼2½] 34 o 37 

Maxim – “actus curiae neminem gravabit” – Discussed. [Shailesh 
Kumar Sonwane Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2092

NALSA (Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) 
Scheme, 2015, Clause 9, 10 & 11 – See – Legal Services Authorities Act, 1987 
[Omnarayan Sharma Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2025

lw= & ÞU;k;ky; ds d`R;ksa ds dkj.k fdlh Hkh i{k dks gkfu ugha gksuh pkfg, & 
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NALSA (Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) 
Scheme, 2015, Clause 10(3) – See – Constitution – Article 226 [Omnarayan 
Sharma Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2025

jk"Vªh; lqj{kk vf/kfu;e ¼1980 dk 65½] /kkjk 3¼3½ ,oa lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 22 
& dksfoM&19 egkekjh & vko';d vkS"kf/k dh dkykcktkjh & 

ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015 & ns[ksa 
& fof/kd lsok Ákf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e] 1987] /kkjk 29&A 

National Security Act (65 of 1980), Section 3(3) – Doctrine of Severability 
– Held – Para 4 of detention order, even if it is erroneous and is deleted or 
treated as invalid, contents of rest of the order will be sufficient to uphold the 
invocation of power u/S 3(2) of the Act – The invalid para 4 will not eclipse the 
entire order. [Kamleshwar Dixit Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2035

ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 
10¼3½ & ns[ksa & lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 

NALSA (Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) 
Scheme, 2015 – See – Legal Services Authorities Act, 1987, Section 29-A 
[Omnarayan Sharma Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2025

ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 9] 
10 o 11 & ns[ksa & fof/kd lsok Ákf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e] 1987 

jk"Vªh; lqj{kk vf/kfu;e ¼1980 dk 65½] /kkjk 3¼3½ & i`FkDdj.kh;rk dk fl)kar 
&

National Security Act (65 of 1980), Section 3(3) and Constitution – 
Article 22 – Covid-19 Pandemic – Blackmarketing of Essential Drug – Held – 
In the days of extreme crises, a single act of blackmarketing of essential drug 
like Remedesivir is sufficient to detain a person under NSA – Whether a 
detenu is a social worker or an advocate is insignificant if his conduct is a 
threat to “public order” – Petitioner failed to establish any flaw in decision 
making process – Petition dismissed. [Kamleshwar Dixit Vs. State of M.P.] 

(DB)…2025

(DB)…2035
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Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 299, 300, 302 & 304 Part I – Culpable 
Homicide & Murder – Held – It is often difficult to distinguish between 
culpable homicide and murder as both involve death, yet there is subtle 
distinction of intention and knowledge involved in both the crimes – This 
difference lies in the degree of act – There is very wide variance of degree of 
intention and knowledge among both the crimes. [Mohd. Rafiq @ Kallu Vs. 
State of M.P.] (SC)…1991

n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 299] 300] 302 o 304 Hkkx I & vkijkf/kd 
ekuo o/k o gR;k &

Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 299, 300, 302 & 304 Part I – Culpable 
Homicide Not Amounting to Murder – Intention & Knowledge – Held – No 
previous quarrel with deceased, thus there was lack of animus – No motive or 
pre-meditation proved – Act of throwing off the deceased from truck and 
driving on without pausing appears to have been in the heat of passion or 
rage – It is not proved that appellant with deliberate intention drove over the 
deceased and he knew that deceased would have fallen inside, so that truck's 
rear tyre would have gone over him – Conviction u/S 302 altered to one u/S 
304 Part I, IPC– Appeal allowed accordingly. [Mohd. Rafiq @ Kallu Vs. 
State of M.P.] (SC)…1991

n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 299] 300] 302 o 304 Hkkx I & gR;k dh 
dksfV esa u vkus okyk vkijkf/kd ekuo o/k & vk'k; o Kku & 
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n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk 302 & ns[ksa & n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973] /kkjk 
438 

Penal Code (45 of 1860), Section 302 – See – Criminal Procedure Code, 
1973, Section 438 [Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P.] (SC)…2000

(DB)…2212

Penal Code (45 of 1860), Section 302 & 201 – Circumstantial Evidence 
– Last Seen Theory, Seized Weapons & Motive of Crime – Held – Last seen 
theory not proved – No blood found on seized weapons allegedly used for 
murder – No cogent evidence to prove the motive of offence – When 
prosecution is based on circumstantial evidence, motive behind crime 
becomes important – Prosecution failed to prove each of the links in the chain 
of circumstances or that the proved circumstances point unmistakably to the 
guilt of accused – Conviction and sentence set aside – Appeal allowed. [Amar 
Singh Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2212

n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk 302 o 201 & ifjfLFkfrtU; lk{; & O;kfIr & 

Penal Code (45 of 1860), Section 302 & 201 – Circumstantial Evidence 
– Scope – Held – There must be a chain of evidence so complete as not to leave 
any reasonable ground for a conclusion consistent with the innocence of 
accused and it must be such as to show that within all human probability the 
act must have been done by accused – All links in the chain of circumstances 
must be complete and should be proved through cogent evidence. [Amar 
Singh Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2212

n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk 302 o 201 & ifjfLFkfrtU; lk{; & vafre 
ckj ns[ks tkus dk fl)kar] tCr'kqnk 'kL= o vijk/k dk gsrq & 
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n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 302] 366] 376&A o 201 ,oa ySafxd vijk/kksa 
ls ckydksa dk laj{k.k vf/kfu;e] ¼2012 dk 32½] /kkjk 5¼L½ o 6 & ifjfLFkfrtU; lk{; 
& pk{kq"k o fpfdRlh; lk{; & Mh-,u-,- fjiksVZ &

Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 302, 366, 376-A & 201 and Protection 
of Children from Sexual Offences Act, (32 of 2012), Section 5(L) & 6 – Delay in 
Recording Statement – Effect – Held – Every delay in recording of police 
statement is not fatal – If a plausible explanation is given for the same, then it 
would not give any dent to the prosecution story – Unless and until the IO is 
asked about the delay, the delayed recording of statement by itself would not 
make the evidence of the witnesses suspicious or unreliable. [In Reference 
(Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150

Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 302, 366, 376-A & 201 and Protection 
of Children from Sexual Offences Act, (32 of 2012), Section 5(L) & 6 – 
Circumstantial Evidence – Ocular & Medical Evidence – DNA Report – Held – 
In postmortem report, signs of forceful vaginal penetration were found – 
DNA profile of accused found in clothes, vaginal slide and swab of deceased – 
Female DNA profile of deceased was found on cloths of accused – Theory of 
last seen together was established – Prosecution established beyond 
reasonable doubt that accused committed rape on his 8 years old minor sister 
and killed her – Conviction upheld – Reference disposed. [In Reference (Suo 
Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150

n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 302] 366] 376&A o 201 ,oa ySafxd vijk/kksa 
ls ckydksa dk laj{k.k vf/kfu;e] ¼2012 dk 32½] /kkjk 5¼L½ o 6 & dFku vfHkfyf[kr 
djus esa foyac & izHkko & 
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isVªksfy;e dh QqVdj forjdrk & vk'k;&i= ¼LOI ½ & izHkko & 

Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 302, 366, 376-A & 201 and Protection 
of Children from Sexual Offences Act, (32 of 2012), Section 5(L) & 6 – Theory 
of “Last Seen Together” – Burden of Proof – Held – Deceased was seen for the 
last time in company of accused and thereafter she was never seen alive – 
Prosecution succeeded in establishing that there was minimum gap between 
the time when victim was seen in company of accused for the last time and 
when death took place and the dead body was recovered – Thus burden 
shifted to accused to explain as to when he parted away with company of 
deceased, but the said burden has not been discharged by accused. [In 
Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150

Petroleum Retail Dealership – Letter of Intent (LOI) – Effect – Held – 
LOI is only a proposal that respondents are intending to enter into an 
agreement – Corporation was still having its rights to decline to enter into a 
contract – Once the contract is not completed, Corporation cannot be 
directed to complete all formalities – No right has accrued in his favour on 
basis of issuance of LOI – Petition dismissed. [Brijesh Shrivastava (Smt.) Vs. 
Hindustan Petroleum Corporation Ltd.] …*13

n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 302] 366] 376&A o 201 ,oa ySafxd vijk/kksa 
ls ckydksa dk laj{k.k vf/kfu;e] ¼2012 dk 32½] /kkjk 5¼L½ o 6 & **vafre ckj lkFk ns[ks 
tkus** dk fl)kar & lcwr dk Hkkj & 

Petroleum Retail Dealership – NOC by Collector – Title of Land – Held 
– Merely NOC being issued by competent authority i.e. Collector does not 
amounts to its clearance of title – Apex Court concluded that while granting 
NOC, Collector is not concerned about ownership of land, he is concerned 
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about the location of land and its suitability as a place for storage of 
petroleum – Petitioner failed to demonstrate clear title of land – No right 
accrued in favour of petitioner. [Brijesh Shrivastava (Smt.) Vs. Hindustan 
Petroleum Corporation Ltd.] …*13

ySafxd vijk/kksa ls ckydksa dk laj{k.k vf/kfu;e] ¼2012 dk 32½] /kkjk 5¼L½ o 6 
& ns[ksa & n.M lafgrk] 1860] /kkjk,¡ 302] 366] 376&A o 201 

Service Law – Applicability of Rules – Held – Normal rule is that 
vacancies which arise prior to amended Rules would be governed by 
unamended Rules and in exceptional circumstances, Government can take a 
conscious decision not to fill vacancies under old Rules – In present case, no 
such exceptional circumstances placed on record – Petitioners legitimate 
expections and right of consideration for appointment cannot be taken away. 
[Shailesh Kumar Sonwane Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2092

isVªksfy;e dh QqVdj forjdrk & dysDVj }kjk vukifRr izek.k&i= & Hkwfe 
dk gd & 

lsok fof/k & fu;eksa dh iz;ksT;rk & 

Service Law – Recovery of Excess Pay – Class of Employee & 
Retired/In-Service Employee – Held – Since without specifying the class of 
employees, Apex court in Jagdev Singh's case held that recovery can be made 
even from retired employees then the necessary inference which can be 

Protection of Children from Sexual Offences Act, (32 of 2012), Section 
5(L) & 6 – See – Penal Code, 1860, Sections 302, 366, 376-A & 201 [In 
Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj] (DB)…2150
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lsok fof/k & vfrfjDr lank; dh olwyh & deZpkjh dk oxZ o 
lsokfuo`Rr@lsokjr deZpkjh & 

lsok fof/k & vfrfjDr lank; ij C;kt dh olwyh & 

drawn that the expression “retired employees” or “employees who are 
deemed to retire within one year” employed in Rafiq Masih's case, includes 
within its sweep and ambit all categories of employees irrespective of the 
class. [Manoj Sharma (Smt.) Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2015

Service Law – Recovery of Interest on Excess Pay – Held – Written 
undertaking given by petitioner does not contain any promise to return the 
interest amount which may have accrued, thus, the employer is now estopped 
to make any recovery of interest over the excess principal amount paid in 
past – Order of recovery of interest is set aside – Appeal allowed in above 
terms. [Manoj Sharma (Smt.) Vs. State of M.P.] (DB)…2015

Service Law – Recovery of Excess Pay – Wrong Fixation of Pay/ 
Increment – Petitioner, a class III employee and continue to be in service – Held 
– If there is an written undertaking given by petitioner, the excess payment 
given to her vide wrong fixation of pay/increment deserves to be recovered – 
A written undertaking by an employee binds him in the future – Order of 
recovery of principal excess amount is upheld. [Manoj Sharma (Smt.) Vs. 
State of M.P.] (DB)…2015

lsok fof/k & vfrfjDr lank; dh olwyh & osru@osruo`f) dk xyr fu;ru & 
;kph ,d oxZ&III deZpkjh gS vkSj fujarj lsok esa gS & 
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(DB)…2092

lsok fof/k ,oa ewyHkwr fu;e] fu;e 24] 26 o 54&B¼1½ & fuyacu ds nkSjku 
osru&o`f) jksduk & 

Service Law – Select List – Rights of Candidates – Held – Apex Court 
concluded that though a candidate who passed examination or whose name 
appeared in select list does not have any indefeasible right to be appointed yet 
appointment cannot be denied arbitrarily and select list cannot be cancelled 
without any proper justification. [Shailesh Kumar Sonwane Vs. State of 
M.P.] (DB)…2092

Service Law – Wait List – Rights of Candidates – Held – A candidate in 
waiting list, as per his position in list, has right to be considered for 
appointment if for any reason the post falls vacant during validity period of 
list – Such right is not a vested right but it is only a right to be considered for 
appointment – Appointing authority can deny appointment for some 
justifiable reason to such candidate. [Shailesh Kumar Sonwane Vs. State of 
M.P.] (DB)…2092

lsok fof/k & p;u lwph & vH;fFkZ;ksa ds vf/kdkj &

lsok fof/k & izrh{kk lwph & vH;fFkZ;ksa ds vf/kdkj & 

Service Law and Fundamental Rules, Rules 24, 26 & 54-B(1) – 
Withholding Increment during Suspension – Held – Petitioner during 
suspension is not on duty and increments are granted for period spent on 
duty – No prejudice caused to petitioner if decision regarding his allowance is 
to be taken after conclusion of criminal trial – Non grant of increment during 
suspension period does not amount to penalty – Action of respondents not 
violative of Rules 24 and 54-B(1) – Petition dismissed. [Suresh Kumar Kurve 
Vs. State of M.P.] …*15
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Tender – Debarment – Obligation of Bidder – Held – As per clause of 
RFP, CV was required to be certified by Consultant (Bidder) – Certificate 
was given by petitioner stating that CV has been checked and found to be 

fufonk & footZu & nqO;Zins'ku dk vk/kkj & 

Tender – Debarment – Disproportionate Action – Held – As per the 
clause, debarment upto a period of 5 years can be taken whereas in present 
case debarment has been done for 2 years – Order of debarment is not 
disproportionate. [K & J Projects Pvt. Ltd. (M/s.) Vs. M.P. Road Development 
Corp.] (DB)…2059

fufonk & footZu & vuuqikfrd dkjZokbZ & 

Tender – Debarment – Ground of Misrepresentation – Held – It is 
admitted that petitioner have submitted CV's which had variances – Action 
of debarment of petitioner is in conformity with clause 3.4(iv)(b) of Request 
for Proposal (RFP) which specifically provided that if any information is 
found incorrect at any stage, action including termination and debarment 
from future MPRDC projects upto 5 years will be taken – Bid was annulled 
owing to fact that petitioner submitted false and fabricated CV – No illegality 
in decision making process – Petitions dismissed. [K & J Projects Pvt. Ltd. 
(M/s.) Vs. M.P. Road Development Corp.] (DB)…2059
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(DB)…2059

correct – Obligation to submit a correct CV was on petitioner or its minor 
partner. [K & J Projects Pvt. Ltd. (M/s.) Vs. M.P. Road Development Corp.] 

Tender – Debarment – Principle of Natural Justice – Held – 
Respondents issued show cause notice in clear terms of clauses of RFP to 
petitioner whereby they submitted their reply and after considering the 
same, order of debarment has been passed – No violation of principle of 
natural justice. [K & J Projects Pvt. Ltd. (M/s.) Vs. M.P. Road Development 
Corp.] (DB)…2059

fufonk & footZu & uSlfxZd U;k; dk fl)kar & 

fo'ks"k l'kL= cy vf/kfu;e] e-iz- ¼1968 dk 29½] /kkjk 3&v/;k; II o 9 & 
LFkkukarj.k & O;kfIr o vf/kdkfjrk &

fufonk & footZu & cksyh yxkus okys dh ck/;rk & 

Vishesh Sashastra Bal Adhiniyam, M.P. (29 of 1968), Section 3-Chapter 
II & 9 – Transfer – Scope & Jurisdiction – Held – State government can divide 
the Special Armed Force into groups and further sub divide each group into 
battalions and each battalion into companies and each company into 
platoons – As per Section 9, State Government or Inspector General has 
powers to transfer member of Police Force to Special Armed Force and vice-
versa. [Pradeep Kumar Vs. State of M.P.] …*14

Vishesh Sashastra Bal Adhiniyam, M.P. (29 of 1968), Section 9 – 
Deputation & Transfer – Held – Clause 9 of the appointment order of 
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fo'ks"k l'kL= cy vf/kfu;e] e-iz- ¼1968 dk 29½] /kkjk 9 & izfrfu;qfDr o 
LFkkukarj.k &

…*14

petitioner specifically provides that prior consent is not necessary for 
transfer – No fault can be found in transferring petitioner to another 
battalion which also cannot be termed as “deputation” – Petition dismissed. 
[Pradeep Kumar Vs. State of M.P.] …*14

 

* * * * *
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We, on behalf of The Indian Law Reports (M.P.) Series, wish Hon'ble 
Mr. Justice Satish Kumar Sharma, a successful tenure on the Bench.

(Vol.-4)

Born on May 25, 1960 in village Kheda, district Karauli, Rajasthan. Did 
B.Sc. from Government M.S.J. College, Bharatpur and thereafter LL.B. in the 
year 1982 and M.A. in the year 1984 from University of Rajasthan, Jaipur. Appointed 
as Civil Judge-cum-Judicial Magistrate on July 19, 1985. Promoted as Senior 
Civil Judge-cum-Judicial Magistrate in the year 1993. Appointed as Additional 
District Judge on May 19, 2001 and thereafter as District & Sessions Judge on 
August 13, 2008. Worked as Member Secretary, Rajasthan State Legal Services 
Authority from November 30, 2014 to April 07, 2016. Posted as Registrar General 
of Rajasthan High Court from April 11, 2016 to March 05, 2020. Elevated as 
Judge of the Rajasthan High Court on March 06, 2020.

APPOINTMENT TO THE MADHYA PRADESH HIGH COURT

JOURNAL SECTION

THE INDIAN LAW REPORTS M.P. SERIES, 2021

We congratulate Hon'ble Mr. Justice Satish Kumar Sharma on his appointment 
as Judge of the High Court of Madhya Pradesh. Hon'ble Mr. Justice Satish Kumar 
Sharma took oath of the High Office on 25.11.2021.

HON'BLE MR. JUSTICE SATISH KUMAR SHARMA

Transferred to the Madhya Pradesh High Court and took oath as Judge of 
the Madhya Pradesh High Court on November 25,  2021.

---------------------



My Lord has vast judicial experience especially in civil and criminal 
matters and I am sure that this will be an asset for Hon'ble High Court as well as to 
the litigants of the State. 

Sir, the life of a Judge is equivalent to that of a hermit and the quest for 
justice entails tremendous struggles and sacrifices. Your Lordship's journey from 
Judicial Magistrate to the District Judge and from District Judge to the Judge of 
the High Court is an example of such struggles and sacrifices. It clearly paves way 
for many. 

The great jurist Holmes once remarked that “the law is not mere logic but 
is also experience” and I believe that the massive experience, which My Lord 
holds, will be a great asset to this High Court in tendering justice. According to 

My Lord, the Bar and Bench are two facets of the same coin and the 
system runs smoothly when both are in sync. In this direction, we assure that the 
State Government and the law Officers of the State will provide full cooperation 
and assistance to Your Lordship in dispensation of Justice. 

Today, we have assembled here to welcome Hon'ble Shri Justice  Satish 
Kumar Sharma on Your Lordship's transfer from Rajasthan High Court to this 
Hon'ble High Court as Judge of this Court.

The High Court is a superior Court of record. It has original and appellate 
jurisdiction and possess plenary powers due to which the responsibilities are 
multiplied but the Judge should be the bastion for the people to uphold the majesty 
of law which is the backbone of fair and impartial dispensation of justice. 

th
My Lord, Hon'ble Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma, was born on 25  of 

May 1960. After completing school education, His Lordship obtained B.Sc., 
M.A. and LL.B. degrees. Your Lordship was appointed as Civil Judge-cum-Judicial 

th thMagistrate on 19  of July 1985. On 26  of May 1993, His Lordship was promoted 
thas Senior Civil Judge-cum-Judicial Magistrate and thereafter on 19  of May 2001, 

as Additional District Judge. Subsequently, Your Lordship was promoted as District 
thand Sessions Judge on 13  of August 2008. Thereafter, Your Lordship was elevated 

th
as Judge of the Rajasthan High Court on 6  of March 2020.

On administrative side, Your Lordship held the post of Registrar General 
th thof Rajasthan High Court with effect from 11  of April 2016 till 5  of March 2020.

OVATION TO HON'BLE MR. JUSTICE SATISH KUMAR SHARMA, 
GIVEN ON 25-11-2021, IN THE CONFERENCE HALL OF SOUTH 
BLOCK, HIGH COURT OF M.P., JABALPUR.

Shri R.K. Verma, Addl. Advocate General, M.P., while felicitating the 
new Judge, said:-
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----------------

another Jurist S. Shetreet, a Judge decides cases based on fundamental values of 
the legal system and it is from this angle that we can say that the adjudication 
based on such long experience, would be fruitful to litigant, public and advocates 
of Madhya Pradesh and the society.

I, on behalf of the State Government, Law Officers of the Office of the 
Advocate General and on my own behalf, convey best wishes to Hon'ble Shri Justice 
Satish Kumar Sharma and are keen and committed to ensure smooth functioning 
of the justice dispensation system and will offer all assistance from the State 
Government in this regard. 

eSa vkt cgqr Li"V :i ls dg nsuk pkgrk gw¡ fd U;k;ky;ksa esa U;k;kf/kifr dk gksuk vkSj 
fufoZdkj gksuk cgqr cM+h miyfC/k gksrh gS] fo'ks"kdj tuekul ds fy,] vf/koDrkvksa ds fy,] pkgs 
os 'kkldh; gksa ;k izk;osV VkbZi ds gksaA eSa igys gh dg pqdk gw¡ fd gekjh dksbZ tkfr ugha gksrh gS] 
ge dsoy U;k; ds fy, gksrs gSaA vf/koDrkvksa dk i{kdkj mldk vUunkrk gksrk gSA U;k;kf/kifr ds 
lkeus tks dqN Hkh nyhysa nksuksa i{k dh vksj ls nh tkrh gSa os mldks fupksM+dj ,d lgh vkns'k dks 
ikfjr djrs gSaA

vkt ge iafMr lrh'k dqekj 'kekZ th dh vxokuh ds fy, ;gk¡ mifLFkr gq;s gSaA flfoy 
tt ls ysdj mPp U;k;ky; esa U;k;kf/kifr dh gSfl;r rd vkuk ,d cM+s fufoZdkj O;fDrRo dk 
Li"Vhdj.k nsrk gS] mldh otg gS fd vki lu~ 1985 ls U;kf;d lsok esa gSa vkSj vkt rd vki 
U;kf;d lsok esa jr jgsA vkids f[kykQ dksbZ f'kdk;r vkSj vU;Fkk dksbZ ,slh ifjfLFkfr ugha 
vk;hA vki vkSj vkidk ifjokj vius vkidks /kU; ekurk gSA

Shri Raman Patel, President, High Court Bar Association, Jabalpur, 
said :- 

Thank you.

eSa vkt ;g Hkh dg nsuk pkgwaxk fd vkt v[kckj esa i<+k x;k fd vHkh gekjs ikl 22 ttksa 
dh deh gS] D;k otg gS] brus cM+s ns'k dh vkcknh esa tgk¡ lok lkS djksM+ O;fDr gSa] ogk¡ D;k gekjs 
ikl U;k;kf/kifr ds 50 in Hkh iwjs ugha gks ldrs gSaA ;s tks dk;Z dh deh ds fy, vHkh nks fnu 
igys ekuuh; eq[; U;k;kf/kifr us ge vf/koDrkvksa ds izfrfuf/k;ksa dks cqykdj dgk Fkk fd ge 
le; c<+kuk pkgrs gSa] djVsy djuk pkgrs gSa] ofdZx vkWoj dksA esjk vkils fuosnu ;g gS fd dqN 
ckj dh gSfl;r dks Hkh c<+kbZ;s] ckj ls vkSj vki jsdesaM djds gekjs ttsl dks Hkh c<+kbZ;sA nsf[k;s] 
gekjs lkeus vkt ;gk¡ 25 dejs cus gSa] ekuuh; U;k;kf/kifr;ksa ds cSBus ds fy,] ysfdu vHkh 
15&16 ttsl vkt mifLFkr gq;s gSaA dSls fMLiksty gksaxs] isaMsalh dks de djus ds fy, ,d vkSj 
fuosnu d:axk fd dy v[kckj esa ge i<+ jgs Fks fd tSls eq[;ea=h] tks muds ekrgr gksrk gS] 
muds funsZ'k ij mls pyuk iM+rk gS] muls dg fn;k fd eSaus cgqr ls eqdn~eksa dks] tks cgqr gh 
Leky dslsl gSa mUgsa vius vki lekIr djrk gw¡ vius vf/kdkj lsA D;k eSa mEehn d:a fd ekuuh; 
eq[; U;k;kf/kifr vkSj U;k;kf/kifr;ksa ls fd ;gk¡ Hkh bl rjg ds tks lk/kkj.k fdLe ds eqdnesa gSa] 
mUgsa vki vfoyac lekIr dj ldrs gSaA csotg 25 lky esa eqnn~bZ Hkh ej x;k] eqfYte Hkh ej x;k] 
fQj Hkh eqdnesa isafMax gSaA dqN isaMsalh dks vki vius [kqn ds vf/kdkj ls rqjar NkaV ds lekIr dj 
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 t; fgUn] t; HkkjrA

It is a great pleasure for all of us to welcome My Lord Shri Justice Satish 
Kumar Sharma to this great temple of Justice who has come from Rajasthan High 
Court and is adorning the Office of M.P. High Court. We offer our heartiest 
welcome and congratulations to My Lord Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma. 
Today, we are getting one more stalwart & highly experienced Judge, coming 
from the land of colors.

----------------

ekuuh; iafMr lrh'k dqekj 'kekZ th gekjs chp esa vk;s] gekjs fy;s lkSHkkX; dh ckr gS fd 
jktLFkku esa mudk U;kf;d thou xqtjk vkSj vc gesa mudk 'kqHkk'kh"k feysxk] U;k; feysxk] 
viukiu feysxk] eksgCcr feysxhA vc oks ftrus fnu jgsaxs] ns[krs gh ns[krs] ge le> tk;saxs fd 
,sls O;fDrRo dks gekjs ikl vkuk gekjs fy;s lkSHkkX; dh ckr gSA eSa mUgsa mudh vxokuh ds fy, 
/kU;okn nsrk gw¡] bl laLdkj/kkuh esa mudh mifLFkfr gekjs fy, miyfC/k gksxhA bUgha 'kCnksa ds 
lkFk eSa viuh ckr dks fojke nsrk gw¡A 

Shri Radhe Lal Gupta, Representative, State Bar Council of M.P., 
said :-

ldrs gSaA ,d pkSFkkbZ eqdneas bl rjg ds gksaxs] isaMsalh ds] tks rqjar lekIr gks tk;saxs vkSj ftldk 
vkidks vf/kdkj gSa vkSj ;g Hkh fuosnu djuk pkgw¡xk fd ofdZax vkWoj ls D;k gksxkA NksVs&NksVs 
ekeyksa dks fjyhQ nsus dh fLFkfr esa vk tk;as ;k conviction dh fLFkfr esa vxj gSa rks mlesa vk 
tk;as] nQk 34] 149 vkSj bl rjg ds tks eqdnes gSaA iqfyl ds fy, vki pro-prosecution ls 
vius vkidks nwj djsaA eq[; vfHk;qDr gS QkStnkjh esa] rks mls fuf'pr n.M feyuk pkfg;s] ysfdu 
iqfyl egku gksrh gS & pkpk dks Hkh] ikik dks Hkh] ekek dks Hkh] ifjokj okyksa dks Hkh] ;gk¡ rd fd 
efgykvksa dks Hkh csotg dk my>krh gS vkSj ml ij ge fo'okl djds vxj mldks fMLiksty 
ugha djsaxs ;k mu yksxksa dks jkgr ugha nsaxs rks isaMsalh dSls ugha c<+sxhA cgjgky eSa FkksM+k&lk vius 
fo"k; ls nwj gqvk D;ksafd eq>s esjs ckj esa ftl rjg dh f'kdk;rsa vkrh gSa] mlds fy, eSa vki lc ls 
fuosnu d:axkA cps gq, eqdneksa dks] vkt tks ugha gks ik;sa gSa] mudks izkFkfedrk nh tkuh pkfg;s] 
dy vkus okyh rkjh[k esa oks Hkh ugha feyrh gSA vkt oks 40 esa ugha gks ik;k] dy oks 140 esa yxk gSA 
ekuuh; jftLVªkj lkgc gSa] buls eSa fuosnu d:axk] ;s buds vf/kdkj {ks= dh ckr gS] tks 
preliminary cases gSa mudks urgent esa yxkbZ;s] vkt dh txg dy yxkbZ;s] lHkh dsl esa vkSj 
bl rjg ls vf/koDrkvksa dks Hkh vkSj vkidks Hkh lgwfy;r gksxh D;ksafd ftruh Hkh Qkbysa vkt 
yxh gSa] lkjs U;k;kf/kifr] ?kj esa u dksbZ vkjke djrs] u dksbZ lksrs vkSj u ifjokj ns[krs] 'kke dks 8 
cts 9 cts ls ysdj dsA eSaus cgqr djhc ls vkidks ns[kk gS] mejnjkt gksus ds ukrs vkSj 53 lky ls 
eqdneksa esa vkrs&tkrs] fd vk/kh jkr rd U;k;kf/kifr tks gSa] Qkbyksa dks i<+rs jgrs gSa vkSj nwljs 
fnu uacj ugha vk ik;k rks nksckjk muds fy, fLFkfr ogh gks tkrh gS vkSj bl rjg ls ;s lc ckj 
dh rjQ ls eSa vkidks dg jgk gwaA

thMy Lord Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma was born on 25  of May 1960. 
After completing law graduation, he joined Judiciary in the year 1985. Thereafter, 
My Lord continued up to District Judge in the year 2008 and also appointed as a 
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As we heard about My Lord Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma that My 
Lord, always wants to give as much relief as is permissible by fair administration 
of Justice. This quality of My Lord is equal to the quality of a surgeon, who wants 
to give maximum relief to his patient by giving little pain as possible. I am sure, 
the surgeon, who have discovered and invented the painless surgery must be a 
surgeon having humane qualities of My Lord.

th
Hon'ble Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma was born on 25  of May 1960 

thand after his academic pursuits, joined the Judicial Service on 19  of July 1985 as 
Civil Judge-cum-Judicial Magistrate in the State of Rajasthan; earning timely 
promotions, His Lordship was promoted to Higher Judicial Service as Additional 

th th
District Judge on 19  of May 2001 and as District and Sessions Judge on 13  of 
August 2008. My Lord held the post of Registrar General of Rajasthan High Court 

th
from 11  of April 2016 till his elevation as Judge of High Court. 

Your Lordship Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma is an extraordinary 
talent, having great experience and composed temperament, endeared you as 
Judge of Rajasthan High Court. I am sure that the same will be illuminating 
Judiciary in future in Madhya Pradesh also. I, on this occasion, extend my wishes 
to Your Lordship and believe firmly that Your Lordship will be greatly contributing 
for the cause of common man while dispensing justice.

It is my pleasure to welcome My Lord Hon'ble Shri Justice Satish Kumar 
Sharma.

Thank you.

At last but not the least, I, on behalf of State Bar Council of M.P., all the 
Members and Advocates of Madhya Pradesh, my own behalf, I sincerely offer my 
whole hearted welcome and best wishes to My Lord Shri Satish Kumar Sharma of 
the High Court of M.P. 

My Lord Hon'ble Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma was elevated as 
thJudge, Rajasthan High Court on 6  of March 2020 and upon transfer to Madhya 

Pradesh High Court has taken oath of Office today.

Registrar General of the Rajasthan High Court. Thereafter, My Lord Justice Shri 
th

Satish Kumar Sharma was elevated as Judge of the Rajasthan High Court on 6  of 
March 2020.

----------------

Shri Manoj Sharma, President, High Court Advocates' Bar Association, 
Jabalpur, said :-

Felicitations on your appointment as Judge of Madhya Pradesh High 
Court.
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All of us are aware of mounting pendency of litigation and corresponding 
scarcity of Judges at which crucial time any addition to the Bench is a great relief 
to all of us and the citizens of Madhya Pradesh.

On my part, it is my pious duty to put on record that all the members of the 
Association are keen and committed to ensure smooth functioning of the justice 
dispensation system and will offer all assistance in all endeavors of My Lord as 
Judge of this Hon'ble Court.

Shri Jinendra Kumar Jain, Assistant Solicitor General, said :-

Jh lrh'k dqekj 'kekZ th dh thou ;k=k lu~ 1960 ls izkjaHk gqbZA izkjafHkd f'k{kk lekIr 
djus ds i'pkr] foKku ,oa fof/k fo"k; esa Lukrd ,oa dyk fo"k; esa LukrdksRrj dh mikf/k vftZr 

We all are aware of the age old and established precept that ignorance of 
law is no excuse and everybody is presumed to know the law, but in practical life 
this cannot be entirely true. There are so many laws having their own nuances 
wherein invariably anyone can be lost. By and large, people invoke judicial 
process genuinely to mitigate their problems/hardships. All the situations are not 
perfect and niceties of law are not known to everyone. Thus, while dealing with 
these causes, may Your Lordship bear this in mind that there is no standard 
situation tailor-made to suit the statute for Your Lordship to invoke your benign 
jurisdiction for granting relief. May it always be kept in mind that the entire 
apparatus of justice delivery system is for the people and it is the people who 
invoke this jurisdiction with the pious hope of getting justice. 

“Kindly give due sympathy, compassion and mercy to the causes brought 
before Your Lordship.”

I, pray to Lord Almighty that may it be the central endeavor of Your 
Lordship, not to disappoint them. Thus, may I most humbly submit that the age old 
approach of justice tempered with mercy may become your guiding light during 
your tenure as Judge of the High Court.

Welcome to Madhya Pradesh, My Lord.On this occasion, I most humbly 
submit and quote from my earlier speeches which I had the privilege of delivering 
on such earlier occasions:

I, on behalf of High Court Advocates' Bar Association, Jabalpur and on 
my own behalf, offer to My Lord our heartfelt congratulations and we welcome 
My Lord with utmost warmth in our hearts to adorn the high office of Judge of this 
Hon'ble Court.

Best of  Luck.

----------------

U;k;kf/kifr Jh lrh'k deq kj 'kek Z dk ge lLa dkj/kkuh] tcyijq  e as gǹ; l s Lokxr djr s gAaS

J/246



J/247

djus ds i'pkr~ lu~ 1985 esa U;kf;d txr esa O;ogkj U;k;k/kh'k ds in ij izos'k dj fujarj 
izxfr ds iFk ij vkxs c<+rs gq;s lu~ 2008 esa ftyk U;k;k/kh'k ds egRoiw.kZ in ij inklhu gksdj 
yxHkx 8 o"kZ nkf;Roksa dk fuoZgu fd;kA bl izdkj yxHkx 31 o"kZ fofHkUu nkf;Roksa ij jgdj 
U;kf;d lsok ds ek/;e ls U;k; iznRRk fd;kA rRi'pkr~ vkidh fu;qfDr jktLFkku mPp U;k;ky; 
esa jftLVªkj tujy ds in ij inklhu gksdj dke djus dk volj izkIr gqvkA

e-iz- mPp U;k;ky; dh xkSjoe;h ijEijk dk fuokZg djus gsrq 'kiFkxzg.k djus ds volj 
ij] ge vkidk vfHkuanu djrs gSaA ge vk'kk djrs gSa fd cxSj HksnHkko ,oa fuHkZ;rk ls U;k;ky; esa 
yafcr ekeyksa dk fuiVkjk 'kh?kz djus esa vkidh lgHkkfxrk egRoiw.kZ jgsxhA

vkidh izfrHkk ,oa nh?kZdkyhu U;kf;d lsok dk izfrQy 06 ekpZ 2020 dks izkIr gqvk tc 
vkidh fu;qfDr jktLFkku mPp U;k;ky; esa U;k;k/kh'k ds xfjeke; in ij gqbZA yxHkx 20 ekg 
jktLFkku mPp U;k;ky; esa inLFk gksdj U;k; dh fdj.kksa dks lw;Z dh jks'kuh ds leku U;kf;d 
lsok ds ek/;e ls vkyksfdr djus ds i'pkr~] vc volj vk;k gS] tc vkidh thou ;k=k 
jktLFkku ds xqykch 'kgj ls ek¡ ueZnk ds vapy esa laLdkj/kkuh tcyiqj esa igq¡p xbZ gSA

bl volj ij eSa viuh vksj ls] Hkkjr ljdkj dh vksj ls] dsUnzh; fof/k vf/kdkfj;ksa dh 
vksj ls vkidk Lokxr djrk gw¡ ,oa vkids mTToy Hkfo"; dh dkeuk djrk g¡wA

th
It was only on 6  of March 2020 that My Lord was elevated as a Judge of 

the Rajasthan High Court on which date the tenure of My Lord was only about 26 
months which further stands limited to 6 months on My Lordship's arrival as Judge 
of this High Court. Such transfer of My Lord from Rajasthan High Court to this 
High Court for such a short period cannot be termed commendable as it causes great 
disturbance and inconvenience. However, the entire fraternity of lawyers does 
welcome Hon'ble Shri Justice Sharma on his transfer to this High Court.

Thank you.

Shri R.P. Agrawal, President, Senior Advocates' Council, Jabalpur, 
said :-

----------------

We warmly welcome here Hon'ble Shri Justice Satish Kumar Sharma on 
his transfer from Rajasthan High Court to the High Court of Madhya Pradesh.

----------------

With these words, I, on behalf of Senior Advocates' Council and my own 
behalf, again welcome Hon'ble Shri Justice Sharma on his transfer to this High 
Court which is located on the holy banks of mother Narmada.

**t; Hkkjr**

We, not only welcome My Lord but also extend our fullest cooperation in 
the dispensation of justice.
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esjs Lokxr ds fy, vk;ksftr bl xfjeke; lekjksg esa mifLFkr vki lcdks vknj vkSj 
Lusg lfgr ueLdkjA eSa bl volj ij vki lcdk ân; ls vfHkoknu djrk g¡wA

ekuuh; eq[; U;k;kf/kifr ,oa vki lcds }kjk esjs izfr O;Dr fd;s x;s Lusg vkSj lEeku 
ls eSa vfHkHkwr g¡w] ftlds fy, eSa vkReh; vkHkkj O;Dr djrk g¡wA

vki lcds }kjk iznf'kZr Lusg vkSj lEeku ls eq>s ;g drbZ ugha yx jgk gS fd eSa fdlh 
nwljh txg ij g¡wA lc eq>s vius yx jgs gSaA blesa esjk dksbZ ;ksxnku ugha gSA ;g lc vkidk 
viuRo vkSj cM+Iiu gS] ftlds fy, eSa fQj ls ekuuh; eq[; U;k;kf/kifr] esjh vknj.kh; cfgu 
vkSj Hkzkrk U;k;kf/kifrx.k dk rgs fny ls vkHkkj O;Dr djrk g¡wA

vki lcds }kjk esjh iz'kalk esa dgh xbZ ckrsa] vkidh egkurk o fouezrk dk ifjpk;d gSaA 
;|fi eSa vius vkidks blds ;ksX; ugha ikrk g¡w fQj Hkh ;g fo'okl fnykrk g¡w fd eSa vkidh 
vis{kkvksa ij [kjk mrjus dk Hkjiwj iz;kl d:axkA

eSaus jktLFkku ds djkSyh ftys ds ,d NksVs ls xkao [ksM+k esa ,d lkekU; d`"kd ifjokj esa 
tUe fy;kA Ldwyh f'k{kk ljdkjh fo|ky;ksa esa izkIr dhA Hkjriqj ds ljdkjh ,e-,l-ts- dkWyst ls 
ch-,l-lh- dh vkSj rnqijkUr jktLFkku fo'ofo|ky;] t;iqj ls o"kZ 1982 esa ,y-,y-ch- rFkk o"kZ 
1984 esa ,e-,- fd;kA o"kZ 1985 esa esjk p;u jktLFkku U;kf;d lsok esa gqvkA U;kf;d lsok ds 
fofHkUu inksa ij dk;Z djrs gq, eq>s o"kZ 2014 esa jktLFkku fof/kd lsok izkf/kdj.k dk lnL; lfpo 
fu;qDr fd;k x;kA vizSy 2016 ls ekpZ 2020 rd eq>s jktLFkku mPp U;k;ky; ds jftLVªkj 
tujy ds :i esa vkB ekuuh; eq[; U;k;kf/kifr ,oa dk;Zdkjh eq[; U;k;kf/kifrx.k ds lkFk dke 
djus dk lkSHkkX; feykA 06 ekpZ 2020 dks eSaus jktLFkku mPp U;k;ky; ds U;k;kf/kifr ds in dh 
'kiFk yh vkSj ogka ls LFkkukUrj.k gksus ij eSa vkt vkids chp g¡wA

;|fi vkxkeh ebZ ekg esa gh esjh lsokfuo`fRr gSA le; cgqr de gS] fQj Hkh ftrus fnu 
Hkh vki yksxksa ds lkFk dke djus dk ekSdk feyk gS] mlesa esjk iwjk iz;kl jgsxk fd eSa viuh iw.kZ 
fu"Bk vkSj {kerk ds lkFk vius drZO; dk fuoZgu d:¡A vkt tks 'kiFk yh gS] mldk v{kj'k% 
ikyu d:¡A vki lcls vkxzg ,oa vuqjks/k gS] lkFk esa iwjk fo'okl Hkh gS fd vki lHkh eq>s viuk 
Lusg vkSj lg;ksx iznku djsaxs] ftlds fy, eSa vki lcdk vkthou d`rK jgwaxkA

e/;izns'k] esjs x`g izns'k jktLFkku dk iM+kSlh izns'k gSA bl izns'k dks izd`fr dk iwjk 
ojnku izkIr gSA ;gka fo'o izfl) /kkfeZd LFkyksa ds lkFk lkFk ou vHk;kj.; ,oa vU; Ik;ZVu LFky 
fo|eku gSaA bl izns'k ij eka ueZnk dh d`ik gS tks nso unh xaxk ds led{k gSA ;gka dk xkSjo'kkyh 
bfrgkl gSA ;gka ds yksx viuh lgtrk] ljyrk vkSj fo'oluh;rk ds fy, tkus tkrs gSaA ,sls 
xkSjo'kkyh izns'k esa lsok dk volj feyus ij eSa Lo;a dks lkSHkkX;'kkyh ekurk g¡wA

lkFk gh fo}ku ,MoksdsV tujy] ,fM'kuy lksfyflVj tujy] fo}ku ofj"B 
vf/koDrkx.k] lEekfur vf/koDrkx.k] jftLVªkj tujy vkSj mudh Vhe ds lHkh vf/kdkjhx.k 
vkSj izns'k ds lHkh U;kf;d vf/kdkjhx.k ds izfr ân; ls lEeku O;Dr djrk g¡wA vki lHkh dks iqu% 
cgqr cgqr /kU;okn ,oa vkReh; vkHkkjA

Reply to the Ovation, by Hon'ble Mr. Justice Satish Kumar Sharma :-

----------------  



FAREWELL

  

HON'BLE MR. JUSTICE SHAILENDRA SHUKLA

Born on November 17, 1959. Did M.Sc., LL.B. and joined Judicial Service 
as Civil Judge Class-II on August 18, 1987. Appointed as Civil Judge Class-I in 
the year 1993. Appointed as C.J.M./A.C.J.M., in the year 1997 and was posted as 
C.J.M. at Sagar. Promoted as Officiating District Judge in Higher Judicial Service 
on August 29, 1998 and was posted as II A.D.J., at Sagar. Posted as II A.J. to          
I A.D.J., Chhindwara in the year 1999. Posted as Officer on Special Duty, High 
Court of M.P., Jabalpur in the year 2000. Posted as Additional Registrar (Vigilance), 
High Court of M.P., Jabalpur in the year 2001. Posted as Additional Director, 
J.O.T.R.I., High Court M.P., Jabalpur in the year 2005. Posted as IV A.D.J., 
Bhopal on June 18, 2007 and as IV A.D.J. & Special Judge, N.D.P.S. Act, Bhopal 
in July 2007. Was granted Selection Grade Scale w.e.f. 10.10.2007. Posted as 
Special Judge under C.B.I. cases as well, in November 2009. Posted as President, 
District Consumer Forum, Khandwa in the year 2012. Posted as Director, M.P. 
State Judicial Academy (JOTRI), High Court of M.P., Jabalpur in the year 2014. 
Posted as Principal Registrar (Vigilance), High Court of M.P., Jabalpur in April 
2015. Was granted Super Time Scale w.e.f. 01.10.2015. Posted as District & 
Sessions Judge, Bhopal from October 2016 till elevation. Elevated as Judge of the 
High Court of Madhya Pradesh and took oath on November 19, 2018 and 
demitted Office on November 16, 2021.

----------------

We, on behalf of The Indian Law Reports (M.P. Series), wish His 
Lordship, a healthy, happy and prosperous life.
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In Cr.R. No.1299/2019 (Jai Singh v/s The State of Madhya Pradesh), 
Justice Shukla held that if sizable number of bottles of liquor were recovered, it 
was not necessary to examine each and every bottle, when bottles were sealed 
with label is carrying description of the liquor along with other necessary specifications 
such as batch number, lot number, serial number etc., examination of one such 
bottle of each kind will serve the purpose. 

Justice Shukla was elevated as Additional Judge of this Court on 17.11.2018 
and later on became permanent Judge. During his tenure as Judge of this Court, he 
has authored various landmark judgments in Single and Division Benches.

FAREWELL OVATION TO HON'BLE MR. JUSTICE SHAILENDRA 
SHUKLA, GIVEN ON 16.11.2021, IN THE HIGH COURT OF MADHYA 
PRADESH AT BENCH INDORE.

Hon'ble Mr. Justice Sujoy Paul, Administrative Judge, High Court of 
M.P., Bench Indore, bids farewell to the demitting Judge :-

We have assembled here with heavy heart to bid farewell to Hon'ble Shri 
Justice Shailendra Shukla as he is demitting office today.

Justice Shailendra Shukla was born on 17.11.1959. He joined the Judicial 
Service on 18.08.1987. He was promoted as Civil Judge, Class-I on 24.12.1993 
and in due course became C.J.M. on 09.06.1997, he was promoted as District Judge 
in Higher Judicial Service on 29.08.1998, he was granted Selection Grade Scale 
with effect from 10.10.2007 and Super Time Scale with effect from 01.10.2015. 
During his tenure as Judicial Officer, he was posted at Jabalpur, Narsinghpur, Seoni, 
Damoh, Sagar, Chhindwara, Bhopal and Khandwa. He also worked as O.S.D., 
High Court of Madhya Pradesh and Additional Registrar (Vigilance.) in the 
Principal Seat at Jabalpur. Justice Shukla also worked as Additional Director, 
JOTRI, Jabalpur, President, District Consumer Forum, Director, M.P. State 
Judicial Academy (JOTRI) and Principal Registrar (Vigilance). Before elevation 
as a Judge of this Court, he was posted as District Judge, Bhopal.

In Cr.A. No. 9930/2018 (Anil Bhaskar v/s The State of Madhya Pradesh), 
His Lordship held that even though voice recording against the appellant was not 
found to be reliable and complainant also turned hostile, recovery of tainted money 
from the pocket of accused, coupled with the fact that his hands when washed in 
the chemical solution turned pink, raises presumption under Section 114 of the 
Evidence Act and Section 20(1) of the P.C. Act. Hence, conviction was maintained.

Speaking for the Division Bench and while answering the death reference 
in Irfan v/s The State of Madhya Pradesh decided on 09.09.2021, a microscopic 
scrutiny of facts and law was undertaken. It was poignantly held that Dock Identification 
Parade shortly after the incident is reliable though no Test Identification Parade 
was conducted. The prosecutrix identified the appellants through photo albums. 



 An ancient Indian thinker said:-

*flQZ gksus ls 

I am sure respected brother as you leave your dias on the day of your 
demitting the office, you leave behind a treasure of impeccable integrity, hard 
work and satisfaction of performing to the best of your abilities.

----------------

gd Hkh rks vnk dhft,*

[“If you want to test a man's character, give him power.”]

Justice Shukla is worthy son of late Justice K.N. Shukla. He held various 
important posts during his long tenure. He maintained courtesy in behavior and 
firmness in decision making.

Taking into account the serious condition of prosecutrix, this mode adopted was 
found to be appropriate and permissible. The mobile of the appellant was found to 
be 'switched off ' at the time of incident which was held to be a relevant fact under 
Section 8 of the Evidence Act. The appellant sold his mobile soon after the 
incident was also considered as a relevant fact. It was ruled that there exists no 
statutory requirement to postpone the case to a future date for hearing the accused 
on the quantum of sentence. 

**y?kqrk vkSj izHkqrk
nksuksa dks gh ipkuk
dfBu gksrk gS**

Abraham Lincoln said:-

Justice Shukla could accomplish this difficult task easily.

I have good fortune to share the Bench with Justice Shukla from the day I 
joined at Indore Bench in January 2021. Meaningful discussion with Justice 
Shukla was always a guiding factor for me.

Justice Shukla is entering into the second inning of life after rendering more 
than three decades of unblemished judicial service. He shall be remembered for 
his efficiency, integrity, courtesy and deep knowledge of law. I am sure that his 
vast knowledge and reservoir of experience will be useful for the members of Bar 
in particular and for the society in general.

A poet said:-

dqN ugha gksrk 
dqN gksus dk 

I, on my behalf and on behalf of my colleagues on the Bench, wish you and 
Mrs. Shukla a very happy, healthy and peaceful life.
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My Lord was born on 17.11.1959 and joined the Judicial Service on 
18.08.1987, discharging his duties on every hierarchy i.e. Civil Judge Class-I, 
C.J.M. and District Judge to his elevation as Hon'ble Judge of the Madhya 
Pradesh High Court.

Today we are assembled here to bid farewell to My Lord Hon'ble Justice 
Shri Shailendra Shukla Sahab upon his retirement as a High Court Judge.

Shri Pushyamitra Bhargav, Additional Advocate General, M.P., bids 
farewell :-

While summing up, I refer the quote of the great philosopher Confucius 
“A superior man is modest in his speech but exceeds in his actions” as this is 
squarely applicable to our Hon'ble Justice Shukla.

As a Judge of this Hon'ble Court, My Lord Justice Shukla has delivered 
many decisions of high precedential value including verdicts of complex issues 
be it constitutional laws or criminal jurisprudence. However, one of My Lord's 
recent decisions stand out in my mind, wherein My Lord feeling the pain and 
sorrow of a eight years old rape victim, balancing it with the legal positions, was 
pleased to affirm the death sentence which is the first of it's own kind, where the 
death sentence was imposed even after the survival of the victim.

It is indeed difficult to spell out the plethora of judgments which bear 
testimony to his judicial qualities.

On behalf of the Advocate General's Office and it's law officers and the 
AG office staff and my personal staff, I would like to convey our gratitude for My 
Lord Shri Justice Shailendra Shukla Sahab's service to this Hon'ble Court.

All through his judicial career, My Lord has uphold the rule of law while 
also being conscious of the needs of the underprivileged and vulnerable groups of 
society.

Apart from the judicial posts, Hon'ble Justice Shukla had also worked on 
various posts of Administrative side of the High Court. My Lord's father had also 
been the Hon'ble Judge of this Hon'ble Court.

At this stage, it is also important to mention here that in the tough times of 
Covid and with limited Judges, My Lord has made every effort to serve the justice 
to every litigant by introducing a new practice of giving fix time of hearing along 
with the fixed date in a particular case. 

Besides it, My Lord has also been party to numerous orders and judgments 
that have furthered the cause of justice in this State.
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Today, as we bid farewell from this Hon'ble Court, please accept our best 
wishes and we pray our almighty God to grant him longevity, good health, 
happiness and an active and fulfilling next chapter and all the best wishes in his 
future pursuit. 

Thank you.

vkt ge lHkh deZfu"B U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk lkgc ds fonkbZ lekjksg ds fy, 
mifLFkr gSaA uk pkgrs gqq, Hkh geas fonkbZ dks vkxs c<+kuk gh gksrk gSA

ekuuh; U;k;kf/kifr egksn; Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk lkgc dk vkSj gekjk lkFk cs'kd vYi 
le;kof/k] rhu o"kZ ¼19-11-2018 ls 16-11-2021½ dk Fkk] fdarq blds mijkar Hkh csgn pqukSSrhiw.kZ 
¼dksjksuk dky½ le; esa vkids }kjk bldk loksZRre bLrseky dj vkidk gksuk lkFkZd dj fn;kA

ekuuh; U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk dk tUe 17-11-1959 dks gqvk FkkA U;k;ewfrZ Jh 
'kSysUnz 'kqDyk th fnukad 18-08-1987 dks U;kf;d lsok esa 'kkfey gq,A U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk 
th 24-12-1993 dks flfoy tt Dykl&1 ij fu;qDr gq,A U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk th dks 09-
06-1997 dks lh-ts-,e-@,-lh-ts-,e- ds :i esa fu;qDr fd;k x;k Fkk vkSj 29-08-1998 dks mPp 
U;kf;d lsok esa dk;Zokgd ftyk U;k;k/kh'k ds :i esa inksUur fd;k x;k FkkA U;k;ewfrZ lkgc 
tcyiqj] ujflagiqj] flouh] neksg] lkxj] fNanokM+k] Hkksiky vkSj [kaMok esa inLFk jgsA U;k;ewfrZ 
lkgc] e/;izns'k mPp U;k;ky; ds vks-,l-Mh-] vfrfjDr jftLVªkj ¼foftysal½ ds in ij inLFk 
jgsA U;k;ewfrZ lkgc us mPp U;k;ky;] tcyiqj esa vfrfjDr funs'kd] tks=h] tcyiqj] v/;{k] 
ftyk miHkksDrk eap] funs'kd] ,e-ih- jkT; U;kf;d vdkneh vkSj fizafliy jftLVªkj ¼lrZdrk½ ds 
:i esa Hkh dke fd;kA mPp U;k;ky; ds U;k;kf/kifr ds :i esa 'kiFk ls igys mUgsa ftyk 
U;k;k/kh'k] Hkksiky ds :Ik esa rSukr fd;k x;k FkkA 

vYidkyhu o dksjksuk dky ds pqukSrhiw.kZ le; ds mijkar Hkh vkidh miyfC/k;k¡ 
vrqyuh; jghA

¼iii½ vkids vuqHkoksa ls ckj ,lksfl,'ku cgqr gh ykHkkfUor gqbZ gSa rFkk vkidk] ckj vkSj 
lEiw.kZ e/;izns'k ds fuokfl;ksa ds izfr mnkjrkiw.kZ O;ogkj jgk vkSj blh ds dkj.k vkt ge vkids 
lsokfuo`Rr gksus ls 'kCnghu gSaA

----------------

Shri Suraj Sharma, President, High Court Bar Association, Indore, 
bids farewell :- 

¼i½  vkids }kjk ekuuh; U;k;ewfrZ ds :Ik esa vkt rd dqy 13 ,-Q-vkj- vkns'k fn, vkSj 
gtkjksa csxqukgksa dks U;k; nsdj csy vkmV fd;k vkSj funksZ"k fd;kA

¼ii½ bankSj cSap esa U;k;kf/kifr;ksa dh deh gksus ds mijkar Hkh] ,d gh fnu esa flaxy cSap ds 
ek/;e ls gtkjksa i{kdkjksa dks Rofjr U;k; miyC/k djok;k vkSj fMohtu cSap dk Hkh dk;Z c[kwch 
rjhds ls le; ij iw.kZ dj] bankSj mPp U;k;ky; ds dkuwuh dk;Z esa U;k;ewfrZ;ksa dh deh dks 
eglwl ugha gksus fn;kA
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vkidks vkxkeh dk;Z gsrq vareZu ls vuar 'kqHkdkeuk,¡A  

/kU;okn~A

Shri Sunil Gupta, Representative, State Bar Council of M.P.,  bids 
farewell :-

blh Hkkouk dks latksrs gq, eSa U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk lkgc ds mTToy dhfrZeku ,oa 
fo'kky O;fDrRo dh dkeuk djrk gw¡] ,oa bl volj ij eSa Lo;a viuh vksj ls vkSj mPp U;k;ky; 
vfHkHkk"kd la?k] bankSj ds leLr vf/koDrkvksa dh vksj ls vkidks iqu% /kU;okn nsrk gw¡A

----------------

vkt dk ;g fo'ks"k {k.k ge lHkh ds fy;s vR;Ur egRoiw.kZ gS] tc ge e/;izns'k mPp 
U;k;ky; ds ekuuh; U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk lkgc ds U;k;kf/kifr ds :i es ;'kLoh ,oa 
lQy dk;Zdky iw.kZ gksus ij mUgsa HkkoHkhuh fonkbZ nsus gsrq ,df=r gq, gaSA

U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 'kqDyk lkgc dk tUe 17 uoEcj 1959 dks gqvk FkkA U;k;ewfrZ Jh 
'kSysUnz 'kqDyk lkgc dks U;kf;d lsok esa fnukad 18-08-1987 dks flfoy tt ds :i esa fu;qDr 
fd;k x;kA fnukad 29-08-1998 esa ftyk tt ds :i esa fu;qDr fd;k x;kA U;k;ewfrZ Jh 'kSysUnz 
'kqDyk lkgc tcyiqj] ujflagiqj] flouh] neksg] lkxj] fNUnokM+k] Hkksiky ,oa [kaMok esa ftyk 
tt ds :i esa dk;Zjr jgsA e/;izns'k mPp U;k;ky; esa vks-,l-Mh- ,oa ,fM'kuy jftLVªkj] 
foftysal ds in ij dk;Zjr jgsA ftyk miHkksDrk Qksje ds v/;{k jgs rFkk e/;izns'k T;wfMf'k;y 
,dsMeh ds Mk;jsDVj ds in ij inLFk jgs rFkk fizalhiy jftLVªkj] foftysal ds :i esa jgsA 
e/;izns'k U;kf;d lsok esa vkidks 'kuS%&'kuS% fn;s x;s lHkh nkf;Roksa dk vkids }kjk lQyrkiwoZd 
fuokZg fd;k x;k rFkk e/;izns'k mPp U;k;ky; ds vfrfjDr U;k;ewfrZ fu;qDr fd, tkus ds iwoZ 
ftyk tt] Hkksiky ds :i esa inLFk jgs] ,oa vkidks bl egku U;k; eafnj esa LFkkbZ U;k;ewfrZ ds 
:i esa fu;qDr fd;k x;kA

vki cM+s gh izlUufpRr LoHkko ds gaS vkSj viuRo dh tks Hkkouk >ydrh gS] vkids }kjk 
twfu;j vfHkHkk"kdx.k dks lnSo izksRlkfgr djrs gq, mudk ekxZn'kZu dj U;k;nku esa lgk;rk 
iznku dhA vki lnSo gekjs fy;s izsj.kknk;h jgs] vkus okys le; esa vkidh vuqifLFkfr ls tks 
fjDrrk mRiUu gksxh og ges'kk eglwl gksrh jgsxhA gesa vk'kk gh ugha iw.kZ fo'okl gS fd vki 
le; le; ij gekjk ekxZn'kZu dj vkidh fjärk eglwl ugha gksus nsaxsA

/kU;okn~

bUgh Hkkoukvksa ds lkFk] eSa] viuh Lo;a dh vksj ls] e/;izns'k jkT; vf/koDrk ifj"kn~ ds 
lHkh lnL;ksa ,oa izns'k ds fof/k txr dh vksj ls vkids izfr d`rKrk rFkk vkHkkj O;Dr djrk g¡w 
,oa vkids mRre LokLF; ,oa nh?kkZ;q gksus dh dkeuk djrk g¡wA

----------------

vkius bl mPp U;k;ky; ds egku~ U;k;ewfrZ ds in dk vR;Ur xfjek] 'kkyhurk vkSj 
lknxh ds lkFk fuoZgu fd;k vkSj ftl lgtrk ls vkius my>s dkuwuh iz'uksa dks ljyrk ls 
lqy>k dj i{k vkSj foi{k ds i{kdkjksa ds eu esa lUrks"k dk cks/k djk;k] fuf'pr gh os vkidh 
vf}rh; dk;Z'kSyh ds vax cu x;s gSaA
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The day has come to bid Your Lordship farewell from the office and not 
from our hearts and minds. It is this day that we give our judgment on Lordship, 
having received so many at Lordship's hands for last 3 years.

I am extremely thankful for charitable words expressed by respected 
speakers. I consider such laudatory words more of their large heartedness than my 
true worth. However, I would only say that I have tried to do my work with 
devotion and sincerity and if at all I have been able to carve a niche in the minds, I 
would consider myself truly blessed.

Thank you.  

Every inning comes to an end and so the every tenure, it's the time for 
which we all have gathered here for saying bon voyage to My Lord, for starting a 
new inning, a totally new one.

Shri Himanshu Joshi, Assistant Solicitor General, bids farewell :- 

The journey of Your Lordship started after joining judiciary as a Civil 
Judge on 18.08.1987. My Lord has been posted at Jabalpur, Narsinghpur, Seoni, 
Damoh, Sagar, Chhindwada, Bhopal and Khargone. Your Lordship held the office 
of O.S.D., High Court of M.P., Additional Registrar, Vigilance, High Court of 
M.P., President, District Consumer Forum, Director, M.P. State Judicial Academy, 
Principal Registrar (Vigilance) also. Finally, My Lord elevated to the Bench in the 
year 2018. Your Lordship's patience, profound knowledge and sharp sense of 
humour reflected in his Court room, while sitting as a Judge. Your Lordship's 
congenial nature and the atmosphere in the Court always added to the pleasure of 
conducting cases before you. Vast knowledge, experience and great analytical 
ability duly reflected in the judgments passed by My Lord and we will always look 
forward to your guidance in future also.

Though, we will not be having My Lord with us in the Court from now, but 
will always be with us in our minds and in our heart. I extend good wishes to My 
Lord as well as to Mrs. Shukla on my behalf and on behalf of the Central 
Government, for starting new inning and I extend good wishes and hope that you 
will continue to be as cheerful as always and spread happiness wherever My Lord 
be.

Farewell Speech delivered by Hon'ble Mr. Justice Shailendra Shukla :-

----------------

The journey which had begun more than 34 years ago, has culminated 
today. The journey was like a long and winding road interspersed with beautiful 
landscapes at times and rough terrain on other occasions but it was worth it 
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I must say at this juncture that the officers of the State Judicial Services 
have been performing extremely well. The infrastructure has been enhanced over 
the years. I would however, advise them to get rid of the attitude of playing it safe. 
The focus should be on decision making process without any apprehension. A 

During the span of 34 years, apart from gaining experience as a Judge over 
the years, as an officer on deputation in Registry, I had the opportunity to get 
exposure to other dimensions of framework within which the judicial system 
operates. During my stint in M.P. State Judicial Academy, I had the opportunity to 
learn from the colleagues and judicial officers coming to the Institute and gain 
finer insights in respect of legal issues. I consider myself very fortunate to be 
associated with some other assignments of importance including setting up of 
museum at the High Court, bringing to life almost defunct ILR in its present 
format including covering up the backlog of issues, involvement in commemorative 
book on the occasion of golden jubilee of the High Court in the year 2005 and also 
in the book titled “Courts of India”.

Today, I feel blessed to come out safe after trial by fire and having done my 
bit in the “Yagya” of justice dispensation. However, a feeling of sadness has also 
enveloped me on leaving hallowed precincts of this great Institution. After being 
elevated as a High Court Judge, I was fortunate to learn deeper crafts of justice 
dispensation from my respected brothers with whom I had the opportunity to 
share the Bench. Their sagacity and wisdom would always be etched in my mind. I 
convey my heartful thanks to them.

I found the learned members of Indore Bar to be very professional and 
patient. They were always prepared with in-depth study of their cases and had 
profound ability to answer random queries made to them. I shall always cherish 
the memories of vibrant moments and pulsating court craft and at times magical 
dawning of the correct solution to the problem at hand, as if being guided by some 
supernatural force. If I have been rough to any of you, I regret the same but 
whatever may have been said, was for the ends of justice only. It would however, 
be appropriate to point out that while dealing with criminal cases in the Special 
Bench, we found that there was no interaction between panel lawyers and jail 
convicts. It is expected that such interaction should be established so as to understand 
the psyche of the convict and the circumstances in which he committed the crime.

nevertheless. Serving the needy and poor litigants was itself an incentive. The 
journey would not have ended on a positive note but for the support and blessings 
of my superior officers in District Judiciary and Registry and subsequent 
association with respected brothers of huge ability, character and wisdom in this 
High Court and also members of the Bar.
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case actually under Section 304 Part-I or Part-II may not necessarily result in 
conviction under Section 302 IPC.

At this juncture, I must say that burgeoning number of cases and resultant 
heavy workload has been causing huge strain to the Judges. Their number in this 
Bench had recently dwindled down to five in number, which was so even in the 
year 1981 while my father was a Judge in this Bench. There is crying need to fill 
up vacancies as early as possible.

We had troubled times during Corona pandemic but our State emerged as 
one of the few having higher disposal rates in such times, which is an example of 
cooperation between the Bench and Bar striving to provide expeditious and 
timely justice.

I express my thanks to the Principal Registrar of this Bench and officers of 
the Registry for their whole hearted support.

I also extend my heartfelt thanks to my extremely hard working staff, who 
were always willing to render their services at any hour of the day. I would like to 
thank my Reader Mr. B.K. Shrivastava, Secretary, Mr. Shailesh Sukhdeve and Mr. 
Trilok Singh Savner, Senior Personal Assistant, Mr. Arun Nair and Ms. Geeta 
Pramod and  Jamadar, Mr. Govind Ram Baluni.

I would also like to thank my staff at home who saw to it that I do not have 
to bother about my essential daily needs. My whole hearted thanks to Driver 
Leeladharji and PSOs, who were very respectful and available at short notice.

 After demitting office, I would pursue my other interests such as reading 
literature of my choice, listening to good music, as also looking after the welfare 
of my family members, who have always stood by me through my thick and thin. I 
also wish to utilize my services for the society in whichever manner possible. I am 
eagerly looking ahead for the next inning of my life. 

I express my thanks to Dr. Rajesh Solanki and Dr. Smt. Ira Joshi for their 
due support and advice with regard to health issues concerning myself and my 
family members. 

The unseen pillar giving strength to a Judge in performing his duty, in an 
unhindered manner is always his immediate family. I would like to thank my dear 
wife Sangeeta who was forever the biggest source of strength to me. My children 
Ayushi and Varun also learnt to manage their own lives seeing their father perennially 
digging his head in files. I owe them much and I am very proud of them. I bow to 
almighty for making me the medium of immense joy to my revered mother, who 
after seeing her husband and son-in-law getting elevated, also got the chance to 
see her son also in the same frame.
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----------------

Bidding adieu to all with folded hands.

I thank you once again for your kind and good wishes and for warm 
welcome today.

I wish you all, best health and happiness.

Jai Hind
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B. Constitution – Article 226 – Writ of Quo Warranto – Locus 
Standi – quo warranto, locus standi Held – For issuance of writ of is 
insignificant but to maintain a regular writ petition, petitioner must show 
that he is a “person aggrieved”.

[k- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & vf/kdkj i`PNk dh ;kfpdk & lqus tkus dk 
vf/kdkj & 

Before Mr. Justice Sujoy Paul & Mr. Justice Anil Verma

 Short Note

WP No. 11298/2021 (Indore) decided on 30 July, 2021

*( )(DB)12

Vs.

d- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & vf/kdkj i`PNk dh ;kfpdk & iks"k.kh;rk & 

C. Constitution – Article 226 – Writ of Quo Warranto – Necessary 
Party – quo Apex Court concluded that the person against whom the writ of 
warranto is prayed for is a necessary party. 

STATE OF M.P. & ors. …Respondents

A. Constitution – Article 226 – Writ of Quo Warranto – 
Maintainability – quo warranto Held – Writ of  can be issued against a person 
and related to a post which he is substantively holding – Appointment of R-4 
not challenged nor his appointment order has been filed – Posting and 
working of R-4 cannot be a reason for issuing writ of  – Petition quo warranto
filed to either settle personal score or gain publicity and cannot be treated as 
PIL – Petition not maintainable and dismissed with cost of Rs. 10,000.

ARUN SINGH CHOUHAN  …Petitioner

x- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & vf/kdkj i`PNk dh ;kfpdk & vko';d 
i{kdkj & 

The Order of the Court was passed by :  SUJOY PAUL, J.

NOTES OF CASES SECTION



NOTES OF CASES SECTION

Cases referred:

 Petitioner Arun Singh Chouhan present in person.  

*(13) 

WP No. 3157/2017 (Gwalior) decided on 31 July, 2021

HINDUSTAN PETROLEUM …Respondents

 AIR 2001 SC 3435, (1916) 1 K.B. 595, (1964) 4 SCR 575, (2006) 11 SCC 
731(2), (2009) 7 SCC 1, 1983 SCC Online Del 32, 2010 ILR (MP) 1357, (2006) 
11 SCC 731 (I). 

 Vivek Dalal, A.A.G. for the respondents/State.

  Short Note

 Before Mr. Justice Vishal Mishra 

BRIJESH SHRIVASTAVA (SMT.) …Petitioner

Vs.

d- isVªksfy;e dh QqVdj forjdrk & vk'k;&i= ¼LOI ½ & izHkko & 

[k- isVªksfy;e dh QqVdj forjdrk & dysDVj }kjk vukifRr izek.k&i= 
& Hkwfe dk gd & 

A. Petroleum Retail Dealership – Letter of Intent (LOI) – Effect – 
Held – LOI is only a proposal that respondents are intending to enter into an 
agreement – Corporation was still having its rights to decline to enter into a 
contract – Once the contract is not completed, Corporation cannot be 
directed to complete all formalities – No right has accrued in his favour on 
basis of issuance of LOI – Petition dismissed.

CORPORATION LTD. & ors.

B. Petroleum Retail Dealership – NOC by Collector – Title of Land 
– Held – Merely NOC being issued by competent authority i.e. Collector does 
not amounts to its clearance of title – Apex Court concluded that while 
granting NOC, Collector is not concerned about ownership of land, he is 
concerned about the location of land and its suitability as a place for storage 
of petroleum – Petitioner failed to demonstrate clear title of land – No right 
accrued in favour of petitioner. 



Arvind Dudawat, for the petitioner. 

Vs.

d- fo'ks"k l'kL= cy vf/kfu;e] e-iz- ¼1968 dk 29½] /kkjk 9 & izfrfu;qfDr 
o LFkkukarj.k &

STATE OF M.P. & ors. …Respondents

Cases referred:

 B. Vishesh Sashastra Bal Adhiniyam, M.P. (29 of 1968), Section 3-
Chapter II & 9 – Transfer – Scope & Jurisdiction – Held – State government 
can divide the Special Armed Force into groups and further sub divide each 
group into battalions and each battalion into companies and each company 
into platoons – As per Section 9, State Government or Inspector General has 
powers to transfer member of Police Force to Special Armed Force and vice-
versa.

*(14)

PRADEEP KUMAR …Petitioner

 Before Mr. Justice S.A. Dharmadhikari

A. Vishesh Sashastra Bal Adhiniyam, M.P. (29 of 1968), Section 9 – 
Deputation & Transfer – Held – Clause 9 of the appointment order of 
petitioner specifically provides that prior consent is not necessary for 
transfer – No fault can be found in transferring petitioner to another 
battalion which also cannot be termed as “deputation” – Petition dismissed.

(2006) 1 SCC 228, C.A. No. 4358/2016 decided on 23.07.2021 (Supreme 
Court), AIR 1973 SC 1164, (2017) 2 SCC 125, (1996) 10 SCC 405.

Harish Dixit, for the respondents.

 Short Note

WP No. 16532/2021 (Gwalior) decided on 28 September, 2021
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WP No. 15544/2021 (Jabalpur) decided on 6 September, 2021

Vijay Sundaram, P.L. for the respondents/State.
D.S. Raghuvanshi, for the petitioner. 

Short Note
*(15)

 Before Mr. Justice Vishal Dhagat 

SURESH KUMAR KURVE …Petitioner

STATE OF M.P. & ors. …Respondents

Vs.

A. Service Law and Fundamental Rules, Rules 24, 26 & 54-B(1) – 
Withholding Increment during Suspension – Held – Petitioner during 
suspension is not on duty and increments are granted for period spent on 
duty – No prejudice caused to petitioner if decision regarding his allowance is 
to be taken after conclusion of criminal trial – Non grant of increment during 
suspension period does not amount to penalty – Action of respondents not 
violative of Rules 24 and 54-B(1) – Petition dismissed. 

 B. Binding Precedent – Held – Observation made by Court in a 
judgment or order is not binding on Court – Reasons for the decision and 
findings of Court on an issue is binding precedent.

[k- ck/;dkjh iwoZ fu.kZ; & 

Akash Choudhary, for the petitioner. 

Case referred:

d- lsok fof/k ,oa ewyHkwr fu;e] fu;e 24] 26 o 54&B¼1½ & fuyacu ds 
nkSjku osru&o`f) jksduk & 

2012 SCC Online MP 6887.

Anvesh Shrivastava, P.L. for the respondents/State.
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Before Mr. Justice K.M. Joseph & Mr. Justice S. Ravindra Bhat
SUPREME COURT OF INDIA

I.L.R. [2021] M.P  (SC). 1991

d- n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 299] 300] 302 o 304 Hkkx I & gR;k 
dh dksfV esa u vkus okyk vkijkf/kd ekuo o/k & vk'k; o Kku & 

(Paras 14 to 17)

Vs.

[k- n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 299] 300] 302 o 304 Hkkx I & 
vkijkf/kd ekuo o/k o gR;k &

STATE OF M.P. …Respondent

A. Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 299, 300, 302 & 304 Part I – 
Culpable Homicide Not Amounting to Murder – Intention & Knowledge – Held 
– No previous quarrel with deceased, thus there was lack of animus – No 
motive or pre-meditation proved – Act of throwing off the deceased from 
truck and driving on without pausing appears to have been in the heat of 
passion or rage – It is not proved that appellant with deliberate intention 
drove over the deceased and he knew that deceased would have fallen inside, 
so that truck's rear tyre would have gone over him – Conviction u/S 302 
altered to one u/S 304 Part I, IPC– Appeal allowed accordingly. 

B. Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 299, 300, 302 & 304 Part I – 
Culpable Homicide & Murder – Held – It is often difficult to distinguish 
between culpable homicide and murder as both involve death, yet there is 
subtle distinction of intention and knowledge involved in both the crimes – 
This difference lies in the degree of act – There is very wide variance of degree 
of intention and knowledge among both the crimes.  (Para 11)

MOHD. RAFIQ @ KALLU …Appellant

CRA No. 856/2021 decided on 15 September, 2021

1991Mohd. Rafiq@Kallu Vs. State of M.P. (SC)I.L.R.[2021]M.P.



5. It was argued on behalf of the appellant by Ms. Ritu Gangele, Advocate 
that a close reading of the evidence disclosed that the depositions of PW-2, PW- 

Cases referred:

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by :

J U D G E M E N T

1976 (4) SCC 382, (2006) 11 SCC 444.

S. RAVINDRA BHAT, J. :- The appellant is aggrieved by a judgment of the Madhya 
1

Pradesh High Court  which confirmed his conviction for the offence punishable 
under Section 302 of the Indian Penal Code (“IPC”), and the sentence of rigorous 
imprisonment for life imposed on him.

2. The facts are that Police Station Jabera received information in the 
evening of 09.03.1992 that a truck (CPQ 4115) had broken the Forest Department 
barrier and collided with a motorcycle. The receipt of this information (by means 
of telephonic conversation) alerted the police. It was further alleged that Sub 
Inspector (SI) D.K. Tiwari along with others were stationed at a vantage point, on 
the main road, when the truck reached there. SI Tiwari motioned the truck to stop; 
it was driven by the appellant. Instead of applying brakes, the accused tried to 
speed away, upon which SI Tiwari boarded the truck from its left side. At that 
stage, it is alleged that the accused/appellant warned SI Tiwari not to do so and that 
he would get killed. Nevertheless, SI Tiwari boarded the truck. Immediately, the 
appellant pushed him, as a result of which SI Tiwari fell off the truck and he was 
run over by the rear wheels of the truck. SI Tiwari died. It is further alleged that the 
appellant fled with the truck. He was later caught, arrested and charged with 
committing murder of SI Tiwari. 

3.  In the trial before the Addl. Sessions Judge, Damoh, the prosecution relied 
upon the depositions of 18 witnesses, besides several exhibits, including the 
postmortem report, seizure of articles from the site and the deposition of medical 
witness (PW-6). The prosecution essentially relied upon the statements of PW-2, 
PW-10, PW-11, PW-14 & PW-15, i.e. the principal eye witnesses. The accused 
also led oral evidence of three witnesses, including that of Majeed, DW-1, who 
deposed that he was the conductor who was in the truck when the incident had 
occurred.

4. After duly considering the entire evidence and materials led before it, the 
2

Trial Court, by its judgment and order  convicted the appellant as charged and 
sentenced him to rigorous imprisonment for life. The appeal against the 
conviction and sentence was rejected by the impugned order.
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10, PW-14 and PW-15 contain fatal contradictions and exaggerations. It was 
pointed out that the prosecution version about the deceased boarding the truck 
from its left side and being pushed by the appellant was highly improbable given 
that two witnesses had clearly deposed that the latter, i.e. the accused continued to 
drive the truck. It was submitted that if such was the position, unless the 
prosecution established that the deceased had actually boarded the truck and sat in 
it near the driver, it was impossible for the accused to have pushed him with such 
force that he would have fallen off and gotten crushed under the rear wheels.

6. Learned counsel also pointed out to depositions of PW-2 and PW10 and 
submitted that several improvements were made to the original statements, 
recorded during the course of the investigation. It was stated that firstly the 
statement made during the investigation by PW-2 did not mention how the 
accused was identified when he was in the truck at 09.45 p.m. whereas the 
deposition of PW-2 stated that he could identify the accused in the light of the 
cabin and tube light on the street. She also pointed out that PW-2 improved upon 
his previous statement during the course of the trial inasmuch as he had not 
previously stated that the appellant had freed his left hand to push the deceased 
and that at the same time he continued to drive with his right hand. Most crucially, 
it was submitted by the learned counsel that the witness nowhere had stated 
previously that the truck had sped after slowing down - a position that he deposed 
to during the course of trial.

7. It was next submitted that the depositions of all the other so-called eye 
witnesses were suspicious because they spoke in unison about the incident in a 
manner identical to the deposition of PW-2. Learned counsel pointed out to the 
improbability of four persons observing an incident in the same manner, although 
they were located at different points or places, but painting the same picture given 
that the incident had occurred in the dark. It was submitted that all the witnesses 
were not standing at the same spot but dispersed at different points. In these 
circumstances, the nature of the light, i.e. how well lit the area was as well as the 
distance of the concerned witnesses from the concerned location, i.e. where the 
incident occurred, became crucial. The Courts below ignored these important 
features and held the appellant guilty of murder. Learned counsel submitted that 
there was no material on record pointing towards any motive on part of the 
accused. She highlighted that the deceased was not in uniform but rather in plain 
clothes and that his efforts to board the vehicle were resisted by the appellant who 
did not know that he was a public servant. It was submitted that the question of the 
appellant having any animus or intention to commit murder therefore did not 
arise.

8. Mr. Gopal Jha, appearing for the State urged the Court not to interfere with 
the concurrent findings and conviction recorded by the Trial Court and the High 
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Analysis and Conclusions

Court. He submitted that both the courts carefully weighed the evidence and 
concluded that the appellant deliberately pushed SI Tiwari when he boarded the 
truck. What is more, the appellant had also threatened to kill him if SI Tiwari 
interfered with the movement of the truck. When SI Tiwari did not heed and 
actually boarded the truck, the appellant, in a cold-blooded manner, pushed him 
out, and instead of stopping the truck, deliberately ran over SI Tiwari. The medical 
evidence also substantiated the prosecution version that the truck had run over SI 
Tiwari since his body disclosed multiple injuries, including ruptured spleen and 
intestines and that his skull had cracked open. It was submitted that the arguments 
on behalf of the appellant with respect to contradictions in the depositions of the 
witnesses could not outweigh the overall effect of the evidence led before the 
Court which clearly showed that SI Tiwari was pushed and deliberately ran over 
by the appellant. These, submitted, the learned counsel, established the intention 
to kill beyond reasonable doubt.

9. Having carefully considered the record, the evidence of the trial court and 
the High Court, as well as the contentions made before this court, the only 
question which arises is as to the precise nature of the criminal liability of the 
appellant. There can be no serious dispute about the occurrence of the incident; all 
the eye witnesses - especially PW-2 deposed about the receipt of information 
about a speeding truck which had run through a Forest Department barrier and 
which was also involved in an incident with a motorcycle. SI Tiwari was alerted 
about this information and therefore positioned himself along with a few others, 
on the road. The evidence also discloses that the incident occurred in the close 
vicinity of a police station. By the side of the police station, there was a medical 
store. The incident apparently occurred at 09.45 P.M. according to the eye 
witnesses; in any case, the copy of the First Information Report reveals that it was 
recorded at 10:10 PM; it reflects the time of the incident to be 9:50 PM. There is 
some contradiction between the statements made during the investigation by the 
prosecution witnesses about the source of light: PW-2 admitted that he had not 
mentioned about any light and that he deposed about it for the first time in court 
and that he could identify the accused from a distance of about 50 feet due to the 
light source within the truck's cabin. There cannot be serious dispute on this aspect 
because there is no argument that the appellant was in fact driving the truck. What 
is more important however, is the exact sequence of events. The depositions of 
PW-2, PW-14 and PW-15 are consistent in that the truck had slowed and that SI 
Tiwari asked the appellant to stop it. When the appellant did not pay heed, SI 
Tiwari attempted and did board the truck. The appellant at that point allegedly 
pushed SI Tiwari. This point becomes crucial because the witnesses consistently 
deposed that SI Tiwari boarded the left side of the truck. If so, the accused would 
have had to use both his hands depending on how secure SI Tiwari was in the 
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10. The High Court, we notice, did not go by the prosecution version entirely 
and observed in the impugned judgment that SI Tiwari fell off the truck on account 
of “excessive speed of the truck”. If that is the position, the prosecution's version 
that the appellant pushed him and deliberately ran over SI Tiwari is implausible. 
The deposition of PW-10 says that the appellant on being asked to stop had in fact 
slowed the truck after which a short altercation with SI Tiwari took place and then 
the deceased boarded the truck. PW-10 also deposed that the truck was driven “in 
an oblique manner”. Given all these factors, the propensity of the eye witnesses, 
PW-2, PW-10, PW-14 and PW-15 to improve upon the actual incident and 
introduce exaggerations cannot be ruled out as they were the deceased's colleagues 
and subordinates. There can however, be no doubt that the incident broadly occurred 
in the manner the prosecution alleged: upon receipt of the information of the truck 
being involved in a previous incident with the forest department barrier, SI Tiwari 
positioned himself along with others in front of the police station. When the 
appellant arrived at the spot in the truck, SI Tiwari gestured him to stop. Momentarily, 
he stopped down; after this SI Tiwari boarded from the left side of the truck. It is 
after this point that the prosecution version seems improbable and somewhat 
riddled with contradictions. If one considers the fact that at least two eye 
witnesses turned hostile and that depositions of PW-2 and PW-10 disclose clear 
improvements, much importance cannot be given to the words uttered by the 
appellant to SI Tiwari, warning that if he tried to board, he would be killed. 
Likewise, there is no discussion about the map or the course that the truck took 
after SI Tiwari fell from the truck, i.e., whether it speeded up and that the appellant 
intended to drive over and crush SI Tiwari, and that the position where SI Tiwari 
fell was known by the appellant to be within the line of the rear tyre of the moving 
truck. 

truck. However, PW- 2's deposition discloses that the accused appellant continued 
to drive with his right hand and used his left hand to push SI Tiwari.

11. 
3 The question of whether in a given case, a homicide is murder , punishable 

under Section 302 IPC, or culpable homicide, of either description, punishable 
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3. Sections 299 and 300 IPC define the two offences. They are extracted below:

299. Culpable homicide.—Whoever causes death by doing an act with the intention of causing death, or with 
the intention of causing such bodily injury as is likely to cause death, or with the knowledge that he is likely by 
such act to cause death, commits the offence of culpable homicide.

(a)  A lays sticks and turf over a pit, with the intention of thereby causing death, or with the knowledge that 
death is likely to be thereby caused. Z believing the ground to be firm, treads on it, falls in and is killed. A 
has committed the offence of culpable homicide.

Illustrations

(b)  A knows Z to be behind a bush. B does not know it A, intending to cause, or knowing it to be likely to 
cause Z's death, induces B to fire at the bush. B fires and kills Z. Here B may be guilty of no offence; but A 
has committed the offence of culpable homicide.



under Section 304 IPC has engaged the attention of courts in this country for over 
one and a half century, since the enactment of the IPC; a welter of case law, on this 
aspect exists, including perhaps several hundred rulings by this court. The use of 
the term “likely” in several places in respect of culpable homicide, highlights the 
element of uncertainty that the act of the accused may or may not have killed the 
person. Section 300 IPC which defines murder, however refrains from the use of 
the term likely, which reveals absence of ambiguity left on behalf of the accused. 
The accused is for sure that his act will definitely cause death. It is often difficult to 
distinguish between culpable homicide and murder as both involve death. Yet, 
there is a subtle distinction of intention and knowledge involved in both the 
crimes. This difference lies in the degree of the act. There is a very wide variance 
of degree of intention and knowledge among both the crimes.
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(c)  A, by shooting at a fowl with intent to kill and steal it, kills B who is behind a bush; A not knowing that he 
was there. Here, although A was doing an unlawful act, he was not guilty of culpable homicide, as he did 
not intend to kill B, or to cause death by doing an act that he knew was likely to cause death.

Explanation 1.—A person who causes bodily injury to another who is labouring under a disorder, 
disease or bodily infirmity, and thereby accelerates the death of that other, shall be deemed to have 
caused his death. Explanation 2.—Where death is caused by bodily injury, the person who causes such 
bodily injury shall be deemed to have caused the death, although by resorting to proper remedies and 
skilful treatment the death might have been prevented. Explanation

Explanation 3.—The causing of the death of child in the mother's womb is not homicide. But it may amount to 
culpable homicide to cause the death of a living child, if any part of that child has been brought forth, though 
the child may not have breathed or been completely born.

Secondly —If it is done with the intention of causing such bodily injury as the offender knows to be likely to 
cause the death of the person to whom the harm is caused, or—

Fourthly —If the person committing the act knows that it is so imminently dangerous that it must, in all 
probability, cause death or such bodily injury as is likely to cause death, and commits such act without any 
excuse for incurring the risk of causing death or such injury as aforesaid.

300. Murder.—Except in the cases hereinafter excepted, culpable homicide is murder, if the act by which the 
death is caused is done with the intention of causing death, or—

Thirdly —If it is done with the intention of causing bodily injury to any person and the bodily injury intended 
to be inflicted is sufficient in the ordinary course of nature to cause death, or—

Illustrations

Exception 1.—When culpable homicide is not murder.—Culpable homicide is not murder if the offender, 
whilst deprived of the power of self-control by grave and sudden provocation, causes the death of the person 
who gave the provocation or causes the death of any other person by mistake or accident. The above 
exception is subject to the following provisos:—

Secondly —That the provocation is not given by anything done in obedience to the law, or by a public servant 
in the lawful exercise of the powers of such public servant.

 *******
*******   *******

First —That the provocation is not sought or voluntarily provoked by the offender as an excuse for killing or 
doing harm to any person.



"12.  In the scheme of the Penal Code, "culpable homicide" is genus 
and "murder" its specie. All "murder" is "culpable homicide" but not 
vice- versa. Speaking generally, "culpable homicide" sans "special 
characteristics of murder", is "culpable homicide not amounting to 
murder". For the purpose of fixing punishment, proportionate to the 
gravity of this generic offence, the Code practically recognises three 
degrees of culpable homicide. The first is, what may be called, 
"culpable homicide of the first degree". This is the greatest form of 
culpable homicide, which is defined in Section 300 as "murder". The 
second may be termed as "culpable homicide of the second degree". 
This is punishable under the first part of Section 304. Then, there is 
"culpable homicide of the third degree". This is the lowest type of 
culpable homicide and the punishment provided for it is, also, the 
lowest among the punishments provided for the three grades. 
Culpable homicide of this degree is punishable under the second 
part of Section 304..

4 
12. The decision in State of Andhra Pradesh v Rayavarapu Punnayya & Anr
notes the important distinction between the two provisions, and their differing, 
but subtle distinction. The court pertinently pointed out that:
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 Exception 3.—Culpable homicide is not murder if the offender, being a public servant or aiding a public 
servant acting for the advancement of public justice, exceeds the powers given to him by law, and causes 
death by doing an act which he, in good faith, believes to be lawful and necessary for the due discharge 
of his duty as such public servant and without ill-will towards the person whose death is caused.

*******    *******

Exception 2.—Culpable homicide is not murder if the offender, in the exercise in good faith of the right of 
private defence of person or property, exceeds the power given to him by law and causes the death of the 
person against whom he is exercising such right of defence without premeditation, and without any intention 
of doing more harm than is necessary for the purpose of such defence. Illustration Z attempts to horsewhip A, 
not in such a manner as to cause grievous hurt to A. A draws out a pistol. Z persists in the assault. A believing 
in good faith that he can by no other means prevent himself from being horsewhipped, shoots Z dead. A has 
not committed murder, but only culpable homicide.

Thirdly —That the provocation is not given by anything done in the lawful exercise of the right of private 
defence. Explanation.—Whether the provocation was grave and sudden enough to prevent the offence from 
amounting to murder is a question of fact. Illustrations

Exception 4.—Culpable homicide is not murder if it is committed without premeditation in a sudden fight in 
the heat of passion upon a sudden quarrel and without the offender having taken undue advantage or acted in 
a cruel or unusual manner.

 *******

Explanation.—It is immaterial in such cases which party offers the provocation or commits the first assault. 
Exception 5.—Culpable homicide is not murder when the person whose death is caused, being above the age 
of eighteen years, suffers death or takes the risk of death with his own consent.

4. 1976 (4) SCC 382

Illustration A, by instigation, voluntarily causes, Z, a person under eighteen years of age to commit suicide. 
Here, on account of Z's youth, he was incapable of giving consent to his own death; A has therefore abetted 
murder. 



13. The academic distinction between "murder" and "culpable 
homicide not amounting to murder" has vexed the courts for more 
than a century. The confusion is caused, if courts losing sight of the 
true scope and meaning of the terms used by the legislature in these 
sections, allow themselves to be drawn into minute abstractions. 
The safest way of approach to the interpretation and application of 
these provisions seems to be to keep in focus the keywords used in 
the various clauses of Sections 299 and 300."

13. The considerations that should weigh with courts, in discerning whether 
an act is punishable as murder, or culpable homicide, not amounting to murder, 
were outlined in Pulicherla Nagaraju @ Nagaraja Reddy v State of Andhra 

5Pradesh . This court observed that:

"29. Therefore, the Court should proceed to decide the pivotal 
question of intention, with care and caution, as that will decide 
whether the case falls under Section 302 or 304 Part I or 304 Part II. 
Many petty or insignificant matters - plucking of a fruit, straying of 
cattle, quarrel of children, utterance of a rude word or even an 
objectionable glance, may lead to altercations and group clashes 
culminating in deaths. Usual motives like revenge, greed, jealousy 
or suspicion may be totally absent in such cases. There may be no 
intention. There may be no premeditation. In fact, there may not 
even be criminality. At the other end of the spectrum, there may be 
cases of murder where the accused attempts to avoid the penalty for 
murder by attempting to put forth a case that there was no intention 
to cause death. It is for the courts to ensure that the cases of murder 
punishable under Section 302, are not converted into offences 
punishable under Section 304 Part I/II, or cases of culpable 
homicide not amounting to murder are treated as murder 
punishable under Section 302. The intention to cause death can be 
gathered generally from a combination of a few or several of the 
following, among other, circumstances; (i) nature of the weapon 
used; (ii) whether the weapon was carried by the accused or was 
picked up from the spot; (iii) whether the blow is aimed at a vital part 
of the body;(iv) the amount of force employed in causing injury; (v) 
whether the act was in the course of sudden quarrel or sudden fight 
or free for all fight; (vi) whether the incident occurs by chance or 
whether there was any premeditation; (vii) whether there was any 
prior enmity or whether the deceased was a stranger;(viii) whether 
there was any grave and sudden provocation, and if so, the cause for 
such provocation; (ix) whether it was in the heat of passion; (x) 
whether the person inflicting the injury has taken undue advantage 
or has acted in a cruel and unusual manner; (xi) whether the 
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15. All the essential elements show that the appellant did not have any 
previous quarrel with the deceased; there was lack of animus. The act resulting in 
SI Tiwari's death was not pre-meditated. Though it cannot be said that there was a 
quarrel, caused by sudden provocation, if one considers that the deceased tried to 
board the truck, and was perhaps in plain clothes, the instinctive reaction of the 
appellant was to resist; he disproportionately reacted, which resulted in the 

14. Coming back to the facts of this case, as observed earlier, there can be no 
serious dispute that the prosecution established the main elements of its factual 
allegations: the receipt of information of the breaking of the forest barrier; 
positioning of the deceased SI Tiwari, with a posse of policemen on the road; the 
identification of the appellant, as one who drove the truck; gesturing by the 
deceased to the appellant to stop the truck; the latter slowing down the vehicle; 
attempt by the SI to board the vehicle, and his being shaken off the truck, on 
account of the driver refusing to stop, and, on the other hand, speeding the vehicle. 
Even if the prosecution version that the appellant having threatened to kill the 
deceased were to be accepted, one cannot set much store by it, because no motive 
or no animus against the deceased was proved. A general expression of the 
extreme threat, (without any real intention of carrying it, since the truck was not 

6
laden with any contraband  or was not used for any illegal or suspect activity), 
cannot be given too much weight. What is of consequence, is that upon the 
deceased falling off the truck, the appellant drove on. Here, the prosecution 
established that the truck was driven, without heed; however, it did not establish 
the intention of the driver (i.e. the appellant) to run over the deceased. This point, 
though fine, is not without significance, because it goes to the root of the nature of 
the intention. Did the appellant intend to kill SI Tiwari? We think not. Clearly, he 
knew that SI Tiwari had fallen off; he proceeded to drive on. However, whether the 
deceased fell in the direction of the rear tyre, of the truck, or whether he fell clear 
of the vehicle, has not been proved; equally it is not clear from the evidence, that 
the appellant knew that he did. What was established, however was that he did fall 
off the truck, which continued its movement, perhaps with greater rapidity. This 
does not prove that the appellant, with deliberate intent, drove over the deceased 
and he knew that the deceased would have fallen inside, so that the truck's rear tyre 
would have gone over him. In these circumstances, it can however be inferred that 
the appellant intended to cause such bodily injury as was likely to cause SI 
Tiwari's death.

accused dealt a single blow or several blows. The above list of 
circumstances is, of course, not exhaustive and there may be several 
other special circumstances with reference to individual cases 
which may throw light on the question of intention.”
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deceased being thrown off the vehicle. Such act of throwing off the deceased and 
driving on without pausing, appears to have been in the heat of passion, or rage. 
Therefore, it is held that the appellant's conviction under Section 302 IPC was not 
appropriate.

SUPREME COURT OF INDIA 

16. ode provides punishment for culpable homicide not 7
Section 304 IPC  C

amounting to murder (under Section 299 IPC). In the facts of the present case, this 
court is of the opinion that the appellants should be convicted for the offence 
punishable under the first part of Section 304 IPC, as he had the intention of 
causing such bodily harm, to the deceased, as was likely to result in his death, as it 
did. Having regard to these circumstances, the conviction recorded by the courts 
below, is altered to one under Section 304 Part I, IPC. The sentence too is therefore 
modified - instead of rigorous imprisonment (“RI”) for life, the appellant is 
hereby sentenced to 10 years' RI. The direction to pay fine, is however, left 
undisturbed.

Vs.

(Alongwith CRA No. 1203/2021)

CRA No. 1202/2021 decided on 8 October, 2021

17. The appeal succeeds and is allowed in the above terms. No costs.
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with imprisonment of either description for a term which may extend to ten years, or with fine, or with both, if 
the act is done with the knowledge that it is likely to cause death, but without any intention to cause death, or 
to cause such bodily injury as is likely to cause death..”

7. 304. Punishment for culpable homicide not amounting to murder.—Whoever commits culpable 
homicide not amounting to murder shall be punished with 1[imprisonment for life], or imprisonment of either 
description for a term which may extend to ten years, and shall also be liable to fine, if the act by which the 
death is caused is done with the intention of causing death, or of causing such bodily injury as is likely to 
cause death, or



B. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 438 – 
Cancellation of Anticipatory Bail – Factors to be Considered – Discussed and 
explained.  (Para 24 & 25)

J U D G M E N T 

indicates a specific role of accused persons in the crime – Fact of previous 
enmity also exists – Order granting anticipatory bail has ignored material 
aspects, including the nature and gravity of offence and specific allegations – 
Sufficient case made out for cancelling the anticipatory bail – Orders 
granting anticipatory bail to R-2 in both appeals set aside – Appeals allowed. 
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A The appeal
1 2 1. These appeals arise from judgments dated 1 July 2021 and 31 May 2021

of a Single Judge of the Jabalpur Bench of the High Court for the State of Madhya 
Pradesh through which it allowed the applications for anticipatory bail filed by the 
second respondents in both the appeals under Section 438 of the Code of Criminal 

3 4Procedure 1973  in connection with a crime  registered at the Police Station 
Majholi, District Jabalpur, State of Madhya Pradesh for the offences punishable 

5under Sections 302 and 323 read with Section 34 of the Indian Penal Code 1860 .

2. The crime was registered on the basis of a dehati nalsi/FIR lodged by the 
appellant on 29 September 2020. The allegation in the FIR is that the appellant 
was at Negai Tiraha with the deceased, Vikas Singh (who was his brother in-law) 
and two other individuals (Rajkishore Rajput and Dharmender Patel). It was 
alleged that the four accused persons, namely Ujiyar Singh, his two sons Chandrabhan 
Singh and Suryabhan Singh (the second respondent in the companion appeal) and 
his driver Jogendra Singh (the second respondent in the lead appeal) arrived in a 
jeep. Thereafter, allegedly due to a previous rivalry, Ujiyar Singh and Chandrabhan 
Singh shot at Vikas Singh, while Jogendra Singh held him, leading to his death 
while Suryabhan Singh hit the appellant on his head with the butt of his gun, 
leading to an injury. Upon being brought to a hospital, Vikas Singh was 
pronounced dead, following which the appellant got the FIR registered.

3. Suryabhan Singh and Jogendra Singh filed applications seeking anticipatory 
bail under Section 438 of the CrPC, apprehending their arrest in relation to the 
crime. While allowing the application for anticipatory bail of Jogendra Singh, the 
High Court noted that according to the report submitted by the investigating 
officer under Section 173 of the CrPC, the investigation did not reveal that he was 
even present at the spot of crime. The High Court observed that the veracity of 
such a report could not be questioned at this stage. Further, it held that even if he 
was present at the spot, there was no allegation against him of having fired at the 
deceased-Vikas Singh or having provoked Ujiyar Singh/ Chandrabhan Singh to 
fire at the deceased-Vikas Singh. Hence, the High Court passed the following 
order allowing his application for anticipatory bail:

“So, looking to the facts and circumstances of the case, the 
application is allowed and it is directed that if the applicant 
surrenders himself before concerned court within fifteen days 

2002 I.L.R.[2021]M.P.Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P. (SC)
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from today, he shall be released on anticipatory bail on furnishing 
a personal bond in the sum of Rs.50,000/- (Rupees Fifty 
Thousand only) with one surety in like amount to the satisfaction 
of the concerned Court for his regular appearance before the 
Court during trial.

3. The applicant will not indulge himself in extending 
inducement, threat or promise to any person acquainted with the 
facts of the case so as to dissuade him from disclosing such facts 
to the Court or to the Police Officer, as the case may be;

Similarly, while considering the application filed by Suryabhan Singh, the High 
Court observed that the report of the investigating officer under Section 173 of the 
CrPC indicated that he was not present at the spot of the incident, but was in 
Jabalpur on the basis of the statements of witnesses, tower location of mobile 
numbers of the accused persons and the CCTV footage. The High Court held that 
the 'only' allegation against Suryabhan Singh was that he attacked the appellant, 
but that it only resulted in a simple injury. Hence, the High Court allowed his 
application for anticipatory bail, observing:

"8.... So, looking to the facts and circumstances of the case, the 
application is allowed and it is directed that if the applicant 
surrenders himself before concerned court within fifteen days 
from today, he shall be released on anticipatory bail on 
furnishing a personal bond in the sum of Rs.50,000/- (Rupees 
Fifty Thousand only) with one surety in like amount to the 
satisfaction of the concerned Court for his regular appearance 
before the Court during trial.

9. This order will remain operative subject to compliance of 
the following conditions by the applicant:-

This order will remain operative subject to compliance of the 
following conditions by the applicant:-

4. The applicant shall not commit an offence similar to the 
offence of which he is accused;

1. The applicant will comply with all the terms and conditions 
of the bond executed by him;

2. The applicant will cooperate in the investigation/trial, as the 
case may be;

5. The applicant will not seek unnecessary adjournments during 
the trial; and

6. The applicant will not leave India without previous permission 
of the trial Court/Investigating Officer, as the case may be.”

2003I.L.R.[2021]M.P. Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P. (SC)



1. The applicant will comply with all the terms and conditions 
of the bond executed by him;

3. The applicant will not indulge himself in extending inducement, 
threat or promise to any person acquainted with the facts of the 
case so as to dissuade him from disclosing such facts to the Court 
or to the Police Officer, as the case may be;

5. The applicant will not seek unnecessary adjournments 
during the trial; and

2. The applicant will cooperate in the investigation/trial, as the 
case may be;

4. The applicant shall not commit an offence similar to the 
offence of which he is accused;

5. Thereafter, in his complaint dated 27 July 2020 against Jogendra Singh, 
Vikas Singh alleged that he had caught Jogendra Singh stealing the illegally 
excavated sand which the police had seized from him earlier, following which 

6Jogendra Singh threatened his life. On the basis of his complaint, a crime  had 
been registered at the Police Station Panagar, District Jabalpur, State of Madhya 
Pradesh against Jogendra Singh under Section 379 of the IPC on 28 July 2020. 
Deceased- Vikas Singh had also lodged another written complaint on 4 August 
2020 where he alleged that the he apprehended that his life was at risk at the hands 

B Facts

6. The applicant will not leave India without previous 
permission of the trial Court/Investigating Officer, as the case 
may be.”

4. The genesis of this dispute between the deceased-Vikas Singh and the 
accused persons allegedly originated from complaints dated 23 February 2019 
and 27 July 2020 which the deceased-Vikas Singh had filed against the accused 
persons. In his complaint dated 23 February 2019 against Ujiyar Singh and 
Suryabhan Singh, he had alleged that the accused persons had been threatening 
him and his workers who were engaged in farming activities, allegedly since they 
did not belong to the area and had leased the land. He alleged that they had 
followed him in their vehicle and had also gotten false complaints registered 
against him. Further, he alleged that they were threatening him because they were 
engaged in the business of illegal mining of sand from the nearby river and used to 
pass over the land on which he was cultivating presently while transporting sand 
(which he had stopped them from doing since he started farming). He also alleged 
that he, and other residents of the village, had registered complaints against them 
previously but no action had been taken by the police.

2004 I.L.R.[2021]M.P.Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P. (SC)
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7
8 In relation to this same incident, Ujiyar Singh also got a crime  registered 
at the Police Station Majholi, District Jabalpur, State of Madhya Pradesh against 
the deceased-Vikas Singh and the appellant on 30 September 2020 under Sections 
294, 506, 323, 324 and 34 of the IPC. In the cross-FIR, he alleged that the crime 
took place between 12.45 pm to 1 pm on 29 September 2020. He alleged that he 
was being driven by his driver Babloo when he came across the deceased-Vikas 
Singh and the appellant near Negai Tiraha. There, the deceased-Vikas Singh 
allegedly started recording a video, told him he belonged to the sand mafia and 

6. On the other hand, according to Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh, the 
complaints made by Vikas Singh were in fact counter-blasts filed in response to a 
complaint dated 30 January 2019 filed by Ujiyar Singh against him. In his 
complaint, Ujiyar Singh had alleged that in fact it was the deceased-Vikas Singh 
who headed the sand mafia and it was he who complained against the deceased-
Vikas Singh. Further, they also argue that the family of the deceased-Vikas Singh 
has criminal antecedents since: (i) the father of the deceased-Vikas Singh, after 
being convicted under Section 8 read with Section 20(b)(ii)(C) of the Narcotics 
Drugs and Psychotropic Substances Act 1985 and Section 25(1)(1B)(a) of the 
Arms Act 1959, has been undergoing rigorous imprisonment for 20 years and 3 
years respectively; and (ii) the grandfather of the deceased was arraigned as one of 
the accused in a case of murder with robbery.

of the Jogendra Singh and his brother, who had been threatening him since the 
crime had been registered based on his complaint.

7. In relation to the present case, according to the information provided 
under Section 154 of the CrPC by the appellant, at around 12:45 pm on 29 
September 2020, the deceased-Vikas Singh along with the appellant and two 
other individuals were near the Negai Tiraha. The accused persons allegedly 
arrived in a jeep, which was being driven by Jogendra Singh. Once they parked the 
jeep, Ujiyar Singh allegedly sat in a chair while his sons (Chandrabhan Singh and 
Suryabhan Singh) stood near him. Allegedly, due to their pre-existing enmity, 
Ujiyar Singh shot Vikas Singh in his abdomen. When Vikas Singh tried to run, he 
was held by Jogendra Singh. Chandrabhan Singh then took the gun from Ujiyar 
Singh and is alleged to have shot Vikas Singh in the head, while Suryabhan Singh 
attacked the appellant on his head with the butt of the gun. Thereafter, the four 
accused persons are alleged to have left in their jeep while the appellant and the 
other two individuals took Vikas Singh to a hospital, where he was pronounced 
dead. The statement of the appellant under Section 161 of the CrPC was recorded 
by the police on 30 September 2020. Later, the statements of the appellant and the 
other alleged eye-witnesses under Section 164 of the CrPC were recorded on 16 
October 2020.

2005I.L.R.[2021]M.P. Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P. (SC)
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2006

started abusing him. When he allegedly asked him to stop, the appellant is alleged 
to have assaulted him with a lathi on the left side of his head above the ear which 
started bleeding, while the deceased-Vikas Singh starting assaulting him with 
kicks and punches. He alleges that this is when he fired his registered firearm - a 
0.22 rifle - at Vikas Singh, which hit him in his stomach and head. The appellant 
allegedly then hit his hand with the lathi, due to which the butt and barrel of the 
gun broke apart and blood started oozing from his left hand. Allegedly, he then 
managed to run away from the spot with his driver Babloo.

Be that as it may, this court refrains from passing any observations 
on the merits of Crime No. 329/2020 as the same is not before 
this court. But at the same time, this court cannot close its eyes 
to the fact that the objector in this case has been murdered and 
the case has taken a far more serious turn and is no more merely 
restricted to a case of theft of sand.

“This case has transcended and gone beyond a simple case for 
anticipatory bail in a case of theft of sand. Subsequently, during 
the pendency of this application the objector has been murdered 
in which the applicant herein has been named as an accused and 
there are eyewitness testimony which speak about his presence 
at the scene of occurrence and also his participation in pulling 
back the deceased when the deceased tried to run away and 
saved his life.

Thereafter, Jogendra Singh withdrew his application altogether, seeking to move 
an application for regular bail under Section 439 of the CrPC, which was recorded 
by the High Court in its final order dated 7 January 2021.

9. During the investigation of the present incident, Jogendra Singh had filed 
an application for anticipatory bail in the crime registered against him under 
Section 379 of the IPC for stealing sand. By its order dated 8 October 2020, the 
High Court rejected the application, while noting that the objector (deceased-
Vikas Singh) in the application had been murdered, in which Jogendra Singh was 
one of the individuals who had been named as an accused in the FIR. The High 
Court had held:

Under the circumstances, this may be a case that would require 
custodia I interrogation as far as Crime No.720/2020 is 
concerned and, therefore, the application is dismissed.”

10. In the final report submitted on 15 December 2020 under Section 173 of 
the CrPC, Ujiyar Singh and Chandrabhan Singh were named as accused, but 
Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh were stated to have had no role in the death 
of Vikas Singh since they were in Jabalpur, 40 km away from the spot where the 
incident occurred. The report is stated to have been based on: (i) Call Data 
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12. The investigating officer then filed a supplementary challan on 8 March 
2021 indicating that on the basis of the further investigation directed by the 
JMFC, evidence had emerged showing the involvement of Ujiyar Singh and 
Chandrabhan Singh in the death of Vikas Singh. Hence, in the order dated 10 
March 2021, the JMFC observed that the investigating officer had conducted an 
investigation only against Ujiyar Singh and Chandrabhan Singh, and had not 
properly considered the accusations against Suryabhan Singh and Jogendra 
Singh. Both of them were thus summoned.

13. Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh then filed applications for 
11anticipatory bail . By separate orders dated 24 March 2021, the trial Court 

rejected their applications while noting that: (i) the earlier order dated 13 January 
2021 of the JMFC had adverted to the omissions of the investigating officer; (ii) 
the investigating officer relied upon CDRs but did not ascertain if Jogendra Singh 
and Suryabhan Singh even used those numbers or whether they were just 
registered in their name; and (iii) the witness statements under Sections 161 and 
164 of the CrPC assign them a specific role, which cannot be overlooked only 
because of a prior enmity between the deceased-Vikas Singh and the accused 
persons.

8 9
Records , Tower Mapping and Public Switched Telephone Network  data from 
Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh's mobile phones; (ii) CCTV footage; and 
(iii) statements of independent witnesses confirming their presence in Jabalpur.

11. The appellant and other family members of the deceased-Vikas Singh 
filed a protest petition. By an order dated 13 January 2021, the Judicial Magistrate 

10First Class, Siroha  directed a further investigation, for the following reasons: (i) 
the investigating officer's report focused more on the CCTV footage and witness 
statements proving Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh's presence in Jabalpur, 
rather than the witness statements of the appellant and other eye-witnesses who 
noted their presence at the spot where the crime occurred; (ii) the CCTV footage 
obtained by the police of the scene of crime was from 1.00 pm to 5.00 pm, while 
the appellant's FIR and even Ujiyar Singh's FIR place the time of the incident 
between 12 noon and 1 pm and 12.45 pm and 1.00 pm respectively: (iii) the police 
had not checked the CCTV footage of the roads between the place where the 
incident took place and Jabalpur; (iv) there were inconsistencies between the 
statement of Ujiyar Singh and his FIR; (v) Jogendra Singh's fingerprints had not 
been obtained from the jeep (which he was alleged to be driving); and (vi) 
Suryabhan Singh's finger prints had not been lifted from Ujiyar Singh's gun.

2007I.L.R.[2021]M.P. Prashant Singh Rajput Vs. State of M.P. (SC)
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(iii) The Single Judge ignored the FIR and the statements of the appellant 
and the other eye-witnesses according to which Jogendra Singh and 
Suryabhan Singh were present at the spot since the four accused had 
come together in a jeep, and each had specific role in the crime: (a) 
Jogendra Singh was driving the jeep and then held Vikas Singh 
while he was trying to escape after Ujiyar Singh had shot him in the 
abdomen, following which Chandrabhan Singh shot him in the 
head; and (b) Suryabhan Singh assaulted the appellant with the butt 
of the rifle;

(i) The Single Judge relied exclusively upon the report of the investigating 
officer to hold that Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh could not 
have been present at the spot where the incident occurred and that 
the veracity of the report could not be called into question at this 
stage;

(ii) The Single Judge ignored the observations in the order of the JMFC 
dated 13 January 2021 and in the subsequent order of the trial Court 
dated 24 March 2021, which indicate that the investigation conducted 
by the investigating officer ignored vital circumstances pertaining 
to the crime;

(iv) That another Single Judge of the High Court rejected the application 
for anticipatory bail filed by Jogendra Singh even in the case 
registered against him for illegal sand mining on the complaint filed 
by the deceased- Vikas Singh, due to the nature of allegations 
against him in the present case; and

(v) The Single Judge has ignored the seriousness and gravity of the 
crime as well as material aspects and hence, this Court should cancel 
the anticipatory bail granted, in accordance with the principles laid 

13
down by this Court in Mahipal v. Rajesh Kumar  (“Mahipal”).

16. Mr S K Gangele, learned Counsel appearing on behalf of Jogendra Singh 
urged that:

15. Assailing the judgment of the Single Judge of the High Court, Mr Uday 
Gupta, learned Counsel appearing on behalf of the appellant has urged the following 
submissions:

14. Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh then moved the High Court in 
12applications  for anticipatory bail. The High Court allowed the applications on 1 

July 2021 and 31 May 2021 respectively. The orders of the High Court are in 
question before this Court.

C  Submissions
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20. The FIR attributes specific roles to both Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan 
Singh in the commission of the crime. The statement of the appellant under 
Section 161 of the CrPC adverts to the following: (i) that Ujiyar Singh would take 

(iii) Ujiyar Singh's FIR notes that his rifle was broken by the appellant 
and he was also injured by a lathi on his head and hand, both of 
which injuries have not been explained.

18. Mr Abhinav Srivastava, learned Counsel has appeared on behalf of the 
State of Madhya Pradesh, urged that the order granting anticipatory bail is unsustainable 
since:

(ii) The FIR registered at the behest of Ujiyar Singh provides an alternate 
explanation of the events leading to the death of Vikas Singh, 
according to which Ujiyar Singh fired at the deceased since he and 
the appellant were threatening his life; and

(ii) The allegation that the appellant suffered an injury on his head due to 
Suryabhan Singh assaulting him with the butt of the rifle is 
inconsistent with the nature of the injury, which is an abrasion; and

(iii) The FIR and the appellant's statement under Section 161 of the CrPC 
do not make any allegation of Suryabhan Singh having fired at the 
appellant prior to hitting him with a gun, while his statement under 
Section 164 of the CrPC makes that claim for the first time. No such 
empty cartridge has been found and only the bullets in body of the 
deceased-Vikas Singh have been recovered.

(i) The report filed by the investigating officer shows that Jogendra Singh 
was not present at the spot where the incident occurred, but was in 
Jabalpur;

(i) The FIR has been registered due to enmity between his family and 
the deceased-Vikas Singh who used to run a sand mafia against 
which his father, accused Ujiyar Singh, had complained. The deceased-
Vikas Singh also had criminal antecedents;

(i) The crime is of a serious nature; and

(ii) As noted in JMFC's order dated 13 January 2021, while Ujiyar Singh 
and Chandrabhan Singh had been arrested and kept in judicial 
custody, Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh continued to abscond.

19. The rival submissions now fall for our consideration.

17. Mr R C Mishra, learned Senior Counsel appeared on behalf of Suryabhan 
Singh, urged:

D Analysis
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sand illegally mined through the land on which he was cultivating along with the 
deceased-Vikas Singh; (ii) when they told Ujiyar Singh to desist, he took offence 
and filed false complaints against the deceased-Vikas Singh; (iii) on 29 
September 2020, the deceased-Vikas Singh and the appellant went to Negai 
Tiraha in the vehicle of the deceased-Vikas Singh and reached there at about 1.00 
pm, where they met the two others (Rajkishore Rajput and Dharmendra Patel); 
(iv) the four accused persons (Ujiyar Singh, Chandrabhan Singh, Suryabhan 
Singh and Jogendra Singh) arrived in a jeep being driven by Jogendra Singh; (v) 
Vikas Singh received a call and started moving towards Negai Road when Ujiyar 
Singh shot him in the abdomen; (vi) when Vikas Singh tried to flee, Jogendra 
Singh caught hold of him while Chandrabhan Singh took the gun from Ujiyar 
Singh and shot him in the head; (vii) Suryabhan Singh took the gun from 
Chandrabhan Singh and assaulted the appellant on the head using the butt of the 
gun; (viii) one Nilesh Gotia came around in his car and saw them, following which 
the appellant and the other two individuals took Vikas Singh to a hospital in 
Nilesh's car, from where they transferred him to the medical college in an 
ambulance, where he was pronounced dead; and (ix) the police arrived at the 
medical college, following which the appellant registered his complaint.

21. The material at this stage cannot be examined with a fine toothcomb in the 
manner of a criminal trial. What needs to be determined is whether the parameters 
for the grant of anticipatory bail were correctly formulated and applied by the 
Single Judge. The line of submission of the counsel for the accused persons dwells 
on some variance between the statements of the appellant under Section 161 and 
Section 164 of the CrPC, namely: (i) that the appellant and the deceased reached 
the Negai Tiraha around 12.15 pm, and not 1.00 pm; and (ii) after Vikas Singh was 
shot in the head by Chandrabhan Singh, Suryabhan Singh first shot at the 
appellant but the shot went above his head. Thereafter, Suryabhan Singh hit him in 
the head with the butt of the gun, following which the handle of the rifle broke and 
fell there.

23. The statement of Dharmender Patel, another eye-witness, under Section 
164 of the CrPC, mentions that when he reached Negai Tiraha, he saw Rajkishore 
Rajput who informed him that the deceased-Vikas Singh was about to arrive. 
Other than that, his statement accords with those of the appellant and Rajkishore 
Rajput under Section 164.

22. The statement of Rajkishore Rajput, an eye-witness, under Section 164 of 
the CrPC mentions that: (i) on 29 September 2020, the deceased-Vikas Singh 
came to his house at 9 am and told him to meet him at Negai Tiraha; (ii) he reached 
Negai Tiraha with Dharmender Patel at 12 noon, following which the deceased-
Vikas Singh arrived in his vehicle with the appellant; and (iii) after committing the 
murder of the Vikas Singh, the four accused left in their jeep.
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17. Where a court considering an application for bail fails to 
consider relevant factors, an appellate court may justifiably set 

D.1 Cancellation of Anticipatory Bail

“12. ... It is well settled in law that cancellation of bail after it is 
granted because the accused has misconducted himself or of some 
supervening circumstances warranting such cancellation have 
occurred is in a different compartment altogether than an order 
granting bail which is unjustified, illegal and perverse. If in a case, 
the relevant factors which should have been taken into 
consideration while dealing with the application for bail have 
not been taken note of, or bail is founded on irrelevant 
considerations, indisputably the superior court can set aside the 
order of such a grant of bail. Such a case belongs to a different 
category and is in a separate realm. While dealing with a case of 
the second nature, the Court does not dwell upon the violation of 
conditions by the accused or the supervening circumstances that 
have happened subsequently. It, on the contrary, delves into the 
justifiability and the soundness of the order passed by the 
Court.”

“16. The considerations that guide the power of an appellate court in 
assessing the correctness of an order granting bail stand on a 
different footing from an assessment of an application for the 
cancellation of bail. The correctness of an order granting bail is 
tested on the anvil of whether there was an improper or arbitrary 
exercise of the discretion in the grant of bail. The test is whether 
the order granting bail is perverse, illegal or unjustified. On the 
other hand, an application for cancellation of bail is generally 
examined on the anvil of the existence of supervening circumstances 
or violations of the conditions of bail by a person to whom bail has 
been granted. In Neeru Yadav v. State ofU.P. [Neeru Yadav v. State 
of U.P., (2014) 16 SCC 508 : (2015) 3 SCC (Cri) 527] , the accused 
was granted bail by the High Court [Mitthan Yadav v. State of U.P., 
2014 SCC OnLine All 16031] . In an appeal against the order 
[Mitthan Yadav v. State of U.P., 2014 SCC OnLine All 16031] of the 
High Court, a two- Judge Bench of this Court surveyed the precedent 
on the principles that guide the grant of bail. Dipak Misra, J. (as the 
learned Chief Justice then was) held: (Neeru Yadav case [Neeru 
Yadav v. State of U.P., (2014) 16 SCC 508 : (2015) 3 SCC (Cri) 527] 
, SCC p. 513, para 12)

24. In a recent judgment of a two Judge Bench of this Court in Mahipal 
(supra), this Court noted the difference in the approach that this Court must adopt 
while considering a challenge to an order which has granted bail and an application 
for cancelling the bail granted. The Court held:
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aside the order granting bail. An appellate court is thus required 
to consider whether the order granting bail suffers from a non-
application of mind or is not borne out from a prima facie view 
of the evidence on record. It is thus necessary for this Court to 
assess whether, on the basis of the evidentiary record, there 
existed a prima facie or reasonable ground to believe that the 
accused had committed the crime, also taking into account the 
seriousness of the crime and the severity of the punishment...”

[...]

20. The Constitution Bench has reiterated that the correctness of an 
order granting bail is subject to assessment by an appellate or 
superior court and it may be set aside on the ground that the Court 
granting bail did not consider material facts or crucial circumstances...

25.  In another decision in Dr. Naresh Kumar Mangla v. Anita Agarwal and 
14

Others  a three Judge Bench of this Court cancelled the anticipatory bail granted 
to the accused, following the unnatural death of his wife. The Court surveyed the 
authorities on the grant of anticipatory bail and held:

“19. In the recent decision of the Constitution Bench in Sushila 
Aggarwal v. State (NCT of Delhi) [(2020) 5 SCC 1], the considerations 
which ought to weigh with the Court in deciding an application for 
the grant of anticipatory bail have been reiterated. The final 
conclusions of the Court indicate that:

“....92.3...While considering an application (for grant of anticipatory 
bail) the court has to consider the nature of the offence, the role of the 
person, the likelihood of his influencing the course of investigation, 
or tampering with evidence (including intimidating witnesses), likelihood 
of fleeing justice (such as leaving the country), etc.

(emphasis supplied)

92.4. Courts ought to be generally guided by considerations such as 
the nature and gravity of the offences, the role attributed to the 
applicant, and the facts of the case, while considering whether to 
grant anticipatory bail, or refuse it. Whether to grant or not is a 
matter of discretion; equally whether and if so, what kind of special 
conditions are to be imposed (or not imposed) are dependent on facts 
of the case, and subject to the discretion of the court.”

22. It is apposite to mention here the distinction between the 
considerations which guide the grant of anticipatory bail and regular 
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27. In relation to the present incident, the appellant's case is supported by the 
FIR, his statements under Sections 161 and 164 of the CrPC, and the statements of 
the other two eye-witnesses under Section 164 of the CrPC. On the other hand, 
Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh rely on the counter FIR filed by Ujiyar 
Singh according to which they were not present at the scene of crime and Ujiyar 
Singh shot the deceased-Vikas Singh in self-defense. The orders of the JMFC 
dated 13 January 2021 and 10 March 2021 advert to the contents of the FIR 
registered at the behest of the appellant. The investigating officer's first report 
dated 15 December 2020 indicated that there was a prima facie case against 
Ujiyar Singh and Chandrabhan Singh. The supplementary challan dated 8 March 
2021 indicates that more material had emerged during the course of investigation 

26. Let us now consider these principles in the context of the facts of the 
present case. Both the sides have presented their point-of-view in relation to the 
enmity which existed between the deceased-Vikas Singh and the family of Ujiyar 
Singh. However, we are not required to adjudicate on whether it was the deceased-
Vikas Singh or Ujiyar Singh who was mining sand illegally; rather, it is sufficient 
to note that previous enmity did exist between both, whoever be the instigator.

“...Says the learned Chief Justice that in regard to anticipatory bail, 
if the proposed accusation appears to stem not from motives of 
furthering the ends of justice but from some ulterior motive, the 
object being to injure and humiliate the applicant by having him 
arrested, a direction for the release of the applicant on bail in the 
event of his arrest would generally be made. It was observed that “it 
cannot be laid down as an inexorable rule that anticipatory bail 
cannot be granted unless the proposed accusation appears to be 
actuated by mala fides; and, equally, that anticipatory bail must be 
granted if there is no fear that the applicant will abscond”. Some of 
the relevant considerations which govern the discretion, noticed 
therein are “the nature and seriousness of the proposed charges, the 
context of the events likely to lead to the making of the charges, a 
reasonable possibility of the applicant's presence not being secured 
at the trial, a reasonable apprehension that witnesses will be tampered 
with and 'the larger interests of the public or the State', are some of 
the considerations which the court has to keep in mind while 
deciding an application for anticipatory bail”. A caution was voiced 
that “in the evaluation of the consideration whether the applicant is 
likely to abscond, there can be no presumption that the wealthy and 
the mighty will submit themselves to trial and that the humble and 
the poor will run away from the course of justice, any more than 
there can be a presumption that the former are not likely to commit a 
crime and the latter are more likely to commit it.””

bail. In Pokar Ram v. State of Rajasthan [(1985) 2 SCC 597], while 
setting aside an order granting anticipatory bail, this Court observed:
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as against the events portrayed in the FIR registered at the behest of Ujiyar Singh. 
Hence, the case portrayed by the appellant could not have been ignored by solely 
relying on the counter-FIR.

30. The Court has to determine whether on the basis of the material available 
at this stage, the High Court has applied the correct principles in allowing the 
applications for anticipatory bail. The offence is of a serious nature in which Vikas 
Singh was murdered. The FIR and the statements under Sections 161 and 164 of 
the CrPC indicate a specific role to Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh in the 
crime. The order granting anticipatory bail has ignored material aspects, including 

28. The High Court has placed reliance upon the report submitted under 
Section 173 of the CrPC on 15 December 2020 to hold that Jogendra Singh and 
Suryabhan Singh were not present when the incident occurred. However, the 
High Court has not addressed the clear deficiencies in the course of the 
investigation which have been highlighted in the order of the JMFC dated 13 
February 2021 and the trial Court's order dated 24 March 2021. These are, inter 
alia: (i) the failure to notice eyewitness statements; (ii) reliance on CCTV footage 
for the period of time after incident had occurred, ignoring prior or 
contemporaneous footage; (iii) not collecting CCTV footage between Jabalpur 
and the scene of offence; (iv) relying on CDRs without determining if Jogendra 
Singh and Suryabhan Singh had actually used the number; and (v) not conducting 
any finger print analysis. In the order dated 13 February 2021, the JMFC 
identified these deficiencies with the investigation and directed further 
investigation. Upon the submission of the supplementary challan, the JMFC 
noted in their order dated 10 March 2021 that the challan was only in relation to 
Ujiyar Singh and Chandrabhan Singh, and did not address the role of Jogendra 
Singh and Suryabhan Singh. The obvious deficiencies in the investigation have 
pointed out the errors in the trial Court's order dated 24 March 2021 rejecting 
Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh's applications for anticipatory bail. The 
Single Judge has, however, overlooked these crucial aspects.

29. Finally, it has also been argued on behalf of Suryabhan Singh that while 
the appellant's statement under Section 164 of the CrPC is that Suryabhan Singh 
also shot at the appellant, the FIR and his statement under Section 161 of the CrPC 
only record that he hit him with the butt of the gun. The trial is yet to take place 
where the evidence adduced by the prosecution will be appreciated, and the 
veracity of appellant's claim in his statement under Section 164 can be determined 
there. However, at the present stage, the FIR and both the appellant's statements 
under Section 161 and 164 are consistent in as much as that Suryabhan Singh did 
hit him in his head with the butt of the gun. An argument has also been raised in 
relation to the nature of the injury caused to the appellant, but this has to be 
decided at the stage of trial after evidence has been led.
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the nature and gravity of the offence, and the specific allegations against Jogendra 
Singh and Suryabhan Singh. Hence, a sufficient case has been made out for 
cancelling the anticipatory bail granted by the High Court.

WA No. 293/2021 (Gwalior) decided on 31 August, 2021

Vs.

E  Conclusion

31. Therefore, the appeals are allowed. The impugned judgments dated 1 July 
2021 and 31 May 2021 of the Single Judge of the High Court of Madhya Pradesh 
granting anticipatory bail to Jogendra Singh and Suryabhan Singh - the second 
respondents in these appeals - are set aside.

32. Pending applications, if any, also stand disposed of.

Appeal allowed

I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2015 (DB)
WRIT APPEAL

Before Mr. Justice Sheel Nagu & Mr. Justice Deepak Kumar Agarwal

MANOJ SHARMA (SMT.) …Appellant

STATE OF M.P. & ors. …Respondents

d- lsok fof/k & vfrfjDr lank; dh olwyh & osru@osruo`f) dk xyr 
fu;ru & ;kph ,d oxZ&III deZpkjh gS vkSj fujarj lsok esa gS & 

B. Service Law – Recovery of Interest on Excess Pay – Held – 
Written undertaking given by petitioner does not contain any promise to 
return the interest amount which may have accrued, thus, the employer is 
now estopped to make any recovery of interest over the excess principal 
amount paid in past – Order of recovery of interest is set aside – Appeal allowed 
in above terms.   (Paras 4.3 to 4.5, 6 & 7)

A. Service Law – Recovery of Excess Pay – Wrong Fixation of 
Pay/Increment – Petitioner, a class III employee and continue to be in service – 
Held – If there is an written undertaking given by petitioner, the excess 
payment given to her vide wrong fixation of pay/increment deserves to be 
recovered – A written undertaking by an employee binds him in the future – 
Order of recovery of principal excess amount is upheld. (Paras 3.7, 3.8, 6 & 7)
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x- lsok fof/k & vfrfjDr lank; dh olwyh & deZpkjh dk oxZ o 
lsokfuo`Rr@lsokjr deZpkjh & txnso flag

C. Service Law – Recovery of Excess Pay – Class of Employee & 
Retired/In-Service Employee – Held – Since without specifying the class of 
employees, Apex court in Jagdev Singh's case held that recovery can be made 
even from retired employees then the necessary inference which can be 
drawn that the expression “retired employees” or “employees who are 
deemed to retire within one year” employed in Rafiq Masih's case, includes 
within its sweep and ambit all categories of employees irrespective of the 
class.    (Para 3.5 & 3.6)

Cases referred:

(2015) 4 SCC 334, AIR 2016 SC 3523.

M.P.S. Raghuvanshi, Addl. A.G. for the respondent/State.

The Order of the Court was passed by : 

[k- lsok fof/k & vfrfjDr lank; ij C;kt dh olwyh & 

Krishna Kartikey Sharma, for the appellant.

O R D E R

The present intra court appeal filed u/S.2(i) of M.P. Uchcha Nyayalaya 
(Khand Nyaypeeth Ko Appeal) Adhiniyam, 2005 assails the final order dated 
22.02.2021 passed in WP 11449/2021 by the learned Single Judge while 
exercising writ jurisdiction of this Court u/Art. 226 of the Constitution dismissing 
the petition in question by which challenge was made to the order dated 
28.07.2020 by which the employer directed recovery of an amount of 
Rs.1,07,913/- (the principal amount of excess payment of Rs.57,419 + interest of 
Rs.50,494/- over the principal amount), which has been paid in excess during the 
period from July, 2009 to July 2018 to petitioner/a Vanrakshak (Class III 
emoployee) when wrong fixation was made of increment in 2011 and also due to 
wrong fixation of pay in 2017.

PROLOGUE

SHEEL NAGU, J. :-
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(iv) Recovery in cases where an employee has wrongfully been 
required to discharge duties of a higher post, and has been paid 
accordingly, even though he should have rightfully been required to 
work against an inferior post.

2.1 On the basis of aforesaid decision of Rafiq Masih (supra), learned counsel 
for petitioner/appellant submits that there was no misrepresentation made by 
petitioner and the wrong fixation of increment in 2011 and wrong fixation of 
salary in 2017 were for reasons not attributed to petitioner but solely to the 
employer. Thus, learend counsel for petitioner/appellant urges that the writ Court 
committed error in rejecting the writ petition.

2. Learned counsel for petitioner/appellant submits by relying upon the 
decision of the Apex Court in the case of State of Punjab & ors. Vs. Rafiq Masih 
(White Washer) etc. (2015) 4 SCC 334 that the case of petitioner, who is a serving 
Class III employee, is covered by the ratio laid down in the said Apex Court 
decision in Para 18, which is reproduced below for ready reference and 
convenience:-

(ii) Recovery from retired employees, or employees who are due to 
retire within one year, of the order of recovery.

“18. It is not possible to postulate all situations of hardship, which 
would govern employees on the issue of recovery, where payments have 
mistakenly been made by the employer, in excess of their entitlement. 
Be that as it may, based on the decisions referred to herein above, 
we may, as a ready reference, summarise the following few situations, 
wherein recoveries by the employers, would be impermissible in 
law:

(iii) Recovery from employees, when the excess payment has been 
made for a period in excess of five years, before the order of recovery is 
issued.

2.2 Learned counsel for the State on the other hand referring to reply to the 
writ petition submits that at the time of fixation of increment in 2011 and as well as 
fixation of salary in 2017, petitioner had furnished written undertaking that in 
case it is found that the benefit extended is in excess of the due amount then the 

(i) Recovery from employees belonging to Class-III and Class-IV 
service (or Group C and Group D service).

SUBMISSIONS

(v) In any other case, where the Court arrives at the conclusion, 
that recovery if made from the employee, would be iniquitous or harsh or 
arbitrary to such an extent, as would far outweigh the equitable balance 
of the employer's right to recover.”
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“ 2. The facts lie in a narrow compass. The Respondent was appointed as 
a Civil Judge (Junior Division) on 16 July 1987 and was promoted as 
Additional Civil Judge on 28 August 1997 in the judicial service of the 
State. By a notification dated 28 September 2001, a pay scale of Rs. 
10000-325-15200 (senior scale) was allowed under the Haryana Civil 
Service (Judicial Branch) and Haryana Superior Judicial Service 
Revised Pay Rules 2001. Under the rules, each officer was required to 
submit an undertaking that any excess which may be found to have been 
paid will be refunded to the Government either by adjustment against 
future payments due or otherwise.

3  The Respondent furnished an undertaking and was granted the 
revised pay scale and selection grade of Rs. 14300-400-18000-300. 

same can be recovered from the petitioner or in her absence from her legal heirs. 
These written undertakings have been signed by petitioner in 2009 and 2017 
which are on record as Annexure R/1 accompanying the reply of State in WP.

FINDINGS

3. In the instant case, it is not disputed that petitioner/appellant is a Class III 
employee and continues to be in service and therefore, her case as per learned 
counsel for petitioner/appellant falls in the cases of recovery from employees 
belonging to Class III and Class IV category.

3.1 Thus the question before this Court which falls for consideration is as 
follows:-

“Whether the benefit of ratio laid down by Rafiq Masih (supra) would be 
available in cases of recovery from employees who are still in service 
and are holding post in Class III category and who had given written 
undertaking as a pre-condition to grant of payment promising to return 
any amount which is found to be in excess of entitlement ?”

2.3 Learned Single Bench has held that in view of undertakings and the 
subsequent decision of Apex Court in case of High Court of Punjab and Haryana 
Vs. Jagdev Singh AIR 2016 SC 3523, the earlier decision of Rafiq Masih (supra) 
has been distinguished by holding that the ratio laid down by Rafiq Masih (supra) 
would not apply to cases of recovery from retired employee who had submitted 
written undertaking promising to return the excess amount as and when the same 
is found to be excess in the future. By holding so the Apex Court in the case of 
Jagdev Singh (supra) however directed the employer to make recovery in 
reasonable instalments from retired employee.

3.2 For the purpose of understanding the ratio laid down in the case of Jagdev 
Singh (supra), it would be apt to reproduce the relevant paragraphs of the said 
judgment:-
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While opting for the revised pay scale, the Respondent undertook to 
refund any excess payment if it was so detected and demanded 
subsequently. The revised pay scale in the selection grade was allowed 
to the Respondent on 7 January 2002.

5  In the meantime, this Court in Civil Writ (C) 1022 of 1989 accepted 
the recommendations of the First National Judicial Pay Commission 
(Shetty Commission). Thereupon, the Haryana Civil Services (Judicial 
Branch) and Haryana Superior Judicial Service Revised Pay Rules 
2003 were notified on 7 May 2003.

4  The Respondent was placed under suspension on 19 August 2002 
and eventually, was compulsorily retired from service on 12 February 
2003.

9 The submission of the Respondent, which found favour with the 
High Court, was that a payment which has been made in excess cannot 
be recovered from an employee who has retired from the service of the 
state. This, in our view, will have no application to a situation such as the 
present where an undertaking was specifically furnished by the officer at 
the time when his pay was initially revised accepting that any payment 

6  In view thereof the pay scales of judicial officers in Haryana were 
once again revised with effect from 1 January 1996. An exercise was 
undertaken for adjustment of excess payments made to judicial officers, 
following the notification of the revised pay rules. On 18 February 2004, 
a letter for the recovery of an amount of Rs. 1,22,003/- was served upon 
the Respondent pursuant to the direction of the Registrar of the High 
Court.

7  The Respondent challenged the action for recovery in writ 
proceedings under Article 226. The petition was allowed by the 
impugned judgment of the High Court. The High Court found substance 
in the grievance of the Respondent that the excess payment made to him 
towards salary and allowance prior to his retirement could not be 
recovered at that stage, there being no fraud or misrepresentation on his 
part.

8  The order of the High Court has been challenged in these 
proceedings. From the record of the proceedings, it is evident that when 
the Respondent opted for the revised pay scale, he furnished an 
undertaking to the effect that he would be liable to refund any excess 
payment made to him. In the counter affidavit which has been filed by the 
Respondent in these proceedings, this position has been specifically 
admitted. Subsequently, when the rules were revised and notified on 7 
May 2003 it was found that a payment in excess had been made to the 
Respondent. On 18 February 2004, the excess payment was sought to be 
recovered in terms of the undertaking.
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found to have been made in excess would be liable to be adjusted. While 
opting for the benefit of the revised pay scale, the Respondent was 
clearly on notice of the fact that a future re-fixation or revision may 
warrant an adjustment of the excess payment, if any, made.

10 . In State of Punjab & Ors. vs. Rafiq Masih (White Washer) this 
Court held that while it is not possible to postulate all situations of 
hardship where payments have mistakenly been made by an employer, in 
the following situations, a recovery by the employer would be 
impermissible in law:

11 The principle enunciated in proposition (ii) above cannot apply to a 
situation such as in the present case. In the present case, the officer to 
whom the payment was made in the first instance was clearly placed on 
notice that any payment found to have been made in excess would be 
required to be refunded. The officer furnished an undertaking while 
opting for the revised pay scale. He is bound by the undertaking.

13 The judgment of the High Court is accordingly set aside. The Civil 
Appeal shall stand allowed in the above terms. There shall be no order 
as to costs. ”

(iii) Recovery from employees, when the excess payment has been made 
for a period in excess of five years, before the order of recovery is issued.

“(i) Recovery from employees belonging to Class-III and Class-IV 
service (or Group 'C' and Group 'D' service).

(ii) Recovery from retired employees, or employees who are due to retire 
within one year, of the order of recovery.

(iv) Recovery in cases where an employee has wrongfully been required 
to discharge duties of a higher post, and has been paid accordingly, even 
though he should have rightfully been required to work against an 
inferior post.

3.3 The subsequent decision in Jagdev Singh (supra) was a case of a Civil 
Judge (Junior Divison) who had been extended pay-scale of higher judicial 

12 For these reasons, the judgment of the High Court which set aside 
the action for recovery is unsustainable. However, we are of the view 
that the recovery should be made in reasonable instalments. We direct 
that the recovery be made in equated monthly instalments spread over a 
period of two years.

(v) In any other case, where the Court arrives at the conclusion, that 
recovery if made from the employee, would be iniquitous or harsh or 
arbitrary to such an extent, as would far outweigh the equitable balance 
of the employer's right to recover.” (emphasis supplied).
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3.4 Petitioner/appellant herein is not a retired employee but is still in service. 
However, the petitioner had given written undertakings in 2009 and 2017 as 
explained above and thus to that extent bound herself.

service and was compulsorily retired in 2003 against whom impugned recovery 
was made from sometime in 2004-05 of an amount of Rs. 1,22,003/-. It was found 
by the Apex Court that the said Civil Judge during the time of receipt of excess 
payment during his service tenure had furnished written undertaking for 
adjustment of excess amount, if found due in future. In this factual background, 
the Apex Court in Jagdev Singh (supra) differs with it's earlier verdict in Rafiq 
Masih (supra) and holds that if a written undertaking has been given promising to 
return the excess amount, if found due, then recovery of excess amount can be 
effected even after retirement, since the retired employee was put to notice and is 
bound by her/his undertaking.

3.5 Since the Apex Court in the case of Jagdev Singh (supra) held that 
recovery can be made even from retired employees without specifying the Class 
of employees (Class III, Class IV or any other Class) then the necessary inference 
which can be drawn is that clause (ii) of Para 18 of Rafiq Masih (supra) by 
employing the expression “retired employees” or “employees who are deemed to 
retire within one year”, includes within it's sweep and ambit all categories of 
employees irrespective of the Class. Clause (ii) of Para 18 of Rafiq Masih (supra) 
which stands explained by Jagdev Singh (supra) does not grant immunity from 
recovery to retired employees or employees who are retiring within one year of 
the excess payment in cases where they have submitted written undertaking for 
making recovery.

3.7 A written undertaking by an employee binds the employee in the future. 
This ensures that public money if paid to an employee in excess of the amount due 
can be returned and credited to the public exchequer, the place where it actually 
belongs. This may cause inconvenience to the employee especially when the time 
gap between the making of excess payment and it's recovery is long. However, it 
cannot be lost sight of that the excess payment made and enjoyed by the employee 
concerned neither belongs to the employee nor to the accountant or the officers 
making the excess payment but to the State. The excess payment has to reach it's 
rightful place so that the same can be used in public interest.

3.6 Thus, if the factor of existence of written undertaking pervades all Classes 
of employees (from Class I to Class IV) who have either retired or are retiring 
within one year of the order of recovery, then this Court sees no reason as to why 
the same factor (of existence of written undertaking) should not apply and bind 
Class III or Class IV employees provided vide Clause (i) of Para 18 of Rafiq Masih 
(supra).
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4. The only question which now remains to be answered is as to whether it 
was lawful on the part of the employer to have also recovered the interest over the 
excess payment.

3.8 In the conspectus of above analysis, this Court has no hesistation to hold 
that the excess payment given to petitioner at the time of grant of increment in 
2011 and during fixation of pay in 2017 deserves to be recovered.

lk{kh %&   gLrk{kj 'kkldh; deZpkjh

fnukad ----------------------  fnukad ---------------------

Undertaking given in 2009

irk %&    LFkku

ii+z= &rhu

eq>s ;g Kkr gS fd fnukad 01@01@2006 ls Lohd`r e/;izns'k osru iqujh{k.k fu;e] 2009 ds 
izko/kkuksa ds vUrxZr esjk tks osru fu;ru vHkh iqujhf{kr osru <kWps esa fd;k x;k gS og vufUre 
(Provisional) gSaA eSa opu  gw¡ fd eSa jkT; 'kklu dks og laiw.kZ jkf'k tks fd osru 
fu;ru esa vfu;ferrk ds dkj.k rFkk vU; dksbZ Hkh /kujkf'k tks fd bl izdkj osru fu;ru ds 
dkj.k eq>s vf/kd Hkqxrku dh xbZ gks] 'kklu ds funsZ'kksa ds vuq:i fu/kkZfjr jkf'k okil 

uxnhdj.k dh jkf'k Hkh lfEefyr gS] dkVh tk ldsxhaA eSa ;g Hkh opu  gwa fd ;fn 
mDrkuqlkj esjs }kjk ns; jkf'k dks eSa ykSVkus esa vleFkZ  gw¡ rks bl ns; jkf'k dh okilh 
ds fy;s eSa vius mRrjkf/kdkfj;ksa] fu"ikndksa] izfrfuf/k;ksa vkSj leuqnsf'kfr;ksa dks vkc) 

cdk;k ds :i esa olwy dj yh tkosA

opu i= (Undertaking)

4.2 The two undertakings given by petitioner in 2009 and 2017 are reproduced 
below for ready reference and convenience:-

gLrk{kj %&   inuke

4.1 For answering this question, a close scrutiny of written undertakings is 
necessary.
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4.4 In both written undertakings as aforesaid, there is no promise extended by 
petitioner for recovery of interest over the excess payment and therefore, it is 
explicit that petitioner had undertaken to return the amount which is found to be in 
excess of amount due but there was no undertaking for returning the interest over 
the said excess amount.

gLrk{kj %&  inuke

fnukad ----------------------  fnukad ---------------------

4.3 A microscopic reading of undertakings reveals that petitioner has 
undertaken to return the amount which is found to be in excess of amount due but 
there is no undertaking in regard to recovery even of interest over the excess 
payment was given.

4.5 Since the immunity extended to Class III employees by the decision of 
Rafiq Masih (supra) was diluted by Jagdev Singh (supra) in cases where written 
undertaking had been furnished, it can safely be held that if the written 
undertaking does not contain any promise to return the interest amount, which 
may have accrued, then the employer is estopped in view of decision of Rafiq 
Masih (supra) and Jagdev Singh (supra) to make any recovery of interest over the 
excess principal amount paid to petitioner in the past.

lk{kh %&  gLrk{kj 'kkldh; deZpkjh

Undertaking given in 2016

opu i= (Undertaking)

eq>s ;g Kkr gS fd fnukad 01@01@2016 ls Lohd`r e/;izns'k osru iqujh{k.k fu;e] 2017 ds 
izko/kkuksa ds vUrxZr esjk tks osru fu;ru vHkh iqujhf{kr osru esfVªDl esa fd;k x;k gS og 
vufUre (Provisional) gSaA eSa opu  gw¡ fd eSa jkT; 'kklu dks og laiw.kZ jkf'k tks fd 
osru fu;ru esa vfu;ferrk ds dkj.k rFkk vU; dksbZ Hkh /kujkf'k tks fd bl izdkj osru fu;ru 
ds dkj.k eq>s vf/kd Hkqxrku fd xbZ gS] 'kklu ds funsZ'kksa ds vuq:i fu/kkZfjr jkf'k okil 

uxnhdj.k dh jkf'k Hkh lfEefyr gS] dkVh tk ldsxhA eSa ;g Hkh opu  gw¡ fd ;fn 
mDrkuqlkj esjs }kjk ns; jkf'k dks eSa ykSVkus esa vleFkZ gw¡] rks bl ns; jkf'k dh 
okilh ds fy, eSa vius mRrjkf/kdkfj;ksa] fu"ikndksa] izfrfuf/k;ksa vkSj leuqnsf'kfr;ksa dks vkc) 

cdk;k ds :i esa olwy dj yh tk,A

iiz+= &rhu

irk %&   LFkku

5. The aforesaid arrangement of preventing the employer from recovering 
interest over and above the amount for which undertaking was given, would serve 
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(i) The impugned order 22.02.2021 passed in WP 11449/2021 by learned 
Single Judge so far as it permits recovery of principal amount of excess payment 
of Rs.57,419/- is upheld.

7. Consequently, this Court allows the present writ appeal to the following 
extent:-

(ii) The impunged order of writ court dated 22.02.2021 passed in WP 
11449/2021 and the impugned order dated 28.07.2020 vide P/1 is set aisde to the 
extent it permits recovery of amount of interest of Rs. 50,494/-.

(iv) No order as to cost.

6. From the aforesaid analysis what comes out loud and clear is that the 
employer is entitled in the face of written undertakings given by petitioner/ 
appellant to reocver the principal amount of excess payment of Rs. 57,419/- but 
not the interest amount of Rs.50,494/-.

Order accordingly

(iii) Recovery of principal excess amount can be made from petitioner/ 
appellant in easy instalments. However, if recovery of interest amount has already 
been made then the same be refunded to the petitioner/appellant forthwith.

dual purposes. It shall prevent wastage of public money by enabling the employer 
to recover the principal amount as promised vide undertaking and also would 
prevent undue enrichment of the employer by means of interest. An argument 
may be raised that once an undertaking is given, may be, for refund of excess 
principal amount then the employee concerned is also liable to pay interest for 
having retained public money for number of years before refunding the same. The 
argument ostensibly appears to be attractive but in reality and from practical point 
of view is neither viable nor feasible. The reason being that the undertaking is 
limited to the recovery of principal amount of excess payment. The other reason is 
that there was no misrepresentation on the part of employee to retain and consume 
the excess amount for number of years. Thus, at the time of refund, the employee 
ought not to be additionally burdened by recovery of interest over and above the 
principal amount. Therefore, from the point of view of equity, good conscience 
and fair play, the amount of recovery which the employer is liable to make based 
on undertaking in writing, would be limited to the quantum and nature of the 
amount promised to be refunded in the undertaking. In this view of the matter, it 
would be in the interest of justice and to prevent undue enrichment of either of the 
parties, that the quantum and nature of recovery in such cases is limited to the 
quantum and nature of recovery promised in the written undertaking to be refunded.
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I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2025 (DB)

STATE OF M.P. & ors. …Respondents

[k- fof/kd lsok Ákf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e ¼1987 dk 39½ ,oa ukylk ¼xjhch 
mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 9] 10 o 11 & Hkz"Vkpkj 
dh f'kdk;r@ifjokn &

A. Constitution – Article 226 and NALSA (Effective Implementation 
of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015, Clause 10(3) – Swachh Bharat 
Mission – Constructions of Toilets – Held – Allegations of irregularities/ corruption 
and siphoning off money of beneficiaries in respect of construction of toilets 
are prima facie serious in nature – Collector and CEO, Zila Panchayat 
directed to look into the allegations with utmost promptitude and role of 
concerned persons be enquired expeditiously.  (Para 18 & 19)

 Before Mr. Justice Sheel Nagu & Mr. Justice Anand Pathak

OMNARAYAN SHARMA  …Petitioner

B. Legal Services Authorities Act (39 of 1987) and  NALSA (Effective 
Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015, Clause 9, 10 & 11 
– Complaint of Corruption – Held – If any complaint is received regarding 
inaction, inappropriate execution, corruption or any matter related thereto 
which comes under purview of the Act of 1987 and Scheme of 2015, then 
District Legal Services Authority (DLSA) shall proactively take care of 
situation by proceeding as per clause 9, 10 & 11 of the Scheme 2015. (Para 22.1)

WP No. 1930/2020 (PIL) (Gwalior) decided on 6 July, 2021

Vs.

WRIT PETITION 

d- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 ,oa ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk 
izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 10¼3½ & LoPN Hkkjr vfHk;ku & 'kkSpky;ksa dk 
fuekZ.k & 
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x- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 ,oa ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk 
izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015] [kaM 10¼3½ & fof/kd dk;Zokfg;ka & O;kfIr o 
vf/kdkfjrk &

Ankur Modi, Addl. A.G. for the respondents/State.

C. Constitution – Article 226 and NALSA (Effective Implementation 
of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015, Clause 10(3) – Legal Proceedings 
– Scope & Jurisdiction – Held – State authority/District authority may file 
appropriate legal proceedings as per clause 10(3) by way of complaint before 
Lokayukt as per relevant provisions or may file private complaint against the 
erring persons or may file a petition if subject matter requires so by way of a 
Public Interest Litigation under Article 226 of Constitution. (Para 22.2)

D.  Legal Services Authorities Act (39 of 1987), Section 29-A and 
NALSA (Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 
2015 – Framing Regulations – Held – State authority is requested to contemplate 
for framing suitable regulations as per provisions of Act of 1987, especially 
u/S 29-A for effective implementation of different schemes of Government of 
India/State Government falling under the Scheme of 2015 – It is also 
requested to contemplate about preparation of a software/Mobile Application 
for keeping a tab over the complaints received and their outcome.  

(Para 22.3)

?k- fof/kd lsok Ákf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e ¼1987 dk 39½] /kkjk 29&A ,oa 
ukylk ¼xjhch mUewyu ;kstukvksa dk izHkkoh dk;kZUo;u½ ;kstuk] 2015 & fofu;e 
fojfpr djuk &

U.K. Bohre, for the petitioner. 

The Order of the Court was passed by :

O R D E R

ANAND PATHAK, J. :- The present petition under Article 226 of the Constitution 
of India has been preferred by the petitioner as Pro Bono Publico projecting 
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4. It is the grievance of the petitioner that in other blocks of District Bhind 
also corruption and illegality have been conducted in construction of toilets under 
Swachh Bharat Mission. Petitioner placed the list of beneficiaries (94 in number) 
vide Annexure P/3, who did not receive the benefits of toilets nor any amount. 
Petitioner also referred the screen shot of app. (Pandit Deendayal Shram Seva 
App) to demonstrate that allegedly amount has been received by the beneficiaries 
but in fact bogus papers have been prepared and amount has been siphoned off.

3- vU; U;k;ksfpr lgk;rk tks izdj.k dh ifjfLFkfr;ksa ds vuq:i 
mfpr gks og ekuuh; U;k;ky; }kjk ;kfpdkdrkZ ds fgr esa tkjh 
dh tk;s A

5. Learned counsel for the respondents/State opposed the prayer and placed 
certain documents on record. It is the submission of learned counsel for the State 

^^1- izfr;kfpdkdrkZ dz0 1 yxk;r 13 dks vkns'k @ funsZ'k fn;k 
tk;s fd ftyk fHk.M ds vUrxZr 6 tuin iapk;r] vVsj] esgxkao] 
fHk.M] xksg] jksu ,oa ygkj ds vUrxZr 'kkSpky; fuekZ.k esa gq;s 
Hkz"Vkpkj dh tkap fdlh fu"i{k ,tsUlh @ vf/kdkjh ls djk;h 
tk;as rFkk mDr Hkz"Vkpkj eas lafyIr vf/kdkfj;ksa @ deZpkfj;ksa ds 
fo:) dkuwuh dk;Zokgh dh tk;sa A

2. Counsel for the petitioner has sought following reliefs:-

2- izfr;kfpdkdrkZ dz0 1 yxk;r 13 dks vkns'k @ funsZ'k fn;k 
tk;s fd mDr 'kkSpky; fuekZ.k eas gq;s Hkz"Vkpkj ls 'kklu dks tks 
gkfu gqoh gS mldh olwyh nks"kh vf/kdkjh @ deZpkfj;ksa ls dh 
tk;as A

4- ;kfpdkdrkZ dks eqdnesa dk gtkZ [kpkZ Hkh izfr;kfpdkdrkZx.k 
ls fnyk;k tk;s vkSj ;kfpdkdrkZ dh tufgr ;kfpdk Lohdkj dh 
tk;s rks ekuuh; U;k;ky; dh vfrÑik gksxhA**

himself to be a public spirited citizen and has raised the grievance regarding 
illegality and irregularity committed by the respondents, especially respondents 
No. 6 to 13 who according to petitioner have not undertaken any enquiry over the 
complaint of petitioner regarding corruption / illegality committed in construction of 
toilets under Swachh Bharat Mission.

3. Precisely stated facts of the case are that on 31/12/2019, one Ramu 
Chaudhary, resident of village Etahar, District Bhind registered a complaint on 
Chief Minister Helpline Portal that Sarpanch, Secretary and other officers of the 
Gram Panchayat Ater, District Bhind have embezzled public fund in the name of 
construction of toilets but neither toilets have been constructed nor any amount 
for construction has been received by 93 beneficiaries. Despite making complaint 
by the petitioner on behalf of the beneficiaries to Collector, District Bhind no 
affirmative steps have been taken.
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7. Heard learned counsel for the parties at length and perused the record.

that immediately after issuance of notice in this writ petition (on 27/8/2020), 
CEO, Zila Panchayat, Bhind vide order dated 14/1/2021 (Annexure R/1) constituted 
a committee to look into the complaint made by petitioner. He also referred the 
show cause notice issued by same authority to then Panchayat Secretary, Gram 
Rojgar Sahayak and other Secretaries, who worked at the relevant point of time 
including the then Supervisor. Therefore, as per respondents, enquiry is under 
process. Learned Government counsel assured this Court that due enquiry would 
be conducted and if any illegality or irregularity is found then same shall be taken 
care of earnestly and consequent action shall be taken as per enquiry report.

8. This is a case by way of Pro Bone (sic: Bono) Publico; whereby, petitioner 
as public interest litigant raised the question of alleged illegality and corruption 
brewing in the Gram Panchayat Etahar, Tahsil Ater, District Bhind regarding 
implementation of Swachh Bharat Mission Scheme, which is a flagship scheme 
of Government of India to solve problems of sanitation and waste management in 
India by ensuring hygiene across the country. Primary object of this scheme is to 
eliminate open defecation and improve solid waste management. In the challenging 
period of COVID-19 Pandemic cleanliness and public hygiene assumed much 
significance. Therefore, it is the solemn duty of the District and Local Administration as 
well as local self government to look into the effective implementation of this 
scheme.

10. Further, in identifying the specific scheme for implementation at the State 
and District Level, Legal Services Authorities as per NALSA are expected to be 
cognizant of the fact that various vulnerable and marginalized groups experience 
poverty in myriad and unique ways.

6. Rejoinder has been filed by petitioner in which he referred statements of 
certain residents of Gram Panchayat Etahar, who specifically referred the fact 
regarding non-receipt of any amount for construction of toilets. They also denied 
the construction of toilets at the instance of Gram Panchayat.

9. National Legal Services Authority (NALSA) under the provisions of Legal 
Services Authorities Act, 1987 has framed certain schemes encompassing wide 
range of subjects and the compendium of the said schemes reflects one such 
scheme namely NALSA (Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation 
Schemes) Scheme, 2015. This scheme is built on the foundation that poverty is a 
multi dimensional experience and is not limited to the issues of income. Multi 
dimensional poverty includes issues like health (including mental health), access 
to water, education, sanitation, subsidies and basic services, social exclusion, 
discrimination etc.
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3) District Authorities shall conduct specialised training programs 
for panel of lawyers, members working in legal services clinics, 
members of panchayats, law students and other para-legal 
volunteers to assist in the implementation of the Scheme, to 
sensitise them regarding the needs of persons belonging to 
socially and economically weaker sections and the benefits that 
they can avail through Poverty Alleviation Schemes.

1) Informing the Scheme Beneficiaries about each of the 
Poverty Alleviation Scheme to which they are entitled, and the 
benefits thereunder

Legal assistance must be provided to all the Scheme Beneficiaries 
seeking access to Poverty Alleviation Schemes. Legal Services to 
be provided by Legal Services Officers or volunteers under this 
Scheme includes, inter alia:

Clause 4 -Objectives of the Scheme:-,

Clause 5 -Identification of Poverty Alleviation Schemes:-,

Clause 7 - Legal Services Officers and Para-legal Volunteers:-,

1) Every District Authority and Taluka Legal Services Authority 
shall designate at least three panel lawyers as Legal Services 
Officers for the purpose of this Scheme.

11. To address this exigency faced by people the Scheme of 2015 as referred 
above has been conceptualized. In the scheme, following topics have been 
discussed:-

Clause 6 -Organization of Awareness Programmes:-,

2) District Authorities shall constitute teams of PLVs under a 
Legal Services Officer to implement this Scheme and the Legal 
Services Officer will supervise and mentor the PLVs in his team 
to help the beneficiaries access the various schemes of the Govt.

Clause 8 - Legal Assistance for Access to Poverty Alleviation 
Schemes,

3) Informing the Scheme Beneficiary of the name and address 
of the designated authority or the officer to be approached for 
registration under any of the Poverty Alleviation Schemes

4) Offering to send para-legal volunteers including from the 
legal services clinics with Scheme Beneficiaries to the office of 

2) Assisting the Scheme Beneficiary in procuring the documents 
required for availing the benefits under any of the Poverty 
Alleviation Scheme
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the designated authority or the officer to be approached under 
any of the Poverty Alleviation Schemes

6) Maintaining a record of all the complaints received under 
sub-clause(5).

Clause 9 -Action by Legal Services Officers on complaints;

1) On receiving complaints under sub-clause (5) of clause 8, 
each Legal Services Officer shall herself personally accompany 
the Complainant Beneficiary to the office of the designated 
authority or officer, and assist the Complainant Beneficiary in 
availing the benefit that she is entitled to under the Poverty 
Alleviation Scheme.

2) In case the designated authority or officer fails to register 
the Complainant Beneficiary in the Poverty Alleviation Scheme, 
the Legal Services Officer shall submit a complaint to the 
District Authority. The letter of complaint shall describe the 
conduct of the designated authority or officer who refused to 
register the Complainant Beneficiary under the Poverty 
Alleviation Scheme, and circumstances of such refusal and whether 
refusal was despite submission of all necessary docuemnts.

Clause 10.- Action by District Authority and State Authority on 
complaints:-

5) Informing the Scheme Beneficiary of her option to register a 
complaint with the Legal Services Officer or para-legal volunteer, 
about any designated authority or officer under any of the 
Poverty Alleviation Schemes who refuses to cooperate with the 
Scheme Beneficiary in providing her access to the benefits that 
she is entitled to under the Poverty Alleviation Scheme.

7) Providing Scheme Beneficiaries with the contact number, if 
available, of the Legal Services Officer, and availability of the 
Legal Services Officer on call during working hours for such 
Scheme Beneficiaries to whom contact number is provided

1) On receiving a complaint regarding the designated 
authority or officer, the District Authority shall seek a report 
from the concerned officer regarding the reason for denying the 
benefits under the Poverty Alleviation Scheme to the complainant 
Beneficiary. In the event that sufficient reason is not provided by 
the concerned officer for refusal to register the Complainant 
Beneficiary in the Poverty Alleviation Scheme or to provide 
benefits under the Poverty Alleviation Scheme, the District 
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Authority shall immediately communicate to the superior officer 
in the department the details of the refusal to provide access to 
the Poverty Alleviation Scheme.

Clause ll.-Evaluation of the Scheme:-

3) The State Authority shall consolidate the compiled documents 
received from all the District Authorities under sub-clause (2) 
and hold a meeting every 6 months to review the functioning and 
effectiveness of this Scheme. The minutes of such meeting shall 
be recorded and published as a public document.

2) If the superior officer, in the opinion of the District Authority, 
also withholds the benefits under the Poverty Alleviation Scheme 
without sufficient cause, the District Authority shall then 
communicate the same to the State Authority.

3) On receiving such communication from the District Authority, 
the State Authority may choose to further pursue the matter with 
the concerned department or file appropriate legal proceedings 
to ensure that the Complainant Beneficiary receives the benefit 
under the Poverty Alleviation Scheme.

2) The District Authority shall compile the observations made 
under sub-clause (1) for all the Legal Services Officers working 
under the Scheme in the district and shall send a copy of such 
observations in a complied document to the State Authority every 
six months.

a. if such person was able to register under the Poverty Alleviation 
Scheme sought to be registered under and whether such 
benefits were being received

4) The District Authority, through para-legal volunteers or legal 
services clinics, shall provide regular updates to the Complainant 
Beneficiary about the status of the complaint.

4) If in the meeting under sub-clause (3) the State Authority 
finds a substantive or procedural defect in any of the Poverty 
Alleviation Schemes which makes seeking benefits under the

b. any grievances experienced by the Scheme Beneficiaries 
in getting registered and availing benefits under the various 
Poverty Alleviation Schemes.

1)Every Legal Services Officer shall follow-up with each Scheme 
Beneficiary who sought legal assistance under this Scheme and 
record:
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15. Clause 10(3) of Scheme of 2015 gives option to choose between the 
Persuasion (with the concerned Department) or Petition (to file appropriate legal 
proceedings). Here, appropriate legal proceedings may include complaint before 
the Lokayukt, if it comes under the purview of said Authority or private complaint 
against the erring persons or to file a Petition on behalf of complainant under 
Article 226 of the Constitution of India as Public Interest Litigation. It can club 
cause of more than one beneficiaries also.

13. As referred in the Scheme of 2015, poverty is a multi dimensional experience 
and it includes basic services including sanitation etc. and when a duty has been 
cast upon Legal Services Authority as per the Legal Services Authority Act, 1987 
and Scheme of 2015 then if any complaint is received by the Legal Services 
Officer from complainant / Scheme Beneficiary then such complaint like the 
present one can be taken care of by the District Authority as per Clause (9), (10) 
and (11) of the Scheme of 2015 by the District Authority and even by the State 
Authority.

14. It is being experienced by this Court that many complaints come regarding 
poor implementation, corruption and / or irregularities in Schemes like MGNREGA 
and Swachh Bharat Mission regarding construction of toilets or non-grant of 
amount to the beneficiaries for construction of toilets, etc. and by way of Public 
Interest Litigation, people seek Continuing Mandamus from this Court, whereas, 
provisions of Act of 1987 and Scheme of 2015 are apparently also available to 
address such problems.

12. Perusal of the whole scheme indicates that certain responsibilities have 
been bestowed upon the State and District Legal Services Authorities to train the 
legal and para-legal volunteers for providing legal assistance for giving access to 
beneficiaries to Poverty Alleviation Scheme and to act upon the complaints if the 
benefits have not been extended to him/her or if any authority refuses to cooperate 
with the scheme beneficiaries in providing access to the benefits.

16. Recently, Ministry of Panchayati Raj, Government of India has undertaken 
steps in respect of Online Audit and Social Audit of 20% Gram Panchayats' in 
every Janpad Panchayat and therefore, it appears that Government also intends to 
make these Institutions more accountable which are having direct bearing over 
day to day welfare of people at large. In pursuance thereof, a circular has also been 
issued by Panchayat Raj Directorate, Madhya Pradesh, Bhopal dated 17/2/2021 
to all CEOs of Zila Panchayats / Janpad Panchayats to organize camps in this 
regard.

scheme a problem for the Scheme Beneficiaries, such defect must 
be brought to the notice of the Central Government or the State 
Government as the case may be for improving the specific 
Poverty Alleviation Scheme and / or its effective implementation.”
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20. Before parting, this Court feels it appropriate to give direction to the 
District Legal Services Authority to update the contents of different schemes 
promulgated under the different provisions of Legal Services Authority Act, 1987 
including the Scheme in hand i.e. NALSA (Effective Implementation of Poverty 
Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 2015 and ensure that in their respective 
jurisdiction (District) Poverty Alleviation Scheme especially Swachh Bharat 
Mission Scheme and Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee 
Act, 2005 (MGNREGA), etc. are being properly executed and intended beneficiaries 
get the benefits of the scheme and if any authority refuses to cooperate with the 
beneficiary in providing him / her access to the benefits that she is entitled to under 

17. State Authority may contemplate about preparation of one Software and 
Mobile Application ( Mobile App.) for keeping a tab over the complaints received 
and their outcome. This Software / Mobile App. may coordinate amongst the 
concern departments so that complaints received over the said application (App.) 
would be displayed all over. Concerned stakeholders and State Authority / District 
Authority would be in a better position to proceed as per the spirit of Act of 1987 
and Scheme of 2015. State Authority even has power to make regulations as per 
Section 29-A of the Act 1987 to provide for all matters for which provision is necessary 
or expedient for the purposes of giving effect to the provisions of Act.

19. This Court cannot go into the authenticity or otherwise of the allegations 
at this juncture especially when CEO, Zila Panchayat is seized of the matter vide 
show cause notices issued to erring officers / authorities in this regard. Therefore, 
at this juncture, any observation would pre-empt the controversy. However, 
Collector and CEO, Zila Panchayat, Bhind are directed to look into the allegations 
with utmost promptitude and role of concerned Sarpanch, Panchayat Secretary, 
Gram Rojgar Sahayak, Supervisor and any other person involved in the transaction / 
or having any responsibility under the Swachh Bharat Mission Scheme failed or 
acted mischievously be enquired into in accordance with law. If any conclusion 
has not been drawn in the enquiry up till now then enquiry be conducted expeditiously 
within two months from the date of passing of this order and outcome of the 
enquiry be intimated to the office of this Court and office shall place the matter 
under the caption “Direction” for perusal of this Court and even if conclusion is 
drawn then consequential follow up action be informed to office of this Court.

18. Here, in the case in hand, it appears that certain beneficiaries allegedly did 
not receive the benefits under Swachh Bharat Mission about construction of 
toilets. As per the allegations, neither toilets have been constructed by the concern 
authorities nor amount has been transferred in their accounts and it is the allegations 
that amount of 93 beneficiaries ( or may be 94) has been siphoned off by Sarpanch 
/Panchayat Secretary / Gram Rojgar Sahayak etc. Allegations are prima facie serious 
in nature.
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any Poverty Alleviation Scheme, then the responsible authority under District 
Legal Services Authority (DALSA) shall proactively take care of the situation by 
proceeding as per Clause 9, 10 and 11 of the Scheme, 2015.

(iii) State Authority is requested to contemplate for framing of suitable 
regulations as per the provisions of Act of 1987, especially under 
Section 29-A for effective implementation of different schemes of 
Government of India / State Government fall under NALSA 
(Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) 
Scheme, 2015. A further request is made to contemplate about 
preparation of a Software / Mobile Application (Mobile App.) for 
keeping a tab over the complaints received and their outcome; and

(ii) State Authority/District Authority may file appropriate legal 
proceedings as per Clause 10 (3) of Scheme of 2015 by way of 
complaint before the Office of Lokayukt as per relevant provisions 
or may file Private Complaint against the erring persons or may 
file a petition if subject matter requires so by way of a Public 
Interest Litigation under Article 226 of the Constitution of India;

(iv) District Authority and its Office Bearers are expected to regularly 
organize awareness / training programmes for Panel Lawyers / 
Para-legal Volunteers in a constructive and proactive manner to 
sensitize them with the notion that they have to act as Healers of 

21. It is further expected from the Authority and its Office Bearers that they 
shall constantly organize awareness programmes as well as training programmes 
for Panel Lawyers / Legal Volunteers / Para-legal Volunteers as the case may be in 
a constructive and proactive manner. The training must sensitize the volunteers / 
activists to the notion that they have to act as Healers of the Society looking to the 
great responsibility bestowed upon them of Poverty Alleviation. Poverty, which 
is a Problem (Social Evil) can be addressed through Law (with its healing touch) 
as its solution to achieve the ultimate destination of Development.

22. In view of aforesaid discussion, this Court summarizes the following 
directions:-

(i) If, any complaint is received regarding inaction, inappropriate 
execution, corruption or any matter related thereto which comes 
under the purview of Legal Services Authority Act, 1987 and NALSA 
(Effective Implementation of Poverty Alleviation Schemes) Scheme, 
2015 then District Legal Service Authority (DALSA) shall 
proactively take care of the situation by proceeding as per Clause 
9,10 and 11 of the Scheme of 2015;;
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Order accordingly

the Society, looking to the great responsibilities bestowed upon 
them. Secretary, SALSA shall coordinate and guide all such 
awareness / training programmes.

23. Consequently, petition is disposed of with a direction to the respondents 
especially Collector and CEO, Zila Panchayat Bhind to look into the matter and 
complete the enquiry, if not already completed within two months from the date of 
passing of this order and if any person is found guilty then consequential follow up 
action shall be ensured in accordance with law. If the enquiry is already concluded 
then Collector and CEO are directed to place the enquiry report before the office 
of this Court so that same can be placed before this Court for perusal.

24. Petition stands disposed of.

25. A copy of this order be sent to Principal Secretary, Panchayat Raj, Government 
of Madhya Pradesh, Bhopal as well as to Member Secretary, SALSA, Jabalpur for 
circulation to all District Legal Service Authorities (DALSA) for sensitization and 
implementation of the concept as referred above by this Court.

KAMLESHWAR DIXIT  …Petitioner

WRIT PETITION 
I.L.R. [2021] M.P  (DB). 2035

d- jk"Vªh; lqj{kk vf/kfu;e ¼1980 dk 65½] /kkjk 3¼3½ ,oa lafo/kku & 
vuqPNsn 22 & dksfoM&19 egkekjh & vko';d vkS"kf/k dh dkykcktkjh & 

STATE OF M.P. & ors. …Respondents

A. National Security Act (65 of 1980), Section 3(3) and Constitution 
– Article 22 – Covid-19 Pandemic – Blackmarketing of Essential Drug – Held – 
In the days of extreme crises, a single act of blackmarketing of essential drug 
like Remedesivir is sufficient to detain a person under NSA – Whether a 
detenu is a social worker or an advocate is insignificant if his conduct is a 
threat to “public order” – Petitioner failed to establish any flaw in decision 
making process – Petition dismissed. (Paras 15 & 19 to 21)

Before Mr. Justice Sujoy Paul & Mr. Justice Anil Verma
WP No. 9785/2021 (Indore) decided on 20 July, 2021

Vs.

2035I.L.R.[2021]M.P. Kamleshwar Dixit Vs. State of M.P. (DB)



C.P. Purohit, for the petitioner. 

4. It is further contended by the learned counsel for the petitioner that as per 
recent judgment of this Court in the case of Yatindra Verma Vs. State of MP and 

 W.P. No. 9792/2021 decided on 24.06.2021, W.P. No. 4499/2021 decided 
on 09.04.2021, 1960 2 SCR 146, 1966 2 SCR 204, (1976) 2 SCC 495, 2014 (12) 
SCC 106, 1974 (3) SCC 601, 2015 SCC OnLine ALL 8706, (1989) 1 SCC 374, 
(1986) 4 SCC 407.

Vivek Dalal, Addl. A.G. for the respondent/State.

[k- jk"Vªh; lqj{kk vf/kfu;e ¼1980 dk 65½] /kkjk 3¼3½ & i`FkDdj.kh;rk dk 
fl)kar &

B. National Security Act (65 of 1980), Section 3(3) – Doctrine of 
Severability – Held – Para 4 of detention order, even if it is erroneous and is 
deleted or treated as invalid, contents of rest of the order will be sufficient to 
uphold the invocation of power u/S 3(2) of the Act – The invalid para 4 will 
not eclipse the entire order. (Paras 11 to 14)

O R D E R

The Order of the Court was passed by :

Cases referred:

2. In nutshell, the contention of the petitioner as projected by the counsel is 
that the petitioner is an advocate practicing at Seoni and Indore. The petitioner 
was called by the Special Task Force, Chindwara from where he was taken by the 
said force to Gwalior. A false case is lodged against the petitioner at Gwalior. The 
petitioner purchased Remdesivir injections for treatment of his father-in-law. 
Later on, his father-in-law died because of Corona. The CT scan report, death 
certificate and medical documents are filed as Annexure P/2 and 3.

3. Learned counsel for the petitioner submits that the petitioner has been 
falsely implicated. Para 4 of the impugned order shows that the same is passed 
without application of mind. The reasons assigned in para 4 are without any basis. 
The report of Superintendent of Police does not contain any such reason, which 
became basis for detention as per para 4 of the detention order dated 14.05.2021.

SUJOY PAUL, J:-  This petition filed under article 226 of the Constitution of India 
assails the order of District Magistrate, Gwalior dated 14.05.2021 (Annexure 
P/1), whereby the petitioner is detained in exercise of power under section 3(2) of 
National Security Act, 1980 (NSA Act).
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Others passed in WP No.9792/2021 dated 24.06.2021, the petitioner is similarly 
situated in as much as the petitioner therein was a social worker/politician, whereas, 
in the instant case, the petitioner is a practicing advocate. Hence, detention of 
petitioner is bad in law.

7. No other point is pressed by the learned counsel for the parties.

8. During the course of hearing, on a specific question raised from the bench, 
learned counsel for the petitioner fairly admitted that he erroneously stated that 
the medical documents filed by him are related to the father-in-law of the petitioner. 
Para 5.4 of the petitioner shows that the petitioner is unmarried. In reply to another 
question from the bench, learned counsel for the petitioner fairly submitted that 
his contention is that article 22 of the Constitution of India is infringed because the 
petitioner is an advocate and he cannot be detained in this manner under the NSA 
Act. To this extent, he placed reliance on the judgment of this Court in the case of 
Yatindra Verma (supra).

10. Indisputably, para 4 of the impugned order dated 14.05.2021 has no 
foundation/basis. As per learned counsel for the respondent/State, para 4 is pasted 
from some other document because of a typographic error. The contention is 
correct because if the order of detention passed by the District Magistrate is read 
in juxtaposition to the Superintendent of Police's report, it will be clear like noon 

9. The respondents by filing additional counter affidavit, clearly averred that 
the stand of the petitioner that he was called by the STF, Chhindwara from where 
he was taken by the said force to Gwalior is factually incorrect. The petitioner has 
been arrested at Gwalior itself.

5. Learned Additional Advocate General supported the impugned order and 
contended that indisputably para 4 of the impugned order dated 14.05.2021 is 
erroneous and is erroneously pasted. As per the return, STF Police Station, 
Gwalior got information regarding black marketing of Remdesivir injections. In 
turn, the petitioner was arrested and 5 Remdesivir injections were recovered from 
him. An FIR in crime no.16/2020 under section 420, 188 of the IPC, 3/7 of the 
Essential Commodities Act and 3 of the Pandemic Act was duly registered at 
Police Station STF on 08.05.2021. Further investigation is going on.

6. As per the report of Superintendent of Police, Gwalior, the District 
Magistrate took necessary steps and invoked NSA Act against the petitioner. 
During the pandemic era, there was severe scarcity of the said injection and the 
petitioner's conduct became a threat to the maintenance of 'public order'. Hence, 
the impugned order was passed. The ground of detention and intimation regarding 
detention order was duly served on the petitioner on 14.05.2021 (Annexure R/3). 
Reliance is placed on the order passed by this Court in WP No.4499/2021 (Kalla 
@ Surendra Jat Vs. State of MP and others) decided on 09.04.2021.
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11. The ancillary question is whether because of this erroneous finding 
mentioned in para 4 above, the entire order dated 14.05.2021 needs to be axed. A 
careful reading of para 3 and 5 shows that the main reason to detain the petitioner 
is that 5 Remdesivir injections were found in unauthorized possession of the 
petitioner. The order passed under the NSA is preventive and not punitive in 
nature. This Court is not obliged to give any finding on the correctness of the 
allegations against the petitioner because trial against him is pending and any such 
finding may have an impact on the trial. In Yatindra Verma (supra), this Court held 
that activity like black marketing the Remdesivir injections has an adverse impact 
on “public order” and for this reason section 3(2) of the NSA Act can very well be 
invoked. If para 3 of the detention order is conjointly read with the S.P's report, it 
will be clear that the findings are similar and the main reason of detention is black 
marketing and possession of 5 Remdesivir injections.

12. Reverting back to the ancillary question aforesaid, the interesting 
conundrum is whether the entire order dated 14.05.2021 is liable to be jettisoned if 
part of it is found to be erroneous or without basis.

day that there is no foundation on the strength of which finding of para 4 could 
have been recorded. Thus, finding of para 4 is an example of cut/paste syndrome 
and non application of mind.

13. This point is no more res-integra. The Apex Court laid down the Doctrine 
of Severability on the anvil of which the impugned order can be tested. In 1960 2 
SCR 146 (Y.Mahaboob Sheriff Vs. Mysore State Transport Authority), the Apex 
Court held that it is open to sever the illegal part of the order from the part which is 
legal. This principle was followed in 1966 2 SCR 204 (R. Jeevarantnam Vs. State 
of Madras). It was held that two parts of composite order are separable. The first 
part of the order operates as a dismissal of the appellants as from October 17, 
1950. The invalidity of the second part of the order, assuming this part to be 
invalid, does not affect the first part of the order. The order of dismissal as from 
October 17, 1950 is valid and effective. The appellant has been lawfully dismissed, 
and he is not entitled to claim that he is still in service. The same principle was 
followed in (1976) 2 SCC 495 (State of Mysore Vs. K. Chandrasekhara Adiga). It 
was clearly held that where valid and invalid portion of the order are severable, the 
test is whether after excision of the invalid part, the rest remains viable and self-
contained. The deletion cannot render rest of the order illegal or ineffective if it 
can survive independently and found to be valid. In 2014 (12) SCC 106 (State 
Bank of Patiala Vs. Ram Niwas Bansal), it was again held that two parts of the 
order are clearly severable assuming that second part of the order is invalid. There 
is no reason that the first part of the order should not be given the fullest effect. 
Reliance can be placed on another judgment of Apex Court in the case of Gujarat 
Mineral Development Corporation Vs. P.H Brahmbhatt reported in 1974 (3) SCC 
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601. Pertinently, Allahabad High Court in Gajendra Prasad Saxena, VS. State of 
UP reported in 2015 SCC OnLine ALL 8706 applied the Doctrine of “Partial 
Quashing” and opined that the principle of unconstitution provision of a statue 
being severed and struck down leaving other parts untouched is well known. The 
said principle of severability has been extended to administrative orders also.

15. Thus, we are not inclined to set aside the order dated 14.05.2021, merely 
because para 4 of the said order is perverse and without any basis. The judgment 
of this Court in Yatindra Verma (supra) was pressed into service by contending 
that the petitioner therein was a social worker, whereas, the petitioner herein is an 
Advocate. Thus, they are similarly situated. We do not see any merit in this contention. 
Interference in Yatindra Verma (supra) was not made because of social status of 
the petitioner. Whether a detenue was a social worker or an Advocate is insignificant 
if his conduct is a threat to “public order”.

16. The Supreme Court answered an interesting and challenging conundrum 
relating to maintaining balance between the liberty and license in most 
appropriate words in certain judgments which are as under:-

14. If the Doctrine of Severability is applied on the impugned order, it will be 
clear that even if para 4 is deleted or treated as invalid, the contents of rest of the 
order will be sufficient to uphold the action under the NSA. In other words, if para 
4 of order is treated as invalid portion of order, after excision of this invalid part, 
the remaining part is found to be self-contained and can be a reason to uphold the 
invokation of power under section 3(2) of the NSA. Thus, two parts of the order 
are severable. The invalid para 4 will not eclipse the entire order dated 
14.05.2021.

“K.K. Methew, J. in 1975 (Supp.) SCC 1 (Smt. Indira 
Nehru Gandhi vs. Raj Narain) stated that the major problem of 
human society is to combine that degree of liberty without 
which law is tyranny with that degree of law without which 
liberty becomes licence; and the difficulty has been to discover 
the practical means of achieving this grand objective and to find 
the opportunity for applying these means in the ever shifting 
tangle of human affairs.” (para 318)

(Emphasis supplied)

“............. the actual manner of administration of the law of 
preventive detention is of utmost importance. The law has to be 
justified by the genius of its administration so as to strike the 
right balance between individual-liberty on the one hand 

17. Justice M.N. Venkatchaliah in (1989) 1 SCC 374 (Ayya @ Ayub vs. State of 
UP and Anr) held as under:- 
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19. The second wave of Covid-19 was very fatal and there was severe scarcity 
of Remdesivir injections, oxygen, beds, hospital facilities, medicines etc in most 
of the major towns of the province. This grave situation of pandemic, threatened 
the humanity after almost 100 years from the previous pandemic of Spanish Flu, 
which broke out in 1918-1920. In the days of extreme crisis, a single act of black 
marketing of an essential drug like Remdesivir is sufficient to detain a person 
under the NSA Act. This court has already taken this view in Yatindra Verma 
(supra). In another case, WP No.11008/2021 (Ram Avtar Vs State of MP), this 
Court opined as under :-

“Preventive detention as reiterated as hard law and 
must be applied with circumspection rationally, reasonably 
and on relevant materials. Hard and ugly facts make 
application of harsh laws imperative.”

and the needs of an orderly society on the other. But the 
realities of executive excesses in the actual enforcement of 
the law have put the courts on the alert, ever-ready to 
intervene and confine the power within strict limits of the 
law both substantive and procedural. The paradigms and 
value judgments of the maintenance of a right balance are 
not static but vary according as the "pressures of the day" 
and according as the intensity of the imperatives that justify 
both the need for and the extent of the curtailment to be 
individual liberty. Adjustments and readjustments are constantly 
to be made and reviewed. No law is an end in itself. The "inn that 
shelters for the night is not journey's end and the law, like the 
traveller, must be ready for the morrow." (para 14 )

(para 22 )

16) The last submission was that petitioners did not have 
any past record. This aspect was also dealt with in explicit 
manner in the case of Manikant Asati (supra). In para 8 & 9 of 
said order, this Court made it clear that in an extraordinary crisis 
like Covid-19 pandemic, a singular act of blackmarketing can 
attract the Blackmarketing Act for the purpose of detention. The 
pandemic of this magnitude came in 2019 after more than 100 
years from the previous pandemic of Spanish Flu which 
threatened the humanity in the year 1918. Thus, question of 
availability of any past record in a case of this nature is 

18. Justice Savyasachi Mukherjee in (1986) 4 SCC 407 (Raj Kumar Singh vs. 
State of Bihar) held as under:-

(Emphasis supplied)

(Emphasis supplied)
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Before Mr. Justice Sujoy Paul & Mr. Justice Anil Verma

A. Constitution – Article 226 – Tender – Review of Decision – 
Decision of disqualification of Respondent No. 4 was reviewed by Committee 
and his bid was accepted – Held – In absence of enabling provision, decision 
to review the previous decision was wholly impermissible – No reasons assigned 
in minutes as to what compelled the committee to review the decision – Such 
decision to review is arbitrary, unjust, unreasonable and attracts Wednesbury 
Principles – Contract given to Respondent No. 4 set aside – Respondents directed 
to consider claim of petitioner – Petition allowed.  (Paras 18 to 20)

insignificant. Hence, this point raised by petitioners also cannot 
cut any ice. In Ayya Ayub (supra), the Apex Court visualised the 
requirement of maintenance of a right balance and opined that 
principles relating to said balance are not static but vary 
according to the  pressures of the day and according to the 
intensity of imperatives that justify both the need for and the 
extent of curtailment of the individual liberty. The impugned 
order of detention takes into account pressures of the day and 
assigns justifiable reasons for detaining the corpus. In this 
factual backdrop, we find no reason to interfere in the matter.”

21. The petition fails and is hereby dismissed.

I.L.R. [2021] M.P  (DB). 2041

MOHAMMAD SULTAN KHAN  …Petitioner 

UNION OF INDIA & ors.  …Respondents

Emphasis Supplied

20. The petitioner has failed to establish any flaw in the decision making 
process pursuant to which the impugned order dated 14.05.2021 is passed. In 
absence thereof, no case is made out for interference.

Petition dismissed

Vs.

WRIT PETITION 

WP No. 17290/2020 (Indore) decided on 22 July, 2021

(Alongwith WP No. 18637/2020)

d- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & fufonk & fofu'p; dk iqufoZyksdu &
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Himanshu Joshi, for the official respondent.

The Order of the Court was passed by :

(1971) 3 SCC 844, APOT No. 344/2013 decided on 07.08.2013 (Calcutta 
High Court), (2000) 2 SCC 617, (2001) 2 SCC 451, (1978) 1 SCC 405, (2007) 14 
SCC 517, (2020) 16 SCC 759, (1985) 1 AC 374, (1994) 6 SCC 651, (2015) 15 
SCC 137, (1979) 1 SCC 489, (1997) 1 SCC 53, (2012) 5 SCC 443, (2013) 5 SCC 
252, (1993) 1 SCC 44, (2005) 6 SCC 138, (2012) 8 SCC 216, (2016) 14 SCC 172, 
(1999) 1 SCC 492, (2007) 8 SCC 1, (2014) 3 SCC 493, (2014) 11 SCC 288, 2021 
(1) JLJ 582.

None, for the private respondents despite service.

Arjun Agrawal, for the petitioners. 

2. Facts are taken from WP No.17290/2020.

Cases referred:

O R D E R

SUJOY PAUL, J. :- In these petitions, the parties are at loggerheads on the validity 
of decision of the respondents in accepting bid of private respondent after 
declaring him as disqualified. It is further prayed that since petitioners are the 
lowest bidders and qualified the technical bid, they may be awarded the tender. 
Since both the petitions are similar, on the joint request of the parties, the matters 
were analogously heard and decided by this common order.

(Heard through Video Conferencing)

3. The respondent/department issued a notice inviting tender (NIT) on 
26/06/2020 (Annexure P/5) for transport of posts on the route Indore to 
Burhanpur. It was pointed out that the only difference in the connected matter is 
that the route involved therein is different. The petitioners, respondent No.4 and 
other persons submitted their tender submission form. The petitioners duly 

B. Constitution – Article 226 – Interference in Contractual Matter – 
Scope & Jurisdiction – Held – Interference can be made in contract matters if 
decision making process is arbitrary, capricious and hits Wednesbury principles.  

[k- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & lafonkRed ekeys esa gLr{ksi & O;kfIr o 
vf/kdkfjrk &

(Para 13 & 19)
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ii) In contract matters, interference can be made if the procedure of 
taking decision is arbitrary and faulty. The impugned decisions in 
these cases are irrational, arbitrary and malicious in nature. Reliance 
is placed on (2000) 2 SCC 617 (Air India vs. Chochin International 
Airport Ltd.) and (2001) 2 SCC 451 (WB. State Electricity Board 
vs. Patel Engineering Co.).

4. Shri Arjun Agrawal, learned counsel for petitioners submits that technical 
bids were opened on 28/07/2020 and respondent No.4 was found to be 
disqualified in the technical bid because he did not provide details of vehicle and 
stated in the affidavit that new vehicle will be provided if contract is awarded to 
him. Criticising the impugned minutes dated 07/10/2020 (Annexure P/13), Shri 
Agrawal urged that the technical bid of private respondents were rejected on 
28/07/2020, but for no valid reasons, the said decision was reviewed without 
therebeing any enabling provision for review and respondent No.4 was permitted 
to participate in further tender process. In reply the respondents supported their 
action by contending that respondent No.4 furnished vehicle details with the bid, 
but since documents were not legible, he produced legible copies of said 
documents and, therefore, on 07/10/2020, the technical bid was reviewed.

5. The petitioners raised their eyebrows on such review by contending that :-

i) there exists no enabling provision to review a decision and 
hence such review is impermissible and runs contrary to the 
judgments of Supreme Court reported in (1971) 3 SCC 844 (Patel 
Narshi Thakershi & Ors. vs. Shri Pradyuman Singhji Arjunsinghji). 
Reliance is placed on Division Bench judgment of Calcutta High 
Court in APOT No.344/2013 (Electrosteel Castings Ltd. vs. Kolkata 
Municipal Corporation & Ors.) decided on 07/08/2013.

iii) If the impugned order/minutes do not contain the reason for 
review i.e. providing legible documents at subsequent stage, this 

submitted their signed tender documents. Petitioners duly filled up all the relevant 
columns of the prescribed tender form. They furnished the necessary information 
against relevant columns and also filed supporting documents which is evident 
from a bare perusal of Annexure P/6, P/7 & P/8. It is pointed out that respondent 
No.4 also submitted his signed tender document (Annexure P/10). However, he 
did not submit the details of proposed vehicles which was the heart and soul of the 
tender because tender was for transfer of posts. The relevant page of tender 
document (Page-113) was left blank and no vehicle details have been provided by 
respondent No.4. In addition, respondent No.4 submitted an affidavit stating that 
if his bid is accepted and in turn, tender is awarded to him, respondent No.4 will 
provide a new vehicle for the purpose of fulfilling the mandatory requirement/ 
eligibility criteria of the tender.
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6. In nutshell, Shri Agrawal, learned counsel for the petitioners submits that 
after having declared respondent No.4 as ineligible at the stage of technical bid, it 
was no more open to the respondents to review their decision. Moreso, when there 
exists no enabling provision and no valid reason for undertaking the said exercise.

10.  We have bestowed our anxious consideration on rival contentions and 
perused the record.

defence taken for the first time by way of counter affidavit in the 
Court cannot be entertained as per Constitution Bench judgment of 
Supreme Court in (1978) 1 SCC 405 (Mohinder Singh Gill vs. Chief 
Election Commissioner),.

11. Before dealing with rival contentions we deem it proper to remind ourselves 
with the scope of judicial review in contractual matter. Lord Diplock stated in 
(1985) 1 AC 374, at 415 (Council of Civil Services Union vs. Minister for Civil 
Services):-

“.......one can conveniently classify under three heads 
the grounds on which administrative action is subject to control 
by judicial review. The first ground I would call 'illegality', the 
second 'irrationality' and the third 'procedural impropriety'.”

8. Nobody appeared for private respondents in both the cases in spite of due 
service of notice.

7. Countering the said argument, Shri Himanshu Joshi, learned counsel for 
the Department supported the impugned decision and award of contract in favour 
of respondent No.4. He submits that although on 28/07/2020, the respondent No.4 
was held to be disqualified at the stage of examining the technical bid, he was 
found to be eligible subsequently on 28/07/2020. The decision to review was 
taken by the Department pursuant to the direction of Chief Post Master General. 
He submits that review committee's decision dated 07/10/2020 (Annexure R/4) is 
in consonance with law. There is no fault in the process adopted by the 
respondents. By placing reliance on (2007) 14 SCC 517 (Jagdish Mandal vs. State 
of Orissa & Ors.) and (2020) 16 SCC 759 (Bharat Coking Coal Limited & Ors. vs. 
Amr Dev Prabha & Ors.), Shri Joshi urged that the scope of interference in Article 
226 of Constitution in contractual matters is limited. In absence of arbitrariness, 
malice or any serious flaw in the process in which decision is taken, interference is 
not warranted. The petitioner in his E-mail (page-149) and in Annexure P/5 dated 
26/06/2020 himself accepted that relevant papers of respondent No.4 were made 
available to the department after opening of technical bid. Thus, no fault can be 
found in the impugned minutes and consequential award of contract to the private 
respondents.

9. Parties confined their arguments to the extent indicated above. 
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(i) 'Illegality' which means that the “decision-maker must 
understand correctly the law that regulates his decision-making power 
and must give effect to it”.

12. In Council of Civil Services Union (supra), Lord Diplock has suggested a 
three-fold classification of the various grounds on which an administrative decision 
can be reviewed by a court. These grounds are:

It means that the decision-maker must keep within the scope of 
his legal power. Illegality means that the decision-maker has made an 
error of law; it represents infidelity of an official action to a statutory 
purpose. Such grounds as excess of jurisdiction, patent error of law, etc. 
fall under the head of “illegality”.

The Supreme Court followed the dictum of Lord Diplock in Council of 
Civil Services Union (supra) in Tata Cellular vs. Union of India, (1994) 6 SCC 
651.

(iii) Procedural Impropriety- The expression includes failure 
to observe procedural rules including the rules of natural justice or 
fairness wherever these are applicable.”

(ii) 'Irrationality' denotes unreasonableness in the sense of 
Wednesbury unreasonableness.

13. The Apex Court in catena of judgments held that the judicial review of a 
contractual matter is permissible on certain parameters. In Tata Cellular (supra) 
and Elektron Lighting Systems (P) Ltd. vs. Shah Investments Financial 
Developments & Consultants (P) Ltd., (2015) 15 SCC 137, the Apex Court opined 
that the judicial review in contract matter is permissible if action impugned is 
shown to be arbitrary. In Ramana Dayaram Shetty vs. International Airport 
Authority of India, (1979) 1 SCC 489, Dutta Associates (P) Ltd. v. Indo 
Merchantiles (P) Ltd., (1997) 1 SCC 53, Heinz India (P) Ltd. v. State of U.P., 
(2012) 5 SCC 443 and Kalinga Mining Corpn. v. Union of India, (2013) 5 SCC 
252, the Supreme Court ruled that if decision making process or the decision is 
unreasonable, interference can be made even in contractual matters. In Sterling 
Computers Ltd. v. M & N Publications Ltd., (1993) 1 SCC 44, Master Marine 
Services (P) Ltd. v. Metcalfe & Hodgkinson (P) Ltd., (2005) 6 SCC 138, Michigan 
Rubber (India) Ltd. v. State of Karnataka, (2012) 8 SCC 216 and State of 
Jharkhand v. CWE-SOMA Consortium, (2016) 14 SCC 172, the Wednesbury 
principle is also applied to test the decision making process adopted in a 
contractual matter. Reference may be made to Raunaq International Ltd. v. I.V.R. 
Construction Ltd., (1999) 1 SCC 492, Air India Ltd. v. Cochin International 
Airport Ltd., (2000) 2 SCC 617, Jagdish Mandal v. State of Orissa, (2007) 14 SCC 
517, Reliance Energy Ltd. v. Maharashtra State Road Development Corpn. Ltd., 
(2007) 8 SCC 1, Sanjay Kumar Shukla v. Bharat Petroleum Corpn. Ltd., (2014) 3 

2045I.L.R.[2021]M.P. Mohammad Sultan Khan Vs. Union of India (DB)



14. In view of principles laid down in aforesaid cases, it is to be seen whether 
impugned decision taken by respondents is legal and justifiable. Indisputably, in 
the instant case when technical bid of candidates were opened on 28/7/2020, the 
respondent No.4 was held to be disqualified. He was found to be disqualified 
because of not fulfilling the requirement of Clause 8 of NIT which reads as under:-

(emphasis supplied)

SCC 493 and Siemens Aktiengeselischaft & Siemens Ltd. v. DMRC Ltd., (2014) 11 
SCC 288, wherein Apex Court opined that apart from the facets of arbitrariness, 
unreasonableness and parameters relating to Wednesbury principles, the public 
interest element is also an essential facet which can be looked into in a contractual 
matter. (See also Krsnaa Diagnostics Pvt. Ltd. v. State of M.P [2021 (1) JLJ 582]).

15. The respondent No.4 admittedly did not furnish the necessary 
informations regarding vehicles in the relevant columns of his tender form which 
is evident from a plain reading of his form and more particularly Annexure III of 
the prescribed form (Page 113). In this form he was required to provide following 
informations:-

“8. The make and model of the vehicle should be 
specified separately. Copies of registration certificate, fitness 
certificate and insurance should be enclosed along with 
technical bid. All the vehicles must have valid road permit to run 
in the territory of Madhya Pradesh.”

Details of the Vehicle
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(ii)  Make and Model

(iii) Year of manufacture

(vii) Insurance validity of the vehicle

(i)  Type of vehicle

(iv) Registration No./Date

(v) Type of fuel used

(vi) Fitness/Road worthiness

(x) Annual turnover 2017-18

(xi) Annual turnover 2018-19

(ix) GST No.

(viii) PAN No.
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^^tujsV fd;s x;s nLrkostksa ds vk/kkj ij fufonkvksa dk fooj.k psd 
fyLV esa ntZ fd;s x, dqy 06 fufonkvksa esa ls ckck VªkaliksVZ] 95 vjfoUn 
fogkj] ckx eqxkfy;k] Hkksiky ,oa dchj baVjizkbtsl] 115 ch] xzhu ikdZ 
dkWyksuh] bankSj & 452002 }kjk izLrqr fufonk] 'krksaZ ds vuqdwy ugha ik;h 
x;h D;ksafd fufonkdrkZ }kjk izLrqr ?kks"k.kk i=d ds vk/kkj ij fufonk 
Lohd`r gksus ij mlds }kjk u;k okgu dz; djds miyC/k djkus dh 
lgefr nh x;h gS] 

v/kh{kd jsy Mkd lsok bankSj }kjk lfefr ds lnL; Jh ,eds- Jhokl] 
izoj v/kh{kd Mkd?kj bankSj flVh ,oa Jh xksiky eqtkYnk] lgk;d 
ys[kkf/kdkjh (SB) dk;kZy; iksLVekLVj tujy bankSj {ks= dks tkjh i= 
dzekad Mh3@lh,e,e,l@bankSj&cqjgkuiqj@vk;Mh@2019&21 bankSj 
fnukad 06-10-2020 ds rkjrE; esa vkt fnukad 07-10-2020 dks lfefr ds 
lnL;ksa }kjk v/kh{kd jsy Mkd lsok bankSj ds dk;kZy; esa mifLFkr gksdj 
rdfudh cksyh ds dk;Zo`Rr fnukad 28-07-2020 dh  dh x;h 
rFkk v/kh{kd jsy Mkd lsok vk;Mh eaMy bankSj dks tkjh {ks=h; dk;kZy; 
ds i= dzekad esYl&14@16@bankSj&cqjgkuiqj@psi&II] fnukad 23-09-
2020 esa fn;s x;s funsZ'kksa ds ifjikyu esa fufonkdkj ckck VªkaliksVZ] 95 
vjfoUn fogkj] ckx eqxkfy;k] Hkksiky dh fufonk dks 'kkfey djrs gq, 
rdfudh cksyh dk 

¼psdfyLV½ esa nf'kZr gSA^^

17. A plain reading of the aforesaid paragraphs makes it clear that technical 
bid of respondent No.4 was not found to be in consonance with conditions of NIT 
because he intended to provide details of vehicle after getting the contract. This 
decision was reviewed by three member committee but no enabling provision of 
review was shown to this court. The division bench of Calcutta High Court in 
Electrosteel Castings Ltd (supra) opined as under:-

“In the absence of any power reserved by the 
Corporation in terms and condition of NIT to review its 
decision, we are of the considered opinion that it was a 

16. The affidavit of respondent No.4 (page 136) clearly establishes that he 
intended to provide details of vehicle only when his bid is accepted. For this 
reason, admittedly the respondent No.4 was not found to be eligible. However, the 
three members review committee on 7/10/2020 took the impugned decision. 
Relevant portion of which reads as under:-



18. In absence of showing enabling provision, the decision to review the 
previous decision dated 7/10/2020 was wholly impermissible. Moreso when no 
reasons are assigned in the minutes dated 7/10/2020 as to what necessitated the 
committee to review the previous decision and treat respondent No.4 as eligible. 
In other words, the impugned minutes nowhere shows that the relevant 
documents of respondent No.4 were received by the Committee subsequently 
which compelled them to review the decision. This defence is taken for the first 
time in the reply filed before this Court. In Mohinder Singh Gill Vs. Chief Election 
Commission (supra), the Apex Court opined as under:-

Orders are not like old wine becoming better as they grow 
older.”

19. In view of above judgments of supreme court it is clear that interference 
can be made in contract matters if decision making process is arbitrary, capricious 
and hits Wednesbury principles. The condition No.8 of NIT makes it obligatory 
for the bidder to furnish the details regarding make and model of vehicle. In 
addition, the copies of registration certificate, fitness certificate, insurance etc 
were required to be enclosed with the Tender form. As noticed, the necessary 
informations were not furnished by respondent No.4 as per Annexure III of tender 
document. His affidavit leaves no room for any doubt that he intended to provide 
details of vehicle after getting the contract. This clearly runs contrary to condition 
No.8 of NIT. The action of respondents in reviewing the previous decision 

misadventure on the part of the Corporation to make 
aforesaid concession which it could not have defended on 
merits and it was also incumbent upon the Single Bench to 
go into the legality of such concession. Concession could 
not have been made in respect of mandatory terms and 
conditions of the tender. It would be discriminatory to 
permit at a subsequent stage, such a waiver of a mandatory 
technical qualification due to subsequent event. 
Particularly in process of tender question of eligibility is to 
be examined with respect to a particular date.”

(emphasis supplied)

(emphasis supplied)

“8...... Public orders, publicly made, in exercise of a 
statutory authority cannot be construed in the light of explanations 
subsequently given by the officer making the order of what he meant 
or of what was in his mind, or what he intended to do. Public orders 
made by public authorities are meant to have public effect and are 
intended to affect the actings and conducts of those to whom they are 
addressed and must be construed objectively with reference to the 
language used in the order itself.
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without any enabling provision and for no valid reason cannot be countenanced. 
In our considered opinion, the respondent No.4 was rightly held ineligible in the 
meeting held on 28/7/2020 and decision to review the same is arbitrary, unjust, 
unreasonable and attracts Wednesbury principles. The decision making process is 
certainly arbitrary and runs contrary to Clause 8 of the NIT. Thus, the impugned 
decision in both the cases whereby respondent No.4 was held to be eligible needs 
to be interfered with. Consequently, the contracts given to respondent No.4 also 
deserve to be set aside.

20. The petitioners have pleaded that they were the lowest bidder if 
respondent No.4 is excluded. Shri Himanshu Joshi did not dispute the same 
during the course of arguments. Thus, while setting aside the impugned decision 
dated 7/10/2020 and contracts given to respondent No.4 in both the cases, we 
deem it proper to direct the respondents to consider the claim of petitioners for 
grant of contracts. The entire exercise be completed within 30 days from the date 
of production of copy of this order.

Petition allowed

I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2049

Before Mr. Justice Sanjay Dwivedi
WP No. 3658/2021 (Jabalpur) decided on 24 August, 2021

21. The petitions are allowed.

WRIT PETITION 

d- flfoy lsok ¼oxhZdj.k] fu;a=.k vkSj vihy½ fu;e] e-Á- 1966] fu;e 
10] 14 o 15 ,oa lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 311¼2½¼b½ & inP;qfr dk n.M & foHkkxh; tkap ls 

Vs.

STATE OF M.P. & anr. …Respondents

A. Civil Services (Classification, Control and Appeal) Rules, M.P. 
1966, Rules 10, 14 & 15 and Constitution – Article 311(2)(b) – Punishment of 
Dismissal – Dispensing with Departmental Enquiry – Grounds – Lady 
constable lodged FIR against male constable (petitioner) u/S 452, 354, 354-
Gh, 376 & 506 IPC – Petitioner dismissed from service without departmental 
enquiry on ground that calling prosecutrix in enquiry would tarnish her 
image, dignity and respect – Held – Lady constable who can file FIR and 
would appear before Court, there should be no hitch while appearing in 
enquiry that too before police officers – Reason assigned for dispensing with 
regular departmental enquiry is unreasonable and unjustified – Article 
311(2)(b) cannot be applied – Impugned order of dismissal set aside – 
Petition allowed. (Paras 9, 10, 13 & 14)

AMIT CHAURASIA  …Petitioner
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vfHkeqfDr & vk/kkj & 

[k- flfoy lsok ¼oxhZdj.k] fu;a=.k vkSj vihy½ fu;e] e-Á- 1966] fu;e 
10 o 14 & eq[; n.M & foHkkxh; tkap &

x- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 & inP;qfr & U;kf;d iqufoZyksdu & O;kfIr 
& 

C. Constitution – Article 226 – Dismissal – Judicial Review – Scope 
– Held – Apex Court concluded that dismissal without conducting a departmental 
enquiry on the ground of being not reasonably practicable, is open for judicial 
review – Petition maintainable.  (Para 12)

SANJAY DWIVEDI, J. :- Since the pleadings are complete and learned 
counsel for the parties are ready to argue the matter finally, therefore, it is heard 
finally.

B. Civil Services (Classification, Control and Appeal) Rules, M.P. 
1966, Rule 10 & 14 – Major Punishment – Departmental Enquiry – Held – 
Major punishment like dismissal from service can be inflicted after conducting 
a regular departmental enquiry as per provisions of Rule 14 of the Rules of 
1966.   (Para 11)

Cases referred :

Sanjeev Chansoriya, for the petitioner. 
Ankit Agrawal, G.A. for the respondents/State.

(1985) 4 SCC 252, (1987) Supp SCC 164, (2000) 10 SCC 196, (1996) 3 
SCC 753, (2005) 11 SCC 525, (1993) 4 SCC 269, (1991) 1 SCC 362, (2003) 9 
SCC 75.

O R D E R
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5. Per contra, learned Government Advocate has supported the order of 
dismissal and stated that the provisions of Article 311(2)(b) of the Constitution of 
India have rightly been applied while removing the petitioner from service.

4. Learned counsel for the petitioner submits that the challenge is founded 
mainly on the ground that the order of dismissal from service has been passed in 
violation of principle of natural justice and contrary to the law for the reason that 
the petitioner being a civil servant and a regular employee of the Police Department, 
cannot be dismissed without conducting a regular departmental enquiry. More so, 
the provisions of Article 311(2)(b) of the Constitution of India are not applicable 
in the petitioner's case and the reason assigned in the order for not conducting the 
regular departmental enquiry is not only unreasonable but also unacceptable 
which makes the order vitiate and as such, it is claimed that the impugned order 
dismissing the petitioner from service deserves to be quashed.

2. By the instant petition filed under Article 226 of the Constitution of India, 
the petitioner is questioning the legality, validity and propriety of the order dated 
02.02.2021 (Annexure-P/2) whereby as per the provisions of Article 311(2) (b) of 
the Constitution of India, he has been dismissed from service and also challenging 
the order 06.02.2021 (Annexure-P/3) whereby he has been directed to vacate the 
Government Quarter as allotment made in his favour was cancelled in pursuance 
to his dismissal from service.

3. The facts of the case in nutshell are that the petitioner was initially 
appointed on the post of Constable and was posted at Police Station Kotwali, 
District Sagar. Thereafter, on a complaint made by a lady constable namely Sonali 
Nayak, an FIR vide Crime No.07/2021 was registered against the petitioner in 
Mahila Police Station, District Sagar on 21.01.2021 (Annexure-P/4) for the 
offence punishable under Sections 452, 354, 354-Gh, 376 and 506 of the Indian 
Penal Code and pursuant thereto, the petitioner was arrested and sent to jail. In 
view of the said complaint, the petitioner was placed under suspension and thereafter, 
respondent No.2/ Superintendent of Police exercising the powers provided under 
Article 311(2)(b) of the Constitution of India, dismissed the petitioner from 
service vide order dated 02.02.2021 (Annexure-P/2) observing therein that the 
conduct of the petitioner has stigmatized the image of the Police Department. It is 
also observed by respondent No.2 that the manner in which the petitioner 
committed the crime, there was no reason for conducting any departmental 
enquiry and call the prosecutrix as a witness in the enquiry as that would adversely 
affect her dignity and image in the society. Consequently, vide order dated 
06.02.2021 (Annexure-P/3), the allotment of Government Quarter No.C-05 made 
in the petitioner's favour was cancelled and directing him to vacate the said 
premise.
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6. Considering the rival submissions made by learned counsel for the parties 
and on perusal of the record, the core question which crops up for consideration is 
as to whether under the existing circumstances, the power exercised by respondent 
No.2 and the reason assigned in the impugned order for not conducting the regular 
departmental enquiry is valid, acceptable and approves the decision for dispensing 
with the regular departmental enquiry or not?

7. The hub of the argument on behalf of the petitioner is that merely on the 
ground of registration of an offence, the petitioner who was a regular employee of 
the Police Department, could not be removed from service that too without 
conducting any departmental enquiry. Further, the reason assigned for dispensing 
with the departmental enquiry and for not following the principle of natural 
justice is not justified. The relevant portion of the impugned order which contains 
the reasons for not conducting the regular departmental euqiry reads thus:-

^^fuyafcr vkj{kd ds fo:) Fkkuk efgyk varxZr iathc) vijk/k 
esa foospuk iw.kZ dh tkdj pkyku dzekad 05@21 fnukad 28-01-
21 dks is'k fd;k tk pqdk gSA mijksDr vijk/k dh ifjfLFkfr;ka 
vipkjh vkj-1029 vfer pkSjfl;k dh vkijkf/kd ekufldrk] 
nqLlkgl ,oa uSfrd ewY;ksa ds v/kksiru dks iznf’kZr djrh gSA 
vipkjh vkj{kd iqfyl foHkkx dh vuq'kkflr lsok dk lnL; gS 
ftldk nkf;Ro lekt ds detksj oxksZa ,oa efgykvksa dh lqj{kk o 
muds lEeku dh izfr"Bk cuk;s j[kus ls lacaf/kr gSA vipkjh 
vkj{kd }kjk iqfyl ykbu tSls lqjf{kr LFkku ij nqLlkgliwoZd 
ihfMrk ds fuokl ds vanj mDr vijk/k ?kfVr djuk] mldh 
vuq’kklughu vkijkf/kd ekufldrk dks izdV djrk gSA bl 
izdj.k esa vipkjh vkj{kd ds fo:) vijk/k esa lafyIr gksus ds 
lk{; foospuk esa rFkk /kkjk 164 tkQkS- varxZr U;k;ky; ds le{k 
iznf’kZr gksus ds mijkar vfHk;ksx i= izLrqr fd;k x;k gSA 
vipkjh vkj{kd dks U;k;ky; ds le{k fjekaM gsrq izLrqr djus esa 
mls vius i{k j[kus dk volj izkIr gqvk gSA bl izdj.k esa 
vipkjh vkj{kd ds lsok 'krksaZ ds izfrdwy vkpj.k ds laca/k esa 
iznf’kZr gksus okyh leLr lk{; vkijkf/kd fopkj.k esa la;qDr 
gksdj lfEefyr gSA bl izdj.k esa vkijkf/kd fopkj.k ds 
lekukarj fdlh foHkkxh; tkap dk oS/kkfud vk/kkj ,oa O;ogkfjd 
vkSfpR; ugha gS ,oa ihfMr efgyk dks foHkkxh; tkap esa lk{; 
izLrqfr gsrq ryc djus ls izkfFkZ;k ds lEeku ,oa izfr"Bk ij 
izfrdwy izHkko iMus dh iwjh laHkkouk gSA vr% bl izdj.k esa 
vkijkf/kd foospuk ls izkIr lk{; o izkFkfed tkap ls fuyafcr 
vipkjh vkj- 1029 vfer pkSjfl;k }kjk iznf’kZr dnkpj.k iw.kZr% 
Li"V gqvk gSA vipkjh fuya-vkj-1029 vfer pkSjfl;k ds] 
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vr% fuyafcr vkj{kd 1029 vfer pkSjfl;k ds in ds 
fu;qfDrdrkZ vf/kdkjh ds :i esa iqfyl v/kh{kd dks izkIr] Hkkjrh; 
lafo/kku ds vuqPNsn 311 ¼2½ ds  mYysf[kr iSjk ¼[k½ esa 
izkIr 'kfDr ,oa of.kZr izfdz;k ds ikyu esa] 

Provided further that this clause shall not apply—]

cykRdkj tSls 'keZukd vijk/k esa lafyIr gksdj tsy fu:) jgus 
ls] mldh iqfyl vf/kdkjh ds :i esa igpku] in dh xfjek o 
foHkkxh; izfr"Bk dks dyafdr djsxhA blds vfrfjDr lsok esa 
jgus rd iqfyl vf/kdkjh ds :i esa mlds }kjk izkfFkZ;k dks 
Hkfo"; esa mlds i{k esa lk{; nsus gsrq ncko cukus vFkok 
euksoSKkfud :i ls izkfFkZ;k dks fopkj.k esa Lora= o Hk;eqDr 
gksdj dFku nsus esa Hkh ck/kk cusxkA iqfyl vf/kdkjh ds :i esa 
fuyafcr vkj{kd }kjk fu;fer :i ls mijksDr ?k`f.kr vijk/k dh 
U;k;ky;hu is’kh esa tkus ls lkoZtfud :i ls inh; rFkk 
foHkkxh; izfr"Bk o e;kZnk ij izfrdwy izHkko iMus dh iwjh 
laHkkouk gSA cykRdkj tSls xaHkhj vijk/k esa vfHk;ksftr gksus dh 
'kksgjr ds lkFk vipkjh dh Hkfo"; esa lkoZtfud LFkyksa esa iqfyl 
lsok gsrq mifLFkfr ls] vke efgyk oxZ ds eu esa vlqj{kk dk Hkko 
rFkk iqfyl cy gsrq izfrdwy /kkj.kk dk volj mRiUu gksxkA 

It is worthwhile to go through the relevant provisions of Article 311(2)(b) 
of the Constitution of India, which read as under:-

“311. Dismissal, removal or reduction in rank of persons 
employed in civil capacities under the Union or a State.—(1) 
No person who is a member of a civil service of the Union or an 
all-India service or a civil service of a State or holds a civil post 
under the Union or a State shall be dismissed or removed by an 
authority subordinate to that by which he was appointed.

[(2) No such person as aforesaid shall be dismissed or 
removed or reduced in rank except after an inquiry in which 
he has been informed of the charges against him and given a 
reasonable opportunity of being heard in respect of those 

2
charges [***]:

[Provided that where it is proposed after such inquiry, to impose 
upon him any such penalty, such penalty may be imposed on the 
basis of the evidence adduced during such inquiry and it shall 
not be necessary to give such person any opportunity of making 
representation on the penalty proposed:
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(b) where the authority empowered to dismiss or 
remove a person or to reduce him in rank is satisfied that for 
some reason, to be recorded by that authority in writing, it is 
not reasonably practicable to hold such inquiry; or

(a) where a person is dismissed or removed or reduced in 
rank on the ground of conduct which has led to his conviction on 
a criminal charge; or

(ii) stoppage of a Government servant at the efficiency 
bar in the time scale of pay on the ground of his 
unfitness to cross the bar;

[(3) If, in respect of any such person as aforesaid, a question 
arises whether it is reasonably practicable to hold such inquiry 
as is referred to in clause (2), the decision thereon of the 
authority empowered to dismiss or remove such person or to 
reduce him in rank shall be final.]”

“10 (ix) dismissal from service which shall ordinarily be 
a disqualification for future employment under the 
Government;

(i)  withholding of increments of pay of a Government 
servant for his failure to pass any departmental 
examination in accordance with the rules or orders 
governing the service to which he belongs or post 
which he holds or the terms of his appointment;

(c) where the President or the Governor, as the case may 
be, is satisfied that in the interest of the security of the State it is 
not expedient to hold such inquiry.]

8. Admittedly, the services of the petitioner are governed with provisions of 
Madhya Pradesh Civil Services (Classification, Control and Appeal) Rules, 1966 
(in short the 'Rules, 1966'). The punishment of dismissal from service is prescribed 
under the Rules, 1966 as a major penalty and that can be imposed after conducting 
a regular departmental enquiry. Rule 10 of the Rules, 1966 deals with the penalties 
relate to civil servants. Rule 10 (ix) of the Rules, 1966 speaks about major 
penalties which reads as under:-

Explanation. - The following shall not amount to a penalty 
within the meaning of this rule, namely :- 

(iii) non-promotion of a Government servant, whether 
in a substantive or officiating capacity, after 
consideration of his case, to a service, grade or post 
for promotion to which he is eligible;
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(b) of a temporary Government servant appointed 
until further orders on the ground that his 
services are no longer required; or

(viii) termination of the services;

Rule 14 of the Rules, 1966 which is a mandatory requirement provides the 
procedure for imposing the penalty and if any punishment as specified in sub 
clauses (v) to (ix) of Rule 10 has to be made, the same can only be made after 
conducting an enquiry as per the procedure provided in Rule 15 of the Rules, 1966 
and perusal of the aforesaid rules, makes it clear that for conducting a regular 
departmental enquiry, charge-sheet has to be issued and the Disciplinary Authority 
after reaching the conclusion that the charges levelled against the delinquent are 
found proved, can inflict the punishment of dismissal, but not without that.

(a) of a Government servant appointed on probation, 
during or at the end of the period of his 
probation, in accordance with the terms of his 
appointment or the rules and orders governing 
such probation; or

(vi) replacement of the services of a Government 
servant, whose services had been borrowed from the 
Union Government or any other State Government, or 
an authority under the control of any Government, at 
the disposal of the authority from which the service 
of such Government servant had been borrowed;

(iv) reversion of a Government servant officiating in a 
higher service, grade or post to a lower service, 
grade or post, on the ground that he is considered to 
be unsuitable for such higher service, grade or post 
or on any administrative ground unconnected with 
his conduct;

(v) reversion of a Government servant, appointed on 
probation to any other service, grade or post, to his 
permanent service, grade or post during or at the 
end of the period of probation in accordance with 
the terms of his appointment or the rules and orders 
governing such probation;

(vii) compulsory retirement of a Government servant in 
accordance with the provisions relating to his 
superannuation or retirement;

(c) of a Government servant, employed under an 
agreement, in accordance with the terms of 
such agreement.”
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“16............sometimes not taking prompt action may result in 
the trouble spreading and the situation worsening and at times 
becoming uncontrollable, and may at times be also construed by 
the troublemakers and agitators as a sign of weakness on the part 

9. Although, Article 311(2)(b) of the Constitution of the India provides the 
requirement of principle of natural justice in respect of the civil servant if 
punishment of dismissal, removal or reduction in rank is to be imposed. The said 
Article prescribes some eventualities, in which, the major penalty like dismissal 
can be inflicted without following the requirement of principle of natural justice 
or without conducting a regular departmental enquiry. If the said exception is 
applied and challenged before the Court of law, then the Court has to see whether 
the reasons assigned for adopting such exception are proper or not. Here in this 
case, the reason has been assigned by respondent No.2 that challan has been filed 
and criminal case is being tried by the competent Court, therefore, there is no 
justification for conducting the regular departmental enquiry and calling the 
prosecutrix for recording her statement in the said enquiry because that would 
tarnish her image, dignity and respect in the department.

10. In my considered opinion, the reason assigned by the Authority for not 
conducting a regular departmental enquiry is not only unreasonable but also 
unjustified for the reason that the prosecutrix in the criminal case will be a 
material witness and would appear before the Court for getting her statement 
recorded then there should be no hitch while appearing in the departmental 
proceeding that too before the officers of the Police Department as the prosecutrix 
is also a police constable and when she made a complaint to the police about the 
alleged crime, then she must not have any hesitation to get recorded her statement 
as a witness in the departmental enquiry and she cannot be allowed to have her 
cake and eat it too.

11. The Supreme Court in several occasions has considered the scope of 
application of Article 311(2)(b) of the Constitution of India and has clarified as to 
under what circumstances, regular departmental enquiry can be dispensed with 
and order of dismissal from service can be issued. The Supreme Court in many 
occasions, has also observed that in every case, the application of Article 
311(2)(b) of the Constitution of India does not apply and the Authority has to 
proceed in accordance with the respective rules under which the procedure 
prescribed for conducting the enquiry and also for inflicting the punishment. As 
has already been discussed hereinabove, it is clear that the major punishment like 
dismissal from service can be inflicted after conducting a regular departmental 
enquiry as per the provisions of Rule 14 of the Rules, 1966. In this context, the 
Supreme Court in the case reported in (1985) 4 SCC 252 [Satyavir Singh v. Union 
of India] has observed as under:-
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Further, in the case reported in (1987) Supp SCC 164 [S.J. Meshram v. 
Union of India], the Supreme Court has observed as under:-

“Arts.311(2) second proviso, cl.(b) and 311(3)- “not reasonably 
practicable to hold inquiry”-Such an opinion of departmental 
authority when not justified- Argument advanced that the 
appellant being a police constable could have influenced witnesses 
and therefore dispensing of inquiry was justified-Rejected-
Held, the order dispensing with the inquiry was not according to 
law-Consequently, the order dismissing the appellant also not 
sustainable- Liberty however given to respondents to proceed 
against appellant by holding inquiry-Further held, setting aside 
the dismissal would normally entitle an employee to back 
wages but in the present case and more so in view of the nature 
of the charges against the appellant, back wages not deserved.”

of the authorities and encourage them to step up the tempo of 
their activities or agitation. The affidavits filed in the High 
Court clearly show that this is exactly what happened when the 
suspension orders were issued and what was required was 
prompt and urgent action against those who were considered to 
be the ringleaders and that once such action was taken the 
situation improved and started becoming normal.”

“Art. 311(2) second proviso (b)- Whether “not reasonably 
practicable” to hold inquiry-Factors- Likelihood of 
destruction of evidence and of non-appearance of members of 
Mahila Samiti to adduce evidence for fear and loss of vital document 
(bill register) showing actual amount of misappropriation caused 
wilfully by the delinquent employee-Held irrelevant and ex 
facie inadequate reasons for dispensing with the inquiry-Removal 
order set aside permitting the employee continuity in service 
and due salary and allowance-Authority entitled to commence 
normal departmental proceedings.”

Thereafter, the Supreme Court in the case reported in (2000) 10 SCC 196  
[Ex Constable Chhote Lal Vs. Union of India] has observed as under:-

The Supreme Court in the case reported in (1996) 3 SCC 753 [Chandigarh 
Administration, Union Territory, Chandigarh v. Ajay Manchanda] has observed 
as under:-

“Art.311(2)(b)-Departmental enqiry-Generally-Reasonably 
practicable or not-Order of dismissal, dispensing with 
departmental enquiry on the ground of not being reasonably 
practicable, passed by SSP against Sub-Inspector of Police 
pursuant to a complaint of extortion-Complainant's reluctance 
to pursue the complaint whether by itself sufficient to conclude 
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“Art.311(2) proviso (b)- “Not reasonably practicable to hold 
such inquiry”-Reasons for satisfaction regarding-Complaint 
filed by a foreign national that he had to pay bribe money in the 
office of Superintendent of Police for securing extension of his 
visa for one year-Complainant not disclosing name of the 
official who took the bribe due to fear of harassment-Pursuant to 
a preliminary inquiry, appellant dealing clerk dismissed from 
service without holding regular departmental inquiry on being 
satisfied that it was not reasonably practicable to hold the inquiry-
Reasons for such satisfaction stated to be that the complainant being 
a foreigner may leave the country in the midst of the inquiry and 
that he was not likely to name the delinquent official during the 
departmental proceedings-Held, reasons not sufficient for 
dispensing with the regular departmental inquiry-Hence Art.311(2) 
violated as holding the inquiry by informing of the charges and 
giving reasonable opportunity of being heard is the rule and 
dispensing therewith is an exception-Dismissal order liable to 
be set aside.”

In the case reported in (2005) 11 SCC 525 [Sudesh Kumar v. State of 
Haryana] the Supreme Court has observed as under:-

12. The Supreme Court in the cases reported in (1993) 4 SCC 269 [Union of 
India and others v. R. Reddappa and others], (1991) 1 SCC 362 [Jaswant Singh v. 
State of Punjab and others] and (2003) 9 SCC 75 [Sahadeo Singh and others v. 
Union of India and others], has categorically observed that the dismissal without 
conducting a departmental enquiry on the ground of being not reasonably 
practicable, is open for judicial review, therefore, the objection raised by the 
respondents that the impugned order is appealable, is not sustainable in the eyes of 
law.

that he had been won over, making a departmental enquiry 
impracticable-Complainant, an advocate, initially not appearing 
when called by the SSP in connection with the complaint, on the 
ground of his alleged engagements in the Sessions Court but 
subsequently expressing his unwillingness to pursue the 
complaint on the ground of having reached a compromise with 
the Sub-Inspector-In absence of any statement by the 
complainant or any other witness to that effect, merely from the 
unwillingness of the complainant to pursue the complaint, held, 
it could not be inferred that the complainant had been terrorised 
and intimidated by the Sub-Inspector-Hence, there being no 
material before the SSP to conclude that holding of a 
departmental enquiry was not reasonably practicable, CAT's 
order quashing the said order of dismissal, upheld.”
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13. This Court has no hesitation to say that it is not a case in which the 
Disciplinary Authority can inflict the punishment of dismissal that too without 
conducting a regular departmental enquiry. The reason assigned in the impugned 
order for not conducting a regular departmental enquiry and for applying the 
provisions of Article 311(2)(b) of the Constitution of India is not found 
satisfactory for the reason that if at all that lady police constable can lodge the FIR 
and in relation to that would appear before the Court for getting her statement 
recorded, then that would not cause any harm to her dignity and respect but if she 
could have appeared before the Enquiry Officer for recording her statement, then 
that could damage her dignity and respect, cannot be considered to be a proper 
reason for not conducting the regular departmental enquiry and as such, the 
impugned order of dismissal dated 02.02.2021 (Annexure-P/2) is not sustainable 
in the eyes of law and is hereby set aside. However, a liberty is granted to the 
respondents that if they so desire, may conduct a regular departmental enquiry as 
has been provided under the provisions of the Rules, 1966 for imposing the 
penalty after giving an opportunity of hearing to the petitioner.

K & J PROJECTS PVT. LTD. (M/S) …Petitioner

M.P. ROAD DEVELOPMENT CORP. & anr. …Respondents

(Alongwith WP No. 11371/2021)

14. With the aforesaid, the petition filed by the petitioner stands allowed.

I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2059 (DB)
WRIT PETITION 

Before Mr. Justice Mohammad Rafiq, Chief Justice 
& Mr. Justice Vijay Kumar Shukla

Petition allowed

WP No. 11239/2021 (Jabalpur) decided on 27 August, 2021

Vs.

(Paras 27 to 29, 32 & 37)

A. Tender – Debarment – Ground of Misrepresentation – Held – It 
is admitted that petitioner have submitted CV's which had variances – 
Action of debarment of petitioner is in conformity with clause 3.4(iv)(b) of 
Request for Proposal (RFP) which specifically provided that if any 
information is found incorrect at any stage, action including termination and 
debarment from future MPRDC projects upto 5 years will be taken – Bid was 
annulled owing to fact that petitioner submitted false and fabricated CV – No 
illegality in decision making process – Petitions dismissed.
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B. Tender – Debarment – Obligation of Bidder – Held – As per 
clause of RFP, CV was required to be certified by Consultant (Bidder) – 
Certificate was given by petitioner stating that CV has been checked and 
found to be correct – Obligation to submit a correct CV was on petitioner or 
its minor partner.  (Para 31)

D. Tender – Debarment – Disproportionate Action – Held – As per 
the clause, debarment upto a period of 5 years can be taken whereas in 
present case debarment has been done for 2 years – Order of debarment is 
not disproportionate.  (Para 28 & 34)

C. Tender – Debarment – Principle of Natural Justice – Held – 
Respondents issued show cause notice in clear terms of clauses of RFP to 
petitioner whereby they submitted their reply and after considering the 
same, order of debarment has been passed – No violation of principle of 
natural justice.  (Para 32)

?k- fufonk & footZu & vuuqikfrd dkjZokbZ & 

d- fufonk & footZu & nqO;Zins'ku dk vk/kkj & 

x- fufonk & footZu & uSlfxZd U;k; dk fl)kar & 

[k- fufonk & footZu & cksyh yxkus okys dh ck/;rk & 
RFP
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2013 Online MP 5471, (2014) 14 SCC 731, (2014) 9 SCC 105, (2021) 1 
SCC 804, (1995) 3 SCC 334.

O R D E R

3. It is setforth that pursuant to the petitioner's qualification for the technical 
and financial bid on 16-02-2021, a complaint was received by the respondent 
No.2 on 18-02-2021 against the petitioner regarding the documents submitted by 
it from Neeraj Nigam. On the basis of the complaint dated 18-02-2021, the 
respondent No.2 issued a letter dated 31-03-2021 to the petitioner seeking clarification 

2. Shorn or unnecessary details : The respondent No.1 -Madhya Pradesh 
Road Development Corporation [for short, “the MPRDC”] invited tender for 
Consultancy of Independent Engineer for Operation & Maintenance (O & M) 
period on Completed Road Projects under BOT (Toll), BOT (Toll + Annuity) & 
BOT (Annuity) Mode for MPRDC for the State of Madhya Pradesh (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Project”) on 22-9-2020. Request for Proposal (for brevity 
“RFP) was issued by the respondents. The petitioner along with its lead partner - 
M/s K & J Projects Private Limited participated in the tender process and submitted 
its bid for the tender on 17-10-2020. The technical evaluation was declared on        
25-01-2021 wherein the score of the petitioner was recorded to be 94.55 marks 
which is reflected in the Minutes of the Meeting of the Bid Evaluation Committee 
held on 21-01-2021. The petitioner further submits that as per sub-clause (ii) of 
Clause 5.5 of the Data Sheet, the technical proposal of a bidder must secure a 
minimum of 75 marks to be considered for the financial evaluation. A reference is 
made to Clause 5.5 (iii) of the Data Sheet. A revaluation was conducted on 9-02-
2021, however, there was no change in the scores obtained by the petitioner, 
which scored the highest marks and thus, qualified for opening of the financial 
bid. The petitioner has referred to the Minutes of the Meeting of the Bid 
Evaluation Committee, dated 9-02-2021. It is stated that as a result of the 
petitioner's highest score, it was qualified for the financial bid, wherein the 
petitioner was also the lowest bidder in the whole tender process.

Deepesh Joshi, for the petitioners. 
P.K.Kaurav, A.G. with Aditya Khandekar, for the respondents.

(Hearing convened Through Video Conferencing)

Cases referred:

The Order of the Court was passed by :
VIJAY KUMAR SHUKLA, J. :- Regard being had to the facts of the case and the 
reliefs sought in the present writ petitions, they were heard together and are being 
disposed of by a common order. For the sake of convenience and clarity the facts 
enumerated in WP-11371-2021 are taken note of.
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with regard to the difference of period of engagement of Mr. Akhil Khare shown 
in his Curriculum Vitae [hereinafter referred to as “CV”] submitted by the lead 
partner in association with the petitioner in the present Project and in another CV 
submitted in a project of M/s URS Scott Wilson India Private Limited, in 
association with the petitioner are not matching with each other. The CV of Mr. 
Akhil Khare was submitted as per Appendix B-5 under Section 4 Format for 
submission of Technical Proposal of the RFP, as also uploaded in the Infracon 
portal.

6. It is contended that despite having received the reply and justification so 
offered by the petitioner, the decision to annul the tender was taken by the Bid 
Evaluation Committee of the respondent No.1 in a haste manner and the bid 
submitted by the petitioner was rejected on 7-5-2021. Thereafter, as the decision 
for rejecting the bid was already taken without giving an opportunity of hearing to 
the petitioner, an order of annulment of tender dated 11-5-2021 was purportedly 
passed by the respondent No.2.

4. It is putforth that in the meanwhile, the respondent No.2 had also sought 
the same clarification from M/s URS Scott Wilson India Private Limited as to the 
differences in the contents of the CV of Mr. Akhil Khare on 6-03-2021. In 
consequence of the letter dated 6-03-2021 M/s URS Scott Wilson India Private 
Limited sought clarification from Mr. Akhil Khare and Mr. Akhil Khare also 
replied, vide letter dated 12-03-2021.

5. The petitioner vide its reply dated 7-04-2021 to the letter dated 
31-03-2021 issued by the respondent No.2 informed that the CV of Mr. Akhil 
Khare which was submitted in the present Project by the petitioner was taken from 
the Infracon Portal of the Ministry of Road Transport and Highways, Govt. of 
India and the CV submitted in the earlier Project of M/s URS Project was 
submitted as per requirements of that Project. For the present Project, the CV was 
obtained from Infracon Portal, wherein the Key Personnel submitted the details in 
an elaborate format containing his employment records. It is relevant to note that 
Section 3 of the RFP issued to M/s URS Scott Wilson India Private Limited 
project provides the qualification of the Senior Quality Surveyor (SQS) and 
accordingly, the CV was submitted by the petitioner therein to the respondent 
No.1 in the prescribed format. It is further submitted that the work experience of 
Mr. Akhil Khare submitted by M/s URS Scott Private Limited for previous tender, 
which clearly states that 'the past employment that is not relevant to the 
assignment does not need to be included'. Hence, the formats of the CV submitted 
by Mr. Akhil Khare were different as per the requirement of both the RFPs and the 
same could not be compared for the purposes of ascertaining the qualification of 
Mr. Akhil Khare for this RFP.
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8. According to the petitioner the respondent No.1 issued a fresh tender in a 
haste manner in order to ensure that the petitioner had no chance to present its 
claim or make an adequate representation before the respondents regarding the 
said complaint of Key Personnel's CV made to the respondent No.2. After having 
annulled the said tender the respondent No.2 realised that the petitioner was not 
given an opportunity of hearing and was also not offered the opportunity to 
replace the Key Personnel and hence, the exercise of giving an opportunity was 
initiated. After passage of almost 1 ½ months and after sleeping on the allegations 
mentioned in a false complaint against the petitioner, the respondent No.2 issued a 
show cause notice dated 20-5-2021 to the petitioner to conceal the act already 
done with the intent to award the tender to third party. The show cause notice 
issued to the petitioner required the petitioner to give an explanation as to why the 
petitioner should not be debarred owing to the alleged difference in CV of the Key 
Personnel. The allegation in the said show cause notice were only based on the 
differences found in the CV of the Key Personnel for the position of SQS, and 
there was no such content which points out that the petitioner has presented wrong 
information wilfully during the course of the tender process.

7. After passing of the tender annulment order dated 11-5-2021, the very 
next day on 12-5-2021 a fresh tender bearing No.2021_MPRDC_142220_1 
having Tender Ref. No.502 was invited by the respondent No.1 for the same 
Project as “Proposal for engaging an Independent Engineer (IE) on the basis of 
National Competitive Bidding for Operation and Maintenance (O & M) of the 
MPRDC road projects under BOT (Toll), BOT (Toll and Annuity and BOT 
(Annuity mode in the State of Madhya Pradesh.

9. It is putforth that the petitioner has completely complied with all the 
contents of Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of Section 2 of the RFP. It is pertinent to mention 
here that the respondent No.2 alleged that the said tender was annulled due to foul 
play found in the CV of Mr. Akhil Khare submitted by lead partner and the 
petitioner by putting incorrect data in the CV to get the tender. It was also denied 
that the petitioner has never dictated the contents of the CV of Mr. Akhil Khare 
and it was Mr. Akhil Khare, who uploaded the CV on Infracon portal with the sole 
responsibility of content correctness vested with him. The submissions in the CV 
of Mr. Akhil Khare is totally his own responsibility and the petitioner had no 
involvement in it. It is asserted that even when the respondents found the alleged 
discrepancy in the CV of Mr. Akhil Khare, then instead of giving the benefit of the 
remarks 2 of Data Sheet under Section 2 of the RFP and Clause 4.5(d) of the 
General Conditions of Contract (GCC) to the petitioner or undertake the process 
of revaluation of the CV as per the terms and conditions of the RFP, the respondent 
No.2 directly annulled the tender and then did a futile exercise of issuing a show 
cause notice. The petitioner was also issued a show cause notice on 20-5-2021. It 
is strenuously urged that the petitioner only submitted the CV which was taken 
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11. It is setforth that the petitioner in its reply dated 26-5-2021 also relied on 
Clause 4.5(d) of GCC which provides that in case the information mentioned in 
the CV is found to be incorrect, then the Key Personnel shall be removed and it 
was only in case of a second time involvement of the consulting firm, then an 
action can be taken against the consulting firm. It is submitted that the petitioner 
had no involvement whatsoever in the preparation of the CV of the Key Personnel 
for the position of SQS or any involvement with regard to the mention of the total 
years of experience with the firm. The petitioner solely relied on the CV which it 
took from the most authentic portal of Infracon.

12. It is asserted that the petitioner being the highest scorer in technical bid 
and having the lowest financial bid, again requested vide letter dated 4-6-2021 for 
reconsideration and re-evaluation of the technical bid and requested for cancellation 
of fresh tender for the same Project. No consideration was made by the respondents 
on the aforesaid letters. The respondent No.2 passed an order dated 15-6-2021 
debarring the petitioner from participating in future tenders invited by the 
respondent No.1 quoting violation of Clause 3.4(iv) (b) of Section 2 of the RFP for 
a period of two years.

10. The petitioner replied to the show cause notice vide letter dated 
26-5-2021, wherein it explained its position in the light of the Remark 2 under 
Date   (sic: Data) Sheet of the RFP and requested for withdrawal of the show cause 
notice. The petitioner elaborately explained its position regarding the information 
mentioned in the CV and in fact, the petitioner had nothing to do with the 
preparation of the CV of the Key Personnel for the post of SQS. It is pertinent to 
state that the said Key Personnel Mr. Akhil Khare even clarified the same 
information that he was working simultaneously in two organizations and there is 
nothing to hide or he has represented any factually incorrect information, as the 
said CV was uploaded on the Infracon portal which was relied upon by the 
petitioner.

It is necessary to note here that the CV was only submitted in the format as 
mandated by the terms and conditions of the RFP. The petitioner did not make any 
amendment or modification in the CV of the Key Personnel for the tender process.

13. According to the petitioner it submitted all necessary informations derived 
from the CV as uploaded in the Infracon Portal. The CV clearly elaborated the 
number of years of Key Personnel with the firm and also his degree of responsibility 
held in various assignments. Thus, no incorrect information has been submitted 

from the most authentic Infracon portal of MORTH, Govt. of India. It is stated that 
as per the Note (g) of the Format of CV for the proposed professional staff 
provided under Appendix B-5 of Section 4 of the RFP it was mandated that the CV 
of the Key Personnel must be taken from the Infracon Portal only for its validity.
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14. It is urged that pursuant to the order of debarment the petitioner submitted 
a representation before the respondent No.1 on 18-6-2021 seeking a relief to 
revoke the order of debarment. However, the representation was rejected by the 
respondent No.2 vide letter dated 23-6-2021. It is submitted that the order of 
debarment passed by the respondent No.2 was with the knowledge of and in 
concurrence with the respondent No.1, whereas the order of debarment dated        
15-6-2021 does not state so and in fact, the respondent No.2 gave the option to 
challenge the order of debarment before the appellate authority, i.e., Managing 
Director in the said letter. But when the petitioner preferred the appeal/ representation 
against the order of debarment, the same was again rejected by the respondent 
No.2 without considering the submissions made by the petitioner. The order 
impugned debarring the petitioner from participating in future tender of the 
respondents, has been assailed on the ground that the same runs counter to the 
principles of natural justice. It is vehemently pleaded that the impugned order is 
against the terms and conditions of the RFP and the decision of debarment has 
been taken in haste and the formality of issuance of show cause notice was done 
only after the decision of the debarment was taken. It is vehemently argued that 
the respondent No.2 while debarring the petitioner by issuing the order dated 15-
6-2021 did not follow the provisions contained in the RFP and misinterpreted the 
clauses as well. The respondent No.2 also ignored the fact that it was not in dispute 
that it was not a concluded contract, as the work was not awarded to the petitioner. 
Thus, the question of commission of any breach of the terms and conditions of the 
concluded contract also does not arise. It is argued that debarring the petitioner 
from participating in future tenders for two years was that the CV submitted by 
Mr. Akhil Khare by the lead partner - M/s K & J Projects Private Limited of the 
petitioner in association with the petitioner for the subject work, had shown that 
Mr. Akhil Khare was working with the petitioner since September, 2011. Whereas 
the CV of Mr. Akhil Khare was submitted by a company - M/s URS Scott Wilson 
India Private Limited in association with the petitioner for :MPRDC SDV-V 
MPDR-II SP Package - I Bhopal Projhect” shows that Mr. Akhil Khare had 
worked with M/s Stanley Consultant Inc. from July 2010 to August, 2012; M/s 
STUP Consultancy Private Limited from September, 2012 to November, 2015; 
and M/s Consultancy Engineering Group from December, 2020 till date. It is 
contended that Mr. Akhil Khare was working simultaneously in two different 
projects at different locations and the said fact was known to the petitioner but he 
suppressed the said fact. Therefore, taking recourse of Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of 
Section 2 of the RFP, the petitioner was debarred, whereas there was no breach of 
Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of Section 2 of the RFP, as the petitioner has already submitted 
all the informations pertaining to Key Personnel, Mr. Akhil Khare for the post of 

by the petitioner. The respondent No.2 also debarred Mr. Akhil Khare, Key 
Personnel for the post of SQS in the instant Project, vide order dated 15-6-2021.
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15. It is argued that the impugned order suffers from gross non-application of 
mind, as even if the said Key Personnel's experience was not found to be correct, 
then the said CV could have been ignored and zero mark could have been given to 
the petitioner for consideration of the qualification as per the Data Sheet Remark- 
2. It is put forth that since the contract itself was never concluded and, therefore, 
the respondent No.2 had no authority to invoke Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of Section 2 of 
the RFP. Lastly it is submitted that debarment of the petitioner from participating 
in the future tenders for a period of 2 years is not only grossly disproportionate to 
the alleged fault attributed, but also grossly punitive, as the petitioner has not 
committed any fault in submitting the requisite information, because as per the 
requirement mentioned in the tender document, the CV of the Key Personnel was 
required to be taken from Infracon Portal, wherein the said Key Personnel Akhil 
Khare had already uploaded the CV.

SQS, as enclosed in the CV and no information supplied by the petitioner was 
found to be incorrect at any stage, enabling the respondents to annul the tender or 
debar the petitioner.

16. The respondents have filed reply in WP-11239-2021 and adopted the 
same in other writ petition (WP-11371-2021). It is stated that the respondents had 
invited tender on 22-9-2020 for the Project which included a total of 87 roads in 10 
divisions of the MPRDC in the State having total length of 4070.88 Kms. The 
Independent Engineer/Consultant was required to independently review 
activities associated with design, design review, during construction, required 
quality assurance and quality control tests and operation and maintenance of the 
Project on behalf of both the MPRDC and Concessionaire, so as to ensure 
compliance of the requirement of the provisions of the Concession Agreement 
and to report to the MPRDC on financial, technical and physical progress of 
implementation aspects of the Project. The total period of contract was 3 years 
which was extendable by a further period of one year. The Request for Proposal 
(RFP) permitted consultants to apply either as a sole firm or as a joint venture with 
upto a total of three partners. In the present case, the petitioner was the lead partner 
and M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. was the associate partner.

17. It is putforth that the format for submitting the certification of the 
qualifications and experience by the candidate as well as the Consultant is enclosed 
with the RFP. Format of Curriculum Vitae (CV) for proposed professional staff 
which clearly shows that the prospective bidder was obligated or required to 
examine and verify the credentials of the professional staff and had to certify that 
the contents of their CV were true and correct.

18. Though the respondents raised preliminary issue regarding availability of 
an alternative remedy of arbitration under Clause 8.2 of the General Conditions of 
Contract (GCC) which prescribes arbitration as a mode of dispute resolution as 
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19. Further, Clause 3.4(vii) mandates that a certification to the effect should 
be furnished by the Consultant that they have checked the qualification and 
experience details submitted by the Key Personnel in their CVs and found the 
same to be correct. It further stipulates that the certification should be made in 
CVs of all Key Personnel after the certification by the candidates. The format of 
CV includes certification to this effect.

per the provisions of the M.P. Madhyastham Adhikaran Adhiniyam, 1983, but 
they did not press the aforesaid ground of availability of an alternative remedy. It 
is submitted that the impugned order of debarment was passed under Clause 
3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP. It is apt to reproduce Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP which 
reads :

“3.4(iv)(b) - Key information should include
years with the firm and degree of responsibility held in 
various assignments. In CV format, at summary, the 
individual shall declare his qualification and total 
experience (in years) against the requirements 
specified in TOR for the position. If any information is 
found incorrect at any stage, action including 
termination and debarment from future MPRDC 
projects upto 5 years may be taken by MPRDC on the 
personnel and the Firm.”

20. Then respondents have raised the objection that there is no challenge to 
the annulment order. It is asseverated that a complaint was received stating inter 
alia, that a false and fabricated CV has been submitted by Shri Akhil Khare, Senior 
Quantity Surveyor-cum-Contract Specialist alleging that Shri Akhil Khare is 
working for URS Scott Wilson India Pvt. Ltd. with Sub-consultant M/s Aicons 
Engineering Pvt. Ltd. in MP District Road-II Sector Project (MPDRIISP) 
Package-I (Bhopal); that on the basis of CV showing employment with M/s CEG 
Engineering Ltd. from December, 2015 onwards; that based on the complaint, a 
show cause notice was issued to the lead partner i.e. the petitioner on 31-03-2021; 
that the petitioner submitted its response to the show cause notice on 7-4-2021 and 
Shri Akhil Khare submitted his response on 12-3-2021; that in the said response, 
the petitioner has not disputed the variance in the CV and has in fact, admitted that 
the variation is minor in nature; and that the Bid Evaluation Committee examined 
the entire matter on 7-5-2021 and observed that Mr. Akhil Khare has worked with 
multiple organizations at the same time and, therefore, recommended that the 
tender awarded to M/s K & J Projects Pvt. Ltd. and M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. 
Ltd. be recalled and action as per Clause 3.4(iv)(b) be taken against them. It is 
argued that in the aforesaid backdrop the tender was annulled by order dated       
11-5-2021. The petitioner has not challenged this order and, therefore, it has 
accepted cancellation of the tender.
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21. The respondents further raised an objection regarding non-participation 
of the petitioner in the Tender No.2021 MPRDC 142220 1. Upon annulment of 
the earlier tender, the respondents issued a new tender on 12-5-2021. As per the 
terms of the tender, the bids were invited from 12-5-2021 till 16-6-2021 and the 
bids were opened on 17-6-2021. But, neither the petitioner nor its associate 
partner i.e. M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. participate in the tender process and, 
therefore, the petitioner cannot seek for a relief for staying or setting aside the 
tender process. It is contended that in absence of taking part in the tender process, 
the petitioner has no locus to challenge the fresh tender. The respondents placed 
reliance on the judgment rendered in Dinesh Dixit vs. State of M.P., 2013 Online 
MP 5471. It is also submitted that the earlier tender was annulled on 11-5-2021. 
The fresh tender was invited on 12-5-2021 and the last date for submission of bids 
was 16-6-2021 and the petitioner was debarred on 15-6-2021. Therefore, if the 
petitioner was desirous to participate in fresh tender, could have submitted its bid 
from 12-5-2021 till 15-6-2021. Since the petitioner failed to participate in the 
fresh tender process, it cannot be said to be affected by its outcome and cannot 
challenge the same before this Court by way of a writ petition.

23. According to the respondents, in fact, the petitioner has admitted that an 
incorrect CV has been submitted and it has attempted to shift the obligation to Mr. 
Akhil Khare. It is submitted that as per the RFP, the CV was required to be 
certified by the consultant and even in the present case, a certificate has been 
given by M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. stating that the CV has been checked 
and found to be correct. Thus, the obligation of submitting a correct CV was on the 
petitioner or its minor partner. Thus, the respondents have duly considered the 
reply submitted by the petitioner as well as M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. and 
Shri Akhil Khare and all of them have been debarred for a period of two years by 
clearly recording that Shri Akhil Khare was working in multiple places. There is 
no illegality in issuance of the impugned order.

22. The respondents vehemently argued that the order of debarment was 
passed as per law, after issuance of a show cause notice and considering the reply 
submitted by the petitioner. It is stated that in view of the recommendation of the 
Bid Evaluation Committee, a show cause notice was issued to the petitioner, M/s 
Aicon Engineering Pvt. Ltd. and to Mr. Akhil Khare on 20-5-2021.In the show 
cause notice it was clearly stated that the petitioner should submit its reply within 
15 days, otherwise appropriate action would be taken as per Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of 
the RFP. The petitioner submitted its response on 25-5-2021 stating that - we wish 
to again submit that we have submitted the CV as available on Infracon portal only 
and not made any change in it. There is no mechanism that we find out regarding 
4-5 years back details of CV submitted by Key Personnel for any other 
assignment. Hence, onus of submission of correct information is on the Key 
Personnel and not on the firm.
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24. To buttress his submissions, the learned counsel for the respondents has 
relied on the judgment of the Apex Court rendered in the case of Kulja Industries 
vs. Chief General Manager, Western Telecom Project, BSNL, (2014) 14 SCC 731. 
According to the respondents the CV submitted by the petitioner's consortium 
was false and fabricated and the onus to submit the correct CVs was on the 
petitioner. Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP specifically provided that, if any 
misappropriation was made, the bidder was liable to be debarred upto 5 years. 
Action of the respondents is in consonance with the RFP. It is submitted that the 
impugned order has been passed after following the principles of natural justice, 
as show cause notice was issued to the petitioner - M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. 
Ltd. and to Shri Akhil Khare. They submitted their respective responses and after 
considering the same, three orders debarring them have been issued on 15-6-
2021. The respondents submitted that the bid was annulled due to the fact that the 
petitioner submitted a false and fabricated CV. According to them, it has been   
admitted by the petitioner as well as M/s Aicons that the CV of Shri Akhil Khare 
has variances and, therefore, the action has been taken as per Clause 3.4(iv) (b) of 
the RFP.

26. We have heard the learned counsel for the parties and bestowed our 
anxious consideration on their respective arguments advanced.

27. The learned counsel for the petitioner submitted that the impugned action 
of debarment could have been taken only after the contract was executed by the 
parties. We are not impressed with the aforesaid contention, as in the present case, 
Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP which has been reproduced in the preceding 
paragraph clearly stipulates that if any false information is supplied then action of 
debarment can be initiated at any stage. Further, as per Clause 3.4(vii) of the RFP, 
a certification to the effect should be furnished by the Consultant that they have 
checked the qualifications and experience details submitted by the Key Personnel 
in their CVs and found the same to be correct. This clarification has to be made in 
the CVs of all key personnel after the certification by the candidate. The format of 
CV includes certification to this effect. The format for submitting the certification 
of the qualifications and experience by the candidate as well as consultant is 
enclosed with the RFP. Format of CV for proposed professional staff clearly 
shows that the prospective bidder was obligated/required to examine and verify 
the credentials of the professional staff and had to certify that the contents of their 
CV were true and correct.

25. The respondents denied the submission canvassed by the learned counsel 
for the petitioner that an opportunity ought to have been given to the petitioner to 
replace the Key Personnel. The show cause notice clearly states that if the reply is 
not found satisfactory, then action as per Clause 3.4(iv)(b) would be taken. The 
said clause permits for debarment upto a period of 5 years. In the case in hand, 
debarment has been done for a period of two years.
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29. We have discussed the case of the petitioner as well as respondents in a 
greater detail. It is vivid that as per the RFP the bidder was required to certify that 
the contents of CV of the Key Personnel is true and correct and such a certification 
has been given in the present case as well. Thus, since the petitioner's Consultant 
has furnished a false certification, therefore, Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP is 
attracted and the order of debarment has been passed, after giving show cause 
notice to the petitioner to M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. and Shri Akhil Khare.

28. The learned counsel for the petitioner further argued that if the CV was 
incorrect, the same could have been ignored. The said argument also cannot be 
accepted in view of the specific Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP, which clearly 
mandates that if any false information or misrepresentation is done, then 
respondents can debar the said employee as well as the firm that has submitted the 
fabricated CV. It has also been argued that the respondents were required to give 
an opportunity to the petitioner to replace the Key Personnel. In the show cause 
notice, it was clearly mentioned that in the event of failure to file reply to the show 
cause, action as per Clause 3.4(iv)(b) would be taken. The argument of the learned 
counsel for the petitioner that the debarment is grossly disproportionate, is also 
not worth acceptance. As per Clause 3.4(iv)(b) debarment upto a period of 5 years 
can take place. In present case, debarment has been done for a period of two years 
and, therefore, it cannot be said that the order of debarment is disproportionate.

“ We wish to again submit that we have submitted 
the CV as available on Infracon Portal only and not 
made any change in it. There is no mechanism that we 
find out regarding 4-5 years back details of CV 
submitted by Key Personnel for any other assignment. 
Hence, onus of submission of correct information is on 
the key professional and not on the firm.”

31. From the aforesaid reply, it is luminescent that the petitioner has admitted 
that an incorrect CV has been submitted and it has attempted to shift the obligation 
to Mr. Akhil Khare. As per Clause of the RFP, the CV was required to be certified 
by the Consultant and even in the case in hand, a certificate has been given by M/s 
Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. stating that the CV has been checked and found to be 
correct. Thus, the obligation to submit a correct CV was on the petitioner or its 
minor partner.

32. The argument of the learned counsel for the petitioner that the impugned 
order has been passed in violation of principles of natural justice also deserves no 
acceptance. The respondents have issued a show cause notice in clear terms of 
Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP, which was issued to the petitioner M/s Aicons 
Engineering Pvt. Ltd and Shri Akhil Khare and they have submitted their respective 

30. In response to the show cause notice the petitioner has averred as follows :
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34. The learned counsel for the petitioner heavily relied on the judgement 
rendered in the case of Vetindia Pharamaceuticals Limited vs. State of Uttar 
Pradesh and another, (2021) 1 SCC 804. The said judgement would not render 
any assistance to the petitioner in the present case, as the facts of the present case 
are distinguishable and in the case in hand, action for debarment has been taken in 
view of the Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP. In the said case, the allegation made in 
the show cause notice was that the petitioner had supplied misbranded medicines, 
whereas the fact was that the supply of injections had not commenced. In the 
present case, Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP clearly postulates that if any 
information is found incorrect, action including termination and debarment from 
future MPRDC projects upto 5 years may be taken by MPRDC.

responses. After considering the same, the orders of debarment were issued from 
16-6-2021. The show cause notice was issued on 20-5-2021; reply thereto was 
submitted on 25-5-2021; and the order of debarment was issued on 15-6-2021. 
Thus, there is no illegality in the decision-making process. The Bid Evaluation 
Committee returned the finding that action under Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP 
should be taken. Thereafter, the decision was taken on 7-5-2021. Thus, the 
contention of the petitioner that the decision was taken on 7-5-2021 per se has no 
merit. The bid was annulled owing to the fact that the petitioner submitted a false 
and fabricated CV. It has been admitted by the petitioner as well as M/s Aicons 
Engineering Pvt. Ltd. that the CV of Shri Akhil Khare has variances and, 
therefore, action has been taken as per Clause 3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP.

33. The learned counsel for the respondents placed reliance on the judgment 
rendered in the case of Kulja Industries (supra) and also in Gorkha Security 
Services vs. Government (NCT of Delhi) and others, (2014) 9 SCC 105, to 
substantiate his submission that the order of debarment/blacklisting has been 
passed after issuing a show cause notice and considering the reply to show cause 
submitted by the petitioner. Thus, there is compliance of the principle of natural 
justice.

35. The allegations in the show cause notice are that the CVs of Shri Akhil 
Khare was submitted by M/s Scott Wilson India Pvt. Ltd. with sub-consultant M/s 
Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. and other is submitted by M/s K & J Projects Pvt. 
Ltd. in association with M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd. the details of work are 
not matching with each other from September 2011 and the date of submission of 
CV. Therefore, the MPRDC is of the view to take action as per Clause 3.4(b) 
Section 2 of RFP document. In the impugned order it has been recorded that in 
view of above paras, it is clear that overlapping period of employment of Mr. 
Akhil Khare was suppressed by M/s K & J Projects Pvt. Ltd. in association with 
M/s Aicons Engineering Pvt. Ltd.
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36. The argument advanced on behalf of the petitioner that as per remark 2 the 
petitioner could have been permitted to replace the Key Personnel or the CV of 
Akhil Khare could have been awarded zero mark, is also not worth acceptance, 
because the remark clearly states that this provision is applicable only till the 
opening of the financial bid. In the present case, the financial bid was opened on 
16-02-2021 and the complaint was received on 18- 02-2021. Therefore, it was 
crystal clear that there was misrepresentation and suppression of material facts as 
well.

M.P. ROAD DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION …Petitioner

37. The action of debarment of the petitioner is in conformity with Clause 
3.4(iv)(b) of the RFP, wherein it has been specifically provided that if any 
information is found incorrect at any stage, action including termination and 
debarment from future MPRDC projects upto 5 year will be taken. In view of the 
said clause, action should have been taken even prior to execution of the contract. 
A reference may be made to the the decision rendered in the case of Nova Steel 
(India) vs. MCD, (1995) 3 SCC 334.

38. We have confined our judicial scrutiny only to the decision-making 
process and we do not perceive any illegality or arbitrariness in the decision taken 
by the respondents in passing the order impugned in the instant petitions.

39. In view of our preceding analysis, we do not find any illegality in the 
impugned order and the writ petitions being sans substratum, are dismissed. 
There shall be no any order as to costs.

Petition dismissed

I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2072 (DB)
WRIT PETITION

Before Mr. Justice Mohammad Rafiq, Chief Justice &
Mr. Justice Vijay Kumar Shukla

WP No. 11783/2021 (Jabalpur) decided on 3 September, 2021

A. Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 16 & 34 –  
Scope & Jurisdiction – Held – Once if Arbitral Tribunal takes a decision to 
reject the plea referred u/S 16(2) or 16(3), it shall continue with arbitral 
proceedings and make an arbitral award – It cannot be said that aggrieved 
party has been left remediless against rejection of his objection regarding 
jurisdiction of Tribunal, the only thing is that its remedy has been deferred 

Vs.

THE MINISTRY OF ROAD, TRANSPORT AND …Respondents
HIGHWAYS (MORT & H) & anr.
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x- ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk,¡ 16¼2½] 34 o 
37 ,oa ek/;LFke~ vf/kdj.k vf/kfu;e] e-Á- ¼1983 dk 29½] /kkjk 7&A & fookn 
dk U;k;fu.kZ;u & vf/kfu;e dh iz;ksT;rk &

C. Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Sections 16(2), 34 
& 37 and Madhyastham Adhikaran Adhiniyam, M.P. (29 of 1983), Section 7-A – 
Adjudication of Dispute – Applicability of Act – Held – If despite existence of 
Arbitration Tribunal under the Act of 1983, parties have agreed for 
arbitration in accordance with ICADR Rules and Arbitration Act and 
consciously did not mention in agreement about existence of Arbitration 
Tribunal established under Act of 1983, which then was already in existence, 
petitioner cannot be permitted now to raise this plea.  (Para 14 & 15)

d- ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 16 o 34 & O;kfIr 
o vf/kdkfjrk & 

till stage of Section 34 of the Act – No infirmity in Tribunal's order – Petition 
dismissed.  (Paras 19, 20 & 24)

 B. Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 16 & 
37(2) – Held – It is evident from Section 37(2) that it purposely does not 
provide for an appeal against an order of Arbitral Tribunal rejecting the plea 
referred u/S 16(2) or 16(3) – Plea of petitioner jurisdiction or that proper 
notice of appointment of arbitrator was not given, may only be available to it 
as ground of challenge to the award if eventually it is passed against it. 

(Para 20)

[k- ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 16 o 37¼2½ & 
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E. Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 11(6) – 
Aims & Objects – Held – This Act is a self contained code dealing with every 
aspect of arbitration – The legislative policy in consolidating all the laws 
relating to domestic arbitration, international commercial arbitration, 
enforcement of foreign arbitral awards is aimed at ensuring not only speedy 
disposal of arbitration cases but also timely execution of awards.  (Para 15)

?k- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226@227 ,oa ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e 
¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 11¼6½ o 37 & gLr{ksi dh O;kfIr &

Mohan Sausarkar, for the respondent No. 1. 

Cases referred:

 AC No. 21/2014 decided on 21.07.2015, SLP No. 10676/2018 decided on 
04.05.2018 (Supreme Court), (2021) SCC Online SC 8, (2020) 15 SCC 706, 1994 
SCC Online 4, (2017) 2 MPLJ 681, (2011) 13 SCC 261, (2012) 3 SCC 495, (2008) 
7 SCC 487, (2011) 8 SCC 333, 2019 SCC Online SC 1154, (2005) 8 SCC 618, 
(2002) 2 SCC 388, (2011) 14 SCC 337.

Purushaindra Kaurav, A.G. with Aditya Khandekar for the petitioner. 

Ranjeet Kumar with Akshay Sapre, for the respondent No. 2.

D. Constitution – Article 226/227 and Arbitration and Conciliation 
Act (26 of 1996), Section 11(6) & 37 – Scope of Interference – Apex Court 
concluded that the legislative object of enacting the consolidated Act is to 
minimize judicial intervention while the matter is in process of arbitration – 
Once arbitration has commenced in Arbitral Tribunal, parties have to wait 
until award is pronounced, however right of appeal is available to them u/S 
37 even at an early stage. (Para 16)

M- ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 11¼6½ & y{; o 
mn~ns'; & 
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O R D E R

The Order of the Court was passed by :
MOHAMMAD RAFIQ, CHIEF JUSTICE, J. :- This writ petition has been filed by 
M.P. Road Development Corporation challenging the order dated 29.12.2020 
passed by the Arbitral Tribunal which is in seisin over the dispute arising out of the 
concession agreement executed between the petitioner and the Respondent No.2 
on 25.1.2021 to augment the existing road from km 2229/10 to km 140/6 
approximately 89.300 kms on the Rewa to MP/UP Border section of the National 
Highway No.7 by four laning on design, build, finance, operate and transfer 
(DBFOT) basis on the terms and conditions set forth therein. By the aforesaid 
order, the application filed by the petitioner on 24.12.2020 under Section 16 of the 
Arbitration and conciliation Act, 1996 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act of 
1996” for short) contending that the dispute falls within the definition of 'works 
contract' over which the Arbitral Tribunal constituted under the Madhya Pradesh 
Madhyastham Adhikaran Adhiniyam, 1983 (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Adhiniyam of 1983” for short) would have exclusive jurisdiction and therefore, 
the learned Arbitral Tribunal has no jurisdiction to entertain the same, has been 
rejected.

2. The petitioner is a Company incorporated under the Indian Companies 
Act, fully owned by the State Government having its head office at Bhopal. The 
agreement in question was executed between the petitioner and the Respondent 
No.2. Upon a dispute having been arisen between them, the Respondent No.2 
invoked the Arbitration Clause No.44.3 of the Concession Agreement and 
appointed Hon'ble Mr. Justice Vikramjit Sen, Former Judge of the Supreme Court 
of India as its nominee arbitrator. The petitioner instead of appointing its arbitrator, 
raised a dispute that the matter is required to be adjudicated by the Arbitration 
Tribunal constituted under the Adhiniyam of 1983. Since the petitioner failed to 
appoint arbitrator as per Clause 44.3.2, the International Centre for Alternative 
Dispute Resolution, New Delhi having been empowered under Clause 44.3.1 of 
the Agreement by invoking Rule 5 of the ICADR Rules, appointed Shri Amarjit 
Singh Chandhiok as its nominee arbitrator. Both the arbitrators then nominated 
Hon'ble Mr. Justice A. K. Sikri, former Judge of Supreme Court of India as the 
Presiding Arbitrator. The petitioner thereafter filed an application before the 
Arbitral Tribunal under Section 16 of the Act of 1996 contending that it has no 
jurisdiction to decide the dispute between the parties and also contending that 
since the dispute between the parties under the Concession Agreement falls 
within the definition of 'works contract', therefore, in view of Clause 44.4 of the 
Concession Agreement, Madhya Pradesh Arbitration Tribunal constituted under 
the Adhiniyam of 1983 would have the exclusive jurisdiction to entertain the 
dispute. The learned Arbitral Tribunal by impugned order dated 29.12.2020 
dismissed the said application. Hence this writ petition.
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3. We have heard learned counsel for the parties.

4. Shri Purushaindra Kaurav, learned Advocate General referring to 
definition of 'works contract' in Section 2(1)(i) of the Adhiniyam of 1983 
contended that the essential elements for any work to be termed as a 'works 
contract' is that the work must be for construction, repair or maintenance of a road 
and must be executed by the State or its Corporation. This provision nowhere 
provides that the State or its Corporation must be the owner of the said work. It 
further clarifies that even when there is no State support agreement, the work 
would still fall within the definition of works contract. Learned Advocate General 
argued that Section 5 of the National Highway Act provides it shall be the 
responsibility of the Central Government to develop and maintain in proper repair 
all national highways, but the Central Government may, by notification in the 
Gazette, direct that any function in relation to development or maintenance of any 
national highway, shall, subject to such conditions, if any, as may be specified in 
the notification, also be exercisable by the Government of the State within which 
the national highway is situated or by any officer or authority subordinate to the 
Central Government or to the State Government. It is argued that the Ministry of 
Shipping, Road Transport and Highways by notification dated 4.8.2005 directed 
that the functions in relation to the execution of works pertaining to some of the 
National Highways including the National Highway No.7, would be exercisable 
by the State Government.

5. Learned Advocate General submitted that Clause 2.1(ix) of the 
Memorandum of Understanding executed between the State Government and the 
Central Government on 30.9.2009 clearly mandates the State Government to 
ensure effective and efficient implementation of the project as per the terms of the 
concession agreement and discharge all the obligations, duties and functions of 
the NHAI in accordance with the concession agreement provided, however, the 
Authority shall obtain prior written consent of the Central Government before 
issuing any termination notice of the concession agreement or for making any 
change in the scope of work under the concession agreement, payment thereunder 
is to be reimbursed by the Central Government or for issuing any order that has the 
effect of increasing the concession period under the concession agreement. It is 
submitted that the concession agreement for four laning of Rewa-MP/UP border 
(NH-7) was executed with Respondent No.2-M/s Vindhyachal Expressway 
Private Ltd. on 25.1.2012 in which the concession has been awarded by the M.P. 
Road Development Corporation. Learned Advocate General argued that this 
Court in Arbitration Case No.21/2014 (M/s Highway Infrastructure Vs. Union of 
India) decided on 21.7.2015 has in the context of similar controversy clearly 
observed that the dispute between the petitioner and any person party to the works 
contract, shall be adjudicated only by the Arbitration Tribunal constituted under 
the Adhiniyam of 1983. Clause 44.4 of the agreement would be attracted in the 
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present situation and not Clause 44.3. Clause 44.4 clearly provides that in the 
event of constitution of a statutory Regulatory Authority or Commission with 
powers to adjudicate upon disputes between the Concessionaire, all such 
disputers shall be adjudicated upon by such Regulatory Authority or Commission 
in accordance with the applicable law and all reference to dispute resolution 
procedure shall be construed accordingly. This provision, according to the learned 
Advocate General, has been interpreted by this Court in Arbitration Case 
No.5/2016 - M/s Concast Ambha Road Projects Private Ltd. Vs. M.P. Road 
Development Corporation.

6. Learned Advocate General argued that comparative analysis of Clause 
44.3 which relates to arbitration and Clause 44.4 which relates to adjudication by 
the Regulatory Statutory body, elicits that remedy of arbitration under Clause 
44.3, can be availed only in the event there is no statutory body constituted to 
adjudicate between the rival parties. In case of constitution and functioning of the 
said statutory body, the parties have expressly agreed for taking recourse before 
the Statutory Tribunal under clause 44.4 for adjudication of disputes arising out of 
the agreement in question to the exclusion of Clause 44.3. It is argued that the M.P. 
Arbitration Tribunal has in this connection been constituted under the provisions 
of Adhiniyam of 1983 and it is functional since long, having power to adjudicate 
reference made to it in shape of disputes relating to work contract awarded by the 
State or any of its functionaries. The petitioner-corporation is a functionary of the 
State of M.P. and the contract in question pertains to work for development of 
Ambha - Pinhat- Manpur- Rameshwar - Nadigon - Seondha - Satanbada - Narwar 
major district road on BOT (Annuity) basis and squarely falls within the 
expression “works contract” as defined in Section 2(1)(i) of the Adhiniyam of 
1983. Therefore, the remedy of the respondent No.2 would be to approach the 
statutory Tribunal by filing a reference under Section 7-A of the Adhiniyam of 
1983.

7. Learned Advocate General has referred to the order of Supreme Court 
passed in SLP No.10676/2018 (M/s ARSS Damoh Hirapur Vs. M.P. Road 
Development Corporation) decided on 4.5.2018 to argue that the Supreme Court 
was therein pleased to transfer the proceedings pending before the Arbitrator to 
the Arbitration Tribunal under the Adhiniyam of 1983. Similarly, this Court in 
W.P. No.16194/2018 (M.P. Road Development Corporation Vs. M/s Nila 
Construction Company Ltd.) following the aforesaid order of the Supreme Court, 
was also persuaded to transfer the arbitration proceedings to the Arbitration 
Tribunal under the Adhiniyam of 1983. Learned Advocate General sought to 
distinguish the cited judgment of the Supreme Court in the case of Bhaven 
Construction Vs. Executive Engineer, (2021) SCC Online SC 8 and contended 
that the argument that once the Arbitral Tribunal decides the application filed 
under Section 16 of the Act of 1996, remedy of the aggrieved party there against 
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8. Learned Advocate General referring to Section 7 of the Adhiniyam of 
1983 argued that it provides that either party to a works contract shall irrespective 
of the fact whether the agreement contains an arbitration clause or not, refer in 
writing the dispute to the Tribunal under the Adhiniyam of 1983, which is having 
overriding effect over the Act of 1996. The present like dispute was dealt with by 
the Supreme Court in VA Tech Escher Wyass Flovel Ltd. Vs. M.P. SEB, reported in 
(2011) 13 SCC 261 wherein it was held that provisions of the Adhiniyam of 1983 
would apply even if there is no arbitration agreement. But if there was an express 
arbitration agreement after the Act of 1996 came into force, the provisions of 
Adhiniyam of 1983 shall be taken to have been impliedly repealed. However, 
correctness of the judgment of Supreme Court in VA Tech Escher Wyass Flovel 
Ltd. (supra) was doubted in M.P. Rural Road Development Authority Vs. L. G. 
Chaudhary Engineers & Contractors reported in (2012) 3 SCC 495 holding that 

would be only under Section 34 of the Act of 1996, is wholly misconceived. The 
aforesaid judgment is not applicable to the present case as the agreement in that 
case was for manufacture and supply of bricks and the Supreme Court observed 
that the contract for manufacturing simpliciter was not a works contract and for 
that reason, the Court went on to say that the question requires contractual 
interpretation. In the present case, the contract is for construction and 
maintenance of a road which beyond doubt simpliciter falls within the definition 
of a works contract. Another judgment of the Supreme Court in Deep Industries 
Vs. Oil and National Gas Corporation reported in (2020) 15 SCC 706 relied on 
behalf of the respondent No.2 also does not bar the jurisdiction of this Court. Both 
the judgments do not rule out the exceptions to the general rule that the writ 
jurisdiction of this Court under Article 226 and 227 of the Constitution of India 
cannot be curtailed atleast in matters where impugned order passed during arbitral 
proceedings is lacking in inherent jurisdiction or is founded on bad faith. Relying 
on the judgment of Calcutta High Court in the case of State of West Bengal Vs. Sk. 
Isha Ali reported in 1994 SCC Online 4, the learned Advocate General argued that 
the 'bad faith' in that case has been held to mean something opposite to bona fide 
and the good faith means generally implying or involving actual or constructive 
fraud, or a design to mislead or deceive another, or a neglect or refusal to fulfill 
some duty or some contractual obligation, not prompted by an honest mistake, as 
to one's rights or duties but by some interested or sinister motive. Citing from the 
judgment of the Full Bench of this Court in the case of Viva Highways Ltd. Vs. 
M.P. Road Development Corporation Ltd. reported in (2017) 2 MPLJ 681, the 
learned Advocate General argued that this Court held therein that if an agreement 
by whatever name called, falls within the definition of “works contract” and the 
difference between the parties is covered within the definition of 'dispute' as 
defined under the Adhiniyam of 1983, it has to be referred for adjudication to the 
Arbitration Tribunal constituted under Section 3 thereof.
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judgment in VA Tech Escher Wyass Flovel Ltd. (supra) was per incuriam. It was 
held that Section 2(4) of the Act of 1996 saves other inconsistent legislations and 
hence the Adhiniyam of 1983 shall prevail over the Act of 1996 in respect of 
disputes arising out of a “works contract.” The Supreme Court held that it is clear 
from the statutory provisions of the Adhiniyam of 1983 that the parties' choice of 
Arbitral Tribunal is not there. Relying on the judgment of the Supreme Court in 
the case of State of M.P. Vs. Anshuman Shukla reported in (2008) 7 SCC 487 it was 
argued that the Supreme Court while referring to the Adhiniyam of 1983 and 
dealing with the nature of the Arbitral Tribunal constituted under the said Act held 
that the said Act was a special Act and provides for compulsory arbitration. 
Section 14 of the Adhiniyam of 1983 specifically provides that the award can be 
challenged under special circumstances and Section 17 provides for finality of the 
award, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any other law 
relating to arbitration. Learned Advocate General, therefore, prayed that the 
impugned order passed by the learned Arbitral Tribunal is liable to be set aside and 
the dispute pending between the parties before the said Tribunal deserves to be 
transferred to the Arbitration Tribunal constituted under the provisions of 
Adhiniyam of 1983. Learned Advocate General argued that the ICADR has 
appointed nominee Arbitrator of the petitioner without any notice to it.

9. Per contra, Shri Ranjeet Kumar, learned Senior Counsel opposed the writ 
petition and submitted that the writ petition, filed under Article 226 of the 
Constitution of India, against the impugned order of Arbitral Tribunal, is not 
maintainable. It is argued that that the Ministry of Road, Transport and Highways 
(MORT & H) in terms of Section 5 of the National Highways Act, 1956 and Rule 
2(d) of the National Highways Rules, 1957 has merely appointed the M.P. Road 
Development Corporation as its executing agency in relation to the present 
project. The Concession Agreement dated 25.1.2012 was signed by the petitioner 
for and on behalf of the Respondent No.1. Article 44 of the said Concession 
Agreement provides the dispute resolution mechanism. As certain disputes arose 
between the parties, the Respondent No.2 invoked Clause 44 of the said 
Concession Agreement. Since the dispute could not be resolved through 
conciliation, the Respondent No.2 was constrained to invoke arbitration under 
Clause 44.3 of the agreement. Finally, the Arbitral Tribunal was constituted and 
the parties including the petitioner submitted to the jurisdiction to the said 
Tribunal. Learned Senior Counsel argued that Clause 44.3 of the Concession 
Agreement clearly provides that in case of any dispute, which could not be 
resolved amicably, the parties could invoke arbitration, which shall be held in 
accordance with the rules of Arbitration of International Centre for Alternative 
Dispute Resolution, New Delhi (ICADR) and shall be subject to the provisions of 
the Act of 1996. It is argued that despite existence of the Arbitral Tribunal 
constituted under the Adhiniyam of 1983, when the parties with open eyes agreed 
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for the arbitration under the aegis of ICADR in terms of the Act of 1996, the 
petitioner cannot be now allowed to resile from its stand. It is argued that the 
learned Arbitral Tribunal has rightly dismissed the application filed under Section 
16 of the Act of 1996 by the petitioner on 24.12.2020, by the impugned order 
dated 29.12.2020 and thereafter the learned Arbitral Tribunal continued with the 
arbitration proceedings in terms of Section 16(5) of the Act of 1996.

10. Relying on the judgment of Supreme Court in the case of Fuerst Day 
Lawson Ltd. Vs. Jindal Exports Ltd., (2011) 8 SCC 333, Shri Ranjeet Kumar, 
learned Senior Counsel argued that the Act of 1996 is a self-contained code and it 
carries with it, a negative import that only such acts as are mentioned in the Act, 
are permissible to be done and acts or things, not mentioned therein, are not 
permissible to be done. Section 5 of the Act of 1996 provides that notwithstanding 
anything contained in any other law for the time being in force, in matters 
governed by Part I of the Act, no judicial authority shall intervene except where so 
provided in this Part. Section 16 of the Act of 1996 provides for the competence of 
the Arbitral Tribunal to rule on its jurisdiction. Learned Senior Counsel argued 
that in the legislative scheme of Section 16 if the Arbitral Tribunal decides to 
reject the objection as to its jurisdiction raised under Section 16, then it will 
continue with the arbitral proceedings and will finally make an award and the 
remedy of the party aggrieved by such award is to challenge the same under 
Section 34 of the Act of 1996. Referring to Section 34 of the Act of 1996, Shri 
Ranjeet Kumar, learned Senior Counsel argued that legislation in its wisdom has 
provided the grounds of challenge at the stage of Section 34, which includes 
jurisdictional challenge as well. A combined reading of Sections, 5, 16 and 34 of 
the Act of 1996 makes it clear that once the jurisdictional challenge under Section 
16 has been rejected, the petitioner has to wait till the stage of Section 34 
proceedings. The petitioner would then have an efficacious remedy available 
against the dismissal of its jurisdictional challenge. The present writ petition filed 
under Article 226 of the Constitution of India is therefore not maintainable. In 
order to buttress his argument, learned Senior Counsel placed reliance on the 
judgments of the Supreme Court in Bhaven Construction (supra), Deep Industries 
Limited (supra), Sterling Industries Vs. Jayprakash Associates Ltd. and others 
reported in 2019 SCC Online SC 1154 and judgment of the Constitution Bench of 
the Supreme Court in SBP and Co. Vs. Patel Engineering Ltd., (2005) 8 SCC 618. 
Learned Senior Counsel argued the judgment of the Supreme Court in Bhaven 
Construction (supra) specifically covers the facts situation of the present case. In 
that case also the dispute was pertaining to a “works contract”, with the Gujarat 
Public Works Contracts Disputes Arbitration Tribunal Act, 1992 having similar 
remedy of arbitration before the Arbitral Tribunal under that enactment but the 
Supreme Court negatived the objection holding that this is a question that requires 
contractual interpretation, and is a matter of evidence, especially when both the 
parties have taken contradictory stands regarding the issue.
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11. Shri Ranjeet Kumar, learned Senior Counsel argued that the petitioner's 
argument of bad faith is completely unsubstantiated and without any merit. 
Neither in the writ petition nor in the rejoinder the term 'bad faith' has ever been 
once used by the petitioner and no pleadings regarding the same have been made. 
It is denied that the appointment of Arbitrator has been made without reference to 
the petitioner and therefore is bad in law. It is submitted that Clause 44.3.1 of the 
Concession Agreement provides that the arbitration shall be held in accordance 
with the Rules of ICADR. Rule 5 of the ICADR Rules provides that in case a party 
fails to appoint an arbitrator within thirty days from receipt of request from the 
other party, the appointment shall be made by ICADR. The Respondent No.2 
issued notice invoking arbitration clause on 6.7.2020. The petitioner did not 
appoint any arbitrator on its behalf within thirty days and therefore ICADR 
exercising its power under Rule 5 appointed Shri Amarjit Singh Chandhok, Senior 
Advocate, as arbitrator on behalf of the petitioner. It is submitted that Clause 44.4 
of the Concession Agreement clearly contemplates a future situation. Clause 44.3 
and 44.4 nowhere mentions about the M.P. Madhyasthan Act or the Arbitral 
Tribunal constituted thereunder for resolution of the dispute between the parties. 
On the contrary, the parties agreed for arbitration under ICADR Rules and the Act 
of 1996. The learned Arbitral Tribunal by the impugned order has therefore, 
rightly rejected the application filed by the petitioner in this behalf. The entire 
funding of the project on Built, Operate and Transfer basis of the national highway 
is covered by the National Highways Act, 1956 relatable to Entry 23 of the 
Seventh Schedule of the Constitution of India and that is also the stand of the 
Ministry of Road, Transport and Highways.

13. Let us first of all begin with analyzing Clause 44 of the agreement 
executed between the parties which provides for dispute resolution. Parties are at 
variance with regard to interpretation of this clause and also on the question 
whether Clause 44.3 would be attracted or Clause 44.4 would apply. While the 
learned Advocate General by heavily relying on Clause 44.4 has contended that 
since it makes specific reference to a statutory Regulatory Authority or 
Commission with powers to adjudicate upon disputes between the 
Concessionaire and the Authority, the Arbitration Tribunal constituted under the 
Adhiniyam of 1983 shall be the only forum having power to arbitrate upon the 
disputes between the parties. Learned Senior Counsel appearing for the 
respondent No.2 has however on the contrary submitted that Clause 44.4 is meant 
to be applicable for a future situation which is evident from its wordings that “in 
the event of constitution of a statutory Regulatory Authority or Commission”, “all 
disputes arising after such constitution” shall be referred to it. The intention of the 
parties was thus never intended to submit to the jurisdiction of the arbitral tribunal 

12. We have given our anxious consideration to rival submissions, perused the 
material on record and studied the cited precedents.
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44.2 Conciliation

44.1.2 The Parties agree to use their best efforts for resolving all 
Disputes arising under or in respect of this Agreement promptly, 
equitably and in good faith, and further agree to provide each 
other with reasonable access during normal business hours to all 
non-privileged records, information and data pertaining to any 
Dispute.

constituted under the Adhiniyam of 1983. If that were to be so, nothing prevented 
them from specifically mentioning so. According to him, Clause 44.3 which 
specifically provides for reference of dispute for arbitration under the aegis of 
ICADR, the arbitral tribunal has rightly been constituted. In order to meaningfully 
appreciate the rival submissions, we deem it appropriate to reproduced Clause 44 
of the concession agreement executed between the parties, which reads as under:-

44.1 Dispute resolution

In the event of any Dispute between the Parties, either Party 
may call upon the Independent Engineer to mediate and assist 
the Parties in arriving at an amicable settlement thereof. Failing 
mediation by the Independent Engineer or without the 
intervention of the Independent Engineer, either Party may 
require such Dispute to be referred to the Managing Director, 
MPRDC, Bhopal of the Authority and the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of the Concessionaire for amicable 
settlement, and upon such reference, the said persons shall meet 
no later than 7 (seven) days from the date of reference to discuss 
and attempt to amicably resolve the Dispute. If such meeting 
does not take place within the 7 (seven) day period or the 
Dispute is not amicably settled within 15 (fifteen) days of the 
meeting or the Dispute is not resolved as evidenced by the 
signing of written terms of settlement within 30 (thirty) days of 
the notice in writing referred to in Clause 44.1.1 or such longer 
period as may be mutually agreed by the Parties, either Party 
may refer the Dispute to arbitration in accordance with the 
provisions of Clause 44.3.

DISPUTE RESOLUTION
“ARTICLE 44 

44.1.1 Any dispute, difference or controversy of whatever nature 
howsoever arising under or out of or in relation to this 
Agreement (including its interpretation) between the Parties, 
and so notified in writing by either Party to the other Party (the 
“Dispute”) shall, in the first instance, be attempted to be 
resolved amicably in accordance with the conciliation 
procedure set forth in Clause 44.2.
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44.3 Arbitration

44.3.2 There shall be a Board of three arbitrators, of whom each Party 
shall select one, and the third arbitrator shall be appointed by the 
two arbitrators so selected, and in the event of disagreement 
between the two arbitrators, the appointment shall be made in 
accordance with the Rules.

44.3.4 The Concessionaire and the Authority agree that an Award may 
be enforced against the Concessionaire and/or the Authority, as 
the case may be, and their respective assets wherever situated.

44.3.5 This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall remain in full force and effect, pending the Award in any 
arbitration proceedings hereunder.

44.3.1 Any Dispute which is not resolved amicably by conciliation, as 
provided in Clause 44.2, shall be finally decided by reference to 
arbitration by a Board of Arbitrators appointed in accordance 
with Clause 44.3.2. Such arbitration shall be held in accordance 
with the Rules of Arbitration of the International Centre for 
Alternative Dispute Resolution, New Delhi (the “Rules”), or  
such other rules as may be mutually agreed by the Parties, and 
shall be subject to the provisions of the Arbitration Act. The 
venue of such arbitration shall be Bhopal (Madhya Pradesh), and 
the language of arbitration proceedings shall be English. 

44.3.3 The arbitrators shall make a reasoned award (the “Award”). 
Any Award made in any arbitration held pursuant to this Article 
44 shall be final and binding on the Parties as from the date it is 
made, and the Concessionaire and the Authority agree and 
undertake to carry out such Award without delay.

44.4 Adjudication by Regulatory Authority or Commission

In the event of constitution of a statutory Regulatory Authority or 
Commission with powers to adjudicate upon disputes between the 
Concessionaire and the Authority, all Disputes arising after such 
constitution shall, instead of reference to arbitration under 
Clause 44.3, be adjudicated upon by such Regulatory Authority 
or Commission in accordance with the Applicable Law and all 
references to Dispute Resolution Procedure shall be construed 
accordingly. For the avoidance of doubt, the Parties hereto agree 
that the adjudication hereunder shall not be final and binding 
until an appeal against such adjudication has been decided by an 
appellate tribunal or High Court, as the case may be, or no such 
appeal has been preferred within the time specified in the 
Applicable Law.”
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15 The Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996 was brought into effect on 
16.08.1996. This Act repealed the Arbitration Act, 1940, the Arbitration (Protocol 
and Convention) Act, 1937 and the Foreign Awards (Recognition and 
Enforcement) Act, 1961. These Acts were replaced by the Arbitration and 
Conciliation Act, 1996 which is based on the United Nations Commission on 
International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) the Model Law on International 
Commercial Arbitration, which is broadly in conformity with the Rules of 
Arbitration of International Chamber of Commerce. This Act is a self contained 
code dealing with every aspect of arbitration. The legislative policy in consolidating 
all the laws relating to domestic arbitration, international commercial arbitration, 
enforcement of foreign arbitral awards is aimed at ensuring not only speedy 
disposal of arbitration cases but also timely execution of the awards. The Supreme 
Court in Fuerst Day Lawson Ltd. (supra) while highlighting that the Arbitration 
Act is a self contained code, held that since Section 37(2) of the Act explicitly 
interdicted second appeals, the appeals filed under Letters Patent would also be so 

14. The contention that according to Clause 44.4 of the Agreement, in the 
event of situation of a statutory Regulatory Authority or Commission with powers 
to adjudicate upon disputes between the Concessionaire and the Authority, all 
Disputes arising after such constitution shall, instead of reference to arbitration 
under Clause 44.3, be adjudicated upon by such Regulatory Authority or Commission 
in accordance with the law, is noted to be rejected as undeniably, the very same 
agreement contains Clause 44.3.1 which provides that any dispute, which could 
not be resolved amicably by conciliation, as provided in Clause 44.2, shall be 
finally decided by reference to arbitration by a Board of Arbitrators appointed in 
accordance with Clause 44.3.2, in accordance with the Rules of Arbitration of the 
International Centre for Alternative Dispute Resolution, New Delhi, subject to the 
provisions of the Arbitration Act and that the venue of such arbitration shall be at 
Bhopal. If despite existence of the Arbitration Tribunal under the Adhiniyam of 
1983, the parties have agreed for arbitration under the aegis of ICADR in 
accordance with the ICADR Rules and the Arbitration Act and consciously did 
not mention about existence of the arbitration tribunal established under the 
Adhiniyam of 1983, which then was already in existence, the petitioner cannot be 
permitted now to raise this plea. Clause 44.4 in any case, can be interpreted to 
cover a future situation as is evident from its wordings that “in the event of 
constitution of a statutory Regulatory Authority or Commission with powers to 
adjudicate upon disputes between the Concessionaire and the Authority, all 
Disputes arising after such constitution”. Had the parties while entering into the 
agreement wanted to refer their future disputes to the Arbitration Tribunal 
constituted under the Adhiniyam of 1983, they would have most certainly 
mentioned about the same in Clause 44.3 or Clause 44.4 rather than wording these 
clauses in the manner they have been formulated.
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interdicted, policy of the legislature being speedy disposal of the arbitration cases. 
The following observations of the Supreme Court in para 89 are apt to quote:-

“89. It is, thus, to be seen that Arbitration Act, 1940, 
from its inception and right through 2004 (in P.S. Sathappan) 
was held to be a self-contained code. Now, if Arbitration Act, 1940 
was held to be a self-contained code, on matters pertaining to 
arbitration, the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996, which 
consolidates, amends and designs the law relating to arbitration 
to bring it, as much as possible, in harmony with the UNCITRAL 
Model must be held only to be more so. Once it is held that the 
Arbitration Act is a self-contained code and exhaustive, then it 
must also be held, using the lucid expression of Tulzapurkar, J., 
that it carries with it "a negative import that only such acts as are 
mentioned in the Act are permissible to be done and acts or 
things not mentioned therein are not permissible to be done". In 
other words, a Letters Patent Appeal would be excluded by the 
application of one of the general principles that where the 
special Act sets out a self-contained code the applicability of the 
general law procedure would be impliedly excluded.”

16. The seven-judge Constitution Bench of the Supreme Court in SBP and 
Co. (supra) while reversing earlier five-judge Constitution Bench judgment in 
Konkan Railway Corpn. Ltd. vs. Rani Construction (P) Ltd., (2002) 2 SCC 388 
held that the power exercised by the Chief Justice of the High Court or the Chief 
justice of India under Section 11(6) of the Arbitration Act is not an administrative 
power but is a judicial power. The Supreme Court in this judgment disapproved 
the practice adopted by some of the High Courts in entertaining challenge to any 
order passed by an Arbitral Tribunal in exercise of power under Article 226 or 227 
of the Constitution of India by observing that the legislative object of enacting the 
consolidated Act is to minimize judicial intervention while the matter is in the 
process of arbitration. We are tempted to quote the following weighty observation 
of the Constitution Bench in paras 45 and 46 of the report:-

“45. It is seen that some High Courts have proceeded on the basis that 
any order passed by an arbitral tribunal during arbitration, would be 
capable of being challenged under Article 226 or 227 of the 
Constitution. We see no warrant for such an approach. Section 37 makes 
certain orders of the arbitral tribunal appealable. Under Section 34, the 
aggrieved party has an avenue for ventilating its grievances against the 
award including any in-between orders that might have been passed by 
the arbitral tribunal acting under Section 16 of the Act. The party 
aggrieved by any order of the arbitral tribunal, unless has a right of 
appeal under Section 37 of the Act, has to wait until the award is passed 
by the Tribunal. This appears to be the scheme of the Act. The arbitral 
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tribunal is, after all, a creature of a contract between the parties, the 
arbitration agreement, even though, if the occasion arises, the Chief 
Justice may constitute it based on the contract between the parties. But 
that would not alter the status of the arbitral tribunal. It will still be a 
forum chosen by the parties by agreement. We, therefore, disapprove of 
the stand adopted by some of the High Courts that any order passed by 
the arbitral tribunal is capable of being corrected by the High Court 
under Article 226 or 227 of the Constitution. Such an intervention by the 
High Courts is not permissible.

“14. What is also important to note is that under Section 29A of the Act 
which was inserted by the Amendment Act, 2016 a time limit was made 
within which arbitral awards must be made, namely, 12 months from the 
date the arbitral tribunal enters upon the reference. Also, it is important 
to note that even so far as Section 34 applications are concerned, Section 
34(6) added by the same amendment states that these applications are to 
be disposed of expeditiously, and in any event, within a period of one 
year from the date on which the notice referred to in sub-section (5) is 
served upon the other parties.

15. Given the aforesaid statutory provision and given the fact that the 
1996 Act repealed three previous enactments in order that there be 
speedy disposal of all matters covered by it, it is clear that the statutory 
policy of the Act is that not only are time limits set down for disposal of 
the arbitral proceedings themselves but time limits have also been set 

17. The Supreme Court in Deep Industries Limited (supra) was examining 
challenge to judgment passed by the Gujarat High Court under Articles 226 and 
227 of the Constitution of India, whereby the judgment of the City Civil Court, 
Ahmedabad passed in appeal filed under Section 37 of the Act of 1996, upholding 
Arbitrator's order, who while deciding the application of the claimant under 
Section 17 of the Act of 1996 stayed the operation of the order of its blacklisting 
for two years holding that the same will operate only if the appellant ultimately 
loses in final arbitration proceedings, was reversed. Reiterating that the policy of 
the legislation is to ensure timely adjudication of the disputes under the 
Arbitration and Conciliation Act specially after the Amendment Act, 2016, the 
Supreme Court in para 14 and 15 of the judgment observed thus:-

46. The object of minimizing judicial intervention while the matter is in 
the process of being arbitrated upon, will certainly be defeated if the 
High Court could be approached under Article 227 or under Article 226 
of the Constitution against every order made by the arbitral tribunal. 
Therefore, it is necessary to indicate that once the arbitration has 
commenced in the arbitral tribunal, parties have to wait until the award is 
pronounced unless, of course, a right of appeal is available to them under 
Section 37 of the Act even at an earlier stage.”
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18. Taking note of the non obstante clause contained in Section 5 of the Act of 
1996, which provided that “notwithstanding anything contained in any other law, 
in matters that arise under Part I of the Arbitration Act, no judicial authority shall 
intervene except where so provided in this Part” and keeping in view the above 
intendment of legislature behind this, the Supreme Court in Deep Industries 
Limited (supra) in paras 16 and 17 of the report had the following observations to 
make:-

down for Section 34 references to be decided. Equally, in Union of India 
vs. Varindera Constructions Ltd, (2020) 2 SCC 111, dated 17.09.2018, 
disposing of SLP (C) No. 23155/2013, this Court has imposed the self-
same limitation on first appeals under Section 37 so that there be a timely 
resolution of all matters which are covered by arbitration awards.”

17.  This being the case, there is no doubt whatsoever that if petitions 
were to be filed under Articles 226/227 of the Constitution against orders 
passed in appeals under Section 37, the entire arbitral process would be 
derailed and would not come to fruition for many years. At the same 
time, we cannot forget that Article 227 is a constitutional provision 
which remains untouched by the non-obstante clause of Section 5 of the 
Act. In these circumstances, what is important to note is that though 
petitions can be filed under Article 227 against judgments allowing or 
dismissing first appeals under Section 37 of the Act, yet the High Court 
would be extremely circumspect in interfering with the same, taking into 
account the statutory policy as adumbrated by us herein above so that 
interference is restricted to orders that are passed which are patently 
lacking in inherent jurisdiction.”

19. Section 16(2) of the Act of 1996 stipulates that a plea that the arbitral 
tribunal does not have jurisdiction shall be raised not later than the submission of 
the statement of defence; however, a party shall not be precluded from raising 
such a plea merely because that he has appointed, or participated in the 
appointment of, an arbitrator. Sub-section (5) of Section 16 provides that the 
arbitral tribunal shall decide on a plea referred to in subsection (2) or sub-section 
(3) and, where the arbitral tribunal takes a decision rejecting the plea, continue 
with the arbitral proceedings and make an arbitral award. The language employed 
by the Parliament in this sub-section thus makes its intention clear that once if the 

“16.  Most significant of all is the non-obstante clause contained in 
Section 5 which states that notwithstanding anything contained in any 
other law, in matters that arise under Part I of the Arbitration Act, no 
judicial authority shall intervene except where so provided in this Part. 
Section 37 grants a constricted right of first appeal against certain 
judgments and orders and no others. Further, the statutory mandate also 
provides for one bite at the cherry, and interdicts a second appeal being 
filed (See Section 37(2) of the Act).
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arbitral tribunal takes a decision to reject the plea, it shall continue with the 
arbitral proceedings and make an arbitral award. It cannot however be said for this 
that the aggrieved party has been left remediless against the rejection of its 
objection as to the jurisdiction of the arbitral tribunal. The only thing is that its 
remedy has been deferred till the stage of Section 34 of the Act of 1996 arises as is 
evident from sub-section (6) of Section 16 of the Act of 1996 which interalia 
provides that the parties aggrieved by such an arbitral award may make an 
application for setting aside such an arbitral award in accordance with Section 34.

“22.  One other feature of this case is of some importance. As stated 
herein above, on 09.05.2018, a Section 16 application had been 
dismissed by the learned Arbitrator in which substantially the same 
contention which found favour with the High Court was taken up. The 
drill of Section 16 of the Act is that where a Section 16 application is 
dismissed, no appeal is provided and the challenge to the Section 16 
application being dismissed must await the passing of a final award at 
which stage it may be raised under Section 34. What the High Court has 
done in the present case is to invert this statutory scheme by going into 
exactly the same matter as was gone into by the arbitrator in the Section 
16 application, and then decided that the two year ban/blacklisting was 
no part of the notice for arbitration issued on 02.11.2017, a finding 
which is directly contrary to the finding of the learned Arbitrator 
dismissing the Section 16 application. For this reason alone, the 
judgment under appeal needs to be set aside.....”

20. Moreover, intention of the legislature in not providing the appeal against 
the rejection of the application under Section 16(2) is also evident from sub-
section (2) of Section 37, which, vide its sub-clause (a), while providing for an 
appeal to a Court from an order of the arbitral tribunal accepting the plea referred 
to in sub-section (2) or sub-section (3) of Section 16, purposely does not provide 
for an appeal against an order of the arbitral tribunal rejecting the plea referred to 
in sub-section (2) or sub-section (3) of Section 16. Therefore, argument of the 
petitioner that the arbitral tribunal does not have the jurisdiction or for that matter, 
its argument that it was not given proper notice of appointment of the Arbitrator, 
may only be available to it as ground of challenge to the award if eventually the 
same were to be passed against it. The Supreme Court in Deep Industries Limited 
(supra) while adverting to this aspect of the matter made the following useful 
observations:

21.  The Supreme Court in Deep Industries Limited (supra), while approvingly 
quoting para 11 to 16 of the report from the earlier judgment in Nivedita Sharma 
Vs. COAI, (2011) 14 SCC 337, has found the remedy of challenge under Section 
34 to the aggrieved party against the rejection of application under Section 16(2) 
of the Act of 1996 to be efficacious, which paras for the facility of reference, are 
again reproduced hereunder:-
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“... There are three classes of cases in which 
a liability may be established founded upon 

“11. We have considered the respective arguments/ 
submissions. There cannot be any dispute that the power of the High 
Courts to issue directions, orders or writs including writs in the nature of 
habeas corpus, certiorari, mandamus, quo warranto and prohibition 
under Article 226 of the Constitution is a basic feature of the 
Constitution and cannot be curtailed by parliamentary legislation - L. 
Chandra Kumar v. Union of India, (1997) 3 SCC 261. However, it is one 
thing to say that in exercise of the power vested in it under Article 226 of 
the Constitution, the High Court can entertain a writ petition against any 
order passed by or action taken by the State and/or its agency/ 
instrumentality or any public authority or order passed by a quasi 
judicial body/authority, and it is an altogether different thing to say that 
each and every petition filed under Article 226 of the Constitution must 
be entertained by the High Court as a matter of course ignoring the fact 
that the aggrieved person has an effective alternative remedy. Rather, it 
is settled law that when a statutory forum is created by law for redressal 
of grievances, a writ petition should not be entertained ignoring the 
statutory dispensation.

"7... The High Court does not therefore act as a court of appeal 
against the decision of a court or tribunal, to correct errors of 
fact, and does not by assuming jurisdiction under Article 226 
trench upon an alternative remedy provided by statute for 
obtaining relief. Where it is open to the aggrieved petitioner to 
move another tribunal, or even itself in another jurisdiction for 
obtaining redress in the manner provided by a statute, the High 
Court normally will not permit by entertaining a petition under 
Article 226 of the Constitution the machinery created under the 
statute to be bypassed, and will leave the party applying to it to 
seek resort to the machinery so set up."

"11. It is now well recognised that where a right or liability 
is created by a statute which gives a special remedy for 
enforcing it, the remedy provided by that statute only must be 
availed of. This rule was stated with great clarity by Willes, J. in 
Wolverhampton New Waterworks Co. v. Hawkesford (1859) 6 
CBNS 336 : 141 ER 486 in the following passage: (ER p. 495)

12. In Thansingh Nathmal v. Superintendent of Taxes, AIR 1964 
SC 1419, this Court adverted to the rule of self-imposed restraint that the 
writ petition will not be entertained if an effective remedy is available to 
the aggrieved person and observed: (AIR p. 1423, para 7)

13. In Titaghur Paper Mills Co. Ltd. v. State of Orissa, (1983) 2 
SCC 433, this court observed:
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a statute... But there is a third class viz. 
where a liability not existing at common law 
is created by a statute which at the same time 
gives a special and particular remedy for 
enforcing it... The remedy provided by the 
statute must be followed, and it is not competent 
to the party to pursue the course applicable to 
cases of the second class. The form given by the 
statute must be adopted and adhered to.”

14. In Mafatlal Industries Ltd. v. Union of India (1997) 5 SCC 
536, B.P. Jeevan Reddy, J. (speaking for the majority of the larger 
Bench) observed: (SCC p. 607, para 77)

16. It can, thus, be said that this Court has recognised some 
exceptions to the rule of alternative remedy. However, the proposition 
laid down in Thansingh Nathmal v. Superintendent of Taxes (supra) and 
other similar judgments that the High Court will not entertain a petition 
under Article 226 of the Constitution if an effective alternative remedy is 
available to the aggrieved person or the statute under which the action 

15. In the judgments relied upon by Shri Vaidyanathan, which, 
by and large, reiterate the proposition laid down in Baburam Prakash 
Chandra Maheshwari v. Antarim Zila Parishad AIR 1969 SC 556, it has 
been held that an alternative remedy is not a bar to the entertaining of 
writ petition filed for the enforcement of any of the fundamental rights or 
where there has been a violation of the principles of natural justice or 
where the order under challenge is wholly without jurisdiction or the 
vires of the statute is under challenge.

"77. ... So far as the jurisdiction of the High Court under Article 
226 - or for that matter, the jurisdiction of this Court under 
Article 32 - is concerned, it is obvious that the provisions of the 
Act cannot bar and curtail these remedies. It is, however, 
equally obvious that while exercising the power under Article 
226/Article 32, the Court would certainly take note of the 
legislative intent manifested in the provisions of the Act and 
would exercise their jurisdiction consistent with the provisions 
of the enactment."

The rule laid down in this passage was approved by the House of Lords 
in Neville v. London Express Newspapers Ltd. 1919 AC 368 (HL) and 
has been reaffirmed by the Privy Council in Attorney General of 
Trinidad and Tobago v. Gordon Grant and Co. Ltd. 1935 AC 532 (PC) 
and Secy. of State v. Mask and Co. AIR 1940 PC 105. It has also been 
held to be equally applicable to enforcement of rights, and has been 
followed by this Court throughout. The High Court was therefore 
justified in dismissing the writ petitions in limine."
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complained of has been taken itself contains a mechanism for rederssal 
of grievance still holds the field.”

22. The Supreme Court in Bhaven Construction (supra) was dealing with 
somewhat identical case in which a similar stand was taken by the respondents 
that the State of Gujarat has enacted the Gujarat Public Works Contracts Disputers 
Arbitration Tribunal Act, 1992 with the object to provide for the constitution of a 
tribunal to arbitrate disputes arising from works contract to which the State 
Government or a public undertaking is a party. The objection under Section 16(2) 
of the Act of 1996 raised by the respondents questioning jurisdiction of the sole 
arbitrator on that basis was rejected in that case too. Aggrieved thereby, the 
respondent preferred Special Civil Application under Articles 226 and 227 of the 
Constitution before the Single Bench of Gujarat High Court. While the Single 
Bench dismissed the Special Civil Application, the Division Bench revered that 
judgment and allowed the Letters Patent Appeal. The Supreme Court relying on 
the judgment in Deep Industries Limited (supra) and Nivedita Sharma (supra) 
held that “the non-obstante clause is provided to uphold the intention of the 
legislature as provided in the Preamble of to adopt UNCITRAL Model Law and 
Rules, to reduce excessive judicial interference which is not contemplated under 
the Arbitration Act”. The Supreme Court also held that “the Arbitration Act itself 
gives various procedures and forums to challenge the appointment of an 
arbitrator. The framework clearly portrays an intention to address most of the 
issues within the ambit of the act itself, without there being scope for any extra 
statutory mechanism to provide just and fair solutions.” The Supreme Court 
further held that it would be “prudent for a Judge to not exercise discretion to 
allow judicial interference beyond the procedure established under the 
enactment. This power needs to be exercised in exceptional rarity, wherein one 
party is left remediless under the statute or a clear 'bad faith' shown by one of the 
parties. This high standard set by this Court is in terms of the legislative intention 
to make the arbitration fair and efficient”.

23. Even though the learned Advocate General, in the present case, has argued 
that the present matter falls within the exceptions to the general rule that this Court 
under Article 226 and 227 of the Constitution of India can interfere with orders 
“patently lacking in inherent jurisdiction” and also if it suffers from 'bad faith' but 
neither of the arguments has been brought home inasmuch as, as has rightly been 
argued, the petitioner appears to have coined the argument of “patent lack of 
inherent jurisdiction” and the “bad faith” only during the course of arguments as 
none of them find mention either in the application under Section 16(2) filed 
before the Arbitral Tribunal or in the memorandum of writ petition challenging 
rejection thereof or even in the rejoinder to the reply of the respondent No.2. As 
regard various orders of the Supreme Court and this Court cited by the learned 
Advocate General, transferring the proceedings pending before the arbitrator to 
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24. In view of the analysis of the law and the facts made above, we do not find 
any infirmity in the order passed by the learned Arbitral Tribunal and any merit in 
the writ petition. The writ petition is therefore dismissed with no order as to costs.

WP No. 4792/2020 (Jabalpur) decided on 9 September, 2021

the arbitral tribunal under the Adhiniyam of 1983, suffice it to say that in none of 
these orders, Sections 16, 34 and 37 of the Act of 1996 were analyzed and the 
precedents referred to supra, were considered.

Before Mr. Justice Prakash Shrivastava & Mr. Justice Vishal Dhagat
WRIT PETITION 

Petition dismissed

I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2092 (DB)

A. District Court Establishment (Recruitment and Conditions of 
Service) Rules, M.P., 2016, Rule 17(3) and District Court Establishment 
(Recruitment and Conditions of Service) Rules, M.P., 2019, Rule 17(3) – Select 
List/Wait List Candidates – Validity Period of Select/Wait List – Applicability of 
Rules – Though posts were lying vacant, petitioners (wait list candidates) 
were denied appointment on ground that as per Rules of 2019, validity period 
of select list was reduced from 18 months to 12 months and accordingly the 
list has lapsed – Held – Norms of process of selection cannot be changed by 
changing Rules in middle of selection process – Selection process commenced 
as per 2016 Rules, wherein as per Rule 17(3), validity period will be 18 
months – 2019 Rules have not been made retrospective by any express 
provision – Decision of respondents set aside – Petitioners have right to be 
considered for appointment on unfilled posts – Respondents directed 
accordingly – Petitions disposed. (Paras 14, 18 to 23, 27, 29, 30 & 34)

d- ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2016] 
fu;e 17¼3½ ,oa ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2019] 
fu;e 17¼3½ & p;u lwph@izrh{kk lwph ds vH;FkhZ & p;u@izrh{kk lwph dh fof/kekU;rk 
vof/k & fu;eksa dh iz;ksT;rk & 

SHAILESH KUMAR SONWANE …Petitioner

Vs.

STATE OF M.P. & ors.  …Respondents

(Alongwith W.P. Nos. 4801/2020, 4808/2020 & 6675/2020)
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[k- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 226 ,oa ftyk U;k;ky; LFkkiuk ¼HkrhZ ,oa lsok dh 
'krsZa½ fu;e] e-iz-] 2016] fu;e 17¼3½ & p;u lwph dh fof/kekU;rk vof/k & 
eqdnesckth dh vof/k dk viotZu &

C. Service Law – Applicability of Rules – Held – Normal rule is 
that vacancies which arise prior to amended Rules would be governed by 
unamended Rules and in exceptional circumstances, Government can take a 
conscious decision not to fill vacancies under old Rules – In present case, no 
such exceptional circumstances placed on record – Petitioners legitimate 
expections and right of consideration for appointment cannot be taken away.  

B. Constitution – Article 226 and District Court Establishment 
(Recruitment and Conditions of Service) Rules, M.P., 2016, Rule 17(3) – 
Validity Period of Select List – Exclusion of Litigation Period – Held – Validity 
period of 18 months was to expire on 20.03.2020 and writ petition was filed on 
20.02.2020, thus right of petitioners were existing on date of filing petition – 
Act of Court shall prejudice no one – Respondent directed to exclude the 
period from date of filing petition till date of judgment, for calculating 
validity period.  (Paras 31 to 33)

(Paras 24, 27 & 29)

x-  lsok fof/k & fu;eksa dh iz;ksT;rk & 

D. Constitution – Article 14 – Appointment – Rights of Selected 
Candidates – Held – State must give some justifiable and non-arbitrary 
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G. Maxim – “actus curiae neminem gravabit” – Discussed.         

N- lw= & ÞU;k;ky; ds d`R;ksa ds dkj.k fdlh Hkh i{k dks gkfu ugha gksuh 
pkfg, & 

?k- lafo/kku & vuqPNsn 14 & fu;qfDr & p;fur vH;fFkZ;ksa ds vf/kdkj & 

reasons for not filling up the posts – It is not at the whims and fancies of State 
to keep the advertised post vacant when select list is operative, as same would 
run counter to the mandate of Article 14 of Constitution.   (Para 16)

p- lsok fof/k & izrh{kk lwph & vH;fFkZ;ksa ds vf/kdkj & 

 (1997) 8 SCC 488, (1994) Supp. 2 SCC 591, (1999) SCC Online Rajasthan 
241, (1986) 3 SCC 273, (1995) Supp. 2 SCC 230, (2019) 12 SCC 798, (2010) 7 

(Para 33)

F. Service Law – Wait List – Rights of Candidates – Held – A 
candidate in waiting list, as per his position in list, has right to be considered 
for appointment if for any reason the post falls vacant during validity period 
of list – Such right is not a vested right but it is only a right to be considered 
for appointment – Appointing authority can deny appointment for some 
justifiable reason to such candidate. (Para 12)

E. Service Law – Select List – Rights of Candidates – Held – Apex 
Court concluded that though a candidate who passed examination or whose 
name appeared in select list does not have any indefeasible right to be 
appointed yet appointment cannot be denied arbitrarily and select list 
cannot be cancelled without any proper justification.  (Para 17)

Cases referred :

M- lsok fof/k & p;u lwph & vH;fFkZ;ksa ds vf/kdkj &
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SCC 678, (2019) 11 SCC 771, (1983) 3 SCC 284, (2003) 9 SCC 335/336, (1994) 5 
SCC 450, (2010) 13 SCC 467, (2016) 4 SCC 179, (2009) 4 Guwahati Law Report 
507, (1990) 1 SCC 411, (1987) 3 SCC 516, (2006) 2 MPLJ 312, (2013) SCC 
Online MP 6365, (2009) 2 SCC 1, (2020) 2 SCC 173, (2004) 2 SCC 681, (2013) 12 
SCC 243, (1997) 1 SCC 650, (1991) 3 SCC 47, 1996 (9) SCC 309.

Piyush Dharmadhikari, B.N. Mishra, Arpan J. Pawar and Ashish Shroti, 
for the respondents. 

Naman Nagrath with Vikram Singh and Satyendra Jain, for the 
petitioners. 

PRAKASH SHRIVASTAVA, J. :- This order will govern the disposal of WP 
No.4792/2020, W.P. No.4801/2020, W.P. No.4808/2020 and W.P. No.6675/2020 
since it is jointly submitted by counsel for the parties that these writ petitions 
involve common issue in the identical fact situation.

3. An advertisement dated 02.06.2017 was issued by the respondent No.3 for 
recruitment to the post of Assistant Grade- III. After the screening, District-wise 
select list (Annexure P/3) was declared and the waiting list (Annexure P/2) in 
respect of UR, OBC, SC and ST candidates was also published on 20.09.2018. As 
per the averment, in the petition, the name of the petitioners find place in the 
waiting list. Further case of the petitioners is that certain vacancies are still 
unfilled on account of non-joining of some of the selected candidates. As per the 
averment made in para 5.7 of W.P.No.4792/2020, the respondents have cleared 
the waiting list by making some of the appointments and the petitioner's name has 
come up from Sr. No.42 to Sr. No.5 in the waiting list and 6 seats in the UR 
category are still lying vacant. Further case of the petitioner is that since the 
advertisement was published on 02.06.2017, the result of the examination was 
declared on 20.09.2018, therefore, validity of the select list will be 18 months in 
terms of the rules which were prevailing at the time of issuance of advertisement 
and conduct of examination and the same cannot be reduced to 12 months on the 
basis of new Rules which have subsequently come in force.

4. The stand of the respondent No.2 and 3 is that though in the Rules of 2016, 
the validity of the select list was 18 months from the date of declaration of final list 
but in terms of the subsequent Rules published in the year 2019, the validity period 
has been reduced to 12 months and justifiable reason exists for reducing the 

O R D E R

The Order of the Court was passed by :

2. For convenience the facts are noted from W.P. No.4792/2020. In the writ 
petition, the petitioner has prayed for a direction to the respondents to appoint the 
petitioner on the vacant post of Assistant Grade-III by giving effect to the waiting 
list and has further challenged the validity of Rule 17(3) of the Rules of 2019.
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He has further submitted that the State cannot act arbitrarily and if the 
posts are lying vacant, the appointment cannot be denied unless there is a valid 
justifiable reason. In support of his submission, he has placed reliance on the 
judgments of Supreme Court in the cases reported in (2019) 12 SCC 798 (Dinesh 
Kumar Kashyap and others vs. South East Central Railway and others), (2010) 7 
SCC 678 (East Coast Railway and another Vs. Mahadev Appa Rao and others) 
and (2019) 11 SCC 771 (Gagandeep Singh Vs. State of Punjab and others).

validity period and now the select list has lapsed as the validity period is over.

5. Shri Naman Nagrath, learned senior counsel has submitted that since the 
petitioners have been placed in the waiting list, therefore, they have a legitimate 
right of consideration for appointment on the posts which have fallen vacant due 
to non-joining, resignation, etc. of the selected candidates. In support of his 
submission, he has placed reliance upon the judgments of Supreme Court in the 
cases reported in (1997) 8 SCC 488 (Surinder Singh and others vs. State of Punjab 
and another), (1994) Supp. 2 SCC 591 (Gujarat State Dy. Executive Engineers' 
Association vs. State of Gujarat and others), (1999) SCC Online Rajasthan 241 
(Ram Babu Koli Vs. Zila Parishad Sawai Madhopur), (1986) 3 SCC 273 (S. 
Govindaraju Vs. Karnataka SRTC and another) and (1995) Supp. 2 SCC 230 
(R.S. Mittal Vs. Union of India).

His further argument is that Rules of Game cannot be changed after 
commencement of the game. He has submitted that the selection process was 
initiated under the Rules of 2016, therefore, the entire process is required to be 
completed under the said Rules and in the midway the Rules of 2019 cannot be 
applied. In support of his submission, he has placed reliance upon the judgments 
in the cases reported in (1983) 3 SCC 284 (Y.V. Rangaiah and others Vs. J. 
Sreenivasa Rao and others), (2003) 9 SCC 335/336 (State of Uttaranchal and 
others Vs. Sidharth Srivastava and others), (1994) 5 SCC 450 (Para 14 & 15) 
(Union of India and others Vs. Tushar Ranjan Mohanty and others) and (2010) 13 
SCC 467 (State of Bihar and others Vs. Mithilesh Kumar). He has further 
submitted that the Rules of 2019 have not been made retrospective nor they can be 
inferred to be retrospective and in this regard he has referred to the Repeal and 
Savings clause of the Rules of 2019. In support of his submission, he has placed 
reliance upon the judgments in the cases reported in (2016) 4 SCC 179 (Richa 
Mishra Vs. State of Chhattisgarh and others), (2009) 4 Guwahati Law Report 507 
(Abdul Hai Ahmed and others Vs. State of Assam and others), (1990) 1 SCC 411 
(P. Mahendran vs. State of Karnataka) and (1987) 3 SCC 516 (Commissioner of 
Income Tax, U.P. Vs. M/s Shah Sadiq and Sons). Arguing on the issue of challenge 
to the vires of the Rules of 2019, he has made limited submission that his 
grievance is only in respect of retrospective application of the Rules, therefore, he 
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is not questioning the constitutional validity of the Rules.

Learned senior counsel for the petitioners has further placed reliance upon 
the judgment in the case reported in (2006) 2 MPLJ 312 (Kanchan Saxena Vs. 
State of M.P. and another) and has submitted that the right of the petitioners was 
crystallized on the date of filing of the petitions which were filed before expiry of 
18 months. He has also placed reliance upon the judgment of Supreme Court in the 
case reported in (2013) SCC Online MP 6365 (Gopal Singh Gurjar Vs. State of 
M.P. and others).

6. Shri Ashish Shroti, learned counsel for the respondent High Court has 
placed reliance upon Rule 11 of the Rules of 2016 and has submitted that the 

threquisition from District Establishment is made by 30  of September in each 
recruitment year for all the posts and has further referred to Rule 12(c) and 
submitted that examination is conducted between January to April every year and 
referring to Rule 2(r), he has submitted that “year of recruitment” means year 

st st
commencing from 1  January to 31  December and in this background, he has 
submitted that an anomalous position was created as Rule 17(3) of the Rules of 
2016 contained the provision about validity of the select list for 18 months 
whereas the recruitment was required to be made every years, hence Rules of 
2019 have been introduced and the validity period of select list has been reduced 
to one year. He has further submitted that there is no violation of fundamental 
right, therefore there is no question of challenging the vires of the Rules of 2019 
and in this regard he has placed reliance upon the judgment in the case reported in 
(2009) 2 SCC 1 (Mahmad Husen Abdulrahim Kalota Shaikh Vs. Union of India 
and others). He has also submitted that the Rules of 2019 have not been applied 
retrospectively but these Rules have been applied from the date they have come in 
force. He has also submitted that by changing the duration of the validity of the 
select list, there is no change in the Rules of Game and in this regard he has further 
placed reliance upon the judgment in the case reported in (2020) 2 SCC 173 
(Anupal Singh and others Vs. State of U.P.). Elaborating the meaning of the wait 
list, he has placed reliance upon the judgment in the matter of Gujarat State Dy. 
Executive Engineers' Association (supra). He has also submitted that there is no 
provision in the Rules of 2016 or 2019 to prepare any waiting list and even 
otherwise the wait list candidate has no right to be considered. In this regard, he 
has placed reliance upon the judgment of Supreme Court in the case of Anupal 
Singh and others (supra). Shri Shroti has also placed reliance upon the judgments 
in the cases reported in (2004) 2 SCC 681 (Bihar State Electricity Board Vs. 
Suresh Prasad and others), (2013) 12 SCC 243 (Raj Rishi Mehra and others Vs. 
State of Punjab and another) and (1997) 1 SCC 650 (Gajraj Singh and others Vs. 
State Transport Appellate Tribunal and others).
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“17(3) Duration of validity of the final list of successful 
candidate: The final list of the successful candidates in the 
examination in any recruitment year shall be valid upto 18 months 
from the date of declaration of the final list, but shall become invalid 
after declaring the results of next years examination.”

7. We have heard the learned counsel for the parties and perused the record.

8. Undisputedly, the advertisement for recruitment to the post of Assistant 
Grade-III and other posts was issued on 02.06.2017. The result of the said 

thexamination was declared on 20  September, 2018. While declaring the result 
alongwith the list of the selected candidates, a waiting list was also published. The 
name of these petitioners finds place in the waiting list. At the time of issuance of 
the advertisement and publication of the select list and waiting list, the Madhya 
Pradesh District Court Establishment (Recruitment and Conditions of Service) 
Rules, 2016 were in force. Sub-rule (3) of Rule 17 of the Rules of 2016 provides 
for the duration of validity of the list of successful candidates and reads as under:

Subsequently same Rules were again published in official Gazette on 28.06.2019 
with certain modifications. These Rules published on 28.06.2019 are referred to 
in this order as Rules of 2019. Sub-rule (3) of Rule 17 of the Rules of 2019 
provides for validity period of the select list and reads under:

9. A bare perusal of the aforesaid Rules reveal that under the Rules of 2016, 
the validity period of the select list was 18 months whereas in the Rules of 2019, 
the validity period of the select list has been reduced to 12 months from the date of 
declaration of the select list.

“17(3)  Validity period of the select list- The select list of the 
successful candidates in the examination in any recruitment year 
shall be valid upto 12 months from the date of declaration of the 
select list.”

11. In the above factual background, the first issue is as to whether the 
petitioners who are wait list candidates have any legitimate right of consideration 
for appointment on the post falling vacant due to non-joining, resignation, etc. of 
the selected candidates ?

th
10. In the present case, the select list was declared on 20  of September, 2018, 

ththerefore, 12 months period was to be over on 20  September, 2019 and 18 months 
th

period was to be over on 20  March, 2020. The respondents in their reply have 
taken a stand that the Rules of 2019 will apply and therefore the validity period of 

ththe list expired on 20  September, 2019 and during the validity of the select list, the 
th

waiting list of UR category was cleared upto Sr. No.42 and after  20  September, 2019, 
the waiting list cannot be given effect to.
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12. A candidate in the waiting list, as per his position in the list, has right to be 
considered for appointment if for any reason the post falls vacant during the 
validity period of the list. Such a right is not a vested right but it is only a right to be 
considered for appointment. The appointing authority can deny appointment for 
some justifiable reason to such a candidate. In the matter of Gujarat State Dy. 
Executive Engineers' Association(supra), the Hon'ble Supreme Court has 
explained the meaning of waiting list by clarifying that a waiting list prepared in 
service matters by the competent authority is a list of eligible and qualified 
candidates who in order of merit are placed below the last selected candidate. 
Such lists are prepared either under the Rules or even otherwise mainly to ensure 
that the working in the office does not suffer if the selected candidates do not join 
for one or the other reason or the next selection or examination is not held soon. A 
wait list candidate has no vested right except the right to claim that he may be 
appointed if for any reason one or other selected candidates does not join. 
Supreme Court in the matter of Surinder Singh and others (Supra) has held that a 
waiting list cannot be used as a perennial source of recruitment for filling up the 
vacancy not advertised. The candidate in the waiting list has no vested right to be 
appointed except to the limited extent that when a candidate selected against the 
existing vacancy does not join for some reason and the waiting list is still 
operative.

13. In the matter of S. Gonvindaraju(Supra), Supreme Court has held that 
once a candidate is selected and his name is included in the select list for 
appointment in accordance with the Regulation, he gets a right to be considered 
for appointment as and when the vacancy arises. In the matter of R.S. 
Mittal(Supra), the Hon'ble Supreme Court has further clarified that although a 
person on the select panel has no vested right to be appointed to the post for which 
he has been selected, the appointing authority cannot ignore the select panel or on 
its whims decline to make the appointment. When a person has been selected by 
the Selection Board and there is a vacancy which can be offered to him keeping in 
view his merit position then ordinarily there is no justification for ignoring him for 
appointment. There has to be a justifiable reason to decline to appoint a person 
who is on the select panel.

14. Thus, from the aforesaid pronouncements, it is clear that if name of a 
candidate is included in the select list, he has a right to be considered for 
appointment but the appointment can be declined for justifiable reason. In the 
present case, the name of the petitioners were included in the waiting list, the 
respondents have offered appointment to the candidate upto Sr. No.42 in the 
waiting list of UR category. The posts are lying vacant against which remaining 
wait listed candidates can be considered for appointment.

15. In the above factual and legal backdrop, the next issue is as to whether the 
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“6. Our country is governed by the rule of law. Arbitrariness is an 
anathema to the rule of law. When an employer invites applications 
for filling up a large number of posts, a large number of 
unemployed youth apply for the same. They spend time in filling 
the form and pay the application fees. Thereafter, they spend time 
to prepare for the examination. They spend time and money to 
travel to the place where written test is held. If they qualify the 
written test, they have to again travel to appear for the interview 
and medical examination, etc. Those who are successful and 
declared to be passed have a reasonable expectation that they will 
be appointed. No doubt, as pointed out above, this is not a vested 
right. However, the State must give some justifiable, non- arbitrary 
reason for not filling up the post. When the employer is the State it 
is bound to act according to Article 14 of the Constitution. It cannot 
without any rhyme or reason decide not to fill up the post. The 
Courts would normally not question the justification but the 
justification must be reasonable and should not be an arbitrary 
capricious or whimsical exercise of discretion vested in the State. 
It is in the light of these principles that we need to examine the 
contentions of SECR.”

16. The law in this regard is settled that the State must give some justifiable 
and non-arbitrary reason for not filling up the posts. It is not at the whims and 
fancies of the State to keep the advertised post vacant when the select list is 
operative as the same would run counter to the mandate of Article 14 of the 
Constitution. Though the justification offered by the State is normally not 
questioned by the Court but the justification must be reasonable and not arbitrary 
or capricious.

17. The Supreme Court in the matter of Dinesh Kumar Kashyap(Supra) in this 
regard has held that-

respondents are justified in denying appointment to the petitioners on the posts 
which are lying vacant ?

In the matter of East Coast Railway and another (Supra), the Hon'ble Supreme 
Court has held that though a candidate who has passed an examination or whose 
name appeared in the select list does not have any indefeasible right to be 
appointed yet appointment cannot be denied arbitrarily and the select list also 
cannot be cancelled without giving proper justification. While holding so, 
Hon'ble Supreme Court has placed reliance upon the Constitution Bench judgment 
of the Supreme Court in the matter Shankarsan Dash vs. Union of India reported 
in (1991) 3 SCC 47 wherein it is held that-
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In the matter of Gagandeep Singh(Supra), the Hon'ble Supreme Court has taken 
the view that though no candidate has vested right for appointment but at the same 
time appointing authority cannot frustrate intention behind and purpose of 
preparation of select list. Next available candidate in the select list has legitimate 
expectation for being considered for appointment when the post falls vacant.

19. In the present case, only reason which has been offered by the State 
Government for denying appointment to the remaining wait list candidates is that 
the Rules of 2019 had come in force in the meanwhile; therefore, the validity of 
the select list was curtailed to 12 months from 18 months.

21. Once the norms of selection are declared on the commencement of the 
selection process then those norms cannot be changed and the right accrued to a 
candidate by virtue of the original norms cannot be taken away. The Supreme 
Court in the matter of Y.V. Rangaiya and others(Supra), in a case of promotion 
where the Rules were changed in the midway, has taken the view that vacancies 

“7. It is not correct to say that if a number of vacancies are notified for 
appointment and adequate number of candidates are found fit, the 
successful candidates acquire an indefeasible right to be appointed 
which cannot be legitimately denied. Ordinarily the notification merely 
amounts to an invitation to qualified candidates to apply for recruitment 
and on their selection they do not acquire any right to the post. Unless 
the relevant recruitment rules so indicate, the State is under no legal 
duty to fill up all or any of the vacancies. However, it does not mean that 
the State has the licence of acting in an arbitrary manner. The decision 
not to fill up the vacancies has to be taken bona fide for appropriate 
reasons. And if the vacancies or any of them are filled up, the State is 
bound to respect the comparative merit of the candidates, as reflected at 
the recruitment test, and no discrimination can be permitted. This correct 
position has been consistently followed by this Court, and we do not find 
any discordant note in the decisions in State of Haryana V. Subhash 
Chander Marwaha and Others, [1974] 1 SCR 165; Miss Neelima Shangla 
v. State of Haryana and Others, [1986] 4 SCC 268 and Jatendra Kumar 
and Others v. State of Punjab and Others, [1985] 1 SCR 899.”

18. Thus, it is clear that the legitimate expectation of the select list candidate 
for consideration for appointment when post in question falls vacant cannot be 
denied by the Government by acting arbitrarily or without offering any justifiable 
reason.

20. In view of the above position, the next issue which arises for consideration 
of this Court is whether the respondents could have changed the rules of the game 
after commencement of the process of selection and curtail the validity period of 
select list ?
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which occured prior to the amended Rules would be governed by the old Rules 
and not by the amended Rules. In the matter of Siddharth Shrivastava(Supra), the 
Hon'ble Supreme Court has considered the scope of power to make laws under 
Article 309 with retrospective effect and has held that this power cannot be used to 
nullify a right vested in a person under a Statute or the Constitution. In the matter 
of Tushar Ranjan Mohanty and others(Supra), in a case where norms for 
recruitment were changed during the pendency of the selection process has held 
that norms or Rules as existing on the date when the process of selection begins 
will control such selection and any alteration to such norms would not affect the 
continuing process unless specifically the same were given retrospective effect. 
After referring earlier judgments on the point, Hon'ble Supreme Court in the case 
of Tushar Ranjan Mohanty and others(Supra) has held that-

23. This takes us to the next issue as to whether the Rules of 2019 can be 
applied to the pending selection process to curtail the validity period of the select 
list ?

“14. The legislatures and the competent authority under Article 309 of 
the Constitution of India have the power to make laws with retrospective 
effect. This power, however, cannot be used to justify the arbitrary, 
illegal or unconstitutional acts of the Executive. When a person is 
deprived of an accrued right vested in him under a statute or under the 
Constitution and he successfully challenges the same in the court of law, 
the legislature cannot render the said right and the relief obtained 
nugatory by enacting retrospective legislation.

15. Respectfully following the law laid down by this Court in the 
judgments referred to and quoted above, we are of the view that the 
retrospective operation of the amended Rule 13 cannot be sustained. We 
are satisfied that the retrospective amendment of Rule 13 of the Rules 
takes away the vested rights of Mohanty and other general category 
candidates senior to Respondents 2 to 9. We, therefore, declare amended 
Rule 13 to the extent it has been made operative retrospectively to be 
unreasonable, arbitrary and, as such, violative of Articles 14 and 16 of 
the Constitution of India. We strike down the retrospective operation of 
the rule. In the view we have taken on the point it is not necessary to deal 
with the other contentions raised by Mohanty.”

22. Thus, from the aforesaid analysis, it is clear that once the process of 
selection had commenced on the basis of the norms prescribed under the Rules of 
2016 then in normal circumstances the changed norms relating to curtailing the 
validity period of select list could not have been applied to the pending process.

24. To examine this issue, the Repeal and Savings Clause of the Rules of 2019 
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Provided that any order made or action taken under the rules so repealed 
shall be deemed to have been made or taken under the corresponding 
provisions of these rules.”

“37. Repeal and Savings-

All Rules, Orders, Instructions and Circulars corresponding to these 
Rules, in force immediately before the commencement of these Rules are 
hereby repealed in respect of matters covered by these Rules:

needs to be considered which reads as under:

The Rules of 2019 have not been made retrospective by any express provision. 
The stand of the respondents is that the Rules of 2019 have been applied from the 
date they have came in force and therefore in terms of Rule 17(3) of the Rules of 
2019, the validity period of the list has been curtailed to 12 months. Hon'ble 
Supreme Court in the case of Richa Sharma(Supra) has considered the issue if the 
Rules specified in the advertisement for recruitment process can be departed from 
and new Rules can have the retrospective effect. In that case, the recruitment had 
commenced under the Rules of 2000 and subsequently the Rules of 2005 were 
promulgated, therefore, the Hon'ble Supreme Court after considering the similar 
proviso in the Repeal and Savings clause which exists in the present case has held 
that -

18. The High Court held that the first and second requisitions to 
commence recruitment process against the vacant seats to the post of 
DSP were made when the 2000 Rules were in force. Therefore, 
recruitment was rightly undertaken under the 2000 Rules. The admitted 
facts are that the process of selection started before the 2005 Rules were 
promulgated with the requisitions dated 27-9-2004 and 26-3-2005 sent 
by the State Government to CPSC. At that time, the 2000 Rules were in 
vogue. For this reason, even in the requisition it was mentioned that 
appointments are to be made under the 2000 Rules. Further, it is also an 
admitted fact that the vacancies in question which were to be filled were 
for the period prior to 2005. Such vacancies needed to be filled in as per 
those Rules i.e. the 2000 Rules. This is patent legal position which can be 
discerned from Y. V. Rangaiah v. J. Sreenivasa Rao [Y. V. Rangaiah v. J. 
Sreenivasa Rao, (1983) 3 SCC 284: 1983 SCC (L&S) 382]. As per the 
facts of that case a panel had to be prepared every year of list of 
approved candidates for making appointments to the grade of Sub-
Registrar Grade II by transfer according to the old Rules. However, the 
panel was not prepared in the year 1976 and the petitioners were 
deprived of their right of being considered for promotion. In the 
meanwhile, new Rules came into force. In this factual background, it 
was held that the vacancies which occurred prior to the amended rules 
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would be governed by the old Rules and not by the amended rules. The 
judgment in B.L. Gupta v. MCD [B.L. Gupta v. MCD, (1998) 9 SCC 223 : 
1998 SCC (L&S) 532] also summarises the legal position in this behalf. 
The judgment in P. Ganeshwar Rao v. State of A.P. [P. Ganeshwar Rao v. 
State of A.P., 1988 Supp SCC 740 : 1989 SCC (L&S) 123 : (1988) 8 ATC 
957] is also to the same effect. Para 9 of the judgment laying down the 
aforesaid proposition of law, is reproduced below: (B.L. Gupta case 
[B.L. Gupta v. MCD, (1998) 9 SCC 223 : 1998 SCC (L&S) 532], SCC p. 
226)

19. No doubt, under certain exceptional circumstances, the Gov-
ernment can take a conscious decision not to fill the vacancies under the 
old Rules and, thus, there can be departure of the aforesaid general rule 
in exceptional cases. This legal precept was recognised in Rajasthan 
Public Service Commission v. Kaila Kumar Paliwal [Rajasthan Public 
Service Commission v. Kaila Kumar Paliwal (2007) 10 SCC 260 : 
(2008) 1 SCC (L&S) 492] in the following words:

"30. There is no quarrel over the proposition of law that normal 
rule is that the vacancy prior to the new Rules would be 
governed by the old Rules and not by the new Rules. However, in 
the present case, we have already held that the Government has 
taken conscious decision not to fill the vacancy under the old 
Rules and that such decision has been validly taken keeping in 

"9. When the statutory rules had been framed in 1978, the 
vacancies had to be filled only according to the said Rules. The 
Rules of 1995 have been held to be prospective by the High 
Court [K.C. Sharma v. DESU, 1997 SCC OnLine Del 128: 
(1997) 66 DLT39] and in our opinion this was the correct 
conclusion. This being so, the question which arises is whether 
the vacancies which had arisen earlier than 1995 can be filled 
as per the 1995 Rules. Our attention has been drawn by Mr Mehta 
to a decision of this Court in N. T. Devin Katti v. Karnataka Public 
Service Commission [N.T. Devin Katti v. Karnataka Public 
Service Commission, (1990) 3 SCC 157: 1990 SCC (L&S) 446: 
(1990) 14 ATC 688]. In that case after referring to the earlier 
decisions in Y. V. Rangaiah [Y. V. Rangaiah v. J. Sreenivasa Rao, 
(1983) 3 SCC 284: 1983 SCC (L&S) 382], P. Ganeshwar Rao 
[P. Ganeshwar Rao v. State of A.P., 1988 Supp SCC 740 : 1989 
SCC (L&S) 123 : (1988) 8 ATC 957] and A.A. Calton v. Director 
of Education [A.A. Calton v. Director of Education, (1983) 3 
SCC 33 : 1983 SCC (L&S) 356] it was held by this Court that the 
vacancies which had occurred prior to the amendment of the 
Rules would be governed by the old Rules and not by the 
amended Rules."
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view the facts and circumstances of the case."

20. However, as far as the present case is concerned, the State sent the 
requisition specifically mentioning that the recruitment has to be under 
the 2000 Rules. This was so provided even in the advertisement. The 
appellant never challenged the advertisement and contended that after 
the promulgation of the 2005 Rules the recruitment should have been 
made under the 2005 Rules and not the 2000 Rules. Therefore, the 
appellant is even precluded from arguing that recruitment should have 
been made under the 2005 Rules.

The normal Rule is that the vacancies which arise prior to the amended Rules 
would be governed by the unamended Rules and in exceptional circumstances the 
Government can take a conscious decision not to fill the vacancies under the old 
Rules. In the present case, neither any exceptional circumstances are shown nor 
any conscious decision of the respondents based on such exceptional circumstances 
has been placed on record for not filling the vacancies under the Rules of 2016. 
The Division Bench of the Gauhati High Court in the case of Abdul Hai Ahmed 
and others(Supra) has considered some what similar position and has taken note 
of the similar though not identically worded the Repeal and Savings clause and 
provision of the Assam General Clauses Act (which is similar to M.P. General 
Clauses Act, 1957) about the effect of Repeal and has held that -

“9. As the Rules of 2003 referred to earlier or rules framed under article 
309, which repealed the 1982 Rules, also made in exercise of article 309 
the effect of such repeal is to be decided in accordance with the 
provisions of the Assam General Clauses Act, 1915. It can be seen that 
section 6 seeks to protect the legality of the orders and also the rights 
and privileges acquired during the subsistence of the repealed 
enactment. It also preserves the obligations or liabilities accrued during 
such subsistence. It also declared that any legal proceeding or remedy, 
etc., initiated during the subsistence of the repealed enactment would 
continue to be prosecuted as if the repeal never took place. The true 
import of the proviso to rule 32, in our opinion, is not to affect the 
operation of section 6 of the General Clauses Act, 1897 or section 6 of 
the Assam General Clauses Act, 1915, which is substantially similar to 
section 6 of the General Clauses Act, 1897. The effect of section 6 of the 
Assam General Clauses Act, in our view, is similar to the effect of section 
6 of the General Clauses Act, 1897. No doubt, the Legislature while 
repealing any law and replacing it by a new law can stipulate such 
consequences as the Legislature deems fit shall follow such a repeal. If 

21. Thus, we answer Question (a) by holding that recruitment was rightly made 
as per the 2000 Rules.

This position is reaffirmed in State of Punjab Vs. Arun Kumar Aggarwal, 
(2007) 10 SCC 402.
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10. In the matter of recruitment in public service, it is settled law of this 
Country that "Rules of the game cannot be changed in the midstream". K 
Manjusree v. State of Andhra Pradesh, (2008) 3 SCC 512]. This is a 
principle enunciated by the Supreme Court in the background of the 
requirements of articles 14 and 16 of the Constitution of India as 
permitting the change of the rules of recruitment midstream would 
enable the State to arbitrarily eliminate some of the candidates who 
were otherwise eligible to compete for the post for which the recruitment 
process is undertaken or alternatively arbitrarily enable the State to 
enable some of the candidates who were not otherwise eligible to 
compete in accordance with the law as ir existed on the date when the 
recruitment process was initiated. It is a principle which is consistent 
with the general scheme of the consequences of repeal of a law as 
envisaged under the provisions of the General Clauses Act discussed 
above. In our view in the realm of public law and more particularly in the 
context of employment under the State the above referred judgments 
only declare that notwithstanding the ability of the Legislature in 
general to alter the scheme of section 6 of the General Clauses Act such 
an ability in the context of recruitment in public employment is liable to 
be restricted in view of the demands of articles 14 and 16 of the 

the Legislature is silent about the consequences of the repeal the 
provisions of the General Clauses Act, 1897 or the Assam Act, 1915 
automatically apply by virtue of the declaration contained in section 6. 
If any provision is made by the repealing enactment declaring the 
consequences of the repeal the language of such a declaration should be 
examined in juxtaposition with the language of section 6 of the General 
Clauses Act, 1897, Assam Act, 1915. Unless the language of the 
repealing enactment is found to be plainly and expressly contrary to the 
scheme of section 6 of the General Clauses Act, 1915 this court is not to 
infer a departure from the principles enshrined under the General 
Clauses Act. Having regard to the language of the proviso of rule 3 we 
are not able to perceive any intention of the Legislature (in the present 
case the Governor acting under article 309) to depart from the scheme 
of section 6 of the General Clauses Act. In our view, the proviso is more 
akin to the provisions under section 24 of the General Clauses Act, 1897 
or section 26 [ 26. Continuation of orders, etc., issued under enactments 
repealed and re-enacted. Where any enactment is repealed and re-
enacted with or without modification, then, unless it is otherwise 
expressly provided, any appointment, notification, order, scheme, rule, 
form or bye-law, made or issued under the repealed enactment, shall so 
far as it is not inconsistent with the provisions re-enacted, continue in 
force, and be deemed to have been made or issued under the provisions 
so re-enacted, unless and until it is superseded by any appointment, 
notification, order, scheme, rule, form, bye-law made or issued under 
the provisions so re-enacted.] of the Assam General Clauses Act, 1915.
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25. Hon'ble Supreme Court in the matter of P. Mahendran(Supra) in a case 
where the Rule relating to qualifications for appointment was amended during 
continuance of the process of selection and the process was subsequently 
completed under the old Rules, has held that the select list was not vitiated on 
account of the amendment of the Rules. Considering the issue of retrospectivity, it 
has been reiterated that every Statute or Statutory Rules is prospective unless it is 
expressly or by necessary implication made to have retrospective effect. 
Considering this issue, the Hon'ble Supreme Court has held that -

Constitution of India. Therefore the submission of Mr. Sharma is set 
aside."

27. Thus, we are of the opinion that the right which had accrued to the select 
list candidates on the basis of their placement in the select list/waiting list 
prepared under the Rules of 2016 cannot be taken away by subsequent 

“5. It is well-settled rule of construction that every statute or statutory 
Rule is prospective unless it is expressly or by necessary implication 
made to have retrospective effect. Unless there are words in the statute 
or in the Rules showing the intention to affect existing rights the Rule 
must be held to be prospective. If a Rule is expressed in language which 
is fairly capable of either interpretation it ought to be construed as 
prospective only. In the absence of any express provision or necessary 
intendment the rule cannot be given retrospective effect except in matter 
of procedure. The amending Rule of 1987 do not contain any express 
provision giving the amendment retrospective effect nor there is 
anything therein showing the necessary intendment for enforcing the 
Rule with retrospective effect. Since the amending Rule was not 
retrospective, it could not adversely affect the right of those candidates 
who were qualified for selection and appointment on the date they 
applied for the post, moreover as the process of selection had already 
commenced when the amending Rules came into force. The amended 
Rule could not affect the existing rights of those candidates who were 
being considered for selection as they possessed the requisite qualifications 
prescribed by the Rules before its amendment moreover construction of 
amending Rules should be made in a reasonable manner to avoid 
unnecessary hardship to those who have no control over the subject 
matter.”

26. In the matter of M/s Shah Sadiq and Sons(Supra) while considering the 
issue of vested and accrued right of set off under the Income Tax Act and Section 6 
of the General Clauses Act, 1957, the Hon'ble Supreme Court has held that 
accrued and vested right acquired under a repealed Act which is neither expressly 
saved nor expressly or impliedly taken away by the repealing Act, would continue 
to be effective and enforceable.
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28. Counsel for the respondents has placed reliance upon the judgment of the 
Supreme Court in the matter of Mohd. Hussain wherein settled principles have 
been enumerated which are to be kept in view while examining the constitutional 
validity of the Repealing Act but in the present case, the petitioner has not raised 
any argument about constitutional validity of the Rules of 2019 but has raised a 
limited issue in respect of applicability of Rules of 2019 in the pending select list, 
hence this judgment is of no help to the respondents. Counsel for the respondents 
has also placed reliance upon the judgment of the Supreme Court in the case of 
Anupal Singh and others(Supra) but in that case there was a revised requisition 
notifying revised vacancies in different categories of a particular subordinate 
service, therefore, it was held valid since the same was only intended to rectify 
wrongful calculation of number of vacancies in different category and to comply 
with the requisite percentage of quota of reservation in different category as per 
1994 Act, hence the said judgment stands on different footing. So far as the 
submission of counsel for the respondents that there is no provision for preparing 
the wait list is concerned, the same does not carry any weight as in the present case 
not only the wait list has been prepared but has also been acted upon by giving 
appointment upto Sr. No.42 in the UR category of wait list. Counsel for the 
respondents has also placed reliance upon the judgment of the Supreme Court in 
the matter of Bihar State Electricity Board(Supra) wherein it is held that in the 
absence of any Statutory Rules to the contrary, the employer is not bound to offer 
the unfilled vacancies to the candidates next below the candidates selected for 
appointment but had not joined but the respondents cannot be extended any 
benefit on the basis of the said judgment, in view of the settled legal position that 
the respondents cannot act arbitrarily and deny appointment to a select list 
candidate without any justifiable reason. Even otherwise, in that case, no wait list 
was prepared; therefore, it was held that in the absence of the Statutory Rules to 
the contrary, the employer is not bound to prepare the wait list in addition to the 
panel of select list candidate, but, in the present case, not only the wait list has 
been prepared but it has also been acted upon. Counsel for the respondents has 
also placed reliance upon the judgment of the Supreme Court in the case of Raj 
Rishi Mehra and others(Supra), but, in that case, settled position has been 
reiterated that a wait list candidate is not entitled to appointment against unfilled 
post as of right. In that case, in the meanwhile, the State Government had already 
approved fresh recruitment and State Public Service Commission had issued 
fresh advertisement, therefore, it stands on different footing. Counsel for the 
respondents has also placed reliance upon the judgment of the Supreme Court in 
the matter of Gajraj Singh and others(Supra), but in that case also, the Stage 
Permit was granted under the Repealed Act for a period which was to expire after 
the commencement of the new Act, therefore, while holding that grant of permit 

notification of the Rules of 2019.
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under the new Act is a mere privilege and not a vested and accrued right, the 
Hon'ble Supreme Court has held that the permit will lapse after the expiry of the 
period for which it was initially granted unless publication for renewal was 
pending under Section 58 of the Repealed Act as on the date of commencement of 
the new Act.

30. In the present case, since the selection process had commenced and 
selection list was prepared under the Rules of 2016, therefore, in terms of Rule 
17(3) of the Rules of 2016, the final list of successful candidates will be valid upto 
18 months. By virtue of Rule 17(3) of the Rules of 2019 which came into force 
pending the selection process, the validity period of the select list prepared under 
the old Rules cannot be curtailed from 18 months to 12 months because it is the 
settled principle that the norms of process of selection cannot be changed by 
changing the rules of the game in the middle of the selection process. It is also 
worth noting that under the Rules of 2019 some of the eligibility conditions have 
been changed, therefore, the respondents cannot selectively apply Rule 17(3) of 
the Rules of 2019 relating to validity period of the select list ignoring that if the 
Rules of 2019 are applied in toto then vested right of other selected candidate will 
also be taken away due to change of the eligibility condition. Hence, the decision 
of the respondents to curtail the period of select list to 12 months cannot be 
sustained and is hereby set aside.

29. Hence, in view of the above analysis, it is clear that since the waiting list 
has been prepared by the respondents and the appointment upto Sr. No.42 in UR 
category in the wait list has been made, therefore, remaining candidates also have 
legitimate expectation and right for consideration of their names for appointment 
since posts have fallen vacant on account of nonjoining or resignation, etc. of 
selected candidates during the validity of the select list. The respondents without 
any justifiable reason acting in arbitrary manner cannot deny consideration for 
such appointment.

th32. The 18 months was to expire on 20  of March, 2020. It is worth noting that 
th

the present petition being W.P. No.4792/2020 was filed on 20  of February, 2020 
when the select list was valid. In the case of Ram Babu Koli(supra), the Hon'ble 
Supreme Court has considered the issue if any right survives if the list lapses 
during the pendency of the petition . In that case, the writ petition was filed on the 
date when merit list was operative and the Hon'ble Supreme Court placing 
reliance upon the judgments in the matter of Surinder Singh and others(Supra) 

31. The next issue as to whether the petitioners can be granted any relief at this 
stage in view of the fact that subsequently 18 months period from the date of 
declaration of select list has already expired ?
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ELLORA PAPER MILLS LTD.  …Applicant

and 1996(9) SCC 309 has held that the right was subsisting on the date of filing of 
the writ petition and accordingly allowed the writ petition.

ARBITRATION CASE

Order accordingly

Before Mr. Justice Mohammad Rafiq, Chief Justice 

I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2110

AC No. 100/2019 (Jabalpur) decided on 27 August, 2021

34. Having regard to the aforesaid factual and legal position, we are of the 
opinion that the petitioners have right to be considered for appointment on the 
posts which are unfilled due to non-joining, resignation, etc. of the selected 
candidates. Hence, the present writ petition is disposed of by directing the 
respondents to consider the names of the petitioners and other wait list candidates 
as per their position in the waiting list in accordance with law before the list 
lapses.

33. In view of the above analysis and having regard to the basic principles of 
“actus curiae neminem gravabit” i.e. the act of the Court shall prejudice no one, 
the respondents are directed to exclude the period from the date of filing of the 
petition till the date of this judgment for calculating 18 months validity period of 
the select list.

d- ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 11¼6½] 12¼5½ o 21 
,oa ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg ¼la'kks/ku½ vf/kfu;e] 2015 ¼2016 dk 3½] /kkjk 26 & e/;LFk 
dk ifjorZu &

A. Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Sections 11(6), 
12(5) & 21 and Arbitration and Conciliation (Amendment) Act, 2015 (3 of 
2016), Section 26 – Change of Arbitrator – Held – Apex Court concluded that 
Amendment Act of 2015 cannot have retrospective operation in the 
arbitration proceedings which had already commenced unless parties 
otherwise agree – In instant case, proceedings commenced before 
amendment came into force – Applicant failed to produce any material to 
show any bias or partiality on part of any member of Arbitral Tribunal – No 
need to appoint another arbitrator.   (Paras 9, 15 & 17 to 20)

Vs.

STATE OF M.P.          …Non-applicant
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B. Arbitration and Conciliation Act (26 of 1996), Section 11(6) 
–Appointment of Arbitrator by Designation – Held – Mere change of 
incumbents by reason of transfer or retirement would not make any 
difference as they were made members of Arbitral Tribunal by designation 
and not by name.       (Para 15)

[k- ek/;LFke~ vkSj lqyg vf/kfu;e ¼1996 dk 26½] /kkjk 11¼6½ & inuke 
}kjk e/;LFk dh fu;qfDr & 

Cases referred :

(2017) 8 SCC 377, AC No. 38/2020 decided on 26.02.2021, (2019) SCC 
Online SC 1517, 2018 SCC Online Del 8914, (2017) 15 SCC 32, (2019) 2 SCC 
488, (2019) 3 SCC 382, (2020) 2 SCC 464, (2020) 10 SCC 1, (2009) 8 SCC 520, 
(2007) 5 SCC 304, (2004) 10 SCC 504, (2019) 15 SCC 682, 2019 SCC Online SC 
1635, (2019) 3 SCC 282, (2018) 6 SCC 287.

Pushpendra Yadav, Addl. A.G. for the non-applicant/State. 
Sandeep Bajaj with Siddharth Shrivastava, for the applicant.  

O R D E R

MOHAMMAD RAFIQ, C.J. :-This application under Section 14 read with 
Sections 11 and 15 of the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996 (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Act of 1996” for short) has been filed by the petitioner-Ellora 
Paper Mills Limited, seeking termination of the mandate of originally constituted 
Arbitral Tribunal and appointment of a new Arbitrator.

2. Facts of the case, as averred in the application, are that the petitioner 
Company is engaged in manufacturing of printing and writing paper of various 
grades. Its plant is located in Maharashtra State. The respondent issued a tender 
for supply of the cream wove paper and duplicating paper for the year 1993-94. 
The petitioner participated in the said tender process and was awarded contract for 
supply of 1510MT of Cream Wove and 238 MT of Duplicating Paper aggregating 
1748 MT vide supply order dated 22.9.1993. According to the terms of the 
payment, 90% of the amount was to be paid by the respondent immediately after 
receipt of paper and balance 10% after receipt of the test report. According to the 
petitioner, it supplied 420 MT of cream wove and 238 MT of duplicating paper to 
the respondent but the respondent not only did not make the payment of 90% of 
the amount, as per the terms of the contract, but also rejected some consignment 
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3. Shri Sandeep Bajaj and Shri Siddharth Shrivastava, learned counsel for 
the petitioner submitted that the respondent constituted the Arbitral Tribunal of 
Stationery Purchase Committee, which comprises only of the officers of the 
respondent viz :- Additional Secretary, Department of Revenue as President and 
(i) Deputy Secretary, Department of Revenue, (ii) Deputy Secretary, General 
Administration Department, (iii) Deputy Secretary, Department of Finance, (iv) 
Deputy Secretary/Under Secretary, General Administration Department and (v) 
Senior Deputy Controller of Head Office, Printing as Members. Learned counsel 
submitted that since the respondent/department itself is a party to the dispute, its 
officers, by virtue of Section 12(5) of the Act of 1996, are ineligible to perform as 
Arbitrator or members of the Arbitral Tribunal. Learned counsel for the petitioner 
in support of his argument has relied on the judgment of Supreme Court in TRF 

any response, much less positive response. The petitioner then filed a civil suit in 
the year 1994 for permanent injunction against the respondent in the Civil Court 
at Bhopal seeking to restrain them from awarding the supply order to the third 
party. The respondent, however, in the meantime, awarded the said contract to the 
third party for remaining supply and therefore, the said suit became infructuous. 
The petitioner therefore filed another suit seeking recovery of an amount of 
Rs.95,32,103/- bearing Civil Suit No.2-B/98 before the Civil Court, Bhopal. During 
the pendency of the said suit, the respondent preferred an application under 
Section 8 of the Act of 1996 seeking stay of the proceedings on the ground that 
there exists an arbitration clause in the agreement between the parties. The Civil 
Court however rejected the said application vide order dated 27.2.1999. The 
respondent then filed Revision Petition No.1117/1999 before this Court which 
was allowed vide order dated 03.05.2000. This Court referred the parties to the 
arbitration by Stationery Purchase Committee comprising of the officers of the 
respondent. Against the said order of this Court, the petitioner filed Special Leave 
Petition bearing SLP (C) No.13914/2000 before the Supreme Court, which 
however was dismissed as withdrawn vide order dated 28.9.2000. The respondent 
constituted the Arbitral Tribunal, styled as Stationery Purchase Committee 
comprising their officers. The petitioner filed its objection to the constitution of 
the Arbitral Committee on 12.9.2000. The petitioner also challenged its jurisdiction 
by filing an application under Section 13 of the Act of 1996. The learned Arbitral 
Tribunal however vide order dated 2.2.2001 rejected the said application of the 
petitioner. Aggrieved thereby the petitioner filed a writ petition bearing W.P. 
No.1824/2001 before this Court which however was dismissed vide order dated 
24.1.2017 with liberty to the petitioner to raise objections before the appropriate 
forum. In the meanwhile, the National Company Law Tribunal admitted and 
initiated the proceedings against the petitioner under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy 
Code. The Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process was commenced which 
ultimately culminated on its approval on 26.6.2018.
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Ltd. vs Energo Engineering Projects Limited reported in (2017) 8 SCC 377 
wherein it was held that the person who has become ineligible to be appointed as 
the Arbitrator in terms of Section 12(5) of the Act of 1996, can neither continue as 
arbitrator nor can appoint anyone else as arbitrator.

4. It is contended that this Court in the case of M/s HCL Technologies 
Limited Vs. Madhya Pradesh Computerization of Police Society (MPCOPS) 
(Arbitration Case No.38/2020) decided on 26.2.2021, relying on the aforesaid 
judgment of the Supreme Court in the case of TRF Ltd. (supra) and another 
judgment of the Supreme Court in the case of Perkins Eastman Architects DPC 
and another Vs. HSCC (India) Ltd. reported in (2019) SCC Online SC 1517 held 
that since MPCOPS is itself in dispute with the applicant therefore in view of the 
mandate of Section 12(5) read with the stipulations contained in Fifth and Seventh 
Schedules of the Act of 1996, it cannot now appoint the arbitrator. Learned 
counsel for the petitioner argued that all the erstwhile members of the Stationery 
Purchase Committee, who initiated the arbitration proceedings, have ceased to 
hold their respective positions as the constitution of the Arbitral Tribunal pertains 
to the year 2001. Now therefore a new Arbitral Tribunal in any case will have to be 
constituted and an independent and impartial Arbitrator should be appointed in 
terms of Section 11 of the Act to resolve the disputes between the parties. It is 
submitted that according to Section 11 of the Act of 1996, only a person can be 
appointed as an Arbitrator, which cannot be a specified post like Deputy Secretary 
of Stationery Purchase Committee. When an Arbitrator is approached in 
connection with his possible appointment, he is mandatorily required to disclose 
his relationship with the parties or his interest in the subject matter of the dispute 
in terms of Section 12 of the Act of 1996, a bare perusal of which makes it clear 
that ineligibility of an Arbitrator is to be seen from the date when an Arbitrator is 
approached by the party for his possible appointment. Therefore, no member of 
Stationery Purchase Committee can now be appointed as Arbitrator. Learned 
counsel in support of his argument has placed reliance on the judgment of Delhi 
High Court in the case of Omaxe Infrastructure and Construction Ltd. Vs. Union 
of India and another reported in 2018 SCC Online Del 8914. It is argued that the 
dispute in the present matter between the parties pertains to the year 1993 when 
the claim of the petitioner was for Rs.95,32,103/- (Rs.Ninety Five Lakh Thirty 
Two Thousand One Hundred and Three only) and now because of lapse of time 
the total amount of claim including the interest thereon would far exceed Rupees 
One Crore. The petitioner is contesting the dispute for last 28 years and therefore, 
the mandate of Arbitral Tribunal is liable to be terminated and an impartial 
arbitrator is required to be appointed in terms of Section 11 of the Act of 1996 to 
adjudicate the disputes between the parties.

Ellora Paper Mills Ltd. Vs. State of M.P.



5. Shri Pushpendra Yadav, learned Additional Advocate General submitted 
that the agreement was entered into between the petitioner and the Government of 
Madhya Pradesh in respect of supply of Cream Wove Paper and Duplicating 
Paper pursuant to supply order dated 22.9.1993. Clause 7 of that the agreement 
clearly provides that if any dispute in respect of this agreement or any provision 
thereof arises between the parties, or any matter in relation thereto, except in 
respect of matters declared to be conclusive in the agreement, every such dispute 
shall be referred to the Stationery Purchase Committee of the Government, 
Madhya Pradesh, Bhopal for arbitration, whose decision shall be final, conclusive 
and binding on the parties. Since the dispute between the parties arose and the 
petitioner filed Civil Suit for permanent injunction in the Civil Court, the 
respondent filed an application under Section 34 of the Arbitration Act, 1940 
seeking stay of the proceedings on the ground of Arbitration Clause and the trial 
Court vide order dated 22.7.1999 rejected the said application. The respondent 
then filed revision petition before this Court, which was allowed vide order dated 
3.5.2000 relegating the parties to avail the remedy of arbitration before the 
Stationery Purchase Committee. The petitioner filed SLP (C) No.13914/2000 
against the said order before the Supreme Court. The same was dismissed as 
withdrawn vide order dated 28.9.2000 reserving the right of the petitioner to 
challenge the jurisdiction of the Arbitrator. The petitioner thereafter filed 
objection under Section 13 of the Act of 1996 challenging constitution of the 
Arbitral Committee as well as its jurisdiction. The Committee, however vide 
order dated 2.2.2001 rejected the said objection. Aggrieved by the aforesaid order 
of the Arbitral Committee, the petitioner filed WP No.1824/2001 before this 
Court, which too was dismissed vide order dated 24.1.2017, while reserving 
liberty to the petitioner to raise objection before the appropriate forum at 
appropriate stage. The petitioner has now filed the present application under 
Section 14 read with Section 11 and 15 of the Arbitration & Conciliation Act, 1996 
seeking appointment of the Arbitrator.

6. Shri Pushpendra Yadav, learned Additional Advocate General submitted 
that Arbitral Tribunal in the present case was constituted pursuant to the order of 
this Court dated 3.5.2000 passed in Civil Revision No.1117/1999. Although 
thereafter Section 12(5) in the Act of 1996 has been inserted w.e.f. 23.10.2015, but 
this sub section does not apply to the cases, where Arbitrator has already been 
appointed on or before commencement of Arbitration & Conciliation (Amendment) 
Ordinance 2015. Since Section 12(5) was inserted w.e.f. 23.10.2015, it will have 
only prospective effect and that all the arbitral proceedings which were initiated 
prior to Amendment Ordinance 2015, could be continued under the unamended 
provision. It is argued that in the present case, the Arbitral Tribunal was 
constituted in pursuance of the order passed by this Court much prior to insertion 
of Section 12(5) by way of 2015 Amendment Act w.e.f. 23.10.2015, the same 
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7. Alternatively, Shri Pushpendra Yadav, learned Additional Advocate 
General submitted that this Court has no jurisdiction to exercise the power under 
Section 14 of Arbitration & Conciliation Act. As per sub-section 2 of Section 14, if 
the controversy pertains to any of the grounds referred to in Clause (a) of Sub 
Section (1), a party may, unless otherwise agreed by the parties, apply to the Court 
to decide on the termination of the mandate. The Court has been defined in Section 
2(e) to mean in case of an arbitration other than international commercial 
arbitration, the Member of Civil Court of original jurisdiction in a district and 
includes High Court in exercise of its ordinary original civil jurisdiction having 
jurisdiction to decide the question forming subject matter of arbitration if same 
had been the subject matter of the suit. In the light of definition of Court, only a 
Civil Court including High Court exercising its original civil jurisdiction, has 
jurisdiction to entertain the application under Section 14 of the Act of 1996. Since 
the High Court of Madhya Pradesh does not have original civil jurisdiction to 
entertain the application, it would have no jurisdiction to entertain the present 
application. Therefore, the present application is not maintainable and deserves to 
be dismissed.

would therefore have no applicability to the present case. Learned Additional 
Advocate General in support of his arguments has relied on the judgments of the 
Supreme Court in Aravali Power Co. Power Ltd. Vs. Era Infra Engineering 
reported in (2017) 15 SCC 32, S. P. Singla Constructions Vs. State of Himanchal 
Pradesh reported in (2019) 2 SCC 488, Rajasthan Small Industries Corporation 
Vs. Ganesh Containers reported in (2019) 3 SCC 382, Union of India Vs. Pradeep 
Vinod Construction Co. reported in (2020) 2 SCC 464 and Government of India 
Vs. Vedanta Ltd. reported in (2020) 10 SCC 1.

9. The application filed by the petitioner seeks not only to terminate the 
mandate of originally constituted Arbitral Tribunal but also to appoint a new 
Arbitrator. The argument of the learned counsel for the petitioner is mainly 
founded on amended sub-section (5) inserted in Section 12 of the Act of 1996, 
which inter alia provides that notwithstanding any prior agreement to the contrary, 
any person whose relationship with the parties or counsel or the subject-matter of 
the dispute, falls under any of the categories specified in the Seventh Schedule 
shall be ineligible to be appointed as an arbitrator. But the question that requires 
answer in the present case is whether this sub-section would apply to arbitration 
proceeding which had already commenced prior to introduction of the amendment 
by Act 3 of 2016 with effect from 23.10.2015. In other words, whether sub-section 
(5) of Section 12 read with Seventh Schedule appended to the Act of 1996 can be 
relied by a party which had already appeared before the Arbitral Tribunal, as in 

8. I have given my anxious consideration to the rival submissions and 
perused the record.
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this case, the petitioner, who had already appeared before Arbitral Tribunal and 
participated in the proceedings, can now seek termination of the mandate of the 
Arbitral Tribunal? This argument has to be examined against the backdrop of the 
facts in the present case already noticed in the beginning of the judgment. For the 
sake of repetition, it may be stated again that the petitioner filed a Civil Suit in the 
year 1998 seeking recovery of security amount of Rs.95,32,103/- before the Civil 
Court. The respondent preferred an application under Section 8 of the Act of 1996 
praying for stay of the proceedings on the ground that there existed an arbitration 
clause in the agreement between the parties. The Civil Court however rejected the 
application by order dated 27.2.1999. Then the respondent filed a revision 
petition before this Court, which was allowed by this Court on 3.5.2000. This 
Court relegated the parties to arbitration by Stationery Purchase Committee 
comprising of officers of the respondent. The petitioner challenged the aforesaid 
order by filing the Special Leave Petition before the Supreme Court, which was 
however dismissed as withdrawn vide order dated 28.9.2000. It was thereafter 
that the respondent constituted the Arbitral Tribunal, styled as Stationery 
Purchase Committee. The petitioner objected to the constitution of the Arbitral 
Tribunal by filing an application under Section 13 of the Act of 1996 on 
12.9.2000. The Arbitral Tribunal however rejected the said application on 
2.2.2001. The petitioner then filed a writ petition before this Court, which was 
also dismissed vide order dated 24.1.2017 with liberty to raise objection before 
the appropriate forum. Sheet anchor of the petitioner's argument is that in view of 
the law enunciated by the Supreme Court in TRF Ltd. (supra), all the five officers 
constituting the Stationery Purchase Committee, being employees of the 
respondent, have rendered themselves ineligible to continue as Arbitrators. Since 
they have become ineligible to continue as Arbitrators, they also cannot appoint 
another person as Arbitrator. It is contended that the original members of the 
Arbitral Tribunal, who initiated the proceedings have since ceased to hold their 
respective office, therefore, in any case a new Arbitral Tribunal will have to be 
constituted and therefore, an impartial and independent Arbitrator is required to 
be appointed in terms of Section 11 of the Act of 1996.

10. The Supreme Court in Aravali Power Company Pvt. Ltd. Vs. Era Infra 
Engineering Ltd. (2017) 15 SCC 32 relying on its earlier judgment in Indian Oil 
Corporation Ltd. & others Vs. Raja Transport Pvt. Ltd. (2009) 8 SCC 520, held 
that mere fact that the arbitrator is an employee is not ipso facto a ground to raise 
any presumption of bias or partiality so long as there is no justifiable apprehension 
about arbitrator's independence or impartiality. It was held that appointment of the 
Chief Executive Officer as the sole arbitrator in terms of the arbitration clause by 
rejecting the demand of the respondent for appointment of an independent arbitrator 
cannot be faulted. In that case, the respondent participated in the arbitration proceedings 
without raising any objection and for the first time after the Amendment Act, 2015 
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***                  ***                ***

45. If the arbitration agreement provides for arbitration by a 
named Arbitrator, the courts should normally give effect to the 
provisions of the arbitration agreement. But as clarified by 
Northern Railway Administration [Northern Railway Admn. V 
Patel Engg. Co.Ltd. (2008) 10 SCC 240], where there is material 
to create a reasonable apprehension that the person mentioned 
in the arbitration agreement as the Arbitrator is not likely to act 
independently or impartially, or if the named person is not 
available, then the Chief Justice or his designate may, after recording 
reasons for not following the agreed procedure of referring the 
dispute to the named arbitrator, appoint an independent Arbitrator 

11. In judgment of Supreme Court in Raja Transport Pvt. Ltd. (supra) relied 
on by the Supreme Court in Aravali Power Company Pvt. Ltd. (supra), the same 
argument was repelled by the Supreme Court holding thus:-

35. Where however the named arbitrator though a senior officer 
of the government/statutory body/government company, had 
nothing to do with execution of the subject contract, there can be 
no justification for anyone doubting his independence or 
impartiality, in the absence of any specific evidence. Therefore, 
senior officer(s) (usually heads of department or equivalent) of 
a government/statutory corporation/public sector undertaking, 
not associated with the contract, are considered to be independent 
and impartial and are not barred from functioning as Arbitrators 
merely because their employer is a party to the contract. 

came into effect, raised objection regarding constitution of the Arbitral Tribunal. 
The High Court entertained the apprehension of the respondent as reasonable in 
exercise of power under Section 11(6) applying principles of impartiality/ 
neutrality and to avoid doubt in the mind of the petitioner, but the Supreme Court 
while reversing the judgment of the High Court held that the fact that the named 
arbitrator happens to be an employee of one of the parties to the arbitration 
agreement has not by itself, before the Amendment Act came into force, rendered 
such appointment invalid and unenforceable.

“34. The fact that the named arbitrator is an employee of one of 
the parties is not ipso facto a ground to raise a presumption of 
bias or partiality of lack of independence on his part. There can 
however be a justifiable apprehension about the independence 
or impartiality of an Employee-Arbitrator, if such person was 
the controlling or dealing authority in regard to the subject contract 
or if he is a direct subordinate (as contrasted from an officer of 
an inferior rank in some other department) to the officer whose 
decision is the subject matter of the dispute.
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in accordance with section 11(8) of the Act. In other words,  
referring the disputes to the named arbitrator shall be the rule. 
The Chief Justice or his designate will have to merely reiterate 
the arbitration agreement by referring the parties to the named 
arbitrator or named Arbitral Tribunal. Ignoring the named 
Arbitrator /Arbitral Tribunal and nominating an independent 
arbitrator shall be the exception to the rule, to be resorted for 
valid reasons.”

12. The view similar to Raja Transport Pvt. Ltd. (supra) was also taken by the 
Supreme Court in ACE Pipeline Contracts (P) Ltd. Vs. Bharat Petroleum Corpn 
Ltd. (2007) 5 SCC 304 and Union of India and another Vs. M.P. Gupta (2004) 10 
SCC 504 holding that mere fact that the named arbitrator is an employee of one of 
the parties is not ipso facto a ground to raise any presumption of bias or partiality 
or lack of independence on his part.

13. In Union of India Vs. Parmar Construction Company (2019) 15 SCC 682, 
the Supreme Court upon a conjoint reading of Section 21 of the Principal Act and 
Section 26 of the Amendment Act, held that where the request to refer the dispute 
to arbitration has been sent and received by the other side before the 2015 
Amendment Act came into force and in other words where the arbitration 
commenced prior to 23.10.2015, the provision of the 2015 Amendment Act shall 
not apply to such of the arbitral proceedings which have commenced in terms of 
the provisions of Section 21 of the Principal Act unless the parties otherwise 
agree. The Court should first appoint the arbitrators in the manner provided for in 
the arbitration agreement but where the independence and impartiality of the 
arbitrator(s) appointed/nominated in terms of the arbitration agreement is in 
doubt, or where the Arbitral Tribunal appointed in the manner provided in the 
arbitration agreement has not functioned and it becomes necessary to make fresh 
appointment, the Chief Justice or his designate, in the given circumstances, after 
assigning cogent reasons in appropriate cases, may resort to an alternative 
arrangement to give effect to the appointment of independent arbitrator under 
Section 11(6) of the Act of 1996.

14. In Union of India Vs. Pradeep Vinod Construction Company (2020) 2 
SCC 464, the respondent(s) were registered contractors with the Railways and the 
request of respondent(s) for appointment of arbitrator invoking Clause 64 of the 
contract was declined by the Railways stating that their claims have been settled 
and respondent(s) have issued “no claim” certificate and executed supplementary 
agreement recording “accord and satisfaction” and hence, the matter is not 
referable to arbitration. Reversing judgment of the High Court, the Supreme 
Court held that since request for appointment of arbitrator was made much prior to 
coming into force of Amendment Act, 2015, provisions of Amendment Act, 2015 
shall not apply to arbitral proceedings in terms of Section 21 of the Principal Act 
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16. The Supreme Court in the judgment in Central Organization for Railway 
Electrification Vs ECI-SPIC-SMO-MCML (JV) reported in 2019 SCC Online SC 
1635, considered the case of TRF Limited, supra, relied upon by learned counsel 
for the petitioner. The Supreme Court also considered that after amendment of the 
Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996 w.e.f. 23.10.2015, the Railway Board 
made modification in Clause 64 of the General Conditions of Contract and issued 
notification dated 16.11.2016 for implementation of modification. The Supreme 
Court in Central Organization for Railway Electrification, supra in Paragraphs-31 
& 39 of the judgment held as under:

unless the parties otherwise agree. Thus, request by respondent(s) contractors 
should be examined in accordance with the principal Act, 1996, without taking 
resort to Amendment Act, 2015. Reversing the judgment of the High Court, the 
Union of India was directed by the Supreme Court to appoint arbitrator in terms of 
Clause 64(3) of the agreement within a period of one month under intimation to 
the respondent(s) contractors.

15. In S.P.Singla Constructions Pvt. Ltd. Vs. State of Himachal Pradesh and 
another (2019) 2 SCC 488, the Chief Engineer, H.P. PWD appointed 
Superintendent Engineer pursuant to request of appellant as arbitrator in terms of 
Clause 65 of agreement but appellant-petitioner challenged such appointment on 
premise that arbitrator had not been appointed by name but had been appointed by 
designation. Reliance in that case was also placed on Section 12(5) as amended 
with effect from 23.10.2015 by Amendment Act 3 of 2016. It was held that 
Amendment Act shall not apply to the Arbitral Tribunal which had commenced its 
proceedings before its enforcement, inasmuch as same cannot have retrospective 
operation in arbitral proceedings already commenced unless parties otherwise 
agree. Repelling the argument of the appellant, similar to the one raised in the 
present case, the Supreme Court held that it was permissible to appoint a person 
by designation. The arbitration agreements involving government contracts 
providing that an employee of department or a higher official unconnected with 
the work or contract will be arbitrator are neither void nor unreasonable. Once 
appointment of arbitrator is made at the instance of Government, arbitration 
agreement could not have been invoked for second time. In the present case also 
when on invocation of arbitration clause by the petitioner, the Arbitral Tribunal 
consisting of the officers named by designation had already been appointed and 
has been acted upon, it cannot be said that there ever remained any vacuum in the 
Arbitral Tribunal because mere change of incumbents by reason of transfer or 
retirement would not make any difference as they were made members of the 
Arbitral Tribunal by designation and not by name. Therefore, there does not arise 
any necessity to appoint another Arbitral Tribunal.
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"31. As discussed earlier, as per the modified Clause 64(3)(b) of 
GCC, when a written and valid demand for arbitration is 
received by the General Manager, the Railway will send a panel 
of at least four names of retired railway officers empanelled to 
work as arbitrators. The contractor will be asked to suggest to 
the General Manager at least two names out of the panel for 
appointment as contractor's nominee within thirty days from the 
date of dispatch of the request by the Railway. Vide letter dated 
27.07.2018, the respondent has sought for appointment of an 
arbitrator for resolving the disputes. The appellant by its letter 
dated 24.09.2018 (which is well within the period of sixty days) 
in terms of Clause 64(3)(a)(ii) (where applicability of Section 
12(5) of the Act has been waived off) sent a panel of four serving 
railway officers of JA Grade to act as arbitrators and requested 
the respondent to select any two from the list and communicate 
to the office at the earliest for formation of Arbitration Tribunal. 
By the letter dated 26.09.2018, the respondent conveyed their 
disagreement in waiving the applicability of Section 12(5) of 
the Amendment Act, 2015. By the letter dated 25.10.2018, in 
terms of Clause 64(3)(b) of GCC (where applicability of 
Section 12(5) has not been waived off) the appellant has 
nominated a panel of four retired railway officers to act as 
arbitrators and requested the respondent to select any two from 
the list and communicate to the appellant within thirty days 
from the date of the letter for formation of Arbitration Tribunal. 
The respondent has neither sent its reply nor selected two names 
from the list and replied to the appellant. Without responding to 
the appellant, the respondent has filed petition under Section 
11(6) of the Arbitration and Conciliation Act before the High 
Court on 17.12.2018. When the respondent has not sent any 
reply to the communication dated 25.10.2018, the respondent is 
not justified in contending that the appointment of Arbitral 
Tribunal has not been made before filing of the application 
under Section 11 of the Act and that the right of the appellant to 
constitute Arbitral Tribunal is extinguished on filing of the 
application under Section 11(6) of the Act.

xxx   xxx xxx

39. There is an express provision in the modified clauses of 
General Conditions of Contract, as per Clauses 64(3)(a)(ii) and 
64(3)(b), the Arbitral Tribunal shall consist of a panel of three 
Gazetted Railway Officers [Clause 64(3)(a)(ii)] and three 
retired Railway Officers retired not below the rank of Senior 
Administrative Grade Officers [Clause 64(3)(b)]. When the 
agreement specifically provides for appointment of Arbitral 
Tribunal consisting of three arbitrators from out of the panel 
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18. The matter can be examined even from another angle. The Supreme Court 
in the case of reported in Union of India vs. Parmar Construction Company, 
(2019) 15 SCC 682, held that conjoint reading of of Section 21 principal Act and 
Section 26 of the Amendment Act, 2015 leaves no manner of doubt that the 
provisions of the 2015 Amendment Act shall not apply to such of the arbitral 
proceedings which have commenced in terms of the provisions of Section 21 of 
the Principal Act unless the parties otherwise agree. The Supreme Court also held 
that the request by respondent contractors for referring the dispute to arbitration 
was made and received by the appellants much before the 2015 Amendment Act 
came into force. Thus, the applications/requests made by the respondent 
contractors have to be examined in accordance with the principal Act, 1996 
without taking resort to the into force from 2015 Amendment Act which came 
23.10.2015. This was also the view taken by the Supreme Court in BCCI vrs. 
Kochi Cricket Private Ltd. (2018) 6 SCC 287. 

serving or retired Railway Officers, the appointment of the 
arbitrators should be in terms of the agreement as agreed by the 
parties. That being the conditions in the agreement between the 
parties and the General Conditions of the Contract, the High 
Court was not justified in appointing an independent sole 
arbitrator ignoring Clauses 64(3)(a)(ii) and 64(3)(b) of the 
General Conditions of Contract and the impugned orders cannot 
be sustained."

17. In Rajasthan Small Industries Corporation Ltd. Vs. Ganesh Containers 
Movers Syndicate (2019) 3 SCC 282, the Supreme Court held that the 
Amendment Act, 2015, as made effective with effect from 23.10.2015, cannot 
have retrospective operation in the arbitral proceedings already commenced 
unless the parties otherwise agree. In that case, proceedings before the Arbitral 
Tribunal continued till 17.8.2011 and thereafter, no progress was made. The 
respondent filed application under Sections 11 and 15 before the High Court on 
13.5.2015 seeking appointment of an arbitrator for adjudication of the disputes 
and differences between the appellant and the respondent. The Supreme Court 
held that the respondent having participated in the proceedings before the Arbitral 
Tribunal for quite some time and also having expressed faith in the sole arbitrator, 
was not justified in challenging the appointment of Managing Director of appellant 
Corporation as the sole arbitrator. Further in the absence of any material to show 
that arbitrator had not acted independently or impartially, there could not be a 
presumption of bias or lack of independence on his part. It was held that the High 
Court was not right in appointing the arbitrator without keeping in view the terms 
of the agreement between the parties. In the present case too, the petitioner has not 
been able to produce any material to show any bias or partiality on the part of any 
of members of the Arbitral Tribunal and therefore failed to substantiate that one or 
more of them have not acted impartially or independently.
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I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2122 (DB)

Before Mr. Justice G.S. Ahluwalia 

19. The judgment of this Court in M/s HCL Technologies Limited (supra) cited 
by the petitioner is distinguishable on facts. The dispute in that case arose much 
after the enforcement of the Amendment Act, 2015 came into effect from 
23.10.2015. In fact, as would be evident from para 5 of that judgment, notice was 
served by the applicant on non-applicant on 16.6.2020 invoking the arbitration 
clause contained in Clause 1.23 of the agreement proposing to nominate the name 
of a retired Acting Chief Justice of this Court as the sole arbitrator to resolve the 
dispute between the parties. Not only that judgment therefore is distinguishable 
on facts but the ratio of that judgment does not apply to the present matter.

20. In view of the aforesaid discussion, the present application fails and it is 
hereby dismissed. It would be however open for the petitioner to participate in 
proceedings before the Arbitral Tribunal constituted by the respondent as 
Stationery Purchase Committee which shall decide the matter expeditiously in 
accordance with the law.

21. There shall be no order as to costs. 

Application dismissed

CRIMINAL REFERENCE

& Mr. Justice Rajeev Kumar Shrivastava
CRRFC No. 9/2018 (Gwalior) decided on 26 July, 2021

STATE OF M.P.  ...Applicant

Vs.

NANDU @ NANDKISHORE GUPTA         …Non-applicant 

(Alongwith CRA No. 6946/2018)

A.  Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Sections 233, 234 & 
273 – Fair opportunity to Accused – Held – Evidence of PW-15 & PW-16 
recorded in absence of accused – Procedures adopted by trial Court certainly 
prejudiced the accused – Matter remanded back to trial Court to record 
evidence of above witnesses afresh in presence of accused and proceed further 
from stage of filing of DNA report – Accused shall be granted opportunity to file 
written objection/lead evidence in defence to DNA report and if application 
for cross-examination of Scientific Officer is filed, same shall be decided – 
After following provisions of Section 233 Cr.P.C., case be fixed for final 
hearing giving atleast one week time to prepare and argue the case – 
Impugned judgment set aside – Reference & appeal disposed. 

 (Paras 36 & 56 to 63)
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d- n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk,¡ 233] 234 o 273 & 
vfHk;qDr dks mfpr volj &

[k-  n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 273 & vfHk;qDr dh 
mifLFkfr esa lk{; & 

C.  Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 317 & 273 – 
Presence of Accused – Held – Only when an application u/S 317 is filed and a 
statement made by accused that his presence through his counsel may be 
accepted and he don't have any objection regarding question of identity or 
recording of evidence of witness in his absence, then the effect of such 
declaration can be considered – In present case, accused was in jail, thus 
provisions of Section 317 are not applicable.   (Para 34)

B.  Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 273 – 
Evidence in Presence of Accused – Held – Accused was in jail and was not 
produced by prosecution, thus there was no question of disturbing the 
proceedings in Court – Any Undertaking or No Objection given by counsel 
for accused without instructions of accused cannot be said to be given on 
behalf of accused and it would not bind him – He was not responsible for his 
absence but it was the prosecution who failed to keep him present in Court – 
Case remanded back to record evidence of PW-15 & PW-16 in presence of 
accused.   (Paras 31, 35 & 36)

x- n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 317 o 273 & vfHk;qDr 
dh mifLFkfr & 
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E.  Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 234 –  Final 
Arguments – Held – Final argument is Final Sum up of the case – Court must 
give patient hearing to both parties, so that they can effectively present their 
case – Order rejecting the objection to DNA report and fixing the case for 
final arguments on the same day and hearing the final arguments on same 
day is held to be bad in law – DNA report be exhibited afresh after deciding 
the objections or after examining the Scientific Officer. 

D.  Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 366 – Fair 
Procedure – Held – Reference u/S 366 is a continuation of trial, thus it is 
obligatory on High Court to ensure that persons who are facing trial for 
murder are provided fair procedure and no prejudice should be caused to 
them due to procedural lapse.   (Para 55)

?k- n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 366 & mfpr izfØ;k & 

F.  Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 230 & 231 – 
Prosecution Evidence & Cross-examination – Expeditious Trial – Held – If 
trial Court has proceeded expeditiously by examining the witnesses on the 
date so fixed, no fault can be found on part of trial Court – No objection 
raised by counsel for accused that witnesses are appearing on their first date 
of appearance, therefore he is not in a position to cross-examine them effectively – 
No application of recall of witness filed by accused on ground that certain 

(Paras 49, 50 & 52 to 56)

M- n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 234 & vafre rdZ & 
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J U D G M E N T 

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by :

questions could not be put to them as the evidence is being recorded expeditiously 
– Objection rejected.   (Paras 38 to 40)

G.  Criminal Practice – Adjudication of Objections of Accused – 
Held – Where life and liberty of a person is involved, objections of accused 
should be decided by assigning reasons and should not be decided by holding 
the same to be “non-effective” – Trial Court is expected to at-least mention 
the nature of objections raised by accused – Rejection of objection to DNA 
report by terming as “non-effective objection” was not in accordance with 
law.         (Para 51)

Cases referred:

� N- nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;qDr dh vkifRr;ksa dk U;k;fu.kZ;u & 

p- n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 230 o 231 & vfHk;kstu 
lk{; o izfr&ijh{k.k & 'kh?kz fopkj.k & 

(2019) 20 SCC 481, (2021) 3 SCC 380.

Rajesh Shukla, Dy. A.G. for the State. 
D.R. Sharma with Padam Singh with Vijay Dutt Sharma, for the 

non-applicant/accused in CRRFC No. 9/2018 and for the appellant in CRA 
No. 6946/2018. 

(Heard  through V ideo  Conferencing) 

G.S. AHLUWALIA J.:- CRRFC No.9/2018 is a reference under Section 366 of 
st

Cr.P.C. for confirmation of death sentence awarded by 1  Additional Sessions 
Judge, Datia by judgment and sentence dated 13-8-2018 passed in Special Sessions 
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2. By this common judgment, CRRFC No.9 of 2018 and Cr.A. No.6946 of 
2018 shall be disposed of. 

Trial No.21/2018, whereas Cr.A. No.6946 of 2018 is a Criminal Appeal filed by 
the accused under Section 374 of Cr.P.C. against the same judgment and sentence.

4. The prosecution story in short is that on 2-3-2018 at about 20:50, the 
complainant Sanjeev Kumar Gupta, lodged a F.I.R. that he had gone to market. 
His wife and son Rishabh Gupta aged about 10 years, were in the house. At about 6 
P.M., he came back from the market, then he was told by his wife, that at about 5 
P.M., his son had gone out of the house for playing but now he is missing. Accordingly, 
the complainant and his wife verified from the neighbourers but could not get any 
information about whereabouts of their son. It was also alleged that it appears that 
some unidentified person has taken away his child. It was further alleged that at 
about 7:30 P.M., he has received a call from some unidentified person on his mobile 
no.9669842934 from mobile No.9513543492 and 14714332274, who informed 
that his son is with him. Accordingly, the F.I.R. in crime No.53 of 2018 was 
registered in Police Station Indergarh, Distt. Gwalior.

3. It is not out of place to mention here that co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu 
was a juvenile and he was being tried as an adult in the Children's Court. Since, the 
trial of the co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu was to commence, therefore at the 
request of the Children”s Court, the record of the Trial Court was sent back with a 
request to the Children's Court to expedite the matter and the hearing of this case 
was deferred so that it may not cause any prejudice to either of the respective 
parties. Thereafter on 18-3-2019, 17-6-2019 also, the hearing of this appeal was 
deferred in the light of pendency of trial against co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu. 
On 18-3-2019, it was also observed, that if the Trial against the co-accused Ranu 
@ Dilip Sahu is completed, then the record of the Trial Court be requisitioned. 
Accordingly, the Record of the Trial Court was again sent back to this Court, 
however, the Trial against the co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu was still pending. 
Therefore, by order dated 26-8-2019, the office was directed to return the original 
record to the Children's Court after retaining the Xerox copy of the same. 
Thereafter, the matter came up for hearing on 5-4-2021. It was found that a report 
has been received regarding the status of the trial pending against co-accused 
Ranu @ Dilip Sahu, according to which co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu has 
absconded after breaking the Special Home Indore and therefore, the trial has 
come to a halt. Accordingly, it was observed that under these circumstances, there 
is no good reason to defer the hearing of the appeal. Accordingly, the hearing of 
the case started on 9-4-2021 but, thereafter, due to summer vacations, the case 
could not be taken up. Thereafter, the Special Division Bench was reconstituted 
w.e.f. 12-7-2021 and accordingly, the hearing of the case was concluded on        
15-7-2021. 
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6. The dead body of the deceased was sent for postmortem. According to the 
postmortem report, the dead body was received by the autopsy surgeon at 9:00. 
Postmortem was conducted on 4-3-2018 and vide seizure memo prepared at 
13:10, Viscera, heart, lungs, liver, spleen, Hyoid bone and tibia bone of the 
deceased, One slide of anal swab, cloths of the deceased and a bottle containing 
the liquid were seized. At 16:40, unnatural death under Section 174 of Cr.P.C. was 
registered and the dead body of the deceased was handed over to the witnesses on 
4-3-2018 itself. On 5-3-2018 at 14:15, the cloths of the respondent/accused 
Nandkishore, his pubic hairs and specimen of seal of Distt. Hospital Datia were 
seized. The confessional statement of respondent/accused Nandkishore was 
recorded on 5-3-2018 at 16:40 and the confessional statement of co-accused Ranu 
@ Dilip Sahu was recorded at 16:55 on 5-3-2018. On 5-3-2018 itself at 18:00, the 
motorcycle of the co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu was seized. The 
respondent/accused was got medically examined on 5-3-2018. Another 
confessional statement of co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu was recorded on 
7-3-2018 and the mobile number of the mobile, seized from the possession of co-
accused Ranu @ Dilip was checked and it was found that the mobile number of 

5. On 3-3-2018 at 8:10 A.M., Spot map was prepared. At 17:40, the CCTV 
footage of the camera installed in the shop of Dharmendra Prajapati was seen. In 
the said CCTV footage, the missing boy was seen going on a motorcycle along 
with the respondent/accused Nandkishore and co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu. 
On 3-3-2018 itself at 18:30, the CCTV footage of the cameras installed in the 
house of Pradeep Kumar were seen, in which the missing boy was seen on a 
motorcycle along with respondent/accused Nandkishore and coaccused Ranu @ 
Dilip Sahu. Thereafter, on 4-3-2018 at 7:40, the memorandum of co-accused 
Ranu @ Dilip Sahu was recorded. At 8:00, the memorandum of respondent/ 
accused Nandkishore was recorded. At 8:20, the lock of the room of co-accused 
Ranu @ Dilip Sahu was broke open and a chappal of the missing boy and one torn 
bed-sheet were seized. Co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu was arrested at 8:30 
whereas the respondent/accused Nandkishore was arrested at 8:50. On the basis 
of confessional statements made by the co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu as well as 
respondent/accused Nandkishore, the dead body of the boy, namely Rishabh 
Gupta was recovered from a Canal at 9:15. Identification panchnama of the dead 
body was prepared at 9:30. Dehati Nalishi was recorded at 9:45. Notice under 
Section 175 of Cr.P.C. was given to the witnesses at 10:00 and Lash Panchnama 
was prepared at 10:30. The dead body was found packed in gunny bags and 
accordingly vide seizure memo prepared at 11:00, two gunny bags, two pieces of 
bed-sheets which were used for tying the mouth of gunny bags, one bottle 
containing the water of canal, two pieces of bed-sheets which were used for tying 
the mouth of the dead body, as well as the rope which was used for tying the hands 
and legs of the deceased were seized.
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the mobile of co-accused Ranu @ Dilip was 7389346752 and panchnama was 
prepared. On 7-3-2018, a mobile from Co-accused Ranu @ Dilip was seized. Call 
details of the mobile phones of the complainant and co-accused Ranu @ Dilip 
were obtained. Another confessional statement of respondent/accused 
Nandkishore was recorded on 8-3-2018 at 9:00 and a mobile was seized vide 
seizure memo dated 8-3-2018 prepared at 10:20. Semen slide of the 
respondent/accused Nandkishore was prepared on 8-3-2018. On 12-3-2018, the 
hard disk of the CCTV camera of Dharmendra Prajapati was seized at 17:00, 
whereas hard disk of CCTV camera of Pradeep Kumar was seized at 18:05. The 
relevant CCTV footage was got transferred in different pen drives which were 
seized vide seizure memo dated 13-3-2018 at 19:00. The hard disks were handed 
over in Supurdagi to Dharmendra Prajapati and Pradeep Kumar on 13-3-2018 at 
20:00. The certificates under Section 65 B of Evidence were obtained. The mobile 
phone of the complainant and mark sheet of the deceased were seized on 23-8-2018 
at 10:00. The call details and certificate under Section 65-B of Evidence Act for 
CDR were obtained. On 1-5-2018, the internal organs of the deceased Rishabh 
Gupta were sent to F.S.L., Gwalior. Similarly, water of canal, hyoid and tibia bone 
of the deceased were sent to Forensic Medico Legal Institution, Bhopal. 
Similarly, anal swab of the deceased, torn bed sheet recovered from the room of co-
accused Ranu @Dilip Sahu, cloths of the deceased, blood sample of co-accused 
Ranu @ Dilip Sahu and respondent/accused were sent to F.S.L. Sagar for DNA 
fingerprinting. Similarly, two pieces of bedsheets which were used for tying the 
mouth of the gunny bags, two pieces of bed-sheets which were used for tying the 
mouth of the deceased, rope which was used for tying the hands and legs of the 
deceased, underwear, pubic hairs and semen slide of the respondent/accused, 
underwear, pubic hairs and semen slide of coaccused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu were 
sent to F.S.L. Sagar to verify the presence of human blood, human tissues, blood 
group and presence of human semen and sperms. A query was also made as to 
whether the pieces of bed-sheets are part of one bed-sheet or not? The police after 
completing the investigation filed charge sheet on 2-5-2018 against the 
respondent/accused Nandkishore for offence under Sections 363, 364-A, 377, 
302, 201, 34 of I.P.C., under Section 5/6 of Protection of Children from Sexual 
Offences Act, 2012 (in short POCSO Act) and under Section 11/13 of M.P.D.V.P.K. 
Act.

7. Since, the co-accused Ranu @ Dilip was a juvenile, therefore, charge 
sheet against him was filed before the Juvenile Justice Board, Datia, and by order 
dated 29-6-2018, the Juvenile Justice Board, Datia, held that the co-accused Ranu 
@ Dilip Sahu be tried as an adult before the Children's Court, accordingly, the 
case was committed to Children's Court, Datia.

8. The Trial Court by order dated 16-5-2018 framed charges under Sections 
364-A of I.P.C. read with Section 11/13 of M.P.D.V.P.K. Act, 377 of I.P.C., 302 of 
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10. The prosecution, in order to prove its case, examined Ramesh (P.W.1), 
Laxmi (P.W.2), Sanjeev Gupta (P.W.3), Rajendra Prasad Gupta (P.W.4), Bahadur 
Singh (P.W.5), Dharmendra Singh Prajapati (P.W.6), Vishal Sharma (P.W.7), 
Kamal Kishore (P.W.8), Dr. V.S. Khare (P.W.9), Pradeep Kumar Narvariya 
(P.W.10), Dr. Jai bharat (P.W.11), Ritesh Sharma (P.W.12), Jagdish Gupta 
(P.W.13), Brajraj Tomar (P.W. 14), Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W. 15), Dinesh Kumar 
(P.W.16), Rambihari Patsariya (P.W. 17), Sanjeev Gaur (P.W.18), Ajay Channa 
(P.W.19), and Y.S. Tomar (P.W.20).

11. The prosecution relied upon Panchnama of watching CCTV footage of 
shop of Dharmendra Prajapati, Ex. P.1, F.I.R., Ex. P.2, Crime Details Form, Ex. 
P.3, Panchnama of watching CCTV footage of house of Pradeep Kumar 
Narvariya, Ex. P.4, Marksheet of class 2 of deceased, Ex. P.5, Marksheet of class 3 
of deceased, Ex. P.6, seizure memo of Mobile of complainant/father of deceased 
child, Ex. P.7, Forwarding form to DNA fingerprint Sagar of respondent/accused 
Nandkishore, Ex. P.8, Forwarding form to DNA fingerprint Sagar of co-accused 
Ranu Sahu @ Dilip, Ex. P.9, seizure memo of blood sample, Ex. P.10, 
Memorandum of respondent/accused Nandkishore, Ex. P.11, Memorandum of co-
accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip Sahu Ex. P.11A-C, Panchnama of breaking the lock 
of room of co-accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip Sahu, Ex. P.12, seizure of chappal, bed-
sheet from the room of co-accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip Sahu Ex. P.13, Panchnama 
of recovery of dead body from canal, Ex. P.14, Identification of dead body, Ex. 
P.15, Arrest memo of respondent/accused Nandkishore Ex. P.16, Arrest memo of 
co-accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip Sahu, Ex. P.16A-C, Notice under Section 175 
Cr.P.C., Ex. P.17, Naksha Panchayatnama Ex. P.18, Seizure of gunny bags, pieces 
of bed-sheet, rope etc. Ex. P.19, Acknowledgment of receipt of dead body, Ex. 
P.20, Seizure of Hard disk from Dharmendra Prajapati, Ex. P.21, Supurdagi of 
Hard disk to Dharmendra Prajapati Ex. P.22, Panchnama of watching mobile 
number Ex. P.23, Panchanama of watching mobile number of coaccused Ranu 
Sahu @ Dilip Sahu, Ex P.23A-C, Seizure memo of mobile of respondent/accused 
Nandkishore Ex. P.24, Seizure memo of mobile of co-accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip 
Sahu, Ex. P.24A-C, Memorandum of respondent/ accused Nandkishore Ex. 
P.25, Memorandum of respondent/accused Nandkishore Ex. P.26, Memorandum 
of co-accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip Sahu, Ex. P.26A-C, Seizure of internal organs, 
tibia bone etc of the deceased Ex. P.27, Seizure memo of cloths and pubic hairs of 
respondent/accused Nandkishore Ex. P.28, Postmortem report Ex. P.29, Seizure 

9. The respondent/accused Nandkishore abjured his guilt and pleaded not 
guilty. 

I.P.C. read with Section 11/13 of M.P.D.V.P.K. Act or in the alternative under 
Section 302/34 of I.P.C. read with Section 11/13 of M.P.D.V.P.K. Act, Section 201 
of I.P.C. and under Section 5/6 of POCSO Act.
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12. The appellant did not examine any witness in his defence.

13. The Trial Court by judgment dated 13-8-2018 convicted the 
respondent/accused for offence under Sections 364-A of IPC read with Section 
11/13 of MPDVPK Act, Section 377 of IPC, Section 302 of IPC read with Section 
11/13 of MPDVPK Act, under Section 201 of IPC, Section 5/6 of POCSO Act and 
awarded death sentence and fine of Rs. 25,000/- for offence under Section 364-A 
of IPC read with Section 13 of MPDVPK Act, Rigorous Imprisonment of 10 years 
and fine of Rs. 10,000/- with default imprisonment for offence under Section 377 
of I.P.C., death sentence and a fine of Rs. 25,000/- for offence under Section 302 
of I.P.C. read with Section 13 of M.P.D.V.P.K Act, rigorous imprisonment of 7 
years and a fine of Rs. 10,000 with default imprisonment for offence under 
Section 201 of I.P.C. and Life imprisonment and a fine of Rs. 25,000 with default 
imprisonment for offence under Section 5/6 of POCSO Act. All the sentences 
were directed to run concurrently.

14. Accordingly, this reference under Section 366 of Cr.P.C. has been 
received for confirmation of Death sentence, whereas Cr.A. No.6946/2018 has 
been filed by the appellant, thereby challenging his conviction and sentence 
passed by the Trial Court.

15. Challenging the conviction and sentence, it is submitted by the Counsels 
for the respondent/accused Nandkishore, that in the seizure memo of bed-sheet 
from the room of co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu, Ex. P.13, there is no mention 

of Hard disk from Pradeep Kumar Ex. P.30, Supurdagi of Hard disk to Pradeep 
Kumar Ex. P.31, Certificates under Section 65B of Evidence Act, Ex. P.32 and 
P.33, Seizure of Pen Drive in which footage of CCTV cameras installed in the 
shop and house of Dharmendra and Pradeep Kumar, Ex. P.34, Dehati Nalishi Ex. 
P.35, Registration of unnatural death Ex. P.36, M.L.C. of respondent/accused 
Nandkishore Ex. P.37 and P.38, Certificate under Section 65B of Evidence Act, 
P.39, Call details of Mobile No. 9669842934 Ex. P.40, Call details of Mobile No. 
7389346752 Ex. P.41, Details of registration of Mobile SIM No. 7389346751 Ex. 
P.42, Call details of Mobile No. 9522164922 Ex. P.43,, Details of registration of 
Mobile SIM No. 95222164922 Ex. P.44, Requisition for Post Mortem Ex. P.45, 
Memorandum of co-accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip Sahu Ex. P.46C, Seizure of 
Motorcycle from co-accused Ranu Sahu @ Dilip Sahu Ex. P.47C, Requisition for 
obtaining call details of complainant and accused persons, Ex. P.48, Certificate 
under Section 65B of Evidence Act, Ex. P.49, Letter for enhancing offence under 
POCSO and MPDVPK Act, Ex. P.50, Draft for FSL Ex. P.51, FSL report Ex. P.52, 
Draft for examination of seized articles Ex. P.53, FSL report Ex. P.54, FSL report 
Ex. P.55, Draft for Forensic Medico Legal Institution Ex. P.56, Report of Forensic 
Medico Legal Institution Ex. P.57, Draft for FSL Sagar Ex. P. 58, Letters for 
transfer of data of Hard Disk to Pen Drive Ex. P.59 and P.60. DNA report Ex. C-1.
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that the torn bed-sheet was having any stains. Further there is nothing on record 
that the pieces of bed-sheet which were used for tying the mouth of the deceased 
as well as the mouth of the gunny bags were that of the bed-sheet recovered from 
the room of co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu. There is nothing in the DNA report to 
suggest that what was the source of DNA profile found on the bed-sheet and the 
cloths of the deceased. It is further submitted that it is clear from the memo of 
recovery of dead body Ex.P.14, the dead body was recovered at 9:15 AM, and it is 
also clear from the memo of identification of dead body, Ex. P.15, that the dead 
body was got identified at 9:30 A.M., whereas the dead body of the deceased had 
already reached the hospital at 9 A.M. It is further submitted that according to the 
prosecution case itself, the CCTV footage of deceased going along with the 
respondent/accused Nandkishore and co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu were 

transferred in Pen Drives, but it is not clear that whether the Hard disks seized 
from Dharmendra Prajapati and Pradeep Kumar were containing other data or 
not? It is further submitted that Hard disk in question were never produced before 
the Court. It is further submitted that it is clear from the CCTV footage, that the 
deceased was seen running behind the motorcycle of the respondent/accused and 
co-accused and he voluntarily sat on the motorcycle, therefore, it cannot be said 
that he was kidnapped. No independent witnesses were examined. There is no 
allegation of demand of Rs.1 lac in the FIR, therefore, the offence under Section 
364-A of IPC was wrongly added. The voice sample of the respondent/accused 
was not taken. According to the FIR, the boy went missing at about 5 P.M., 
whereas in the CCTV footage, he was seen going on a motorcycle along with the 
respondent/accused and co-accused at 4:30 P.M. There is nothing on record that 
the seized articles were kept in a safe custody before the same were sent to FSL, 
Sagar, FSL, Gwalior and Forensic Medico Legal Institute, Bhopal.

16. By referring to the order-sheet dated 9-7-2018, it is submitted that Dr. S.S. 
Batham (P.W. 15), Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W.16) and Rambihari Patsaria (P.W.17) 
were examined in absence of the respondent/accused.

17. Further by referring to the order-sheets of the Trial Court, it is submitted 
that on 2-5-2018, it was observed that cognizance is to be taken and the case was 
adjourned to 15-5-2018. As the respondent/accused was not produced, therefore, 
the case was adjourned to 16-5-2018. On 16-5-2018, charges were framed and the 
trial program was also filed and the case was fixed for 5-6-2018 for examination 
on witnesses. On 5-6-2018, Ramesh (P.W.1), Laxmi (P.W. 2) and Sanjeev Gupta 
(P.W.3) were examined. On 6-6-2018 Rajendra Prasad Gupta (P.W.4), Bahadur 
Singh (P.W.5), and Dharmendra Prajapati (P.W.6) were examined. Thereafter on 
7-6-2018 Vishal Sharma (P.W.7), Kamal Kishore (P.W.8), Dr. V.S. Khare (P.W.9) 
and Pradeep Kumar Narvaria (P.W.10) were examined. Thereafter on 8-6-2018 
Dr. Jaibharat (P.W.11) and Ritesh Sharma (P.W.12) were examined and the case 
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was adjourned to 19-6-2018. On 19-6-2018 Jagdish Gupta (P.W. 13) was 
examined. On the same day, supplementary charge sheet was also filed and the 
copy of the same was supplied to the Counsel for the respondent/accused. On     
20-6-2018 Brijraj Singh Tomar (P.W. 14) was examined and prosecution witness 
Ramniwas Gupta and Vaibhav Gupta were given up. Thereafter on 9-7-2018        
Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W.15), Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W.16) and Rambihari Patsaria 
(P.W. 17) were examined and prosecution witness Sanju Parihar was given up. On 
10-7-2018 Sanjeev Gaud (P.W.18) and Ajay Channa (P.W.19) were examined and 
on 11-7-2018 Y.S. Tomar (P.W. 20) was partially examined and the case was fixed 
for 13-7-2018 for further examination-in-chief and cross examination. On        
13-7-2018, Y.S. Tomar (P.W.20) was examined. The Prosecution closed its case 
and the case was fixed for 17-7-2018. On 17-7-2018, the prosecution filed an 
application under Section 311 of Cr.P.C. for recalling of Sanjeev Gupta, which 
was orally opposed by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, however, the 
application filed by prosecution under Section 311 of Cr.P.C. was allowed and he 
was recalled on 18-7-2018. On 18-7-2018, Sanjeev Gupta (P.W. 3) was further 
examined and cross examined and the case was fixed for 19-7-2018 for accused 
statement. On 19-7-2018, the accused statement could not be recorded due to 
disruption of electricity supply and the case was adjourned to 20-7-2018. On        
20-7-2018, the case was adjourned on account of bereavement in the family of the 
Counsel of the respondent/accused and on 25-7-2018, the accused statement was 
recorded and the case was fixed for 2-8-2018 for defence evidence. On 2-8-2018 
one more opportunity was granted to examine defence witness and the case was 
adjourned to 7-8-2018. On 7-8-2018, the respondent/accused expressed that he 
does not wish to examine any witness in his defence, but the Trial Court found that 
the DNA Test Report has not been received therefore, adjourned the case for 10-8-
2018 for production of DNA report as well as for final hearing. The DNA report 
was received on 10-8-2018 and without giving any opportunity to raise objection 
to the said DNA report, the Trial Court marked the same as Ex.C/1 in the light of 
the provisions of Section 293 of Cr.P.C. On the very same day, the respondent/ 
accused was further examined under Section 313 of Cr.P.C. and fixed the case for 
final arguments on the very same day and the final arguments were also heard and 
the judgment was delivered on 13-8-2018. It is submitted that although in the 
order sheet dated 10-8-2018, it is mentioned that the respondent/accused had not 
raised any effective objection against the DNA report, but it is clear that the 
admissibility of the DNA report was objected by the respondent/accused, but the 
same was rejected without dealing with the objections. It is further submitted that 
since, the case was fixed for 10-8-2018 for receipt of DNA report, thus, it is clear 
that the prosecution case was not closed for all practical purposes, but still the 
Trial Court acted in a haste by marking the DNA report as Ex.C/1, and thereby 
further examining the respondent/accused under Section 313 of Cr.P.C. as well as 
hearing the matter finally on the same day. It is submitted that it appears that the 
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19. Heard the learned Counsel for the parties.

22. Section 273 of Cr.P.C. reads as under :

Trial Court was under pressure of media trial.

18. Per contra, the Counsel for the State has supported the findings of 
conviction recorded by the Trial Court. It is submitted that it is true that on 7-8-
2018, the case was adjourned to 10-8-2018 for production of DNA report as well 
as for final hearing. It is submitted that the respondent/accused was already aware 
that the case was to be heard finally on 10-8-2018, therefore, it cannot be said that 
any prejudice was caused to the respondent/accused, or he was deprived of a 
reasonable opportunity because of the fact that the matter was heard finally by the 
Trial Court on 10-8-2018. It is further submitted that so far expedite recording of 
evidence of witnesses is concerned, it is a well established principle of law that 
expeditious disposal of trial is a fundamental right of an accused. The Trial Program 
is given in advance, so that the parties may know that which witness is likely to 
examined on which date. The respondent/accused never raised an objection that 
since, the witnesses are coming on their first date of appearance, therefore, he is 
not in a position to effectively cross examine them. Even the Trial Program was 
never objected by the respondent/accused.

20. Before considering the submissions made by the Counsel for the 
respondent/accused on the merits of the case, this Court would like to consider the 
submission that whether reasonable opportunity was given by the Trial Court to 
the respondent/accused or not? If not, then whether the entire trial would stand 
vitiated or what would be the effect of such non-affording of the opportunity.

21. The first contention in this regard is that 3 important witnesses, namely Dr. 
S.S. Batham (P.W.15), Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W.16) and Rambihari Patsaria 
(P.W.17) were examined on 9-7-2018, but on that date, the respondent/accused 
was not produced from the jail.

273. Evidence to be taken in presence of accused.— 
Except as otherwise expressly provided, all evidence taken in 
the course of the trial or other proceeding shall be taken in the 
presence of the accused, or, when his personal attendance is 
dispensed with, in the presence of his pleader: 

Provided that where the evidence of a woman below the age of 
eighteen years who is alleged to have been subjected to rape or 
any other sexual offence, is to be recorded, the court may take 
appropriate measures to ensure that such woman is not 
confronted by the accused while at the same time ensuring the 
right of cross-examination of the accused.
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vfHk;qDr uanfd'kksj dks vkt U;kf;d fujks/k tsy nfr;k 
ls izLrqr ugh fd;k x;k gS mldh vksj ls izLrqr fo}ku vf/koDrk 
}kjk ;g O;Dr fd;k x;k fd izdj.k es mUgs vfHk;qDr dh iSjoh gsrq 
l'kDr fd;k x;k gS rFkk os izdj.k es vfHk;qDr dh vksj ls mifLFkr 
gks jgs gSA vr% vfHk;qDr dh vuqifLFkfr es ;fn dksbZ lk{kh mifLFkr 
gksrk gS rks mUgs vfHk;qDr dh vuqifLFkfr es lk{; djk;s tkus es dksbZ 
vkifRRk ugh gSA

Explanation.—In this section, “accused” includes a person in 
relation to whom any proceeding under Chapter VIII has been 
commenced under this Code.

23. The relevant potion (sic : portion) of Order sheet dated 9-7-2018 reads as 
under :

9-7-2018. jkT; }kjk Jh iq"isanz dqekj xxZ Mh ih vksA

vfHk;qDr uUn fd'kksj U;kf;d fujks/k tsy nfr;k ls 
izLrqr ugh mldh vksj ls Jh latksxkuan ;kno vf/koDrk mifLFkrA

24. As already pointed out, Prosecution witness Sanju Parihar was given up. 
However, Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W. 15), Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W.16) and Rambihari 
Patsaria (P.W.17) were examined in absence of the respondent/accused.

25. So far as Rambihari Patsaria (P.W. 17) is concerned, he has deposed 
regarding mobile number of co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu. He has not deposed 
any thing against the respondent/accused. Therefore, this Court is of the considered 
opinion, that so far as Rambihari Patsaria (P.W. 17) is concerned, no prejudice has 
been caused to the respondent/accused.

26. However, so far as Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W. 15) and Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W. 
16) are concerned, they have deposed against the respondent/accused. Dr. S.S. 
Batham (P.W. 15) had prepared the semen slide of the respondent/accused, 
whereas Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W. 16) had medically examined the respondent/ 
accused and had also seized the underwear and pubic hairs of the respondent/ 
accused. It is not out of place to mention here that underwear and public 
(sic: pubic) hairs of the respondent/accused were sent to F.S.L. Sagar by draft, Ex. 
P.53 with a request to the Director, F.S.L. Sagar to give his opinion, as to whether 
human blood, human tissues, blood group on article D,E,F and G and whether 
human semen and sperms were found on underwear (H), Pubic Hair (I),Semen 
Slide of respondent/accused (M) and other articles like J,K and L or not? As per 
F.S.L. report, Ex. P.54, human Semen and Sperms were found on underwear (H), 
Pubic Hair (I),Semen Slide of respondent/accused (M) apart from other articles.

vfHk;kstu lk{kh MkW- ,l-,l- ckFke] MkW- fnus'k dqekj 
rFkk lk{kh jkefcgkjh iVlkfj;k rFkk lk{kh latw ifjgkj mifLFkrA---
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28. The Supreme Court in the case of Atma Ram & Others Vs. State of 
Rajasthan reported in (2019) 20 SCC 481 has held as under:

"57. Mr Naphade would submit that the appellant did not 
suffer any prejudice. We do not agree. Infringement of such a 
valuable right itself causes prejudice. In S.L. Kapoor v. 
Jagmohan this Court clearly held: (SCC p. 395, para 24)

58. In A.R. Antulay v. R.S. Nayak a seven-Judge Bench of this 
Court has also held that when an order has been passed in 
violation of a fundamental right or in breach of the principles of 
natural justice, the same would be a nullity. (See also State of 
Haryana v. State of Punjab and Rajasthan SRTC v. Zakir 
Hussain.)”

' 24. . ... In our view the principles of natural justice know 
of no exclusionary rule dependent on whether it would have 
made any difference if natural justice had been observed. The 
non-observance of natural justice is itself prejudice to any man 
and proof of prejudice independently of proof of denial of 
natural justice is unnecessary. It ill comes from a person who has 
denied justice that the person who has been denied justice is not 
prejudiced.'

27. The Trial Court in para 92 of its judgment has taken note of the evidence of 
Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W.15) and Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W.16) as well as the fact that 
underwear, pubic hair and semen slide of the respondent/accused were seized.

19. The emphasis was laid by Dr Manish Singhvi, learned 
Senior Advocate for the State on the articles relied upon by him 
to submit that the theory of “harmless error” which has been 
recognised in criminal jurisprudence and that there must be a 
remedial approach. Again, we need not go into these broader 
concepts as the provisions of the Code, in our considered view, 
are clearly indicative and lay down with clarity as to which 
infringements per se, would result in vitiation of proceedings. 
Chapter XXXV of the Code deals with “Irregular Proceedings”, 
and Section 461 stipulates certain infringements or 
irregularities which vitiate proceedings. Barring those 
stipulated in Section 461, the thrust of the Chapter is that any 
infringement or irregularity would not vitiate the proceedings 
unless, as a result of such infringement or irregularity, great 
prejudice had occasioned to the accused. Shri Hegde, learned 
Senior Advocate was quick to rely on the passages in Jayendra 
Vishnu Thakur to submit that the prejudice in such cases would 
be inherent or per se. Paras 57 and 58 of the said decision were as 
under: (SCC p. 129)
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20. The aforementioned observations in Jayendra Vishnu 
Thakur must be read in the peculiar factual context of the matter. 
The accused Jayendra Vishnu Thakur was tried in respect of 
certain offences in a court in Delhi and at the same time he was 
also an accused in a trial under the provisions of the TADA Act 
in a court in Pune. The trial in the court in Pune proceeded on the 
basis that Jayendra Vishnu Thakur was an absconding accused. 
The evidence was thus led in the trial in Pune in his absence 
when he was not sent up for trial, at the end of which all the 
accused were acquitted. However, in an appeal arising 
therefrom, this Court convicted some of the accused for the 
offences with which they were tried. In the meantime, Jayendra 
Vishnu Thakur was convicted by the court in Delhi and was 
undergoing sentence imposed upon him. Later, he was 
produced before the court in Pune with a supplementary charge-
sheet and charges were framed against him along with certain 
other accused. A request was made by the Public Prosecutor that 
the evidence of some of the witnesses, which was led in the 
earlier trial be read in evidence in the fresh trial against Jayendra 
Vishnu Thakur as those witnesses were either dead or not 
available to be examined. The request was allowed which order 
of the court in Pune was under challenge before this Court. It 
was found by this Court that the basic premise for application of 
Section 299 of the Code was completely absent. The accused 
had not absconded. He was very much in confinement and could 
have been produced in the earlier trial before the court in Pune. 
Since the requirements of Section 299 were not satisfied, the 
evidence led on the earlier occasion could not be taken as 
evidence in the subsequent proceedings. The witnesses were not 
alive and could not be re-examined in the fresh trial nor could 
there be cross-examination on behalf of the accused. If the 
evidence in the earlier trial was to be read in the subsequent trial, 
the accused would be denied the opportunity of cross-
examination of the witnesses concerned. Thus, the prejudice 
was inherent. It is in this factual context that the observations of 
this Court have to be considered. Same is not the situation in the 
present matter. It is not the direction of the High Court to read 
the entire evidence on the earlier occasion as evidence in the de 
novo trial. The direction is to re-examine those witnesses who 
were not examined in the presence of the appellants. The 
direction now ensures the presence of the appellants in the 
Court, so that they have every opportunity to watch the 
witnesses deposing in the trial and cross-examine the said 
witnesses. Since these basic requirements would be 
scrupulously observed and complied with, there is no prejudice 
at all.
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367. Power to direct further inquiry to be made or 
additional evidence to be taken.—(1) If, when such 
proceedings are submitted, the High Court thinks that a further 
inquiry should be made into, or additional evidence taken upon, 
any point bearing upon the guilt or innocence of the convicted 
person, it may make such inquiry or take such evidence itself, or 
direct it to be made or taken by the Court of Session.

(2) Unless the High Court otherwise directs, the presence 
of the convicted person may be dispensed with when such 
inquiry is made or such evidence is taken.

***

(2) The Court passing the sentence shall commit the 
convicted person to jail custody under a warrant.

(3) When the inquiry or evidence (if any) is not made or 
taken by the High Court, the result of such inquiry or evidence 
shall be certified to such Court.

(c) may acquit the accused person:

Provided that no order of confirmation shall be made under this 
section until the period allowed for preferring an appeal has 
expired, or, if an appeal is presented within such period, until 
such appeal is disposed of.

(b) may annul the conviction, and convict the accused of any 
offence of which the Court of Session might have convicted 
him, or order a new trial on the same or an amended charge, or

366. Sentence of death to be submitted by Court of 
Session for confirmation.—(1) When the Court of Session 
passes a sentence of death, the proceedings shall be submitted to 
the High Court, and the sentence shall not be executed unless it 
is confirmed by the High Court.

368. Power of High Court to confirm sentence or annual 
conviction.—In any case submitted under Section 366, the 
High Court—

(a) may confirm the sentence, or pass any other sentence 
warranted by law, or 

21. The learned Amicus Curiae was right in relying upon 
the provisions of Chapter XXVIII (Sections 366 to 371 of the 
Code) and Chapter XXIX (Sections 372 to 394 of the Code). He  
was also right in saying that Chapter XXVIII was more relevant 
in the present matter and the judgment of the High Court was 
supported more strongly by the provisions of Chapter XXVIII. 
The provisions of Sections 366 to 368 and Sections 386 and 391 
are quoted here for ready reference:
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(ii) alter the finding, maintaining the sentence, or

(e) make any amendment or any consequential or incidental 
order that may be just or proper:

(iii) with or without altering the finding, alter the nature or the 
extent, or the nature and extent, of the sentence, so as to enhance 
or reduce the same;

(iii) with or without altering the finding, alter the nature or the 
extent, or the nature and extent, of the sentence, but not so as to 
enhance the same;

386. Powers of the Appellate Court.—After perusing 
such record and hearing the appellant or his pleader, if he 
appears, and the Public Prosecutor if he appears, and in case of 
an appeal under Section 377 or Section 378, the accused, if he 
appears, the appellate court may, if it considers that there is no 
sufficient ground for interfering, dismiss the appeal, or may—

(c) in an appeal for enhancement of sentence—

(i) reverse the finding and sentence and acquit or discharge the 
accused or order him to be re-tried by a court competent to try 
the offence, or

(i) reverse the finding and sentence and acquit or discharge the 
accused, or order him to be re-tried by a court of competent 
jurisdiction subordinate to such appellate court or committed 
for trial, or

(a) in an appeal from an order of acquittal, reverse such order 
and direct that further inquiry be made, or that the accused be re-
tried or committed for trial, as the case may be, or find him 
guilty and pass sentence on him according to law;

(ii) alter the finding maintaining the sentence, or

(b) in an appeal from a conviction—

(d) in an appeal from any other order, alter or reverse such 
order;

***

Provided further that the appellate court shall not inflict greater 
punishment for the offence which in its opinion the accused has 
committed, than might have been inflicted for that offence by 
the court passing the order or sentence under appeal.

Provided that the sentence shall not be enhanced unless the 
accused has had an opportunity of showing cause against such 
enhancement:
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(3) The accused or his pleader shall have the right to be 
present when the additional evidence is taken.

391. Appellate Court may take further evidence or 
direct it to be taken.—(1) In dealing with any appeal under this 
Chapter, the appellate court, if it thinks additional evidence to 
be necessary, shall record its reasons and may either take such 
evidence itself, or direct it to be taken by a Magistrate, or when 
the appellate court is a High Court, by a Court of Session or a 
Magistrate.

22. According to Section 366 when a Court of Session 
passes a sentence of death, the proceedings must be submitted to 
the High Court and the sentence of death is not to be executed 
unless it is confirmed by the High Court. Section 367 then 
proceeds to lay down the power of the High Court to direct 
further enquiry to be made or additional evidence to be taken. 
Section 368, thereafter, lays down the power of the High Court 
to confirm the sentence so imposed or annul the conviction. One 
of the powers which the High Court can exercise is one under 
Section 368(c) of the Code and that is to “acquit the accused 
person”. Pertinently, the power to acquit the person can be 
exercised by the High Court even without there being any 
substantive appeal on the part of the accused challenging his 
conviction. To that extent, the proceedings under Chapter 
XXVIII which deal with “submission of death sentences for 
confirmation” is a proceeding in continuation of the trial. These 
provisions thus entitle the High Court to direct further enquiry 
or to take additional evidence and the High Court may, in a 
given case, even acquit the accused person. The scope of the 
chapter is wider. Chapter XXIX of the Code deals with 
“Appeals”. Section 391 also entitles the appellate court to take 
further evidence or direct such further evidence to be taken. 
Section 386 then enumerates powers of the appellate court 
which inter alia includes the power to “reverse the finding and 
sentence and acquit or discharge the accused, or order him to be 
re-tried by a court of competent jurisdiction subordinate to such 
appellate court or committed for trial”. The powers of the 
appellate court are equally wide. The High Court in the present 

(4) The taking of evidence under this section shall be 
subject to the provisions of Chapter XXIII, as if it were an 
inquiry.”

(2) When the additional evidence is taken by the Court of 
Session or the Magistrate, it or he shall certify such evidence to 
the appellate court, and such Court shall thereupon proceed to 
dispose of the appeal.
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23. It is true that as consistently laid down by this Court, 
an order of retrial of a criminal case is not to be taken resort to 
easily and must be made in exceptional cases. For example, it 
was observed by this Court in Ukha Kolhe v. State of 
Maharashtra, as under: (AIR p. 1537, para 11)

"11. An order for retrial of a criminal case is made in 
exceptional cases, and not unless the appellate court is satisfied 
that the court trying the proceeding had no jurisdiction to try it 
or that the trial was vitiated by serious illegalities or 
irregularities or on account of misconception of the nature of the 
proceedings and on that account in substance there had been no 
real trial or that the prosecutor or an accused was, for reasons 
over which he had no control, prevented from leading or 
tendering evidence material to the charge, and in the interests of 
justice the appellate court deems it appropriate, having regard to 
the circumstances of the case, that the accused should be put on 
his trial again. An order of retrial wipes out from the record the 
earlier proceeding, and exposes the person accused to another 
trial which affords the prosecutor an opportunity to rectify the 
infirmities disclosed in the earlier trial, and will not ordinarily 
be countenanced when it is made merely to enable the 
prosecutor to lead evidence which he could but has not cared to 
lead either on account of insufficient appreciation of the nature 
of the case or for other reasons. Harries, C.J., in Ramanlal Rathi 
v. State: (SCC OnLine Cal para 10)

case was exercising powers both under Chapters XXVIII and 
XXIX of the Code. If the power can go to the extent of ordering 
a complete retrial, the exercise of power to a lesser extent, 
namely, ordering de novo examination of twelve witnesses with 
further directions as the High Court has imposed in the present 
matter, was certainly within the powers of the High Court. 
There is, thus, no infraction or jurisdictional error on the part of 
the High Court.

10. If at the end of a criminal prosecution the evidence 
leaves the Court in doubt as to the guilt of the accused the latter 
is entitled to a verdict of not guilty. A retrial may be ordered 
when the original trial has not been satisfactory for particular 
reasons, for example, if evidence had been wrongly rejected 
which should have been admitted, or admitted when it should 
have been rejected, or the Court had refused to hear certain 
witnesses who should, have been heard. But, I have never 
known of a case where a retrial can be ordered on the ground 
that the prosecution did not produce the proper evidence and did 
not know how to prove their case.' ”

2140 I.L.R.[2021]M.P.State of M.P. Vs. Nandu@Nandkishore Gupta (DB)



We must also consider the matter from the standpoint and 
perspective of the victims as suggested by the learned Amicus 
Curiae. Four persons of a family were done to death. It is 
certainly in the societal interest that the guilty must be punished 
and at the same time the procedural requirements which ensure 
fairness in trial must be adhered to. If there was an infraction, 
which otherwise does not vitiate the trial by itself, the attempt 
must be to remedy the situation to the extent possible, so that the 
interests of the accused as well as societal interest are 
adequately safeguarded. The very same witnesses were directed 
to be de novo examined which would ensure that the interest of 
the prosecution is subserved and at the same time the accused 
will have every right and opportunity to watch the witnesses 
deposing against them, watch their demeanour and instruct their 
counsel properly so that the said witnesses can be effectively 
cross-examined. In the process, the interest of the accused 
would also stand protected. On the other hand, if we were to 
accept the submission that the proceedings stood vitiated and, 
therefore, the High Court was powerless to order de novo 
examination of the witnesses concerned, it would result in great 
miscarriage of justice. The persons who are accused of 
committing four murders would not effectively be tried. The 
evidence against them would not be read for a technical 
infraction resulting in great miscarriage.

Viewed thus, the order and directions passed by the High Court 
completely ensure that a fair procedure is adopted and the 
depositions of the witnesses, after due distillation from their 
cross-examination can be read in evidence.

29. It is submitted by the Counsel for the State that since, the presence of 
human semen and sperms on the underwear, pubic hair and semen slide of the 
respondent/accused was natural, therefore, even if the evidence of Dr. S.S. 
Batham (P.W. 15) and Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W. 16) is ignored, still then the guilt of 
the respondent/accused stands proved beyond reasonable doubt.

30. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the parties.

31. As already pointed out, the Trial Court has referred to the evidence of Dr. 
S.S. Batham (P.W. 15), Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W.16) and the seizure of underwear, 
pubic hairs and semen slide of the respondent/accused. Thus, the contention of the 
Counsel for the State that the evidence of these two witnesses may be ignored, 
cannot be accepted. As the respondent/accused has also been convicted for 
offence under Section 377 of I.P.C., therefore, this Court is of the considered 
opinion, that the evidence of Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W. 15) and Dr. Dinesh Kumar 
(P.W. 16) is of importance to prove the preparation of semen slide or seizure of 
underwear and pubic hairs of the respondent/accused.
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34. In the present case, the respondent/accused was in jail, therefore, the 
provisions of Section 317 of Cr.P.C. are not applicable. Only when an application 
is filed under Section 317 of Cr.P.C. and a statement is made by the accused, that 
his presence through his Counsel may be accepted and he does not have any 
objection regarding the question of identity or recording of evidence of the 
witness in his absence, then the effect of such declaration can be considered. 
Further, before considering the rigors of Section 317, the Trial Court has to record 
his reasons that the personal attendance of the accused before the Court is not 
necessary in the interests of justice, or that the accused is persistently disturbing 
the proceedings in Court.

32. It is next contended by the Counsel for the State that since, the Counsel of 
the respondent/accused himself had given his no objection to the recording of 
evidence of these witnesses in absence of the respondent/accused, therefore, now 
the respondent/accused cannot make a complaint regarding violation of Section 
273 of Cr.P.C.

33. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the State.

36. Therefore, in the light of the judgment passed by the Supreme Court in the 
case of Atmaram (Supra), the case is liable to be remanded back to the Trial Court, 
with a direction to record the evidence of Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W. 15) and Dr. 
Dinesh Kumar (P.W. 16) in the presence of the respondent/accused.

37. So far as the another contention of the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused, that witnesses were examined on the dates which were so fixed by the 
Trial Court, and the Trial Court has proceeded expeditiously, thereby jeopardizing 
the interest of the respondent/accused is concerned, the same cannot be accepted 
for the following reasons:

35. However, in the present case, the respondent/accused was in jail and he 
was not produced by the prosecution. Therefore there was no question of 
disturbing the proceedings in the Court. Further, on all the occasions, the Counsel 
for the respondent/accused had cross examined the witnesses. Any Undertaking 
or No Objection given by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, cannot be said 
to be an Undertaking or No Objection on behalf of the respondent/accused who 
was in jail and was not produced by the prosecution itself. The respondent/ 
accused was not responsible for his absence, but it was the prosecution who had 
failed to keep the respondent/accused present in the Court. Therefore, the fault on 
the part of the prosecution to keep the accused present before the Court can not be 
taken to the disadvantage of the respondent/accused. Further, any Undertaking or 
No objection given by a Counsel without the instructions of the respondent/ 
accused would not bind the accused.
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230. Date for prosecution evidence.— If the accused refuses 
to plead, or does not plead, or claims to be tried or is not 
convicted under Section 229, the Judge shall fix a date for the 
examination of witnesses, and may, on the application of the 
prosecution, issue any process for compelling the attendance of 
any witness or the production of any document or other thing.

(2) The Judge may, in his discretion, permit the cross-
examination of any witness to be deferred until any other 
witness or witnesses have been examined or recall any 
witness for further cross-examination.

39. Thus, it is clear that on the date so fixed, the Judge has to take all such 
evidence as may be produced in support of prosecution. If the witnesses are 
present, then the presiding judge cannot refuse to examine them except for the 
reasons mentioned in the order sheet. In the present case, no objection was ever 
raised by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, that witnesses are appearing on 
their first date of appearance, therefore, he is not in a position to cross examine 
them effectively. Even otherwise, it is not the case of the respondent/accused, that 
since, the witnesses were examined on each date so fixed by the Trial Court, 
therefore, any prejudice has been caused to the respondent/accused. No 
application for recall of any witness was filed by the respondent/accused on the 
ground that certain questions could not be put to them as the evidence is being 
recorded expeditiously. Further, expeditious trial is a fundamental right of an 
accused. If the Trial Court has proceeded expeditiously by examining the 
witnesses on the date so fixed, this Court is of the considered opinion, that no fault 
can be found on the part of the Trial Court by examining the witnesses on the date 
so fixed in the Trial.

231. Evidence for prosecution.— (1) On the date so fixed, 
the Judge shall proceed to take all such evidence as may be 
produced in support of the prosecution.

40. The Supreme Court in the case of Gouri Shankar Vs. State of Punjab 
reported in (2021) 3 SCC 380 has held as under :

9. At the motion stage when the matter came up before this 
Court on 20-2-2020, the plea which was raised by the learned 
counsel for the appellant was that on the date of framing of 
charges i.e. 29-4-2013, the statement of material prosecution 
witnesses PW 1 and PW 2 was recorded without affording 
reasonable opportunity to the appellant-accused to cross-
examine the prosecution witnesses as mandated under Section 
230 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973. After the notice 

38. Sections 230 and 231 of Cr.P.C. read as under :
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10. After taking note of the statement of fact which has been 
stated by the respondent in the counter-affidavit and Para 13 in 
particular, of which the reference has been made and with 
assistance of the learned counsel, we have gone through the 
material available on record and find no error in the finding of 
guilt being recorded by the trial court and confirmed by the High 
Court in the impugned judgment which calls for our 
interference. 

was served, counter-affidavit has been filed by the respondent 
and the fact noticed by us in our order dated 20-2-2020 has been 
explained in Para 13 of the counter-affidavit that after framing 
of charges, the appellant pleaded guilty, however following the 
rule of prudence, the trial court decided to examine four 
witnesses before recording the conviction, and accordingly PW 
1 and PW 2 were examined first and perusal of their statements 
i.e. Annexure P-2 and Annexure P-3 would show that the 
opportunity was granted to the appellant-accused to cross-
examine the witnesses on 29-4-2013 and in fact cross-examination 
was done by the counsel for the appellant-accused. However, 
after cross-examination of these two witnesses, the appellant 
pleaded to claim trial on 14-5-2013 and thereafter the evidence 
of other prosecution witnesses was recorded. At no stage, the 
appellant moved any application for recalling the witnesses and 
to be more specific, of PW 1 and PW 2 and this issue has been 
raised for the first time before this Court.

Thus, the objection regarding expeditious trial is hereby rejected.

41. It is next contended by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that the 
prosecution closed its case on 13-7-2018 and on 17-7-2018, an application filed 
by prosecution under Section 311 of Cr.P.C. was allowed and Sanjeev Gupta 
(P.W.3) was further examined on 18-7-2018, and the accused statements under 
Section 313 of Cr.P.C. were recorded on 25-7-2018 and the case was adjourned 
for examination of defence witness. The respondent/accused also expressed his 
unwillingness to examine any defence witness on 7-8-2018, but the Trial Court on 
its own found that the DNA report has not been produced, therefore, fixed the case 
for 10-8-2018 for filing of DNA report as well as for Final arguments. It is 
submitted that once, the prosecution case was not closed for all practical purposes, 
then the Trial Court should not have fixed the case for final arguments. 
Furthermore, on 10-8-2018, the DNA report was filed and after mentioning that 
no effective objection was raised by the respondent/accused, the DNA report was 
exhibited as Ex.C-1 in the light of the provisions of Section 293 of Cr.P.C. It is 
submitted that the Trial Court acted in a haste and on the very same day, further 
examination of accused under Section 313 of Cr.P.C. was done and fixed the case 
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vfHk;qDr uUn fd'kksj U;kf;d fujks/k tsy nfr;k ls is'k 
mldh vksj ls Jh latksxkuan ;kno vf/koDrk mifLFkr 

42. Considered the submissions.

43. Orders dated 7-8-2018 and 10-8-2018 read as under :

for final hearing on the same day and ultimately heard the matter finally. It is 
submitted that this undue haste shown by the Trial Court has seriously prejudiced 
the respondent/accused.

izdj.k es Mh ,u , izfrosnu is'k ughA izdj.k fujkdj.k 
dh voLFkk ij gS vr% iqfyl v/kh{kd nfr;k dks i= ys[k fd;k tkos 
fd os lacaf/krksa dks vkxkeh fnukad dks izdj.k es Mh ,u , izfrosnu 
izLrqr fd;s tkus gsrq mfpr funsZ'k iznku djsA
cpko i{k vf/koDrk }kjk cpko lk{; u nsuk O;Dr fd;kA izdj.k Mh 
,u , dh izLrqfr ,oa vafre rdZ gsrq fnukad 10-8-2018 dks is'k gksA

vfHk;qDr uUn fd'kksj U;kf;d fujks/k tsy nfr;k ls is'k 
mldh vksj ls Jh latksxkuan ;kno vf/koDrk mifLFkr 

vfHk;kstu }kjk ,d vkosnu i= lfgr jkT; 
U;k;kyf;d foKku iz;ksx'kkyk lkxj dk izfrosnu izLrqr fd;k x;k] 
izfrfyfi izfrj{kk i{k ds fo}ku vfHkHkkod dks iznku dh xbZ izdV 
foyac ls izkIr gksus ds dkj.k dks ns[krs gq, ,oa izHkkoh vkifRr Hkh u 
gksus ls vkosnu Lohdkj djrs gq, mDr jkT; U;k;kyf;d foKku 
iz;ksx'kkyk dk izfrosnu vfHkys[k ij fy;k tkrk gS vkSj /kkjk 293 
naizla ds izko/kku dks n`f"Vxr j[krs gq, mDr izfrosnu ij izn'kZ lh&1 
vafdr fd;k tkrk gSA 
izdj.k izn'kZ lh&1 ds izfrosnu ds laca/k es naizla dh /kkjk 313 
izko/kku ds ifjizs{; es vfHk;qDr ds vfrfjDr ijh{k.k gsrq dqN nsj ckn 
izLrqr gks

vfHk;qDr dk naizla dh /kkjk 31 ds izko/kkukarxZr vfrfjDr vfHk;qDr 
ijh{k.k fd;k x;kA izfrj{kk i{k }kjk izdj.k es dksbZ cpko lk{; u 
nsuk O;Dr fd;kA 

izdj.k mHk;i{k dh lgefr ls vkt gh vafre rdZ gsrq fu;r fd;k 
tkrk gSA izdj.k vafre rdZ gsrq FkksMh nsj ckn is'k gks

i{kdkj iwoZorA
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mHk; i{k ds vafre rdZ Jo.k fd;s x;sA izdj.k fu.kZ; gsrq fu;r

44. From the above mentioned order-sheets, it appears that the case for final 
arguments was fixed on the same day with the consent of the Counsel for the 
parties, but whether it can be said that any prejudice was caused to the respondent/ 
accused or not? 

46. Further, it is submitted that under the facts and circumstances of the case, 
it is clear that the consent of the Counsel for the respondent/accused to argue the 
matter finally cannot be said to be voluntary. 

fd;k tkrk gSA

233. Entering upon defence.— (1) Where the accused is not 
acquitted under Section 232, he shall be called upon to enter on 

232. Acquittal.— If, after taking the evidence for the 
prosecution, examining the accused and hearing the prosecution 
and the defence on the point, the Judge considers that there is no 
evidence that the accused committed the offence, the Judge 
shall record an order of acquittal.

izdj.k fu.kZ; gsrq fnukad 13-8-2018 dks is'k gksA

45. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accued that in the seizure 
memo Ex. P. 13, it is not mentioned that whether any stains of any kind were found 
on the bed sheet recovered from the room of the co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu. It 
is further submitted that even in the DNA report, it is merely mentioned that DNA 
profile was found from the source from Cloths of the deceased and the bed sheet, 
but the nature of source is not mentioned whereas the Scientific Officer has 
mentioned that DNA profile of the respondent/accused was extracted from source 
“blood sample”. It is submitted that when the Scientific Officer was mentioning 
about the “blood sample” as a source for extracting DNA profile of the 
respondent/accused, then the omission on his part to disclose the nature of source 
found on the cloths of the deceased and the bed sheet recovered from the room of 
the co-accused Ranu @ Dilip Sahu assumes importance. It is submitted that the 
respondent/accused by cross examining the Scientific Officer, could have pointed 
out that the DNA report is not worth reliance, however, the objection raised by the 
respondent/accused to the DNA report was rejected merely by mentioning that no 
effective objection was raised. It is further submitted that the DNA report has also 
been considered against the respondent/accused, therefore grave prejudice has 
been caused to him.

47. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the parties.

48. Sections 232, 233 and 234 of Cr.P.C. read as under :
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234. Arguments.— When the examination of the witnesses 
(if any) for the defence is complete, the prosecutor shall sum up 
his case and the accused or his pleader shall be entitled to reply:

his defence and adduce any evidence he may have in support 
thereof.

51. Further, the Trial Court by rejecting the objections of the 
respondent/accused as non-effective objections, has committed mistake. The 
Trial Court was expected to mention the objections raised by the 
respondent/accused to the DNA report and then should have dealt with the same 
by assigning reasons. This mistake of rejecting the objections as non-effective 
objections has opened a Pandora box as the respondent/accused may now raise 
even those objections which might not have been taken by him in the Trial Court. 
Be that as it may. Where the life and liberty of a person is involved, then the 
objections of the accused should be decided by assigning reasons and should not 
be decided by holding that they are not effective. Further the Trial Court is 
expected to at-least mention the nature of objections raised by the accused. Under 
these circumstances, we are of the considered opinion, that the rejection of the 
objection to the DNA report by terming as non-effective objection was not in 
accordance with law.

(3)  If the accused applies for the issue of any process for 
compelling the attendance of any witness or the production of 
any document or thing, the Judge shall issue such process unless 
he considers, for reasons to be recorded, that such application 
should be refused on the ground that it is made for the purpose of 
vexation or delay or for defeating the ends of justice.

(2)  If the accused puts in any written statement, the Judge 
shall file it with the record.

Provided that where any point of law is raised by the accused or 
his pleader, the prosecution may, with the permission of the 
Judge, make his submissions with regard to such point of law.

50. Since, the case was fixed for 10-8-2018 for production of DNA report, 
thus, it is clear that on 10-8-2018, the case of the prosecution was implicitly 
reopened by the Trial Court by order dated 7-8-2018 by directing the prosecution 
to produce the DNA report. Therefore, by order dated 7-8-2018, the Trial Court 
should not have fixed the case for final arguments.

49. From the plain reading of Section 233 Cr.P.C., it is clear that if a judgment 
is not passed under Section 232 of Cr.P.C., then the accused shall be called upon to 
enter his defence and thereafter, final arguments shall be heard as per the 
provisions of Section 234 of Cr.P.C.
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53. No time was granted to the respondent/accused to prepare the final 
arguments at-least in the light of the DNA report, which was considered as an 
important piece of circumstance by the Trial Court against the respondent/ 
accused.

52. Further, the provision of Section 234 of Cr.P.C. which deals with Final 
arguments is not a mere formality. Although there is no bar that the final 
arguments cannot be heard expeditiously, but the facts and circumstances of this 
Case indicates that the case of the prosecution was closed, further examination of 
accused under Section 313 of Cr.P.C. and the final arguments were heard on the 
very same day. By no stretch of imagination, it can be said that the 
respondent/accused did not suffer any prejudice.

(i) Application was filed for taking DNA report on record and 
the objection of the accused was rejected merely by holding 
that it was a noneffective objection.The DNA report was 
exhibited as Ex. C-1 in the light of provisions of Section 293 
of Cr.P.C. 

(ii) The further statement of the accused under Section 313 of 
Cr.P.C. was recorded and he did not pray for time to lead 
evidence in defence. 

(iii) The case was fixed for final arguments on the same day and 
later on, the final arguments were heard on the same day.

55. Reference under Section 366 of Cr.P.C. is a continuation of Trial. 
Therefore, it is obligatory on the High Court to ensure that the persons who are 
facing trial for murder are provided fair procedure and no prejudice should be 
caused to them due to procedural lapse.

56. As this Court has already come to a conclusion that the manner in which 
the proceedings were undertaken by the Trial Court on 10-8-2018 has certainly 

54. It is a matter of common knowledge that the final arguments requires 
thorough preparation of case. The concept of final arguments is based on the 
principle of Natural Justice. The oral as well as documentary evidence is to be 
appreciated after hearing the arguments of both the parties. Every accused is 
entitled for an opportunity to effectively put forward his case by suggesting 
appreciation of oral and ocular evidence in a manner which may be favoring him 
and to present before the Judge that he should be acquitted. In short it can be said 
that final argument is Final Sum up of the case, by the Counsel. By making a 
specific provision under Section 234 of Cr.P.C., the legislature has attached great 
importance to “Final Arguments”. The Court must give patient hearing to both the 
parties, so that they can effectively present their case to show as to why they 
should win. The order sheet dated 10-8-2018 is in three parts :
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58. The matter is remanded back to the Trial Court with a direction to record 
the evidence of Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W. 15) and Dr. Dinesh Kumar (P.W. 16) afresh 
in the presence of the respondent/accused. After recording the evidence of the 
above mentioned two witnesses, the Trial Court shall proceed further from the 
stage of filing of DNA report i.e., 10-8-2018. The respondent/accused shall be 
granted an opportunity to file written objection to the DNA report and the same 
shall be decided in accordance with law. If an application for cross-examination of 
Scientific Officer is filed, then the same shall be considered and decided in 
accordance with law. Thereafter, if any opportunity is sought by the accused to 
lead any evidence in his defence in the light of the DNA report, then the same shall 
be afforded to him in accordance with law. Only after following the provisions of 
Section 233 of Cr.P.C., the case shall be fixed for Final Arguments, thereby giving 
at-least one week time to prepare and argue the matter.

59. Since, the impugned judgment has been set aside and the matter is being 
remanded back for recording of evidence of Dr. S.S. Batham (P.W. 15) and Dr. 
Dinesh Kumar (P.W. 16) afresh in the presence of the respondent/accused and 
thereafter to proceed further from the stage of filing of objection to the DNA 
report, therefore, by way of abandon caution, it is observed that all the findings of 
conviction recorded by the Trial Court have also stood wiped out. The Trial Court 
is directed to decide the case without getting influenced or prejudiced by any of 
the findings given in the impugned judgment. 

60. If the respondent/accused expresses his desire to engage a different 
Counsel of his own choice or prays for providing a Counsel from Legal Aid, then 
the said prayer shall be allowed. In case, if a Counsel from Legal Aid is provided, 
then the Trial Court shall ensure, that the Counsel so provided to the 
respondent/accused must have standing of at-least 15 years practice in the bar and 
must have thorough knowledge of Criminal Law.

caused prejudice to the accused as the accused was deprived of his valuable right 
to oppose the DNA report as well as to effectively argue the matter finally as per 
the provision of Section 234 of Cr.P.C., therefore, the order-sheet dated 10-8-2018 
passed by the Trial Court, so far as it relates to rejection of objection to DNA report 
as well as fixing the case for Final Arguments on the same day and hearing the 
Final Arguments on the same day is held to be bad in law and cannot be given the 
stamp of approval. As a natural consequence, it is directed that the DNA report 
shall be exhibited afresh after deciding the objections or after examining the 
Scientific Officer. 

57. Accordingly, the judgment of conviction and sentence dated 13-8-2018 
st

passed by 1  A.S.J., Datia in Special Sessions Trial No.21/2018 is hereby Set 
aside.
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61. The Trial Court is directed to complete the entire exercise within a period 
of 4 months from the date of receipt of copy of this judgment.

62. Since, the respondent/accused is in jail, therefore, a copy of this judgment 
be provided to the respondent/accused immediately free of cost.

Order accordingly

63. CRRFC No.9 of 2018 and Cr.A. No.6946 of 2018 are disposed of 
accordingly.

I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2150 (DB)

CRRFC No. 8/2019 (Gwalior) decided on 28 July, 2021

A.  Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 302, 366, 376-A & 201 and 
Protection of Children from Sexual Offences Act, (32 of 2012), Section 5(L) & 6 
– Circumstantial Evidence – Ocular & Medical Evidence – DNA Report – Held 
– In postmortem report, signs of forceful vaginal penetration were found – 
DNA profile of accused found in clothes, vaginal slide and swab of deceased – 
Female DNA profile of deceased was found on cloths of accused – Theory of 
last seen together was established – Prosecution established beyond 
reasonable doubt that accused committed rape on his 8 years old minor sister 
and killed her – Conviction upheld – Reference disposed.

(Paras 43, 75, 84, 162, 173 & 177)

Vs.

MANOJ   …Non-applicant                        

(Alongwith CRA No. 4554/2019)

d- n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 302] 366] 376&A o 201 ,oa ySafxd 
vijk/kksa ls ckydksa dk laj{k.k vf/kfu;e] ¼2012 dk 32½] /kkjk 5¼L½ o 6 & 
ifjfLFkfrtU; lk{; & pk{kq"k o fpfdRlh; lk{; & Mh-,u-,- fjiksVZ &

IN REFERENCE (SUO MOTU) ...Applicant

Before Mr. Justice G.S. Ahluwalia & 
Mr. Justice Rajeev Kumar Shrivastava

CRIMINAL REFERENCE
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x- n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 302] 366] 376&A o 201 ,oa ySafxd 
vijk/kksa ls ckydksa dk laj{k.k vf/kfu;e] ¼2012 dk 32½] /kkjk 5¼L½ o 6 & **vafre ckj 
lkFk ns[ks tkus** dk fl)kar & lcwr dk Hkkj & 

B.  Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 (2 of 1974), Section 235(2) – 
Question of Sentence – Opportunity of Hearing – Held – No opportunity of 
effective hearing on the question of sentence as required u/S 235(2) Cr.P.C. 
was given to accused – No suggestion was given to accused that Court is 
intending to award death sentence so as to give opportunity to accused to 
argue in light of “Aggravating” and “Mitigating circumstances” – Even trial 
Court has not considered the “Mitigating” circumstances – Sentence modified 
to life imprisonment till natural death – Appeal partly allowed. 

(Paras 169, 171, 174 & 178)

[k-  n.M çfØ;k lafgrk] 1973 ¼1974 dk 2½] /kkjk 235¼2½ & n.Mkns'k dk 
iz'u & lquokbZ dk volj & 

C.  Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 302, 366, 376-A & 201 and 
Protection of Children from Sexual Offences Act, (32 of 2012), Section 5(L) & 6 
– Theory of “Last Seen Together” – Burden of Proof – Held – Deceased was 
seen for the last time in company of accused and thereafter she was never 
seen alive – Prosecution succeeded in establishing that there was minimum 
gap between the time when victim was seen in company of accused for the last 
time and when death took place and the dead body was recovered – Thus 
burden shifted to accused to explain as to when he parted away with 
company of deceased, but the said burden has not been discharged by 
accused.   (Para 43)

D.  Penal Code (45 of 1860), Sections 302, 366, 376-A & 201 and 
Protection of Children from Sexual Offences Act, (32 of 2012), Section 5(L) & 6 
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(Paras 44 to 47)

?k- n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk,¡ 302] 366] 376&A o 201 ,oa ySafxd 
vijk/kksa ls ckydksa dk laj{k.k vf/kfu;e] ¼2012 dk 32½] /kkjk 5¼L½ o 6 & dFku 
vfHkfyf[kr djus esa foyac & izHkko & 

p- nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;qDr dh igpku & 

E.  Evidence Act (1 of 1872), Section 145 – Omission & Contradictions – 
Held – If the attention of the witness is not drawn towards the omissions in his 
previous statement, then the accused cannot take advantage of such omission 
and contradictions – If a party intends to contradict a witness, then his 
attention must be called to those parts of it which are to be used for purpose 
of contradicting him.  (Paras 25 to 31)

F.  Criminal Practice – Identification of Accused – Held – Villagers 
have the ability of identifying the things even in poor light – Villages have 
limited number of inhabitants and are closely watched by each and every 
resident of the village – Evidence of witness that he identified accused from 
his back, style of walking and body buildup, cannot be said to be unreliable.  

(Paras 33 to 36)

– Delay in Recording Statement – Effect – Held – Every delay in recording of 
police statement is not fatal – If a plausible explanation is given for the same, 
then it would not give any dent to the prosecution story – Unless and until the 
IO is asked about the delay, the delayed recording of statement by itself 
would not make the evidence of the witnesses suspicious or unreliable.   

M- lk{; vf/kfu;e ¼1872 dk 1½] /kkjk 145 & yksi o fojks/kkHkkl & 

G.  Criminal Practice – Discrepancy in Prosecution Documents – 
Typographical Error – Held – When there is any discrepancy which does not 
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t- nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;kstu lk{kh & xq.koRrk o la[;k &

N- nkf.Md i)fr & vfHk;kstu nLrkostksa esa folaxfr & Vad.k =qfV & 

>- nkf.Md i)fr & =qfViw.kZ vUos"k.k & 

I.  Criminal Practice – Faulty Investigation – Held – Every faulty 
investigation would not make the prosecution unreliable but the faulty 
investigation must lead to an inference that investigation was been done with 
a preconceived notions – If Prosecution established the guilt of accused 
beyond reasonable doubt, then some minor omission on part of IO would not 
give dent to the prosecution case.  (Para 60)

J.  Criminal Practice – Rape Case – Injury on Genital Organ of 
Accused – Held – Presence of injuries on male organ is not necessary in all 

go to the root of the matter thereby making it inadmissible or unreliable, then 
prosecution witness should also get opportunity to explain such discrepancy 
– Without asking any question, prosecution cannot be thrown overboard on 
account of some typographical error.  (Paras 70 to 74)

H.  Criminal Practice – Prosecution Witness – Quality & Quantity – 
Held – Evidence is to be weighed and not counted – It is the quality and not 
the quantity of witnesses which decided the fate of trial – Each and every 
possible witness is not required to be examined – If prosecution witnesses, so 
examined are trustworthy and reliable then their evidence cannot be 
discarded only on ground that some more witnesses should have been 
examined to corroborate the prosecution witnesses.  (Paras 63 to 65)
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Cases referred:

Padam Singh and Vijay Dutt Sharma, for the non-applicant in CRRFC No. 
8/2019 and for the appellant in CRA No. 4554/2019.

(Heard through Video Conferencing)

Rajesh Shukla, Dy. A.G. for the State. 

¥- nkf.Md i)fr & cykRlax izdj.k & vfHk;qDr ds tuukax ij pksV & 

cases – As per Modi's Jurisprudence, it is not necessary that there should 
always be mark of injuries on the penis of accused – Absence of any injury on 
penis of accused would not belie the prosecution case.  (Paras 99 to 104)
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SCC 399, (2013) 12 SCC 406, (2019) 7 SCC 678, (2018) 7 SCC 536, (2001) 6 
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SCC 49, (2013) 4 SCC 448, (2013) 7 SCC 278, (2019) 9 SCC 738, (1976) 4 SCC 
369, (2009) 14 SCC 433, (2017) 5 SCC 817, (2008) 13 SCC 271, (2017) 11 SCC 
129, (2019) 20 SCC 481, (2002) 2 SCC 135, (2013) 11 SCC 476, (2005) 1 SCC 
568, AIR 1944 PC 73, (2012) 6 SCC 204, (2017) 6 SCC 1, (1997) 1 SCC 283, 
(2019) 16 SCC 584, (2020) 14 SCC 290.

J U D G M E N T

2. By this common judgment, the CRRFC No.8 of 2019 and Cr.A. No.4554 
of 2019 shall be decided.

3. The prosecution story in short is that on 5-7-2017 at 2:00 A.M. in the night, 
FIR No.64 of 2017 was lodged by Hariram Prajapati, to the effect that his minor 

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by :
G.S. AHLUWALIA, J. :-  CRRFC No.8 of 2019 is a reference under Section 366 of 
Cr.P.C. for confirmation of death sentence passed by Xth Additional Sessions 
Judge/Special Judge (POCSO Act) Gwalior on 8-5-2019 in Special Sessions Trial 
No.130/2017 and Cr.A. No.4554 of 2019 has been filed by the appellant Manoj 
against the same judgment and sentence.
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daughter “X” aged about 7-8 years had left her house on 4-7-2017 at about 10 
A.M. for attending her school. She is the student of class 2 in Nayagaon Govt. 
Primary School. In the evening, she did not return back from the school. At about 
17:15, the complainant and other villagers saw from the window of the school that 
the bag and water bottle of “X” is kept in the school. Thereafter, the complainant 
and villagers tried to find out the whereabouts of “X” in the nearby forest area and 
in the bushes, but her whereabouts could not be traced. Accordingly, it was alleged 
that some unknown person has kidnapped his minor daughter “X”. Accordingly 
on 5-7-2017 at 2:30 A.M. in the morning, Missing Person Registration was done. 
The complainant thereafter noticed the dead body of “X” and accordingly on 5-7-
2017 at 6:00 A.M., Dehati Nalishi was recorded. Notice under Section 175 of 
Cr.P.C. was given to the witnesses and Naksha Panchnama was prepared. Spot 
map was prepared on 5-7-2017 at 6:40 A.M. The dead body of “X” was sent for 
postmortem. The Scene of Crime Mobile Unit of Gwalior carried out the spot 
inspection on 5-7-2017 in between 8:30 A.M. To 9:50 A.M. One plastic bag of 
white colour which was stained with blood, the hairs found on the said white 
coloured plastic bag and from the nearby places, plain earth from inside the Pator 
(room), earth containing the spit, one empty packet of Rajshri Gutka and one 
empty packet of tobacco, one button of a shirt of white colour with broken pieces 
of thread were seized from the spot on 5-7-2017 at about 9:10 A.M. On 5-7-2017 
at about 9:30 A.M., the plain earth from the place where the dead body of “X” was 
lying and the earth having saliva of the deceased were also seized. The 
postmortem was conducted on 5-7-2017 itself, and the dead body was handed 
over to the father of the deceased “X” on 5-7-2017 itself. Viscera, Vaginal slide 
and swab of the deceased “X”, cloths of the deceased, nail clippings of the 
deceased, specimen of seal were also seized on 5-7-2017 at 14:35. Unnatural 
death was registered under Section 174 of Cr.P.C. The respondent/accused was 
arrested on 6-7-2017 at 12:30 P.M. His memorandum under Section 27 of 
Evidence Act was recorded. He was got medically examined and his pubic hairs, 
undergarments, skull hairs, semen slide and outer garments were sealed and were 
handed over to the Police Constable which were seized on 6-7-2017 at 14:30. The 
school record of the deceased “X” was seized. The birth certificate of the deceased 
“X” was also obtained from the school according to which the date of birth was 
19-10-2009. The attendance register was also seized. On 10-7-2017, the plastic 
white coloured bag, hairs collected from white coloured plastic bag and from the 
surrounding areas, Viscera of the deceased, one sealed packet of salt, cloths of the 
deceased, vaginal slide and swab of the deceased, nail clippings of the deceased, 
the outer garments of the respondent/accused, underwear of respondent/accused, 
semen slide of respondent/accused, pubic hairs of respondent/accused, Saliva 
mixed earth, and the plain earth were sent to F.S.L. Gwalior to find out as to 
whether Human Blood is present and if so, its group, Whether the hairs are human 
hairs, Whether poison is present in the viscera or not, whether the articles 
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6. The prosecution in order to prove its case, examined Hariram Prajapati 
(P.W.1), Ramsewak Prajapati (P.W.2), Hari Singh Batham (P.W.3), Bheem 
(P.W.4), Pappu (P.W.5), Ramesh Prajapati (P.W.6), Smt. Sagun (P.W.7), Smt. 
Ramdehi (P.W.8), Motiram Rajouriya (P.W.9), Ajeet Agrawal (P.W.10), Dr. Ajay 
Gupta (P.W.11), Dr. Ajeet Kumar Minz (P.W.12), Devlal Koli (P.W. 13), H.K. 
Tiwari (P.W.14), Dr. Anand Kumar Pandey (P.W. 15), Daini Kumar (P.W. 16), Dr. 
Vinod Kumar Doneriya (P.W. 17), Jugal Kishore Dubey (P.W. 18), Ashok Kumar 
(P.W. 19), Sayara Bano (P.W. 20), Dharmendra Singh Jat (P.W. 21), Ashok Singh 
(P.W. 22), Shishram (P.W. 23), Dr. Pankaj Shrivastava (P.W. 24), Dr. Neha Dodiya 
(P.W. 25), Dr. M.K. Dudhariya (P.W.26), Dr. Sandeep Tomar (P.W. 27), and Alok 
Singh (P.W. 28).

F,G,I,J,K and L contains human semen/sperms and whether human skin is present 
in the nail clippings or not. The report dated 20-7-2017 was received from F.S.L. 
Gwalior. The blood sample of the respondent/accused was taken on 29-7-2017. 
By draft dated 31-7-2017, DNA report was also sought from F.S.L. Sagar. The 
police also recorded the statements of the witnesses. The photographs of the dead 
body and spot were taken and after completing the investigation, the police filed 
the charge-sheet against the respondent/accused for offence under Sections 363, 
366, 376(2), 302, 201 of I.P.C. and under Section 5/6 of Protection Of Children 
From Sexual Offences Act, 2012 (In Short “POCSO Act”).

7. The respondent/accused examined Poonam (D.W.1) and Neetu (D.W.2) 
in his defence.

4. The Trial Court by order dated 14-2-2018 framed charges under Sections 
366, 376-A, 302, 201 of I.P.C., and under Section 5(L) read with Section 6 of 
POCSO Act.

5. The respondent/accused abjured his guilt and pleaded not guilty.

8. The Trial Court by judgment and sentence dated 8-5-2019 convicted and 
sentenced the respondent/accused as under :
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  default 1 month R.I.
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  default 1 month R.I.
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10. Challenging the judgment and sentence awarded by the Trial Court, it is 
submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that the case is based on 
circumstantial evidence and the chain is not complete. The respondent/accused is 
the cousin brother of the deceased “X”. There are material omissions and 
contradictions in the F.I.R. and the statements of the witnesses. In fact, nobody 
had witnessed the deceased “X” in the company of the respondent/accused for the 
last time. In the FIR, it is mentioned that the deceased is the student of Class 2, 
whereas according to the school record, she was the student of Class 3. Although it 
is the case of the prosecution that the deceased “X” had left her house for the 
school, and her bag and bottle were noticed in the school, but as per the attendance 
register, the deceased “X” was absent on 4-7-2017. The school bag and bottle of 
the deceased were not seized at all. There is a considerable delay in sending the 
blood sample and other articles to F.S.L., Sagar, therefore, DNA report is not 
reliable. Further, there is a discrepancy in A/RM code given to blood sample of the 
respondent/accused, which makes the DNA report unreliable. There is material 
difference in the Naksha Panchayatnama and the postmortem report as no injury 
was noticed on the head of the deceased at the time of preparation of Naksha 
Panchayatnama. The F.I.R. is ante dated and ante timed. There is a material 
discrepancy as to in which container the internal organs of the deceased were 
stored, because in the post-mortem report, it has been mentioned that the internal 
organs were kept in a bottle, whereas in the seizure memo it is mentioned that 
boxes were seized. Arguments on the question of framing charge were advanced 
by a Counsel who was never engaged by the respondent/accused, thereby causing 
serious prejudice to the respondent/accused. The investigation is faulty and the 
arrest of the respondent/accused was the result of public agitation. The Trial Court 
has wrongly discarded the evidence of defence witnesses. The blood sample of the 
respondent/accused was not taken in accordance with law. No injury was found 
on the genital organs of the respondent/accused, which is indicative of fact that no 
forceful intercourse was done by him. It is further submitted that the diameter and 
thickness of the button seized from the spot and that of the button of the shirt of the 
respondent/accused was not similar. Grandmother of the deceased was not 
examined in order to prove that the deceased had left the house at 10:00 A.M. 
Further, the scalp hairs of the respondent/accused were collected, but they were 

9.  Accordingly, this reference under Section 366 of Cr.P.C. has been made 
for confirmation of death sentence and Cr.A. No.4554 of 2019 has been filed by 
the respondent/accused against the same judgment and sentence.

2157I.L.R.[2021]M.P.

5(L) R/w 6 of No separate sentence 
POCSO Act in the light of Section 
 42 of POCSO Act.

  

 
 

In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj (DB)



2158 I.L.R.[2021]M.P.

not compared with the hairs found on the spot. Independent witnesses of the 
locality have not been examined by the prosecution. It is further submitted that in 
the alternative, the death sentence awarded by the Court below is excessive and is 
liable to be annulled and the appellant may be awarded Life Imprisonment. To 
buttress their contentions, the Counsels for the respondent/accused relied upon 
the judgments passed by the Supreme Court in the case of M.A. Antony alias 
Antappan v. State of Kerala reported in AIR 2019 SC 194, Rajendra Pralhadrao 
Wasnik v. State of Maharashtra reported in AIR 2019 SC 1, Vijay Raikwar Vs. 
State of M.P. reported in (2019) 4 SCC 210, Parsuram Vs. State of M.P. reported in 
(2019) 8 SCC 382, Chhannu Lal Verma v. State of Chhattisgarh reported in AIR 
2019 SC 243, Bachan Singh Vs. State of Punjab reported in (1980) 2 SCC 684, 
Machhi Singh Vs. State of Punjab reported in (1983) 3 SCC 470, Kamti Devi Vs. 
Poshi Ram reported in (2001) 5 SCC 311, Mohd. Aman Vs. State of Rajasthan 
reported in (1997) 10 SCC 44, Bodhraj Vs. State of J&K reported in (2002) 8 SCC 
45, Naneethakrishnan Vs. State by Inspector of Police reported in (2018) 16 SCC 
161, Ganpat Singh Vs. State of M.P. reported in (2017) 16 SCC 353, Digamber 
Vaishnav and Anr. v. State of Chhattisgarh reported in AIR 2019 SC 1367, 
Hanumant Govind Nargundkar and another v. State of Madhya Pradesh reported 
in AIR 1952 SC 343, Sharad Birdhichand Sarda Vs. State of Maharashtra 
reported in (1984) 4 SCC 116, Raj Kumar Singh @ Raju @ Batya Vs. State of 
Rajasthan reported in AIR 2013 SC 3150, Madhu Vs. State of Kerala reported in 
(2012) 2 SCC 399, Sujit Biswas Vs. State of Assam reported in (2013) 12 SCC 406, 
State of Rajasthan Vs. Mahesh Kumar reported in (2019) 7 SCC 678, and Kumar 
Vs. State represented by Inspector of Police reported in (2018) 7 SCC 536.

11. Per contra, the State Counsel has supported the judgment and sentence. It 
is submitted that a minor girl was raped and was killed by smothering. It is 
submitted that it is incorrect to suggest that non-examination of independent 
witnesses has given any dent to the prosecution story. It is submitted that social 
thread in the villages is to be understood. If the spot map is seen, then it is clear that 
the incident took place in the colony of persons belonging to Prajapati 
community. Generally the members of one community do not come forward to 
depose against the member of the same community. Further, the contention that 
since, the grandmother of the deceased was not examined and therefore, it is not 
prove that the deceased had left the house at 10 A.M. is concerned, it is submitted 
that in the present case, the deceased and the accused both are the grandchildren of 
the mother of the complainant. She must be in a fix as to whether to speak against 
the accused or not. It is further submitted that so far as the discrepancy in A/RM 
code of Article R in the DNA report is concerned, it is merely a typographical 
error. Article Q which was given A/RM 8279 code, was never opened which is 
clear from the DNA report itself. Further, it is submitted that no question in this 
regard was put to Dr. Pankaj Shrivastava (P.W.24) otherwise, he would have 
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14. The Postmortem of the deceased “X” was conducted by Dr. Ajay Gupta 
(P.W.11). As per the Postmortem report Ex. P.18, following injuries were found :

12. Heard the learned Counsel for the parties.

13. Before considering the merits of the case, it would be appropriate to find 
out as to whether the deceased “X” had died a homicidal death or not?

certainly clarified the anomaly. It is further submitted that it is incorrect to say that 
there was any difference in the button of the shirt recovered from the spot and the 
button found on the shirt of the respondent/accused. The engraving, number of 
holes, material, colour were same. However, there was some difference in the 
measurement of diameter and thickness of the button which too was in fraction of 
millimeters. It is submitted that this difference can happen during manufacturing 
process. So far as non-comparison of hairs of the respondent/accused from the 
hairs found on the spot is concerned, it is submitted that since, the DNA profile of 
the respondent/accused was already found on the incriminating articles including 
the vaginal slide and swab of the deceased, therefore, it is proved beyond 
reasonable doubt, that the applicant was the perpetrator of offence. It is further 
submitted that non-seizure of school bag and bottle by the investigating officer 
from the school might be a lapse on his part, but it has also come on record, that 
after the recovery of dead body of the deceased, there was an uproar in the village, 
and agitating villagers had blocked the road, as a result, the investigating officer 
was immediately required to rush to the main road with police force, in order to 
calm down the agitating villagers. It is further submitted that the surrounding 
circumstances under which the investigating officer was conducting the 
investigation should be kept in mind while appreciating the evidence. It is further 
submitted that even the father of the respondent/accused did not come forward to 
depose in favor of his son. It is further submitted that the evidence of Last Seen 
Together has been duly proved beyond reasonable doubt. The respondent/accused 
is cousin brother of the deceased and he has committed a heinous offence in a 
gruesome manner. Even after committing the heinous offence of committing rape 
and murder of his minor cousin sister, he did not show any remorse and was trying 
to project that he is an innocent person. Thus, it is clear that there is no possibility 
of his improvement. The applicant is a danger for civil society and therefore, the 
death sentence awarded to him should be confirmed and the appeal filed by the 
respondent/accused may be dismissed. To buttress his contentions, the Counsel 
for the State has relied upon the judgment passed by the Supreme Court in the case 
of State of H.P. Vs. Gian Chand reported in (2001) 6 SCC 71, Sahadevan Vs. State 
represented by Inspector of Police, Chennai reported in (2003) 1 SCC 534, State 
of Rajasthan Vs. Kashiram reported in (2006) 12 SCC 254, Jagroop Singh Vs. 
State of Punjab reported in (2012) 11 SCC 768 and Mahavir Singh Vs. State of 
Haryana reported in (0214) 6 SCC 716.
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(iv) Lower Lip contused reddish blue 4x1.5 cm.

(vii) Both cheeks diffusely swollen and bluish coloured

Ante-mortem Ecchymosis over Occipital Area 8x6 cm 
size and subdural and Subarachnoid hemorrhage present 
all over the brain.

(i) Red Abrasion on right side of mandible 0.3 x .2 cm size.

(iii) Upper lip reddish blue contused 3x2 cm size.

(ii) Red Abrasion anterior to right external ear 0.4 x .3 cm.

(v) Red Abrasion left leg lower end anterio laterally 3x1.5 cm.

A bundle of clothings, nail clippings, two vaginal slides and two vaginal 
swab, viscera in saturated salt solution, stomach and its contents and pieces of 
liver, spleen and kidney were sealed. Salt sample and seal specimen were also 
handed over to the police Constable.

It was found that the death was due to Asphyxia as a result of smothering.

Signs of forceful vaginal penetration were evident.

Duration of death was within 12 to 36 hours.

15. Dr. Ajay Gupta (P.W.11) was cross examined and he accepted that at the 
time of conducting postmortem, the police had not provided the copy of F.I.R. He 
also admitted that ID proof of the deceased “X” and of her father was not provided 
to him. He denied that postmortem report was prepared as per the instructions of 
the police and also denied that he is giving false evidence in the Court. Thus, it is 
clear that in fact no cross-examination was done with regard to the findings 
recorded by this witness in the postmortem report, Ex. P.18.

(vi) Contusion right Nostril 2 x 1 cm Reddish blue.

17. Now, the moot question for consideration is that whether the prosecution 
has succeeded in establishing the guilt of the respondent/accused beyond 
reasonable doubt or not?

Signs of Physical violence were present.

Signs of Head Injury were also evident which were sufficient to cause 
death in ordinary course of action.

16. Therefore, it is held that the deceased “X” died due to smothering and she 
was subjected to rape and multiple injuries were also found on her body.

Nature of death was homicidal.
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152. A close analysis of this decision would show that the following 
conditions must be fulfilled before a case against an accused can be said 
to be fully established :

18. The case is based on circumstantial evidence. Before appreciating the 
material available on record, this Court thinks it apposite to consider the law 
governing the field of Circumstantial Evidence. Although various judgments 
have been cited by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, but instead of 
burdening this judgment by considering each and every judgment cited, this Court 
thinks it apposite to consider few judgments covering the field of Circumstantial 
Evidence.

(2) the facts so established should be consistent only with the hypothesis 
of the guilt of the accused, that is to say, they should not be explainable 
on any other hypothesis except that the accused is guilty.

19. The Supreme Court in the case of Sharad Birdhichandra Sarda Vs. State 
of Maharashtra reported in AIR 1985 SC 1622 has held as under :

"Before he can be convicted, the fact of death should be proved by such 
circumstances as render the commission of the crime morally certain 

(4) they should exclude every possible hypothesis except the one to be 
proved, and

(3) the circumstances should be of a conclusive nature and tendency.

"certainly, it is a primary principle that the accused must be and not 
merely may be guilty before a Court can convict and the mental distance 
between 'may be' and 'must be' is long and divides vague conjectures 
from sure conclusions." 

153. These five golden principles, if we may say so, constitute the 
panchsheel of the proof of a case based on circumstantial evidence.

(1) the circumstances from which the conclusion of guilt is to be 
drawn should be fully established.
It may be noted here that this Court indicated that the circumstances 
concerned 'must or should' and not 'may be' established. There is not 
only a grammatical but a legal distinction between 'may be proved' and 
'must be or should be proved' as was held by this Court in Shivaji 
Sahebrao Bobade v. State of Maharashtra, (1973) 2 SCC 793 : (AIR 
1973 SC 2622) where the following observations were made :

(5) there must be a chain of evidence so complete as not to leave any 
reasonable ground for the conclusion consistent with the innocence of 
the accused and must show that in all human probability the act must 
have been done by the accused.

154. It may be interesting to note that as regards the mode of proof in a 
criminal case depending on circumstantial evidence, in the absence of a 
corpus delicti, the statement of law as to proof of the same was laid down 
by Gresson, J. (and concurred by 3 more Judges) in The King v. Horry, 
(1952) NZLR 111, thus :
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155. Lord Goddard slightly modified the expression 'morally certain' 
by 'such circumstances as render the commission of the crime certain'.

and leave no ground for reasonable doubt : the circumstantial evidence 
should be so cogent and compelling as to convince a jury that upon no 
rational hypothesis other than murder can the facts be accounted for."

"But in a case like this where the various links as stated above have been 
satisfactorily made out and the circumstances point to the appellant as 
the probable assailant, with reasonable definiteness and in proximity to
the deceased as regards time and situation ...  ...  ... ... ... such absence of 
explanation or false explanation would itself be an additional link which 
completes the chain."

156. This indicates the cardinal principle of criminal jurisprudence that 
a case can be said to be proved only when there is certain and explicit 
evidence and no person can be convicted on pure moral conviction. 
Horry's case (supra) was approved by this Court in Anant Chintaman 
Lagu v. State of Bombay, (1960) 2 SCR 460 : (AIR 1960 SC 500). Lagu's 
case as also the principles enunciated by this Court in Hanumant's case 
(supra) have been uniformly and consistently followed in all later 
decisions of this Court without any single exception. To quote a few 
cases -Tufail's case (1969 (3) SCC 198) (supra). Ramgopal's case (AIR 
1972 SC 656) (supra). Chandrakant Nyalchand Seth v. State of Bombay 
(Criminal Appeal No. 120 of 1957 decided on 19-2-1958), Charambir 
Singh v. State of Punjab (Criminal Appeal No. 98 of 1958 decided on 4-
11-1958). There are a number of other cases where although Hanumant's 
case has not been expressly noticed but the same principles have been 
expounded and reiterated, as in Naseem Ahmed v. Delhi Administration, 
(1974) 2 SCR 694(696): (AIR 1974 SC 691 at p. 693), Mohan Lal 
Pangasa v. State of U. P., AIR 1974 SC 1144 (1146), Shankarlal 
Gyarasilal Dixit v. State of Maharashtra, (1981) 2 SCR 384 (390) : (AIR 
1981 SC 765 at p. 767) and M. G. Agarwal v. State of Maharashtra, 
(1963) 2 SCR 405 (419) : (AIR 1963 SC 200 at p. 206) a five-Judge 
Bench decision

157. It may be necessary here to notice a very forceful argument 
submitted by the Additional Solicitor-General relying on a decision of 
this Court in Deonandan Mishra v. State of Bihar, (1955) 2 SCR 570 
(582): (AIR 1955 SC 801 at p. 806), to supplement his argument that if 
the defence case is false it would constitute an additional link so as to 
fortify the prosecution case. With due respect to the learned Additional 
Solicitor General we are unable to agree with the interpretation given by 
him of the aforesaid case, the relevant portion of which may be extracted 
thus :

20. The present case is based on following Circumstances : 
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(vii) Abrasion was found on the nose of the respondent/ 
accused.

(iii) F.I.R. regarding missing of deceased was lodged on 5-
7-2017 at 2:00 A.M. in the night.

(ii) As the deceased did not come back from School at 4 :00 
P.M., therefore, her father started searching for her. The school 
bag and bottle of the deceased was seen lying in the School. 

(i) The deceased, a minor girl aged about 8 years, went to 
school on 4-7-2017 and thereafter, she left the school after 
leaving her bag and bottle in the school.

(iv) The dead body of the deceased was recovered on 5-7-
2017 at 6:00 A.M. which was lying in front of the Pator of Ram 
Prasad Prajapati.

(v) There were signs of dragging the dead body from inside 
the Pator of Ram Prasad Prajapati, till the door of the Pator.

(vi) Blood stained plastic bag, hairs, button, saliva mixed 
earth, spit, empty packet of Rajshree and Tobacco etc. were 
seized from the spot.

(ix) Last Seen Together.

(xi) The respondent was seen in a frightened condition in 
the afternoon of 4-7-2017 and respondent was seen all alone at 
4:00 A.M. on 5-7-2017.

(xii) As per post-mortem report, multiple injuries were 
found on the dead body of the deceased and there were signs of 
forceful vaginal penetration.

(xvi) DNA profile of the respondent/accused was found in 
the cloths, vaginal slide and swab of the deceased.

(xiv) Injuries on private parts of the deceased were found.

(xv) Blood sample of the respondent/accused was collected.

(x) The respondent/accused was seen coming from the 
Pator of Ramprasad in the afternoon of 4-7-2017.

(viii) Human skin was found in the nail clippings of the 
deceased.

(xvii) DNA profile of the deceased was found on the cloths of 
the respondent/accused.

(xiii) Hymen of the deceased was found torn.
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21. Hariram Prajapati (P.W.1) has stated that the deceased “X” is his daughter 
and was a student of Class 2 and was studying in a Govt. School, and was aged 
about 8 years. On 4-7-2017, he went to his work at 8 A.M. and came back at 3-3:00 
P.M. After having his meals, he went to bed and woke up at 5:00 P.M. He was 
informed by his mother that the deceased “X” has not returned back from the 
school. Thereafter, he searched for the deceased in neighborhood. He also went to 
the house of Bheem (P.W.4). Bheem (P.W.4) told him that he had seen the 
deceased “X” along with the respondent/accused at about 1 P.M. near the pator 
(room) of Ramprasad. Thereafter, Bheem (P.W.4) informed this witness that he 
has to go to Gwalior on the next morning and whether this witness can arrange for 
one more person. When this witness went to look for the another labourer, then he 
found that respondent/accused, Ramsewak Prajapati, Jitendra Parihar, Ashok 
Kushwaha were sitting on a trolley. When he enquired from the respondent/ 
accused, that whether he would like to go to Gwalior or not, then he agreed for the 
same. Thereafter, he came back to his house. He was informed by his mother, that 
the deceased “X” has not returned back. Thereafter, all the villagers gathered and 
started searching for the deceased “X”. Thereafter, they went to the school of the 
deceased and from the window they noticed that the bag and bottle of the deceased 
were lying in the school. When they could not search out the deceased, then F.I.R., 
Ex.P.1 was lodged and thereafter, the police also started searching for the 
deceased. At about 3 A.M., the police personell (sic: personnel) told that they have 
already searched extensively and this witness must also be tired therefore, they 
would search after the sunrise. Thereafter, this witness came back to his house, 
and some of the villagers were sitting there. At about 5-6 A.M., he again went in 
search of the deceased. At that time, he heard the noise of cries of his Bhabhi 
Gayatri. They went to the Pator of Jaikishan. The dead body of his daughter was 
lying behind a trolley and was in a very bad shape. Her cloths were stained with 
blood. The police also reached there and Dehati Nalishi Ex. P.3 was written and 
spot map Ex. P.4 was prepared. Safina form Ex.P.5 was prepared and Naksha 
Panchayatnama Ex. P.6 was prepared. After the postmortem, the dead body of the 
deceased “X” was handed over to him vide supurdaginama Ex. P.7. The report 
under Section 174 of Cr.P.C. is Ex. P.8. It was further stated that since, there was 
Kanya Bhoj on account of Dev Uthani Gyaras, therefore, her daughter after 
leaving her bag and bottle in the school, went to have Kanya Bhoj. Bheem (P.W.4) 
had told that he had seen the deceased in the company of the respondent/accused 
at about 1 P.M. When he was searching for his daughter, then Hari Singh Batham 
had also told him that he had seen the deceased in the company of the respondent/ 
accused. The statement of this witness recorded under Section 164 of Cr.P.C. is 

(xviii) Button with broken pieces of thread seized from the spot 
was found to be that of the shirt of the respondent/ accused.

Last Seen Together
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Ex. P.9. This witness was cross-examined. In cross-examination, this witness 
admitted that the respondent/accused is his real nephew, and resides in his 
neighborhood. The respondent/accused is also a labourer. At the time of incident, 
this witness had gone for labour work. He had not seen the respondent/accused 
entering inside the Pator. He was interrogated by the police on the very same day. 
His statements were recorded at about 6 to 6:30 A.M. on the same day, when the 
dead body of his daughter was recovered. He denied the suggestion that the police 
had obtained his signatures on Ex. P.1 to P.8 in the police station. He clarified on 
his own, that some documents were signed in the police station and some were 
signed on the spot. He further denied that he is having any enmity with his brother 
Jagdish or his son (respondent/accused). He further stated that his daughter was 
studying in Govt. School Nayagaon. She used to go to school at 10:00 in the 
morning and used to come back at 4:00 in the afternoon. He denied that the police 
had not recorded his statement. He further denied that the respondent/ accused has 
been falsely implicated due to enmity. He further denied that he was not told by 
anybody that his daughter was seen for the last time in the company of the 
respondent/accused. He further denied that he is giving a false evidence before the 
Court.

22. Thus, it is clear that this witness was not cross-examined effectively. No 
omissions or contradictions in his F.I.R. Ex. P.1 or police statement Ex. D.1 were 
pointed out.

23. Ram Sewak Prajapati (P.W.2) is the witness of last seen together. He has 
stated that on 4-7-2017, at about 1 P.M., he was sitting in front of the door of his 
house. He saw that the respondent/ accused was going towards the Pator of 
Ramprasad Prajapati along with the deceased. Since, both were cousin brother 
and sister, therefore he did not notice it seriously. Thereafter, he took his goats and 
came back to house in the evening. He further stated that on 5-7-2017 at about 6 
A.M., he heard the noise of crying. He came out of his house and found that lot of 
persons had gathered near the Pator of Ramprasad and the dead body of the 
deceased “X” was lying behind the trolley. The police was informed. The police 
also reached there after some time, and written work was done, and the dead body 
was sent for postmortem. He further stated that in the afternoon, he was 
interrogated by the police and he accordingly informed that he had seen the 
respondent/accused going along with the deceased “X” at about 1 P.M. and his 
Court Statement (Under Section 164 of Cr.P.C.) is Ex. P.10. This witness was 
cross-examined. He admitted that he know Jagdish who is the father of respondent/ 
accused. He is brother being of same Gotra. He further admitted that he has been 
brought by the Police to the Court for recording of his evidence, but denied that he 
was tutored by Police. He further clarified that whatever was seen by him has been 
deposed by him. He further clarified that the statement was recorded by the police 
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145. Cross-examination as to previous statements in writing.—A 
witness may be cross-examined as to previous statements made by him 
in writing or reduced into writing, and relevant to matters in question, 
without such writing being shown to him, or being proved; but, if it is 
intended to contradict him by the writing, his attention must, before the 

26. However, the Counsel for the respondent/accused fairly conceded that the 
omission in the F.I.R. regarding information given to Hariram (P.W.1) by Ram 
Sewak Prajapati (P.W.2) and Bheem (P.W.4) about the last seen together was not 
confronted and the attention of Harirram (P.W.1) was not drawn towards the 
omission.

27. It is a trite law that if the attention of the witness is not drawn towards the 
omissions in his previous statement, then the accused cannot take advantage of 
such omissions and contradictions.

25. Challenging the evidence of Last Seen Together, it is submitted by the 
Counsel for the respondent/accused that Ram Sewak Prajapati (P.W.2) and 
Bheem (P.W. 4) as well as Hariram (P.W.1) have stated that much prior to lodging 
of F.I.R, Hariram (P.W.1) was already informed by Ram Sewak Prajapati (P.W.2) 
and Bheem (P.W.4) about the fact that the deceased was seen along with the 
respondent/ accused, but the said fact is missing in F.I.R. Ex. P.1. Therefore, it is 
clear that the witnesses of last seen together are unreliable and thus liable to be 
disbelieved.

24. Bheem (P.W. 4) is also a witness of last seen together, who has stated that 
on 4-7-2017, Hariram (P.W.1) had come to him and enquired about his daughter 
“X”. He further stated that accordingly, he had informed Hariram (P.W.1) that at 
1 P.M., he had seen his daughter “X” along with the respondent/accused. 
Thereafter, the deceased was searched but could not be traced. However, at about 
5-6 A.M., her dead body was found lying near the trolley. Her cloths were stained 
with blood. The police had recovered one plastic bag, another blood stained 
plastic bag, hairs, plain earth, spit, packet of Rajshree Tobacco, empty packet of 
tobacco, one button of a shirt, from inside the pator vide seizure memo Ex. P.12. 
The plain earth from the place where the dead body of the deceased was lying and 
saliva mixed earth was also seized vide seizure memo Ex. P.13. His statements 
under Section 164 of Cr.P.C. are Ex. P.14. This witness was cross examined. He 
stated that on the date of incident, he was doing the labour work in the village 
itself. When he came back to his house for having his lunch then, in the afternoon, 
he had seen the deceased in the school and thereafter did not see her.

28. Section 145 of Evidence Act, reads as under :

at about 10-11 A.M. He further denied that he is deposing falsely against the 
respondent/accused due to enmity.
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writing can be proved, be called to those parts of it which are to be used 
for the purpose of contradicting him.

29. Thus, it is clear that if a party intends to contradict a witness, then his 
attention must be called to those parts of it which are to be used for the purpose of 
contradicting him.

30. The Supreme Court in the case of Rajender Singh Vs. State of Bihar 
reported in (2000) 4 SCC 298 has held as under :

6 ........But if the witness during trial is intended to be contradicted by his 
former statement then his attention has to be drawn to those parts of the 
statement which are required to be used for the purpose of contradicting 
him before the said statement in question can be proved as provided 
under Section 145 of the Evidence Act. Mr Mishra, learned Senior 
Counsel appearing for the appellant relying upon the decision of this 
Court in Bhagwan Singh v. State of Punjab contended before us that if 
there has been substantial compliance with Section 145 of the Evidence 
Act and if the necessary particulars of the former statement has been put 
to the witness in cross-examination then notwithstanding the fact that 
the provisions of Section 145 of the Evidence Act is not complied with in 
letter i.e. by not drawing the attention of the witness to that part of the 
former statement yet the statement could be utilised and the veracity of 
the witness could be impeached. According to Mr Mishra the former 
statement of PW 8 which has been exhibited as Exhibit B was to the 
effect that Kameshwar was assaulted with a bhala by Rajender and 
Surender and he did not see whether any other person had been assaulted 
or not, whereas in the course of trial the substantive evidence of the 
witness is that it is Rajender and Triloki who assaulted the deceased and, 
therefore, it belies the entire prosecution case. The question of 
contradicting evidence and the requirements of compliance with Section 
145 of the Evidence Act has been considered by this Court in the 
Constitution Bench decision in the case of Tahsildar Singh v. State of 
U.P. The Court in the aforesaid case was examining the question as to 
when an omission in the former statement can be held to be a 
contradiction and it has also been indicated as to how a witness can be 
contradicted in respect of his former statement by drawing particular 
attention to that portion of the former statement. This question has been 
recently considered in the case of Binay Kumar Singh v. State of Bihar 
and the Court has taken note of the earlier decision in Bhagwan Singh 
and explained away the same with the observation that on the facts of 
that case there cannot be a dispute with the proposition laid down 
therein. But in elaborating the second limb of Section 145 of the 
Evidence Act it was held that if it is intended to contradict him by the 
writing his attention must be called to those parts of it which are to be 
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55. On reappraisal of the evidence, this Court finds that it is true that the 
police statements of the abovenamed three witnesses were recorded 
after one month from the date of the death of the deceased. However, 
neither an explanation was sought from any of the witnesses as to why 
their police statements were recorded after a delay of one month nor the 

The Supreme Court in the case of Vijay Kumar Arora v. State (NCT of 
Delhi) reported in (2010) 2 SCC 353 has held as under :

(Underline supplied)

32. The next question for consideration is that whether Ram Sewak Prajapati 
(P.W.2) and Bheem (P.W.4), who have claimed that they had seen the deceased in 
the company of the respondent/accused are reliable witnesses or not?

31. Thus, it is held that since, the attention of Hariram (P.W. 1) was not drawn 
towards the omission regarding information of last seen together in his F.I.R., Ex. 
P.1, therefore, the evidence of Last Seen Together cannot be held to be vitiated as 
the second limb of Section 145 of Cr.P.C. has not been complied with by the 
respondent/accused. 

34. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

33. Challenging the reliability and credibility of Ram Sewak Prajapati 
(P.W.2), it is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that since, this 
witness was Kotwar of the village, therefore, his statement should have been 
recorded by the police at the earliest, whereas according to Alok Singh (P.W. 28), 
the statement of Ram Sewak Prajapati (P.W. 2) was recorded on 10-7-2018. It is 
submitted that thus, the delayed recording of statement of Ram Sewak Prajapati 
(P.W.2) makes his evidence suspicious.

used for the purpose for contradicting him. It has been further held that if 
the witness disowns to have made any statement which is inconsistent 
with his present stand, his testimony in court on that score would not be 
vitiated until the cross-examiner proceeds to comply with the procedure 
prescribed in the second limb of Section 145 of the Evidence Act... ... ...

35. It is a trite law that every delay in recording of police statement is not fatal. 
If a plausible explanation is given for delayed recording of statements, then it 
would not give any dent to the prosecution story. However, the investigating 
officer and the witnesses are to be questioned regarding delay. Unless and until, 
the investigating officer is asked about the delay, the delayed recording of 
statements by itself would not make the evidence of the witnesses suspicious.

The Supreme Court in the case of Raj Kishore Jha Vs. State of Bihar 
reported in (2003) 11 SCC 519 has also held the same proposition of law.
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investigating officer was questioned about the delay in recording 
statements of those witnesses. The law on the point is well settled. 
Unless the investigating officer is asked questions about delay in 
recording statements and an explanation is sought from the witnesses as 
to why their statements were recorded late, the statements by themselves 
did not become suspicious or concocted.

The Supreme Court in the case of Shyamal Ghosh v. State of W.B., reported 
in (2012) 7 SCC 646 has held as under :

The Supreme Court in the case of V.K. Mishra v. State of Uttarakhand, 
reported in (2015) 9 SCC 588 has held as under :

27 .........It is pertinent to point out that on the delayed examination of 
PW 2, no question was put to the investigating officer (PW 14) by the 
defence. Had such question been put to PW 14, he would have certainly 
explained the reason for not examining PW 2 from 15-8-1997 to 17-8-
1997. Having not done so, the appellants are not right in contending that 
there was delay in recording the statement of PW 2.

26. It cannot be held as a rule of universal application that the testimony 
of a witness becomes unreliable merely because there is delay in 
examination of a particular witness. In Sunil Kumar v. State of 
Rajasthan, it was held that the question of delay in examining a witness 
during investigation is material only if it is indicative and suggestive of 
some unfair practice by the investigating agency for the purpose of 
introducing a core of witness to falsely support the prosecution case. As 
such there was no delay in recording the statement of PW 2 and even 
assuming that there was delay in questioning PW 2, that by itself cannot 
amount to any infirmity in the prosecution case.

51. On the contra, the submission on behalf of the State is that the delay 
has been explained and though the investigating officer was cross-
examined at length, not even a suggestion was put to him as to the reason 
for such delay and, thus, the accused cannot take any benefit thereof at 
this stage. Reliance in this regard on behalf of the State is placed on 
Brathi v. State of Punjab, Banti v. State of M.P. and State of U.P. v. 
Satish.

52. These are the issues which are no more res integra. The consistent 
view of this Court has been that if the explanation offered for the delayed 
examination of a particular witness is plausible and acceptable and the 
Court accepts the same as plausible, there is no reason to interfere with 
the conclusion arrived at by the courts. This is the view expressed in 
Banti. Furthermore, this Court has also taken the view that no doubt 
when the Court has to appreciate the evidence given by the witnesses 
who are closely related to the deceased, it has to be very careful in 
evaluating such evidence but the mechanical rejection of the evidence 
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36. Alok Singh (P.W. 28) has stated in his examination-in-chief, that after the 
recovery of dead body of the deceased “X”, there was an uproar in the society, and 
roads were blocked and he was required to go to the place of agitation along with 
police force. Further, it is not the case of the respondent/accused, that the 
investigating officer was not investigating the matter at all. While appreciating the 
evidence, this Court cannot lose sight of surrounding circumstances which were 
present at the time of investigation. The Supreme Court in the case of V.K. Mishra 
(Supra) has held that the fact that the investigating officer was preoccupied in 
arresting accused, or other spheres of investigation, then this aspect cannot be lost 
sight of. After the dead body of the deceased minor girl was recovered, there was 
an unrest in the Society, and the people had started agitating the matter, and 
question of law and order situation had arisen, requiring the investigating officer, 
to immediately go to the place of agitation along with police force, in order to 

53. The delay in examination of witnesses is a variable factor. It would 
depend upon a number of circumstances. For example, non-availability 
of witnesses, the investigating officer being preoccupied in serious 
matters, the investigating officer spending his time in arresting the 
accused who are absconding, being occupied in other spheres of 
investigation of the same case which may require his attention urgently 
and importantly, etc.

on the sole ground that it is that of an interested witness would inevitably 
relate to failure of justice (Brathi). In Satish, this Court further held that 
the explanation offered by the investigating officer on being questioned 
on the aspect of delayed examination by the accused has to be tested by 
the Court on the touchstone of credibility. It may not have any effect on 
the credibility of the prosecution evidence tendered by other witnesses.

54. In the present case, it has come in evidence that the accused persons 
were absconding and the investigating officer had to make serious effort 
and even go to various places for arresting the accused, including 
coming from West Bengal to Delhi. The investigating officer has 
specifically stated, that too voluntarily, that he had attempted raiding the 
houses of the accused even after cornering the area, but of no avail. He 
had ensured that the mutilated body parts of the deceased reached the 
hospital and also effected recovery of various items at the behest of the 
arrested accused. Furthermore, the witnesses whose statements were 
recorded themselves belonged to the poor strata, who must be moving 
from one place to another to earn their livelihood. The statement of the 
available witnesses like PW 2, PW 4, PW 6, and the doctor, PW 16, 
another material witness, had been recorded at the earliest. The 
investigating officer recorded the statements of nearly 28 witnesses. 
Some delay was bound to occur in recording the statements of the 
witnesses whose names came to light after certain investigation had 
been carried out by the investigating officer.
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38. It is a trite law that while appreciating the evidence of witnesses, the entire 
evidence is to be seen as a whole and stray sentence from one place to another 
cannot be picked up. Hariram (P.W.1) has stated that in the evening, when he went 
to the house of Bheem (P.W.4) in order to trace out the whereabouts of his 
daughter, then he was informed by Bheem (P.W.4) that he had seen his daughter 
along with the respondent/accused. Bheem (P.W.4) has also stated in his 
examination-in-chief that he had seen the deceased in the company of the 
respondent/accused for the last time in the afternoon. It is the case of the 
prosecution itself, that the Pator of Ramprasad Prajapati is situated at a distance 
of 200 Mts. from the house of Hariram (P.W.1) whereas School is situated quite 
nearer to the Pator of Ram Prasad i.e., the place of incident, as it is evident from 
the spot map Ex. P.4. Therefore, the statement of this witness in his cross-
examination that in the afternoon he had seen the deceased in the school cannot be 
given much importance so as to discard the entire prosecution story, specifically 
in the light of the evidence of Motiram Rajoria (P.W. 9) that even in the afternoon, 
the deceased “X” was not seen in the school.

40. The Pator of Ram Prasad Prajapati is situated at a rough place and is not 
connected with any road except a footpath, as it is evident from the spot map, Ex. 
P.4. There was no occasion for the deceased “X” to go to a rough place on her own. 
It appears that since, the respondent/accused is the cousin brother of the deceased 
“X”, therefore, she must have faith in him, and taking advantage of said faith, the 
respondent/accused took her to a lonely room. If the deceased was following the 

37. It is next contended by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, that 
Bheem (P.W.4) has admitted in his cross-examination that in the afternoon he had 
seen the deceased “X” in the school and thereafter, he had never seen her. 

calm down and defuse the agitation. Therefore, this Court is of the considered 
opinion, that the unrest in the Society must have diverted the attention of the 
investigating officer, and thus, it cannot be said that the delayed recording of 
statement of Ram Sevak Prajapati (P.W.2) was an outcome of creation of 
evidence. Further, the statement of another witness of Last Seen Together, Bheem 
(P.W. 4) was recorded on 5-7-2017 itself. Thus, it is held that in absence of any 
question to the investigating officer regarding the delay in recording the statement 
of Ram Sewak Prajapati (P.W.2) on 5-7-2017, it cannot be said that the evidence 
of Ram Sewak Prajapati (P.W.2) is not reliable.

39. It is next contended by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that since, 
Ram Sewak Prajapati (P.W.2) and Bheem (P.W. 4) have stated that the deceased 
and respondent/accused were going back and forth, therefore, it cannot be said 
that the deceased was seen in the company of the respondent/accused for the last 
time.
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41. Now the next question for consideration is that whether the evidence of 
Last Seen Together indicates towards the culpability of the respondent/accused or 
not?

respondent/accused out of faith, then it cannot be said that she was not in the 
company of the respondent/accused.

42. The Supreme Court in the case of Shailendra Rajdev Pasvan v. State of 
Gujarat, reported in (2020) 14 SCC 750 has held as under :

12. From the study of abovestated judgments and many others delivered 
by this Court over a period of years, the rule can be summarised as that 
the initial burden of proof is on the prosecution to bring sufficient 
evidence pointing towards guilt of the accused. However, in case of last 
seen together, the prosecution is exempted to prove exact happening of 
the incident as the accused himself would have special knowledge of the 
incident and thus, would have burden of proof as per Section 106 of the 
Evidence Act. Therefore, last seen together itself is not a conclusive 
proof but along with other circumstances surrounding the incident, like 
relations between the accused and the deceased, enmity between them, 
previous history of hostility, recovery of weapon from the accused, etc. 
non-explanation of death of the deceased, may lead to a presumption of 
guilt.

“ 16. ...The last seen theory comes into play where the time gap 
between the point of time when the accused and deceased were seen 
last alive and when the deceased is found dead is so small that 
possibility of any person other than the accused being the author of 
crime becomes impossible. It would be difficult in some cases to 
positively establish that the deceased was last seen with the accused 
when there is a long gap and possibility of other persons coming in 
between exists. In the absence of any other positive evidence to 
conclude that accused and deceased were last seen together, it would 
be hazardous to come to a conclusion of guilt in those cases.”

15. Another important aspect to be considered in a case resting on 
circumstantial evidence is the lapse of time between the point when the 
accused and deceased were seen together and when the deceased is 
found dead. It ought to be so minimal so as to exclude the possibility of 
any intervening event involving the death at the hands of some other 
person. In Bodhraj v. State of J&K, Rambraksh v. State of Chhattisgarh, 
Anjan Kumar Sarma v. State of Assam following principle of law, in this 
regard, has been enunciated: (Shailendra Rajdev Pasvan case, SCC 
OnLine Guj para 16)

The Supreme Court in the case of Ashok v. State of Maharashtra, reported 
in (2015) 4 SCC 393 has held as under :
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13. Here another judgment in Harivadan Babubhai Patel v. State of 
Gujarat, would be relevant. In this case, this Court found that the time-
gap between the death of the deceased and the time when he was last 
seen with the accused may also be relevant.

27. Quite apart from the above, what is argued is that there is a long gap 
between the last seen and recovery of the dead body of the deceased. As 
per the material on record, the informant searched for his son in the 
village in the late evening and next day in the morning he went to the 
fields and the dead body was found. The post-mortem report indicates 
that the death had occurred within 24 hours. Thus, the duration is not so 
long as to defeat or frustrate the version of the prosecution. Therefore, 
there can be no trace of doubt that the deceased was last seen in the 
company of the accused persons.

44. Ramesh Prajapati (P.W. 6) has stated that on 5-7-2017 at about 4:00 A.M., 
he had noticed that respondent/accused was going towards the house of Hariram 
(P.W1), and he had identified him from his back, style of walking and body 

Respondent/accused was seen at 4:00 A.M. on 5-7-2017

The Supreme Court in the case of Mahavir Singh (Supra) has held as 
under:

12. Undoubtedly, it is a settled legal proposition that the last seen theory 
comes into play only in a case where the time-gap between the point of 
time when the accused and the deceased were seen alive and when the 
deceased was found dead (sic is small). Since the gap is very small there 
may not be any possibility that any person other than the accused may be 
the author of the crime...........

The Supreme Court in the case of Jagroop Singh (Supra) has held as under :

43. According, to the witnesses, they had seen the deceased for the last time in 
the company of the respondent/accused at about 1 P.M. The deceased did not 
come back to her house, whereas she was supposed to come back from School at 4 
P.M. Thereafter, from 5 P.M., Hariram (P.W.1) started searching for the deceased 
and ultimately, her dead body was found at 6:00 A.M. on 5-7-2017. As per the 
postmortem report the duration of her death was also in between 12 to 36 hours. 
Therefore, it is held that the prosecution has succeeded in establishing that there 
was minimum time gap between the time when she was seen in the company of the 
respondent/accused for the last time and when the death took place and the dead 
body of the deceased was recovered. Accordingly, it is held that the deceased was 
seen for the last time in the company of the respondent/accused and thereafter, she 
was never seen alive. Thus, the burden had shifted onto the respondent/accused, to 
explain as to when he parted away with the company of the deceased, but that 
burden has not been discharged by the respondent/accused.
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buildup. This witness was cross examined, and in the cross examination also, this 
witness reiterated that he had seen the respondent/accused at 4 A.M. and he was 
all alone.

45. Challenging the evidence of this witness, it is submitted by the Counsel 
for the respondent/accused, that since, this witness had not seen the face of the 
person, therefore, the claim of this witness regarding identifying the said person 
from his back as respondent/accused, cannot be relied upon.

Conduct of respondent/accused

46. Considered the submission made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

15. As stated earlier, the appellant and these two witnesses (PWs 3 and 4) 
are neighbours and, therefore, knew the appellant well and their claim of 
identification cannot be rejected only on the ground that they have 
identified him in the evening, when there was less light. It has to be 
borne in mind that the capacity of the witnesses living in rural areas 
cannot be compared with that of urban people who are acclimatised to 
fluorescent light. Visible (sic visual) capacity of the witnesses coming 
from the village is conditioned and their evidence cannot be discarded 
on the ground that there was meagre light in the evening. There is 
nothing on record to show that these two witnesses are in any way 
interested and inimical to the appellant. Their evidence clearly shows 
that the deceased was last seen with the appellant and the High Court did 
not err in relying on their evidence.

47. It is a matter of common knowledge, that the villagers have the ability of 
identifying the things even in the poor light. Villages have limited number of 
inhabitants and are closely watched by each and every resident of the village. The 
evidence of this witness is that he had identified the said person from his back, 
style of walking, and body buildup, then it cannot be said that such witness is 
unreliable or he cannot identify the resident of the village from his back, or style of 
walking or body buildup, as the eyes of the villagers are conditioned to identify 
the villagers in poor light or from their walking style, or body build up etc.

48. The Supreme Court in the case of Ramesh Vs. State reported in (2010) 15 
SCC 49 has held as under ;

49. Hari Singh Batham (P.W. 3) has stated that the dead body of the deceased 
“X” was recovered at about 5:30-6 AM. One day prior to the recovery of dead 
body, he had seen the respondent/accused near the pator of Ramprasad Prajapti 
and was in a frightened condition. He further stated that the deceased “X” was 
raped and was killed by smothering. On cross examination, he denied that he had 
not seen the respondent/accused on the date of incident.
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52. Smt. Sagun (P.W. 7) has stated that she is working as a cook as well as also 
do the work of mopping and cleaning in the school. On 4-7-2017, she had seen that 
the daughter of Hariram (P.W.1) was coming to the school along with her school 
bag and bottle. After some time, she went outside the school after keeping her 
school bag and bottle in the class room. she was cross examined by the 
respondent/accused. In cross examination, this witness clarified that after about 
half an hour of coming to school, the deceased had gone out. She further clarified 
that there is no guard on the gate of the school and any child may come to school at 
any time and may go out. 

54. Motiram Rajoria (P.W. 9) is the Head Master of the school. He has stated 
that in the prayer session of 4-7-2017, the deceased “X” was not present. 
Thereafter, he had taken the attendance of Class 3 students, and the deceased “X” 
was not present. It was further stated that the absence of the deceased “X” is also 
mentioned in the attendance register. The date of birth of the deceased “X” is      
19-10-2009. The original admission register is Ex. P.15 and the photocopy of the 
same is Ex. P. 15C. The date of birth certificate issued on the basis of admission 
register is Ex. P.16 and the attendance register of Class 3 is Ex. P.17, in which the 
absence of the deceased “X” is marked. In cross-examination, this witness has 
stated that there is a boundary around the school building and if a student is 
required to leave the school, then he can do so with his permission. He further 
denied that Ex. P.15, P.16 and P.17 have been falsely prepared on the instructions 
of the police.

Whether the deceased went missing from School or She had not attended the 
School at all

51. After considering the evidence of last seen together coupled with the fact 
that not only he was seen near the pator of Ram Prasad in the afternoon of 4-7-
2017, but he was in a frightened condition, this Court is of the considered opinion, 
that the deceased was never seen alive, after she was seen in the company of the 
respondent/accused and due to minimum time gap between the last seen together 
and the time of death and recovery of dead body, it cannot be said that the 
respondent/accused is not the perpetrator of the offence.

53.  Smt. Ramdehi (P.W. 8) who is also working in the school as a cook and 
also do work of mopping and dusting has stated that she had seen the deceased 
“X” coming to the school at 10 A.M. This witness was cross-examined, however, 
she denied that she had not seen the deceased coming to school.

50. Thus, it is clear that the prosecution has succeeded in establishing that the 
respondent/accused was seen in a frightened condition in the afternoon of 4-7-
2017.

2175I.L.R.[2021]M.P. In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj (DB)



56. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the parties.

57. Hariram (P.W.1) has stated that since, there was Kanya Bhoj on account of 
Dev Uthani Gyaras, therefore, his daughter had left the school after leaving her 
school bag and bottle in the school. Smt. Sagun (P.W.7) and Ramdehi (P.W.8) had 
seen the deceased “X” coming to the school and thereafter leaving the school. If 
the evidence of Hariram (P.W.1), Smt. Sagun (P.W. 7), Ramdehi (P.W.8) and 
Motiram Rajoria (P.W.9) are read together, then it is clear that the deceased “X” 
left her house at 10 A.M. for attending the school. In fact she came to school and 
after leaving her school bag and bottle in the class room, she left the school for 
attending Kanya Bhoj. It is clear that the deceased “X” did not attend the prayer 
session and also did not attend the classes, therefore, she must have left the school 
prior to prayer session. According to Hariram (P.W.1), he had seen from the 
window that the school bag and bottle of the deceased were lying in the school. 
This fact is also mentioned in the F.I.R., Ex. P.1. Although the Investigating 
Officer, did not seize the school bag and bottle, but at the most, it can be said to be 
a lapse in the investigation and the accused would not get the advantage of the 
same in the light of other clinching evidence available on record. Furthermore, 
this Court cannot lose sight of the fact that immediately after recovery of dead 
body of the deceased, there was an unrest in the locality and the people had started 
agitating and Chinnor Road was blocked and therefore, the investigating officer 
was compelled to rush towards the place of agitation along with police force,  and 
some part of investigation was done by Devlal Koli (P.W. 13), like preparation of 
Naksha Panchayatnama, Ex. P.6, preparation of requisition for post-mortem, Ex. 
P.22 as well as issuing notice under Section 175 of Cr.P.C. Therefore, when the 
attention of the investigating officer was completely diverted due to aggressive 
agitation by the residents of the locality, then this Court cannot lose sight of the 
said surrounding circumstance. Further, the fact that the school bag and bottle of 
the deceased were lying in the school had already come in the F.I.R. Ex.P.1, 
therefore, it cannot be said that the non-seizure of School Bag and Bottle of the 
deceased from the school would belie the prosecution case.

55. By referring to the evidence of Motiram Rajoria (P.W. 9), it is submitted 
by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that since, the deceased “X” had not 
come to the school, therefore, the prosecution has failed to prove that the deceased 
had left her house at 10 A.M. for attending the school. It is further submitted that 
the evidence of grand mother of the deceased was not recorded to prove that the 
deceased had left the house at 10:00 A.M. for attending the school. It is further 
submitted that although it is the case of the prosecution that the school bag and 
bottle of the deceased was lying in the school, but the same was not seized by the 
investigating officer. 

58. Under these facts and circumstances of the case, this Court is of the 
considered opinion that since, the investigating officer was required to maintain 
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60. The Supreme Court in the case of Babu and another v. State represented 
by Inspector of Police, Chennai, reported in (2013) 4 SCC 448 has held as under :

the law and order situation apart from doing investigation, therefore, the non-
seizure of school bag and bottle of the deceased cannot be said to be even a faulty 
investigation.

59. Furthermore, mere non-seizure of school bag and bottle of the deceased 
would not wash out the other reliable and trustworthy evidence.

18....... If a defect in the investigation does not create a reasonable 
doubt on the guilt of the accused, the court cannot discard the 
prosecution case on the ground that there was some defect in the 
investigation.

20.7. The abovementioned unexplained shortcomings, perforce, 
indicate that in this case, the investigation was carried out either with 
preconceived notions or with a particular result in view. It is difficult to 
accept that the investigation in this case had been fair and impartial. 
From another viewpoint, on the facts and in the circumstances of this 
case, the omissions on the part of investigating agency cannot be ignored 
as mere oversight. These omissions, perforce, give rise to adverse 
inferences against the prosecution.

The Supreme Court in the case of Ganga Singh Vs. State of M.P. reported 
in (2013) 7 SCC 278 has held as under :

17. We are also unable to accept the submission of Mr Mehrotra that the 
investigation by the police is shoddy and hasty and there are defects in 
the investigation and therefore benefit of doubt should be given to the 
appellant and he should be acquitted of the charge of rape. The settled 
position of law is that the prosecution is required to establish the guilt of 
the accused beyond reasonable doubt by adducing evidence. Hence, if 
the prosecution in a given case adduces evidence to establish the guilt of 
the accused beyond reasonable doubt, the court cannot acquit the 
accused on the ground that there are some defects in the investigation, 
but if the defects in the investigation are such as to cast a reasonable 
doubt in the prosecution case, then of course the accused is entitled to 
acquittal because of such doubt. In the present case, as we have seen, the 
evidence of PW 5 as corroborated by the evidence of PW 2 and the FIR 
establish beyond reasonable doubt that the appellant has committed rape 
on PW 5 and thus the appellant is not entitled to acquittal.

Thus, every faulty investigation would not make the prosecution unreliable. 
But the faulty investigation must lead to an inference that the investigation was 

The Supreme Court in the case of Gargi v. State of Haryana, reported in 
(2019) 9 SCC 738 has held as under :
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62. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the parties.

63. It is well established principle of law that it is the quality and not the 
quantity of the witnesses which decides the fate of a trial. Further, the social 
scenario of the village cannot be lose sight of. In the present case, the unfortunate 
part is that the deceased and the accused are the grandchildren of the mother of 
Hariram (P.W.1). If the grandmother could not collect the courage to depose 
against the respondent/accused, then it cannot be said that non-examination of 
mother of Hariram (P.W.1) would give any dent to the prosecution case. It is once 
again pointed out that in the FIR, Ex. P.1 itself, it was mentioned that the deceased 
had left her house at 10 A.M. Further, Smt. Sagun (P.W. 7) and Smt. Ramdehi 
(P.W.8) had seen the deceased in the school at 10:00 A.M. According to Smt. 
Sagun (P.W. 7), the deceased left the school after half an hour. Thus, non-
examination of grandmother of the deceased would not make the evidence of the 
prosecution witnesses unreliable.

61. It is next contended by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that since, 
the grandmother of the deceased was not examined, therefore, it cannot be said 
that on 4-7-2017, the prosecution has proved that the deceased had left her house 
for attending the school at 10:00 A.M..

The onus of proving the prosecution case rests entirely on the 
prosecution and it follows as a logical corollary that the prosecution has 
complete liberty to choose its witnesses if it is to prove its case. The court 
cannot compel the prosecution to examine one witness or the other as its 
witness. At the most, if a material witness is withheld, the court may 
draw an adverse inference against the prosecution. But it is not the law 
that the omission to examine any and every witness even on minor points 
would undoubtedly lead to rejection of the prosecution case or drawing 
of an adverse inference against the prosecution. The law is well-settled 
that the prosecution is bound to produce only such witnesses as are 
essential for unfolding of the prosecution narrative. In other words, 
before an adverse inference against the prosecution can be drawn it must 
be proved to the satisfaction of the court that the witnesses who had been 
withheld were eyewitnesses who had actually seen the occurrence and 
were therefore material to prove the case. It is not necessary for the 
prosecution to multiply witnesses after witnesses on the same point; it is 
the quality rather than the quantity of the evidence that matters. In the 

being done with a preconceived notions. If the prosecution, otherwise, succeeds 
in establishing the guilt of the accused beyond reasonable doubt, then some minor 
omissions on the part of the investigating officer, would not give any dent to the 
prosecution case.

64. The Supreme Court in the case of Sarwan Singh Vs. State of Punjab 
reported in (1976) 4 SCC 369 has held as under :
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(i) DNA Profile of respondent/accused in the vaginal slide, swab and cloths of 
deceased “X”

10. Even the evidence of a solitary witness can be sufficient to record 
conviction if the same is wholly reliable. No particular number of 
witnesses is necessary to prove any fact, as statutorily provided in 
Section 134 of the Evidence Act, 1872 (in short “the Evidence Act”). It is 
the quality and not the quantity of the evidence that matters. The court 
cannot take a closed view in such matters.

instant case, the evidence of the eyewitnesses does not suffer from any 
infirmity or any manifest defect on its intrinsic merit. Secondly, there is 
nothing to show that at the time when the deceased was assaulted a large 
crowd had gathered and some of the members of the crowd had actually 
seen the occurrence and were cited as witnesses for the prosecution and 
then withheld. We must not forget that in our country there is a general 
tendency amongst the witnesses in mofussil to shun giving evidence in 
courts because of the cumbersome and dilatory procedure of our courts, 
the harassment to which they are subjected by the police and the 
searching cross-examination which they have to face before the courts.

The Supreme Court in the case of S.P.S. Rathore Vs. CBI reported in 
(2017) 5 SCC 817 has held as under :

53. No particular number of witnesses is required for proving a certain 
fact. It is the quality and not the quantity of the witnesses that matters. 
Evidence is weighed and not counted. Evidence of even a single 
eyewitness, truthful, consistent and inspiring confidence is sufficient for 
maintaining conviction. It is not necessary that all those persons who 
were present at the spot must be examined by the prosecution in order to 
prove the guilt of the accused. Having examined all the witnesses, even 
if other persons present nearby are not examined, the evidence of 
eyewitness cannot be discarded.

65. The evidence is to be weighed and not counted. Each and every possible 
witness is not required to be examined. It is for the prosecution to decide that on 
which witness, it would like to rely. If the evidence of the witnesses so examined 
by the prosecution are found to be trustworthy and reliable, then their evidence 
cannot be discarded only on the ground that some more witnesses should have 
been examined in order to corroborate the prosecution witnesses. Thus, it is held 
that the prosecution has succeeded in establishing that on 4-7-2017, the deceased 
“X” left her house at 10 A.M., for attending the school. She came to school and 
after leaving her school bag and bottle, went away.

D.N.A.

The Supreme Court in the case of State of M.P. Vs. Laakhan reported in 
(2009) 14 SCC 433 has held as under :

2179I.L.R.[2021]M.P. In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj (DB)



67. It is not out of place to mention here that inspite of the provisions of 
Section 293 of Cr.P.C., as well as even in absence of any application for cross-
examination of Scientific Officer, the Scientific Officer Dr. Pankaj Shrivastava 
(P.W.24) was examined. However, no question with regard to the above 
mentioned anomaly was asked. But, it is submitted by the Counsel for the 
respondent/accused, that the prosecution has to stand on its own legs and cannot 
take advantage of the weakness of the accused. Therefore, it was incumbent upon 
the prosecution to prove beyond reasonable doubt that the DNA of the respondent/ 
accused was extracted from the blood sample of the respondent/accused, but 
having failed to do so, it is submitted that the DNA report, Ex. P. 29 has no 
evidentiary value.

68. Undisputedly, Dr. Pankaj Shrivastava (P.W. 24) was not asked any 
question with regard to the above mentioned anomaly in A/RM code of Article R. 
Whether there is typographical error in mentioning the A/RM code of Article R in 
the DNA report, Ex. P.29 or it is fatal to the prosecution story?

69. From the DNA report, Ex. P.29, it is clear that Article Q was given A/RM 
code 8279. In the DNA report, Ex. P.29 itself, it is mentioned that Article Q was 
not opened and it was returned back unopened. When Article Q was not opened at 
all, then there is no question of extracting the DNA profile of the respondent/ 
accused from Article Q having A/RM code 8279 i.e., scalp hair of respondent/ 

nd
accused. Thus, it is clear that A/RM code of Article R mentioned on 2  page of 
DNA report, Ex. P.29 is a typographical error and nothing more. Further, Dr. 
Pankaj Shrivastava (P.W.24) has stated that the DNA of the respondent/ accused 
was extracted from his blood sample (Article R) and this evidence of Dr. Pankaj 

66. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that as per DNA 
report, Ex. P.29, DNA profile of the respondent/accused was found on Article F 
i.e., cloths of deceased and G i.e., Vaginal Slide and Swab of the deceased. 
However, it is submitted that it is clear that the blood sample of the respondent/ 
accused was marked as Article R and was given A/RM code 7280. However, it is 
fairly conceded that looking to the A/RM codes given to the other articles, A/RM-
7280 appears to be a typographical error and it should have been A/RM 8280. 
However, it is submitted that on the second page of report, A/RM code of Article R 
is mentioned as 8279 whereas A/RM 8279 code was given to Article Q which was 
Scalp Hair of accused. Therefore, it is submitted that it is incorrect to say that the 
DNA profile found on the cloths and Vaginal Slide and Swab of the deceased was 
containing the DNA profile of the respondent/accused, because it is for the 
prosecution to prove the guilt of the accused beyond reasonable doubt, and since, 
the DNA report itself creates doubt on its correctness, therefore, the circumstance 
of presence of DNA profile of respondent/accused on the cloths and Vaginal Slide 
and Swab of the deceased cannot be relied upon.
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70. The DNA report, Ex. P.29 can be seen from another point of view. Article I 
and J are cloths of respondent/accused. It is not out of place to mention here that 
seizure of cloths of the respondent/accused vide seizure memo Ex. P.24 has not 
been challenged. Further, no question was put to Ashok Kumar (P.W. 19) to make 
his evidence unreliable. Similar female DNA profile was detected on the source of 
article A (Plastic Bag), Article F Stain 2 (Cloths of deceased), Article G (Vaginal 
slide of deceased), Article I and J (Cloths of respondent/accused). Thus, it is clear 
that the DNA profile of the deceased was also found on the cloths of the 
respondent/accused. For ascertaining the DNA profile of the deceased, the blood 
sample of the respondent/accused was not required. Thus, the presence of DNA 
profile of the deceased on the cloths of the respondent/accused, clearly indicates 
the involvement of the respondent/accused in the crime.

72. So far as the contention of the Counsel for the respondent/accused that the 
prosecution has to stand on its own legs is concerned, it is true that the burden is on 
the prosecution to prove the guilt of the accused beyond reasonable doubt. 
However, when there is any discrepancy which does not go to the root of the 
matter, thereby making it inadmissible or unreliable, then the prosecution witness 
should also get an opportunity to explain such discrepancy. Without asking any 
question, the prosecution cannot be taken by surprise and if the discrepancy does 
not go to the root of the evidentiary value and admissibility of evidence, then the 
prosecution cannot be thrown overboard only on account of some typographical 
errors in the A/RM code of the Articles, specifically when, apart from mentioning 
the A/RM code, Article R is also mentioned in the DNA report Ex. P.29.

71. Thus, even if anomaly in A/RM code of Article R is seen in the light of the 
presence of DNA profile of the deceased on the cloths of the respondent/accused, 
then it can be safely held that discrepancy in A/RM of Article R is a result of 
typographical error only. Further, had the accused put any question to Dr. Pankaj 
Shrivastava (P.W. 24) in this regard, then he could have explained the discrepancy.

74. As per the DNA report, Ex. P.29, all the alleles observed in the DNA 
profile of respondent/accused were observed in the male mixed DNA profile 

Shrivastava (P.W. 24) was not controverted by respondent/accused by putting any 
question in the cross-examination. Therefore, in the light of the fact that Article Q 
which was given A/RM 8279 was never opened, therefore, there is no question of 
any confusion regarding the Article from which the DNA of the 
respondent/accused was extracted. Thus, it is clear that DNA profile of the 
respondent/accused was extracted from his blood sample only.

73. Under these circumstances, no importance can be given to discrepancy in 
A/RM of Article R.
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78. It is clear from the order sheets of the Magistrate that an application for 
collecting blood sample was made on 27-7-2017 and the said application was 
allowed by order dated 29-7-2017, after hearing the respondent/accused. As the 
respondent/accused was in custody, and no objection was raised by respondent/ 
accused, therefore, permission was granted. Thus, it is clear that the blood sample 
of the respondent/accused was collected, after obtaining due permission from the 
Court of competent jurisdiction.

77. The submission made by the Counsel for the respondent/accused is 
misconceived and is contrary to record.

generated on F (Stain1) and same male DNA profile was detected on Article F 
(Cloths of the deceased) Article G (Vaginal Slide and Swab) of the deceased. 

82. The Counsel for the respondent/accused could not point out the life of 
DNA. According to medical science, the DNA has a half life of 521 years i.e., after 
521 years, half of the bonds between nucleotides in the backbone of a sample 
would break and after another 521 years, half of the remaining bonds would break 

75. Further, as per the postmortem report, Ex. P.18, signs of forceful vaginal 
penetration were found. With regard to reproductive organ, external genitalia was 
found diffusely swollen and reddening, labia majora was reddened and swollen. 
Labia Minora was swollen. Hymen Tear was irregular and circumferentialy from 
4 O'Clock to 8 O'clock position. Hymen tear was extending upto posterior vaginal 
wall and also involving anal blood stained Mucosa Vulva. Thus, it is clear that the 
deceased was raped, and not only injuries were found on labia majora and labia 
minora, but hymen was also found torn.

76. It is next contended by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that 
although, the respondent/accused was in custody, but no permission from the 
Court of competent jurisdiction was obtained before collecting the blood sample 
of the respondent/accused.

81. There is no suggestion either to Dr. Ajeet Kumar Minz (P.W.12), Dr. 
Pankaj Shrivastava (P.W. 24) or to Alok Singh (P.W. 28) in this regard. There is no 
scientific material on record to show that unless and until the blood sample is 
preserved in a particular manner, the same would get spoiled and it would not be 
possible to extract DNA from the said sample.

80. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

79. It is next contended by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that since, 
there is nothing on record to show that the blood sample was preserved and stored 
in a proper condition, therefore, there is a every chance that the blood sample of 
the respondent/accused might have got spoiled.
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86. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the parties.

and so on. Thus, it cannot be said that if the blood sample is not kept properly, then 
it would result in loss of DNA. Accordingly it is held that even in absence of 
material to show that the blood sample was kept in a hygienic condition, still it 
would not result in loss of DNA. Further, the seal of the container was found intact 
at the time of receipt of blood sample in the F.S.L., Sagar.

85. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that the 
thickness and diameter of the button seized from the spot was different from the 
button recovered from the T-Shirt of the respondent/accused therefore, it cannot 
be said that the button seized from the spot was that of the shirt of the respondent/ 
accused.

89. Dr. Neha Dodia (P.W.25), after comparing the button with threads seized 
from the spot with the button and thread of the T-Shirt of respondent/accused, 
gave the following findings :

83. There is another aspect of the matter. The blood sample of the deceased 
was collected on 29-7-2017, and the blood sampling form is Ex. P.20 and sealed 
blood sample was seized vide seizure memo Ex. P.21. The blood sample was sent 
for DNA test to F.S.L. Sagar on 31-7-2017 and it was received in the Laboratory 
on 2-8-2017. Thus, even otherwise, there is no delay in dispatch and receipt of 
blood sample by FSL Sagar.

84. Thus, it is held that DNA profile of the respondent/accused was found in 
the Cloths, Vaginal Slide and Swab of the deceased and the female DNA profile of 
the deceased was found on the cloths of the respondent/accused.

Recovery of Button of the shirt of respondent/accused from the spot

87. On 5-7-2017 at 9:10 A.M., apart from other articles, one button with 
broken threads was also seized from the spot vide seizure memo Ex. P.12. Bheem 
(P.W. 4) and Pappu Prajapati (P.W. 5) have proved the seizure of button from the 
spot.

88. T-Shirt of respondent/accused was marked as Article I1, whereas lower of 
respondent/accused was marked as I2. The button seized from the spot was 
marked as Article S1 and broken threads were marked as Article S2. In the T-Shirt, 
it was found that it had three places for stitching buttons. Button at serial no.1 was 
broken, whereas button at serial no.3 was intact and button at serial no. 2 was 
missing.
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The following findings were given by Dr. Neha Dodia (P.W. 25) after 
comparing the threads of the T-Shirt and threads found along with button seized 
from spot. The findings are as under :
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Material and Size  Circular and plastic like Circular and plastic like

Comparison Point  Button stitched on T- Article S1
 Shirt Article I1

 surface white. surface white.

Colour and design  White, Translucent Depth White, Translucent, Depth
 of holes, Upper surface  of holes, Upper surface 
 paravartak and lower paravartak and lower

No. of holes 4 4

Thickness 0.108 Cm 1.118 Cm

Diameter 0.274 Cm 0.288 Cm

Engraving SCHOTT SCHOTT

 Article I1

No. of Strands 2 2

Comparison point Threads taken from T-Shirt Pieces of thread S 2

Colour White White

 Nature Nature

 together  sticking together 

Nature of fiber Synthesized Cylindrical Synthesized Cylindrical

Burning point of fiber Fiber form bead by sticking Fiber form bead by 

Type of Twist  Z type Z  type

In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj (DB)

92. It is not out of place to mention here that no question with regard to 
difference in thickness and diameter of the button seized from the spot and the 

Accordingly, it was found that the button seized from the spot and the 
button found on the T-Shirt of the respondent/accused were almost same and the 
broken pieces of thread found along with button seized from the spot and the 
threads found on the T-Shirt of the respondent/accused were same.

90. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, that since, the 
thickness and diameter of the button seized from the spot was different from the 
button found on the T-Shirt of the respondent/accused, therefore, it is incorrect to 
say that both were almost same.

91. Considered the submissions. 
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button found on the T-Shrit (sic: shirt) of respondent/accused was asked to Dr. 
Neha Dodia (P.W. 25). Further, if the comparison chart prepared by Dr. Neha 
Dodia (P.W. 25) is seen, then it is clear that Colour and Design, No. of Holes, 
Material and Size as well as Engraving on the button seized from the spot and 
button found on the T-Shirt of respondent/accused were same. There is a 
difference of fraction of Millimeters in thickness and diameter of both the buttons. 
This difference may take place during manufacturing process. As no question was 
put to Dr. Neha Dodia (P.W. 25) in this regard, therefore, considering the fact that 
difference of fraction of Millimeters in thickness and diameter of buttons may 
occur during manufacturing process, this Court is of the considered opinion that 
after considering the remaining readings including that of Engraving, the findings 
given by Dr. Neha Dodia (P.W. 25) that both the buttons are almost same cannot be 
said to be incorrect. Furthermore, this Court cannot lose sight of the fact, that 
broken thread was also found with the button seized from the spot. The pieces of 
thread found with the button seized from the spot, and the thread of T-Shirt of 
respondent/accused were identically same. Therefore, it is held that the button 
with broken pieces of thread which was seized from the spot, was that of the T-
Shirt of the respondent/accused.

Presence of injuries on the nose of the respondent/accused

(5) No injury seen on genital organ.

93. The respondent/accused Manoj was got medically examined on 5-7-2017 
and as per M.LC. Report, Ex. P.25, Dr. Vinod Kumar Doneriya (P.W. 17) found the 
following injuries on the body of the respondent/accused :

95. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

96. As per FSL report Ex. P.31, human skin was found in the nail clippings of 
the deceased and it was found insufficient for further examination.

97. It is true that the source of human skin could not be ascertained due to 
insufficient quantity for examination, but if the circumstance of presence of 
human skin in the nail clippings of the deceased is considered in the light of the 
other circumstances, then the non-ascertainment of source of human skin would 
not be fatal to the prosecution story. Undisputedly, abrasion was found on the nose

(7) Abrasion 1x1/2 cm on nose simple in nature caused by human nails 
duration 24-48 hours.

94. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that in the nail 
clippings of the deceased, although human skin was found, but the source of the 
said skin was not ascertained, therefore, it cannot be said that the skin found in the 
nail clippings of the deceased was that of the respondent/accused.
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Absence of injuries on genitals of the respondent/accused.

15. The observations made and noted by Dr Mudita Gupta during 
the medico-legal examination of PW 7 clearly make out the 
prosecutrix having been subjected to rape. The prosecutrix has 
spoken of “penetration” in her statement. The discovery of 
spermatozoa in the private parts of the victim is not a must to 
establish penetration. There are several factors which may 
negative the presence of spermatozoa (see Narayanamma v. State 
of Karnataka). Slightest penetration of penis into vagina without 
rupturing the hymen would constitute rape (see Madan Gopal 
Kakkad v. Naval Dubey). The suggestion made in the cross-
examination of Dr Mudita Gupta that injury of the nature found on 
hymen of the prosecutrix could be caused by a fall does not lead us 
anywhere. Firstly, no such suggestion was given to the prosecutrix 
or her mother during cross-examination. Secondly, why would the 

101. Presence of injuries on male organ of the accused is not necessary in all 
cases.

100. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

98. Further, a suggestion was given to Dr. Vinod Kumar Doneriya (P.W. 17) 
that due to itching, if some one scratches his nose, then abrasion may be caused, 
which was denied by this witness. Thus, the possibility of self inflicted abrasion 
was ruled out by this witness. Thus, it is held that the respondent/accused must 
have suffered abrasion on the nose due to resistance offered by the deceased.

of the respondent/accused as per his M.L.C., Ex. P.25. The photographs, Ex. A.34  
and A.35 of respondent/accused also shows the presence of abrasion on his nose. 
Further, the presence of the respondent/accused on the spot and his involvement 
in the offence is proved beyond reasonable doubt in the light of the presence of his 
DNA profile in the cloths and vaginal slide and swab of the deceased, therefore, it 
is held that the human skin found in the nail clippings of the deceased was that of 
the respondent/accused.

99. It is submitted that if a forcible intercourse is done with a virgin minor girl, 
then there should be some injuries on the genitals of the accused. However, in the 
present case, it is clear that no injury was found on the genitals of the 
respondent/accused, therefore, the possibility of committing rape on the minor 
prosecutrix is ruled out.

102. The Supreme Court after considering the Modi's jurisprudence, has held 
in the case of State of H.P. v. Gian Chand, reported in (2001) 6 SCC 71, as under :

2186 I.L.R.[2021]M.P.In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj (DB)



2187I.L.R.[2021]M.P.

104. Therefore, the absence of any injury on the penis of the respondent/ 
accused, would not belie the prosecution case.

105. Hariram (P.W.1) has stated that after hearing the cries of Bhabhi Gayatri, 
they found that the dead body of the deceased was lying behind the trolley which 
was parked in front of the Pator of Jai Kishan Prajapati. It is submitted that in fact 
the dead body of the deceased was found in front of the Pator of Ram Prasad 
Prajapati. It is submitted that Bhabhi Gayatri was the best witness as she had 
noticed the dead body for the first time but she has not been examined, therefore, 
the recovery of the dead body of the deceased itself  becomes doubtful.

107. The respondent/accused has not disputed the fact that the dead body of 
deceased “X” was found in front of the Pator of Ramprasad Prajapti. The 
photographs of the deceased and the spot were taken by Jugal Kishore Dubey 

girl or her mother implicate the accused, charging him with rape, if 
the injury was caused by a fall? There is nothing to draw such an 
inference, not even a suggestion, to be found on record. The 
answer to the suggestion made to Dr Gupta cannot discredit the 
prosecution case in the absence of any other material to support 
the suggestion. So is the case with the absence of external marks of 
violence on the body of the victim. In case of children who are 
incapable of offering any resistance external marks of violence 
may not be found. (See Modi's Medical Jurisprudence, 22nd Edn., 
p. 502.) It is true that marks of external injury have not been found 
on the person of the accused but that by itself does not negate the 
prosecution case. Modi has opined (see Modi, ibid, p. 509) that 
even in the case of a child victim being ravished by a grown-up 
person it is not necessary that there should always be marks of 
injuries on the penis in such cases. Further, it is to be noted that 
about two days had elapsed between the time of the incident and 
medical examination of the accused within which time minor 
injuries, even if caused, might have healed.

103. In the present case, the offence was committed on 4-7-2017 and the 
respondent/accused was medically examined on 6-7-2017 at 2:00 P.M. i.e., after 
48 hours of incident. Therefore, the possibility of healing of any minor injury on 
the genital organs of the respondent/accused is also not ruled out. Further, it is 
clear from Modi's Jurisprudence that it is not necessary that there should always 
be mark of injuries on the penis of the accused.

Non-Examination of Gayatri

106. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the parties.
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(P.W. 18) which have been marked as Article 1 to Article 26. Even from the spot 
map, Ex. P.4, as well as photographs Article 1 to 26, it is clear that the dead body 
was found in front of the Pator of Ramprasad Prajapati. Under these circumstances, 
the non-examination of Bhabhi Gayatri would not give any dent to the 
prosecution story. Further, it is the submission of the Counsel for the State that in 
the village where the population is scanty and each and every person knows each 
other, then generally they do not come forward in order to save their relationship 
with the family of the accused. It is not known as to whether Gayatri is the mother 
of the respondent/accused or She was called Bhabhi by Hariram (P.W.1) being the 
resident of the same village. Even if it is presumed that Gayatri was called Bhabhi 
by Hariram (P.W.1) being the resident of same village, but this Court cannot lose 
sight of the social thread running through the residents of the village. She might 
not be interested in coming into picture in order to save her contacts/relationship 
with the family of the respondent/accused. Further, an independent witness may 
hesitate in coming forward in order to avoid becoming part of police investigation 
or attending the Court. Further, the Supreme Court in the case of Gian Singh 
(Supra) has held as under :

14. So far as non-examination of other witnesses and an adverse 
inference drawn by the High Court therefrom is concerned, here again 
we find ourselves not persuaded to subscribe to the view taken by the 
High Court. The prosecutrix, PW 7 has stated that soon before the 
incident she was playing with three girl-children of the same age as hers 
and they were present when the accused committed rape on her. One of 
the girls picked up a broom and had tried to scare away the accused by 
striking the broom on him. This little friend of the victim had also raised 
a hue and cry but none from the neighbourhood came to the spot. These 
girls were none else than daughters of her uncle. What the High Court 
has failed to see is that these girls were of tender age and could hardly be 
expected to describe the act of forcible sexual intercourse committed by 
the accused on PW 7. Secondly, these girls would obviously be under the 
influence of their parents. We have already noted the co-sister of PW 1 
turning hostile and not supporting the prosecution version. How could 
these little girls be expected to be away from the influence of their 
parents and depose freely and truthfully in the court? Non-examination 
of a material witness is again not a mathematical formula for discarding 
the weight of the testimony available on record howsoever natural, 
trustworthy and convincing it may be. The charge of withholding a 
material witness from the court levelled against the prosecution should 
be examined in the background of facts and circumstances of each case 
so as to find whether the witnesses were available for being examined in 
the court and were yet withheld by the prosecution. The court has first to 
assess the trustworthiness of the evidence adduced and available on 
record. If the court finds the evidence adduced worthy of being relied on 
then the testimony has to be accepted and acted on though there may be 
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other witnesses available who could also have been examined but were 
not examined. However, if the available evidence suffers from some 
infirmity or cannot be accepted in the absence of other evidence, which 
though available has been withheld from the court, then the question of 
drawing an adverse inference against the prosecution for non-
examination of such witnesses may arise. It is now well settled that 
conviction for an offence of rape can be based on the sole testimony of 
the prosecutrix corroborated by medical evidence and other circumstances 
such as the report of chemical examination etc. if the same is found to be 
natural, trustworthy and worth being relied on.

The Supreme Court in the case of Mahesh v. State of Maharashtra, 
reported in (2008) 13 SCC 271 has held as under :

35. The next plank of argument of Mr Giri is that since Nepal Singh 
who had been stated to have accompanied PW 2 and PW 3 has not been 
examined and similarly, Ram Kala and Bansa who had been stated to 
have arrived at the tubewell as per the testimony of PW 2, have not been 
examined, the prosecution's version has to be discarded, for it has 
deliberately not cited the independent material witnesses. It is noticeable 

55. As regards non-examination of the independent witnesses who 
probably witnessed the occurrence on the roadside, suffice it to say that 
testimony of PW Sanjay, an eyewitness, who received injuries in the 
occurrence, if found to be trustworthy of belief, cannot be discarded 
merely for non-examination of the independent witnesses. The High 
Court has held in its judgment and, in our view, rightly that the reasons 
given by the learned trial Judge for discarding and disbelieving the 
testimony of PWs 4, 5, 6 and 8 were wholly unreasonable, untenable and 
perverse. The occurrence of the incident, as noticed earlier, is not in 
serious dispute. PW Prakash Deshkar has also admitted that he had 
lodged complaint to the police about the incident on the basis of which 
FIR came to be registered and this witness has supported in his 
deposition the contents of the complaint to some extent. It is well settled 
that in such cases many a times, independent witnesses do not come 
forward to depose in favour of the prosecution. There are many reasons 
that persons sometimes are not inclined to become witnesses in the case 
for a variety of reasons. It is well settled that merely because the 
witnesses examined by the prosecution are relatives of the victim, that 
fact by itself will not be sufficient to discard and discredit the evidence of 
the relative witnesses, if otherwise they are found to be truthful 
witnesses and rule of caution is that the evidence of the relative 
witnesses has to be reliable evidence which has to be accepted after deep 
and thorough scrutiny.

The Supreme Court in the case of  Vijendra Singh v. State of U.P., (2017) 
11 SCC 129 has held as under :
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from the decision of the trial court and the High Court, that reliance has 
been placed on the testimony of PWs 1 to 3 and their version has been 
accepted. They have treated PW 2 and PW 3 as natural witnesses who 
have testified that the accused persons were leaving the place after 
commission of the offence and they had seen them quite closely. The 
contention that they were interested witnesses and their implication is 
due to inimical disposition towards accused persons has not been 
accepted and we have concurred with the said finding. It has come out in 
evidence that witnesses and the accused persons belong to the same 
village. The submission of Mr Giri is that non-examination of Nepal 
Singh, Ramlal and Kalsa is quite critical for the case of the prosecution 
and as put forth by him, their non-examination crucially affects the 
prosecution version and creates a sense of doubt. According to Mr Giri, 
Nepal Singh is a material witness. In this regard we may refer to the 
authority in State of H.P. v. Gian Chand wherein it has been held that: 
(SCC p. 81, para 14)

The Court after so holding further ruled that it is the duty of the court to 
first assess the trustworthiness of the evidence available on record and if 
the court finds the evidence adduced worthy of being relied on and 
deserves acceptance, then non-examination of any other witnesses 
available who could also have been examined but were not examined, 
does not affect the case of the prosecution.

“ 19. ... if a material witness, who would unfold the genesis of 
the incident or an essential part of the prosecution case, not 
convincingly brought to fore otherwise, or where there is a gap 
or infirmity in the prosecution case which could have been 
supplied or made good by examining a witness who though 
available is not examined, the prosecution case can be termed as 
suffering from a deficiency and withholding of such a material 
witness would oblige the court to draw an adverse inference 
against the prosecution by holding that if the witness would 
have been examined it would not have supported the 
prosecution case. On the other hand, if already overwhelming 
evidence is available and examination of other witnesses would 

“14. Non-examination of a material witness is again not a 
mathematical formula for discarding the weight of the testimony 
available on record howsoever natural, trustworthy and convincing 
it may be. The charge of withholding a material witness from the 
court levelled against the prosecution should be examined in the 
background of the facts and circumstances of each case so as to 
find whether the witnesses were available for being examined in 
the court and were yet withheld by the prosecution.”

36. In Takhaji Hiraji v. Thakore Kubersing Chamansing, it has been 
held that: (SCC p. 155, para 19)
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37. In Dahari v. State of U.P., while discussing about the non-
examination of material witness, the Court expressed the view that when 
he was not the only competent witness who would have been fully 
capable of explaining the factual situation correctly and the prosecution 
case stood fully corroborated by the medical evidence and the testimony 
of other reliable witnesses, no adverse inference could be drawn against 
the prosecution. Similar view has been expressed in Manjit Singh v. 
State of Punjab and Joginder Singh v. State of Haryana.

Discrepancy in Naksha Panchayatnama, Ex.P.6 and the Post-mortem report, 
Ex.P.18

108. Thus, it is held that non-examination of Gayatri would not give any blow 
to the prosecution much less a fatal blow.

109. As there is no dispute regarding the place from where the dead body of the 
deceased “X” was found, it is held that non-examination of Gayatri is not fatal to 
the prosecution case.

Non-examination of Jitendra Parihar and Ashok Kushwaha

110. By referring to Examination-in-chief of Hariram (P.W.1), it is submitted 
by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that when Hariram (P.W.1) asked the 
respondent/accused, as to whether he would like to go to Gwalior for labour work 
or not, at that time Jitendra Parihar and Ashok Kushwaha were also sitting there, 
and they have not been examined.

only be a repetition or duplication of the evidence already 
adduced, non-examination of such other witnesses may not be 
material. ... If the witnesses already examined are reliable and 
the testimony coming from their mouth is unimpeachable, the 
court can safely act upon it, uninfluenced by the factum of non-
examination of other witnesses.”

111. The submission made by the Counsel for the respondent/accused is liable 
to be rejected only on the ground that it is the quality and not quantity which 
decides the fate of a trial. The evidence is to be weighed and not calculated. 
Further, it has already been held that generally independent witnesses do not want 
to come forward and specifically when the social thread running in the residents 
of villages is so strong, therefore, it is difficult that every independent witness 
would come forward to depose against the accused.

112. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that as per 
Naksha Panchayatnama, Ex. P.6, the witnesses had not found any injury on the 
head of the deceased “X” whereas in the Post-mortem report, head injury was 
found and it was also opined by Dr. Ajay Gupta (P.W. 11) that head injury might 
also be the cause of death.
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113. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

116. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

114. As per the post-mortem report, Ex. P.18, Ante-mortem Ecchymosis over 
Occipital area of 8X6 cm with subdural and Subarachnoid hemorrhage was found 
all over the brain. Thus, it is clear that only internal injury in the head was found 
with no corresponding external injury. Under these circumstances, if the 
witnesses could not notice any injury on the head of the deceased “X”, then it 
cannot be said that there was any discrepancy in the Naksha Panchayanama       
(sic: Panchayatnama), Ex. P.6 and post-mortem report, Ex. P.18.

117. Naksha Panchayatnama Ex.P.6 was prepared in the presence of 6 
witnesses including Head Constable Syara Bano. Syara Bano (P.W. 20) has stated 
that she had seen the private part of the deceased and since, stool had come out, 
therefore, it was not clearly visible. Further, it is well known that while conducting 
post-mortem, the autopsy surgeon inspects the body more meticulously. In the        
post-mortem report, Ex. P.18, it is specifically mentioned that stool had come out. 
Further, when one of the witness of Naksha Panchayatnama Ex.P.6 was a lady, 
then it is not necessary to mention that the private part of the deceased was seen by 
the lady and not by all the witnesses. Under these circumstances, it cannot be said 
that there was any discrepancy in the Naksha Panchayatnama, Ex.P.6 and the 
Post-mortem report,Ex. P.18.

115. It is next contended by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that in the 
Naksha Panchayatnama, Ex P.6, it has not been mentioned that the private part of 
the deceased was seen by the lady constable. Further, in the Naksha Panchayatnama, 
Ex. P.6, no external injury was found on the private part of the deceased, whereas 
in the post-mortem report, Ex. P.18, injuries were found on the private part of the 
deceased, therefore, there is a discrepancy on this aspect.

118. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that in the post-
mortem report, Ex. P.18, it is mentioned that nail clippings of both hands of the 
deceased, two vaginal slides and two vaginal swabs of deceased were sealed in a 
bottle. Similarly, Viscera was sealed in two bottles with saturated salt solution. 
Similarly one Bottle contains stomach and its content and another bottle contains 
pieces of liver, spleen and kidney. The above mentioned articles were handed over 
to the police constable accompanying the body. It is submitted that these articles 
were seized from Constable Dharmendra vide seizure memo Ex. P.26 and from 
the seizure memo, Ex. P.26, it is clear that Bottles became Box (fMCck), therefore, it 

Discrepancy regarding bottle and box
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121. Section 53-A of Cr.P.C. reads as under :

53-A. Examination of person accused of rape by medical practitioner. — 
(1) When a person is arrested on a charge of committing an offence of 
rape or an attempt to commit rape and there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that an examination of his person will afford evidence as to the 
commission of such offence, it shall be lawful for a registered medical 
practitioner employed in a hospital run by the Government or by a local 
authority and in the absence of such a practitioner within the radius of 
sixteen kilometers from the place where the offence has been 
committed, by any other registered medical practitioner, acting at the 
request of a police officer not below the rank of a sub-inspector, and for 
any person acting in good faith in his aid and under his direction, to make 
such an examination of the arrested person and to use such force as is 
reasonably necessary for that purpose.

is clear that the internal organs which were handed over by the hospital were 
changed and the internal organs which were sealed in boxes were seized.

Medical Examination of respondent/accused was not conducted as per 
Section 53-A of Cr.P.C.

119. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

120. Bottle, box (fMCck) are some words which are used to describe the container. 
Bottle means a container having narrow neck, whereas internal organs of the 
deceased cannot be kept in a bottle having narrow neck. They are to be preserved 
and sealed in a bottle having broad neck which is known as “Jar”. Thus Dr. Ajay 
Gupta (P.W. 11) did not use the correct word for the container by describing as 
bottle, but in fact more appropriate word i.e., “Jar” should have been used. Since, 
the internal organs cannot be given in a bottle with narrow neck, therefore, the 
internal organs must have been given in a container having broad neck, therefore, 
if a constable described the said container as box (fMCck), then it cannot be said that 
the sealed container given by the hospital was tempered. The use of word bottle or 
box (fMCck) is nothing but description of “Jar” or bottle with broad neck, and would 
not make any difference in the matter. Further, the seal of the hospital was found 
intact by the F.S.L. Sagar. Further, Dharmendra Jat (P.W.21) had taken the dead 
body for post-mortem, and the sealed articles were handed over to him. No 
question was put to Dharmendra Jat (P.W. 21) about “bottle” and “box”. Dharmendra 
Jat (P.W.21) has specifically stated in his cross examination that he had not seen 
the sealed articles by opening the same. Therefore, the submissions made by the 
Counsel for the respondent/accused that bottle became box is nothing but an 
attempt to make a mountain out of a molehill.
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124. But, no suggestion was given to Dr. Vinod Kumar Doneriya (P.W.17) that 
he had conducted the medical examination of the respondent/accused without 
there being any requisition by the investigating officer.

123. It also appears that even the Public Prosecutor was not vigilant at the time 
of recording of evidence. Part “B” of Trial Court's record contain an un-exhibited 
requisition form given by investigating officer, for medical examination of 
respondent/accused. However, it is well settled principle of law that un-exhibited 
document(s) cannot be read in favor of the prosecution.

125. However, in view of suggestion given to Daini Kumar (P.W.16), that he 
had taken the respondent/accused for medical examination of respondent/accused 
on the instructions of his senior police officers, it is held that the respondent/ 
accused was medically examined at the request of the investigating officer.

(iv) the description of material taken from the person
of the accused for DNA profiling, and
(v) other material particulars in reasonable detail.

(3) The report shall state precisely the reasons for each conclusion 
arrived at.

(4) The exact time of commencement and completion of the examination 
shall also be noted in the report.

(i) the name and address of the accused and of the person by whom 
he was brought,

(iii) marks of injury, if any, on the person of the accused,
(ii) the age of the accused,

(5) The registered medical practitioner shall, without delay, forward the 
report to the investigating officer, who shall forward it to the Magistrate 
referred to in Section 173 as part of the documents referred to in clause (a) 
of sub-section (5) of that section.

122. The accused was medically examined by Dr. Vinod Kumar Doneriya 
(P.W. 17) and M.L.C. report of the respondent/accused is Ex. P.25 and it was 
seized vide seizure memo Ex. P.24. It is true that the prosecution has not produced 
the copy of requisition for conducting M.L.C. of the respondent/accused but has 
examined Daini Kumar (P.W. 16) who had taken the respondent/accused for 
medical examination. In the cross-examination, a suggestion was given to this 
witness that he had taken the respondent/accused for medical examination on the 
instructions of his senior police officers, which was accepted by this witness.

(2) The registered medical practitioner conducting such examination 
shall, without delay, examine such person and prepare a report of his 
examination giving the following particulars, namely:—
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128. Section 19 of POCSO Act, reads as under :

(b) the local police.

(6) The Special Juvenile Police Unit or local police shall, without unnecessary 
delay but within a period of twenty-four hours, report the matter to the Child 
Welfare Committee and the Special Court or where no Special Court has been 
designated, to the Court of Session, including need of the child for care and 
protection and steps taken in this regard.

19. Reporting of offences.—(1) Notwithstanding anything contained 
in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974), any person 
(including the child), who has apprehension that an offence under this 
Act is likely to be committed or has knowledge that such an offence has 
been committed, he shall provide such information to,—

Whether F.I.R., Ex. P.1 is an ante-dated and ante-timed document 

127. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

(a) the Special Juvenile Police Unit; or

(b) be read over to the informant;

(3) Where the report under sub-section (1) is given by a child, the same shall be 
recorded under sub-section (2) in a simple language so that the child understands 
contents being recorded.

(5) Where the Special Juvenile Police Unit or local police is satisfied that the 
child against whom an offence has been committed is in need of care and 
protection, then, it shall, after recording the reasons in writing, make immediate 
arrangement to give him such care and protection (including admitting the child 
into shelter home or to the nearest hospital) within twenty-four hours of the report, 
as may be prescribed.

(c) shall be entered in a book to be kept by the Police Unit.

(4) In case contents are being recorded in the language not understood by the 
child or wherever it is deemed necessary, a translator or an interpreter, having such 
qualifications, experience and on payment of such fees as may be prescribed, shall 
be provided to the child if he fails to understand the same.

126.  It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that F.I.R., 
Ex.P.1 is an ante-dated and ante-timed document, because if the F.I.R., Ex. P.1 was 
already lodged at 2:00 A.M. on 5-7-2017, then there was no necessity of Missing 
Person Registration, Ex. P.2, which was prepared at 2:30 A.M. on 5-7-2017.

(a) ascribed an entry number and recorded in writing;

(2) Every report given under sub-section (1) shall be—

(7) No person shall incur any liability, whether civil or criminal, for giving the 
information in good faith for the purpose of sub-section (1).
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131. It is submitted by Shri Vijay Dutt Sharma, that the order-sheets of the Trial 
Court, indicate that on 10-8-2017, the charge sheet was filed and on 5-9-2017, 
time was granted to engage Counsel and to argue on the question of framing of 
charge. On 4-10-2017, one Shri Ashwani, Advocate filed his Vakalatnama on 
behalf of the respondent/accused and prayed for time to argue on the question of 
framing of charge. Again on 27-10-2017, time was granted to argue on the 
question of framing of charge. On 10-11-2017, Shri Ashwani, Advocate, 
withdrew his Vakalatnama and accordingly, Shri O.P. Sharma (wrongly 
mentioned as Chaturvedi in the order sheet) was appointed as Counsel for the 
respondent/accused from Legal Aid and time was granted to argue on the question 
of framing of charge. Again on 28-11-2017 and 14-12-2017, time was granted at 
the request of Shri O.P. Sharma, Counsel for respondent/accused. On 12-1-2018, 
Shri Arvind Chouhan, Advocate appeared on behalf of respondent/accused and 
prayed for time and accordingly time was granted and case was adjourned to 14-2-
2018. On 14-2-2018, Shri Arvind Chouhan, Advocate argued on behalf of the 
respondent/accused on the question of framing of charges and accordingly, 
charges were framed.

130. Further, a copy of the F.I.R. was forwarded to the concerning Magistrate 
on 5-7-2017 and the acknowledgment of receipt of the same is Ex. P.28. Thus, it is 
clear that the provisions of Section 157 of Cr.P.C. were also followed. Accordingly, 
this Court is of the considered opinion, that it is incorrect to say that F.I.R., Ex. P.1 
is an ante-dated and ante-timed document.

Whether arguments on the question of framing of charges were advanced by 
a Counsel not engaged by the respondent/accused and if so, its effect

129. Thus, it is clear that when an information was given to the police regarding 
the missing of a minor girl and a clear apprehension was expressed by Hariram 
(P.W.1) in the F.I.R., Ex. P.1 that his daughter has been kidnapped by some unknown 
person, then the police did the right thing in lodging the F.I.R. Since, it was not 
clear as to whether the minor daughter of the complainant was kidnapped or any 
other offence has been committed or she is lost for any other reason, therefore, the 
police also registered under the category missing person. Further, this aspect of 
the matter could have been clarified by Alok Singh (P.W. 28), the investigating 
officer, but no question in this regard was put to him.

132. It is submitted by Shri Vijay Dutt Sharma, Advocate, that Shri Arvind 
Chouhan, Advocate was never engaged by the respondent/accused, nor was 
provided by the Court, and therefore, the Court should not have heard Shri Arvind 
Chouhan, Advocate, on the question of framing of charges.

133. Heard the learned Counsel for the respondent/accused.
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135. The Vakalatnama of Shri Arvind Chouhan is not available on record. Thus, 
it appears that Shri Arvind Chouhan might have appeared as a proxy Counsel on 
behalf of Shri O.P. Sharma, Advocate.

(b) issues a search warrant for a document, parcel or other thing in 
the custody of a postal or telegraph authority;

138. Section 461 of Cr.P.C. deals with certain infringements or irregularities, 
which would vitiate the trial. Section 461 of Cr.P.C. reads as under :

(m)  tries an offender summarily;

(e) discharges a person lawfully bound to be of good behaviour;

(h) makes an order under Section 133 as to a local nuisance;

(f) cancels a bond to keep the peace;

(a) attaches and sells property under Section 83;

(i) prohibits, under Section 143, the repetition or continuance of a 
public nuisance;
(j) makes an order under Part C or Part D of Chapter X;

137. The next question for consideration is that what would be effect of this 
mistake which remained unnoticed by the Trial Court.

461. Irregularities which vitiate proceedings.— If any Magistrate, 
not being empowered by law in this behalf, does any of the following 
things, namely:—

(c) demands security to keep the peace;
(d) demands security for good behaviour;

(g) makes an order for maintenance;

(k) takes cognizance of an offence under clause (c) of sub-section

134. From Part “B” of Trial Court's record, it is clear that earlier Shri Ashwani, 
had filed his Vakalatnama on behalf of the respondent/ accused, but the same does 
not contain the signatures of respondent/ accused. Thereafter, Shri O.P. Sharma, 
Advocate was provided to the respondent/accused from Legal Aid. From the 
Vakalatnama of Shri O.P. Sharma, it is clear that it does not contain the signatures 
or name of any other Lawyer.

136. From the order sheet dated 14-2-2018 it is clear that Shri Arvind Chouhan, 
Advocate was heard on the question of framing of charges. Thus, it is held that 
Shri Arvind Chouhan, Advocate, in absence of any authority of law, was not 
competent to argue on behalf of respondent/accused on the question of framing of 
charges.

(1)  of Section 190;
(l) tries an offender;

(o) decides an appeal;

(n)  passes a sentence, under Section 325, on proceedings recorded 
by another Magistrate;
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141. In order to consider the fact as to whether any failure of justice was caused 
to the respondent/accused or not, it is necessary to consider the scope of 
interference at the stage of framing of charges. The Supreme Court in the case of 
Atma ram Vs. State of Rajasthan reported in (2019) 20 SCC 481 has held as under :

19. The emphasis was laid by Dr Manish Singhvi, learned Senior 
Advocate for the State on the articles relied upon by him to submit that 
the theory of “harmless error” which has been recognised in criminal 
jurisprudence and that there must be a remedial approach. Again, we 
need not go into these broader concepts as the provisions of the Code, in 
our considered view, are clearly indicative and lay down with clarity as 
to which infringements per se, would result in vitiation of proceedings. 
Chapter XXXV of the Code deals with “Irregular Proceedings”, and 
Section 461 stipulates certain infringements or irregularities which 
vitiate proceedings. Barring those stipulated in Section 461, the thrust of 
the Chapter is that any infringement or irregularity would not vitiate the 
proceedings unless, as a result of such infringement or irregularity, great 
prejudice had occasioned to the accused.......

(p) calls, under Section 397, for proceedings; or

140. Section 464 of Cr.P.C. reads as under :

(b) in the case of an error, omission or irregularity in the charge, 
direct a new trial to be had upon a charge framed in whatever manner 
it thinks fit:

139. Thus, if any irregularity or infringement falling under Section 461 of 
Cr.P.C. is committed by the Court below, only then such irregularity would vitiate 
the trial.

(q) revises an order passed under Section 446,

464. Effect of omission to frame, or absence of, or error in, charge.— 
(1) No finding, sentence or order by a Court of competent jurisdiction 
shall be deemed invalid merely on the ground that no charge was framed 
or on the ground of any error, omission or irregularity in the charge 
including any misjoinder of charges, unless, in the opinion of the Court of 
appeal, confirmation or revision, a failure of justice has in fact been 
occasioned thereby. 

(2) If the Court of appeal, confirmation or revision is of opinion that a 
failure of justice has in fact been occasioned, it may—

(a) in the case of an omission to frame a charge, order that a charge 
be framed and that the trial be recommenced from the point 
immediately after the framing of the charge;

Provided that if the Court is of opinion that the facts of the case are such 
that no valid charge could be preferred against the accused in respect of 
the facts proved, it shall quash the conviction.
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143. The Supreme Court in the case of Dilawar Balu Kurane v. State of 
Maharashtra, reported in (2002) 2 SCC 135 has held as under :

12. Now the next question is whether a prima facie case has been made 
out against the appellant. In exercising powers under Section 227 of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure, the settled position of law is that the Judge 
while considering the question of framing the charges under the said 
section has the undoubted power to sift and weigh the evidence for the 
limited purpose of finding out whether or not a prima facie case against 
the accused has been made out; where the materials placed before the 
court disclose grave suspicion against the accused which has not been 
properly explained the court will be fully justified in framing a charge 
and proceeding with the trial; by and large if two views are equally 
possible and the Judge is satisfied that the evidence produced before him 
while giving rise to some suspicion but not grave suspicion against the 
accused, he will be fully justified to discharge the accused, and in 
exercising jurisdiction under Section 227 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure, the Judge cannot act merely as a post office or a mouthpiece 
of the prosecution, but has to consider the broad probabilities of the case, 
the total effect of the evidence and the documents produced before the 
court but should not make a roving enquiry into the pros and cons of the 
matter and weigh the evidence as if he was conducting a trial (see Union 
of India v. Prafulla Kumar Samal).

142. Thus, in order to consider the submissions made by the Counsel for the 
respondent/accused, it is necessary to find out as to whether any “failure of 
justice” has occasioned to the respondent/ accused or not?

The Supreme Court in the case of Sheoraj Singh Ahlawat Vs. State of U.P. 
reported in (2013) 11 SCC 476 has held as under :

20. To the same effect is the decision of this Court in Union of India v. 
Prafulla Kumar Samal where this Court was examining a similar 
question in the context of Section 227 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure. The legal position was summed up as under: (SCC p. 9, para 
10)

“10. Thus, on a consideration of the authorities mentioned 
above, the following principles emerge:

(2) Where the materials placed before the court disclose grave 
suspicion against the accused which has not been properly 

(1) That the Judge while considering the question of framing the 
charges under Section 227 of the Code has the undoubted power 
to sift and weigh the evidence for the limited purpose of finding 
out whether or not a prima facie case against the accused has 
been made out.
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explained the court will be fully justified in framing a charge 
and proceeding with the trial.

(3) The test to determine a prima facie case would naturally 
depend upon the facts of each case and it is difficult to lay down 
a rule of universal application. By and large however if two 
views are equally possible and the Judge is satisfied that the 
evidence produced before him while giving rise to some 
suspicion but not grave suspicion against the accused, he will be 
fully within his right to discharge the accused.

(4) That in exercising his jurisdiction under Section 227 of the 
Code the Judge which under the present Code is a senior and 
experienced Judge cannot act merely as a post office or a 
mouthpiece of the prosecution, but has to consider the broad 
probabilities of the case, the total effect of the evidence and the 
documents produced before the court, any basic infirmities 
appearing in the case and so on. This however does not mean 
that the Judge should make a roving enquiry into the pros and 
cons of the matter and weigh the evidence as if he was 
conducting a trial.”

The Supreme Court in the case of State of Orissa Vs. Debendranath Padhi 
reported in (2005) 1 SCC 568 has held as under :

21. Coming then to the case at hand, the allegations made against the 
appellants are specific not only against the husband but also against the 
parents-in-law of the complainant wife. Whether or not those allegations 
are true is a matter which cannot be determined at the stage of framing of 
charges. Any such determination can take place only at the conclusion of 
the trial. This may at times put an innocent party, falsely accused of 
commission of an offence to avoidable harassment but so long as the 
legal requirement and the settled principles do not permit a discharge the 
court would find it difficult to do much, conceding that legal process at 
times is abused by unscrupulous litigants especially in matrimonial 
cases where the tendency has been to involve as many members of the 
family of the opposite party as possible. While such tendency needs to be 
curbed, the court will not be able to speculate whether the allegations 
made against the accused are true or false at the preliminary stage to be 
able to direct a discharge. Two of the appellants in this case happen to be 
the parents-in-law of the complainant who are senior citizens. Appellant 
1 who happens to be the father-in-law of the complainant wife has been a 
Major General, by all means, a respectable position in the Army. But the 
nature of the allegations made against the couple and those against the 
husband, appear to be much too specific to be ignored at least at the stage 
of framing of charges. The courts below, therefore, did not commit any 
mistake in refusing a discharge.
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18. We are unable to accept the aforesaid contention. The reliance on 
Articles 14 and 21 is misplaced. The scheme of the Code and object with 
which Section 227 was incorporated and Sections 207 and 207-A 
omitted have already been noticed. Further, at the stage of framing of 
charge roving and fishing inquiry is impermissible. If the contention of 
the accused is accepted, there would be a mini-trial at the stage of 
framing of charge. That would defeat the object of the Code. It is well 
settled that at the stage of framing of charge the defence of the accused 
cannot be put forth. The acceptance of the contention of the learned 
counsel for the accused would mean permitting the accused to adduce 
his defence at the stage of framing of charge and for examination thereof 
at that stage which is against the criminal jurisprudence. By way of 
illustration, it may be noted that the plea of alibi taken by the accused 
may have to be examined at the stage of framing of charge if the 
contention of the accused is accepted despite the well-settled proposition 
that it is for the accused to lead evidence at the trial to sustain such a plea. 
The accused would be entitled to produce materials and documents in 
proof of such a plea at the stage of framing of the charge, in case we 
accept the contention put forth on behalf of the accused. That has never 
been the intention of the law well settled for over one hundred years now. 
It is in this light that the provision about hearing the submissions of the 
accused as postulated by Section 227 is to be understood. It only means 
hearing the submissions of the accused on the record of the case as filed 
by the prosecution and documents submitted therewith and nothing 
more. The expression “hearing the submissions of the accused” cannot 
mean opportunity to file material to be granted to the accused and 
thereby changing the settled law. At the stage of framing of charge 
hearing the submissions of the accused has to be confined to the material 
produced by the police.

144. In the present case, the police had filed the charge sheet on 10-8-2017 on 
the basis of circumstantial evidence of Last Seen Together, Injury on the nose of 
the respondent/accused, F.S.L., Ex. P.31 according to which human skin was 
found in nail clippings of the deceased as well as human semen and sperms were 
found on cloths, and vaginal slide of the deceased, blood was found on the cloths, 
vaginal slide and swab, articles seized from the spot, nail clippings of the 
deceased, saliva mixed earth etc., another F.S.L. report Ex. P.32, F.S.L. report Ex. 
P.33 according to which the hairs were human hairs, and F.S.L. report, Ex. P.34 
according to which no poison was found in the viscera of the deceased as well as 
the post-mortem report, Ex. P.18 of the deceased, according to which not only she 
was raped but the death was homicidal in nature. The blood sample and cloths, 
vaginal slide/swab of the deceased etc were already sent for DNA test. 
Accordingly, Shri Vijay Dutt Sharma, Advocate was requested to point out as to 
whether the Documentary and Ocular evidence filed along with the charge-sheet 
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Whether the arrest of the respondent/accused was illegal or not?

148. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the respondent/ 
accused.

146. Accordingly, with a word of advice to the Trial Court, that it should ensure 
that only the Counsel engaged by the accused or Counsel provided to the accused 
by Legal Aid, must appear on behalf of the accused, it is held that since, no 
“prejudice” much less then (sic: than) “prejudice causing failure of justice” was 
caused to the respondent/ accused, therefore, there is no need to send the 
respondent/accused for re-trial from the stage of framing of charge.

145. If the documentary and ocular evidence filed by the prosecution along 
with the charge sheet is considered in the light of the well established law 
regarding scope of enquiry on the question of framing of charges, this Court is of 
the considered opinion, that no “prejudice resulting in failure of justice” was 
caused to the respondent/accused warranting re-trial from the stage of framing of 
charge. There was sufficient material available on record to raise a grave 
suspicion against the respondent/accused, that he might have committed the 
offence warranting his trial.

was not sufficient to raise a grave suspicion against the respondent/accused, 
warranting his trial, or there was no grave suspicion against the respondent/ 
accused ? It was replied by Shri Sharma, that he cannot say that whether the 
Counsel for the respondent/accused could have succeeded in persuading the Trial 
Court to discharge the accused or not.

147. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, that the accused 
was arrested on 6-7-2017 at 12:30 P.M. However, till that time, no material was 
available against him, therefore, it is clear that the arrest of the respondent/ 
accused was illegal and was made under the pressure of general public.

150. The Privy Council in the case of Parbhu Vs. King Emperor reported in 
AIR 1944 PC 73 has held that irregularity and illegality of arrest would not affect 
the culpability of the offence if the same is proved by cogent evidence.

151. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, that according 
to Hariram (P.W.1) the deceased was the student of Class 2, whereas according to 
Motiram Rajouriya (P.W.9), she was the student of Class 3.

149. Alok Singh (P.W.20) has stated that he had recorded the statement of 
Bheem (P.W. 4) on 5-7-2017. Thus, it is clear that the evidence of Last Seen 
Together was already available against the respondent/accused warranting his 
arrest. Thus, it cannot be said that the respondent/accused was arrested by the 
police, without there being any material against him.

Whether the deceased was student of Class 2 or Class 3

2202 I.L.R.[2021]M.P.In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj (DB)



152. It is clear from the birth certificate, Ex. P.16, that the deceased was 
admitted in class 1 on 16-6-2015. Thus, it is clear that she must have passed Class 
2 in the year 2017 itself, and since, the incident took place on 4-7-2017, therefore, 
if Hariram (P.W.1) has stated that the deceased was student of Class 2, then it 
cannot be said that it was such a mistake which would make the prosecution case 
untrustworthy. Further, the pivotal question in the present case is that whether the 
deceased was a student of Govt. Primary School, Nayagaon, or not? This fact has 
been proved by Motiram Rajouriya (P.W.9) by producing the school record of the 
deceased i.e., admission register, Ex. P.15C, Birth Certificate, Ex. P.16, Attendance 
register, Ex. P.17. Accordingly, it is held that evidence of Hariram (P.W.1) that the 
deceased was the student of Class 2 would not make any difference in the matter.

Effect of non-comparison of scalp hairs of the respondent/accused with the 
hairs found on the spot.

153. So far as the contention of the Counsel for the respondent/accused that 
since, scalp hairs of the respondent/accused were not compared with the hairs 
found on the spot is concerned, it is suffice to mention here that the DNA profile of 
the respondent/accused has been found on the cloths and vaginal slide and swab of 
the deceased. Even the DNA profile of the deceased was found on the cloths of the 
respondent/accused. The button found on the spot, has been found to be that of the 
shirt of the respondent/accused. It is once again clarified that it is the quality of 
evidence and not quantity of evidence, which decides the fate of a trial. DNA test 
is one of the authentic tests to find out the presence of DNA profile of the accused 
on incriminating articles. Further, the scalp hairs of the respondent/accused were 
sent to F.S.L., Sagar, but the same were returned back unopened. No question has 
been put to Dr. Pankaj Shrivastava (P.W. 24) in this regard. Under these 
circumstances, non-comparison of scalp hairs of the respondent/accused, with the 
hairs found on the spot, would not belie the prosecution case. 

Whether defence witnesses examined by respondent/accused are reliable 
witnesses, and whether the respondent/accused has proved his plea of alibi?

154. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused that he had 
examined Ms. Poonam (D.W.1) and Neetu (D.W.2), but their evidence has been 
discarded for no valid reason.

155. Heard the learned Counsel for the respondent/accused.

156. It is true that the evidence of a defence witness is also required to be 
appreciated in the same manner, in which the evidence of prosecution is 
appreciated. 

157. If the evidence of Poonam (D.W.1) is considered, then it is clear that she 
has stated that on 4-7-2017 at about 10:30 A.M., the respondent/accused had 
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158.  Neetu (D.W.2) has stated that respondent/accused had come on a Tempo 
and her house is at a distance of 10-15 minutes of walking from the place where 
the Tempos stop. She further admitted that Tempo stand is not visible from her 
house. She further stated that her sister namely Poonam (D.W.1) was having her 
mobile with her whereas respondent/accused was having his mobile. He was 
continuously using his mobile and was talking to various persons on mobile. She 
further admitted that the fact that respondent/accused had come to her house was 
not disclosed by her to any body. This witness on her own also clarified that this 
was not even informed to her mother.

come to her house at Gwalior by Tempo. On 4-7-2017 itself, she and her younger 
sister went to Quila along with the respondent/accused. The respondent/accused 
was having mobile with him but he did not receive any call and also did not talk to 
any body on his mobile. She further stated that she does not have any mobile. She 
further stated that even her family members were not knowing that the 
respondent/accused had gone with her for a walk. She further admitted that the 
brother of the respondent/accused had informed her that she has to come to Court 
for giving evidence. She further admitted that the fact of walking with 
respondent/accused was never disclosed by her to any body including her family 
members.

71 .........The plea of alibi in fact is required to be proved with certainty so 
as to completely exclude the possibility of the presence of the accused at 

160.  Further, the burden to prove the plea of alibi is on the accused to dislodge 
the prosecution evidence. The Supreme Court in the case of Jitender Kumar Vs. 
State of Haryana reported in (2012) 6 SCC 204 has held as under :

159. Thus, if the evidence of Poonam (D.W.1) and Neetu (D.W.2) are 
considered, then it is clear that there are material contradictions in their evidence. 
Poonam (D.W.1) has stated that she does not have mobile, whereas Neetu (D.W.2) 
has stated that Poonam (D.W.1) was having mobile with her. Further, Neetu 
(D.W.2) has admitted that the place where the Tempos stop is not visible from her 
house and is at a distance of 10-15 minutes of walking, therefore, it was not 
possible for these witnesses to claim that respondent/accused had come on a 
Tempo. Further, Neetu (D.W.2) on her own has said that the fact of visit of 
respondent/accused in the house of these two witnesses was not known even to 
her mother. They have also admitted that the fact of going on walk to Quila was 
also not disclosed to any body and for the first time, they are making such 
statement before the Court. Poonam (D.W.1) has also stated that they have come 
to depose on the instructions of brother of the respondent/accused. Accordingly in 
the light of the material contradictions in the evidence of Poonam (D.W.1) and 
Neetu (D.W.2), it is held that both the defence witnesses are not reliable and 
accordingly they are disbelieved.

2204 I.L.R.[2021]M.P.In Reference (Suo Motu) Vs. Manoj (DB)



The Supreme Court in the case of Mukesh v. State (NCT of Delhi), reported 
in (2017) 6 SCC 1 has held as under :

“The question is whether A committed a crime at Calcutta on a 
certain date; the fact that on that date, A was at Lahore is 
relevant.”

23. The Latin word alibi means “elsewhere” and that word is used for 
convenience when an accused takes recourse to a defence line that when 
the occurrence took place he was so far away from the place of 
occurrence that it is extremely improbable that he would have 
participated in the crime. It is a basic law that in a criminal case, in which 
the accused is alleged to have inflicted physical injury to another person, 
the burden is on the prosecution to prove that the accused was present at 
the scene and has participated in the crime. The burden would not be 
lessened by the mere fact that the accused has adopted the defence of 
alibi. The plea of the accused in such cases need be considered only 
when the burden has been discharged by the prosecution satisfactorily. 
But once the prosecution succeeds in discharging the burden it is 
incumbent on the accused, who adopts the plea of alibi, to prove it with 
absolute certainty so as to exclude the possibility of his presence at the 
place of occurrence. When the presence of the accused at the scene of 
occurrence has been established satisfactorily by the prosecution 
through reliable evidence, normally the court would be slow to believe 
any counter-evidence to the effect that he was elsewhere when the 
occurrence happened. But if the evidence adduced by the accused is of 
such a quality and of such a standard that the court may entertain some 
reasonable doubt regarding his presence at the scene when the 
occurrence took place, the accused would, no doubt, be entitled to the 

the place of occurrence and in the house which was the home of their 
relatives. (Ref. Sk. Sattar v. State of Maharashtra)

22. We must bear in mind that an alibi is not an exception (special or 
general) envisaged in the Indian Penal Code or any other law. It is only a 
rule of evidence recognised in Section 11 of the Evidence Act that facts 
which are inconsistent with the fact in issue are relevant. Illustration (a) 
given under the provision is worth reproducing in this context:

The Supreme Court in the case of Binay Kumar Singh Vs. State of Bihar 
reported in (1997) 1 SCC 283 has held as under :

257. While weighing the plea of “alibi”, the same has to be weighed 
against the positive evidence led by the prosecution i.e. not only the 
substantive evidence of PW 1 and the dying declarations, Ext. PW-27/A 
and Ext. PW- 30/D-1, but also against the scientific evidence viz. the 
DNA analysis, fingerprint analysis and bite marks analysis, the accuracy 
of which is scientifically acclaimed.........
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benefit of that reasonable doubt. For that purpose, it would be a sound 
proposition to be laid down that, in such circumstances, the burden on 
the accused is rather heavy. It follows, therefore, that strict proof is 
required for establishing the plea of alibi. This Court has observed so on 
earlier occasions (vide Dudh Nath Pandey v. State of U.P.; State of 
Maharashtra v. Narsingrao Gangaram Pimple.

Whether death sentence is liable to be confirmed or not?

164. Per contra, the Counsel for the State supported the death sentence 
awarded to the respondent/accused. It is submitted that the respondent/accused is 
the cousin brother of the minor deceased aged about 8 years. By committing rape 
on her, he has not only broken the brother and sister relationship but also sent a 
wave of shivering in the Society because now even a small girl aged about 7-8 
years is not secure in the Society and cannot live her childhood freely and without 
any fear. Even the cousin brother has not hesitated in committing rape and 
thereafter brutally murdering his cousin sister. It is further submitted that even 
after committing rape, the respondent / accused did not show remorse and all the 
time, was trying to project himself as an innocent person, by projecting to search 
the minor deceased along with other residents of the village. It is submitted that 
such persons are danger/threat to the Civilized Society, therefore, the Trial Court 
has rightly awarded the death sentence.

163. It is submitted by the Counsel for the respondent/accused, that the case in 
hand does not fall within the category of “rarest of rare” cases. It appears that 
while committing rape, the respondent/accused might have gagged the mouth of 
the deceased, so that she may not raise an alarm, which unfortunately resulted in 
smothering. It is submitted that there is nothing on record to suggest that there is 
no possibility of improvement on the part of the respondent/accused. The Trial 
Court did not consider the aggravating and mitigating circumstances to decide the 
question of sentence. It is further submitted that the Trial Court must have been 
swayed by the public opinion, which cannot be approved.

161. Since, it has already been held that Poonam (D.W.1) and Neetu (D.W.2) 
are unreliable and untrustworthy witnesses, therefore, it is held that the 
respondent/accused has failed in discharging his burden to prove “plea of alibi”.

162. Thus, in view of the above mentioned discussion, this Court is of the 
considered opinion, that the prosecution has succeeded in establishing the guilt of 
the respondent/accused for offence under Section 366, 376-A, 302, 201 of I.P.C. 
and under Section 5(L) read with Section 6 of POCSO Act and therefore, the 
conviction of the respondent/accused by the Trial Court, for the above mentioned 
offences is hereby affirmed.

165. Considered the submissions made by the Counsel for the parties.
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166. First of all, this Court would like to find out as to whether a proper 
opportunity of hearing was given to the respondent/accused on the question 
sentence or not?

Jh vks-ih- 'kekZ vf/koDrkA

8-05-2019  jkT; dh vksj ls Jh eukst tSu fo'ks"k yksd vfHk;kstdA

1-  vkjksih eukst iztkifr dks /kkjk ds vkjksi ds 
fy, ds lJe dkjkokl ,oa 

es vkjksih dks 01 ekg dk vfrfjDr lJe dkjkokl 
Hkqxrk;k tkosA

167. Order sheet dated 8-5-2019 passed by the Trial Court reads as under :

vkjksih eukst iztkifr U;kf;d vfHkj{kk es tsy ls is'k lfgr

izdj.k fu.kZ; gsrq fu;r gSA
izdj.k es fu.kZ; i`Fkd ls Vafdr djk;k tkdj [kqys 

U;k;ky; es ?kksf"kr] gLrk{kfjr ,oa fnukafdr fd;k x;k A fu.kZ;kuqlkj vkjksih 
eukst iztkifr dks Hkk-n-la- dh /kkjk 366]376d]302 ,oa 201 rFkk /kkjk 5,y 
lgifBr /kkjk 6 ySafxd vijk/kksa ls ckydksa dk lja{k.k vf/kfu;e 2012 ds 
vkjksi es nks"kfl} Bgjk;k x;kA

3-  vkjksih eukst iztkifr dks ds vkjksi es 
^^ ls nafMr fd;k tkrk gS vkSj blds fy, vkjksih dks 

dh ltk dk fdz;kUo;u rc rd u fd;k tk, tc rd fd ekuuh; 
mPp U;k;ky; }kjk bldh iqf"V u dj nh tkosA

4-  vkjksih eukst iztkifr dks /kkjk ds vkjksi ds 
fy, ds lJe dkjkokl ,oa 

es vkjksih dks dk vfrfjDr lJe dkjkokl ls 
nf.Mr fd;k x;kA-------------------------------

2-  vkjksih eukst iztkifr dks /kkjk 

vkSj blds fy, vkjksih dks 

;g mYys[k fd;k tkrk gS fd e`R;qn.M dh ltk dk fdz;kUo;u rc 
rd u fd;k tk, tc rd fd ekuuh; mPp U;k;ky; }kjk bldh 
iqf"V u dj nh tkosA
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168.  From the above order sheet, it is clear that there is no mention of the fact 
that after holding the respondent/accused guilty of offence under Sections 366, 
376-A, 302, 201 of I.P.C. and under Section 5(L) read with Section 6 of POCSO 
Act, the further proceedings were deferred for hearing on the question of 
sentence. Although from the judgment, it appears that the case was deferred for 
hearing on the question of sentence.

169. In absence of any such observation in the order sheet, it appears that no 
effective hearing was given to the respondent/accused on the question of 
sentence. Further, in order to give an opportunity of effective hearing to the 
accused, the Trial Court, must express its intentions to award Death Sentence, so 
that the accused may also argue on the question of sentence in the light of 
“Aggravating” and “Mitigating” Circumstances.

170. Although the sentence was also imposed on the very same day, on which 
the respondent/accused was held guilty, but there is no impediment in law in doing 
so. The Supreme Court in the case of Mohd. Mannan v. State of Bihar, reported in 
(2019) 16 SCC 584 has held as under :

77. Imposition of death sentence on the same day after 
pronouncement of the judgment and order of conviction may 
not, in itself, vitiate the sentence, provided the convict is given a 
meaningful and effective hearing on the question of sentence 
under Section 235(2) CrPC with opportunity to bring on record 
mitigating factors.

It has been further held in the case of Mohd. Mannan (Supra) that :

39. For effective hearing under Section 235(2) of the Code 
of Criminal Procedure, the suggestion that the court intends to 
impose death penalty should specifically be made to the 
accused, to enable the accused to make an effective representation 
against death sentence, by placing mitigating circumstances 
before the Court. This has not been done. The trial court made 
no attempt to elicit relevant facts. Nor did the trial court give any 
opportunity to the petitioner the opportunity to file an affidavit 
placing on record mitigating factors. As such the petitioner has 
been denied an effective hearing.

The Supreme Court in the case of Dattatraya v. State of Maharashtra, 
reported in (2020) 14 SCC 290 has held as under :

123. There can be no doubt that rape and murder of a 5- year-old 
girl shocks the conscience. It is barbaric. There is, however, no 
evidence to support the finding that the murder was pre-
meditated. The petitioner did not carry any weapon. The 
possibility that the appellant-accused might not have realised 
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that his act could lead to death cannot altogether be ruled out. 
Moreover, the trial court has apparently not considered the 
question of whether the crime is the rarest of rare crimes as 
mandated by the Supreme Court in Bachan Singh.

124. In Rajendra Pralhadrao Wasnik v. State of Maharashtra 
the Court commuted the death sentence, in a case of rape and 
murder of a three-year-old child to life imprisonment, inter alia, 
observing that the case did not fall in the category of the rarest of 
the rare.

125. As argued by the learned counsel appearing on behalf 
of the petitioner, the High Court found the offence to be in the 
category of the rarest of rare cases, having regard to the nature of 
the offence and the age of the victim.

126. The counsel for the appellant-accused submitted that 
the brutality of the crime and age of the victim was not ground 
enough to inflict death sentence. The learned counsel submitted 
that the petitioner had been convicted on circumstantial 
evidence, based on faulty investigation.

127. However, as observed above, the forensic evidence 
construed in the light of the evidence of PW 18, Asha, wife of 
the appellant-accused, that the appellant-accused had confessed 
to the crime to her, establishes the guilt of the appellant-accused 
and death sentence can be imposed even where conviction is 
based on circumstantial evidence, provided the case falls in the 
category of the rarest of rare and there are no mitigating 
circumstances and no possibility of reform or rehabilitation of 
the convict.

128. On analogy of the reasoning in Rajendra Pralhadrao 
Wasnik v. State of Maharashtra, this Court is constrained to 
hold that this case does not fall in the category of the rarest of 
rare cases. Moreover, the appellant-accused was not defended 
effectively. The lawyer representing the appellant-accused only 
pleaded not guilty, emphasising that there was no eyewitness to 
the incident and sought leniency only on the ground of the age of 
the appellant-accused which was 53 years.

129. The appellant-accused neither sought nor was given 
the opportunity to file any affidavit placing on record relevant 
mitigating circumstances. The legal assistance availed by the 
appellant-accused was patently not satisfactory and he was not 
accompanied by a social worker. No attempt was made to place 
on record mitigating circumstances. No argument was advanced 
to the effect that there was no similar case against the appellant-
accused. In the absence of any arguments, the trial court did not 
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134. There can be no doubt that the rape and murder of a five 
years old child is absolutely heinous and barbaric, but as 
observed above, it cannot be said to be in the category of rarest 
of rare cases.

(Underline supplied)

(Underline supplied)

131. As held in Dagdu irrespective of whether these issues 
were raised on behalf of the accused, the Court is obliged on its 
own to elicit facts relevant to the question of existence of 
mitigating circumstances. The Court made no attempt to elicit 
any facts relevant to the sentence.

135. In Mulla v. State of U.P., this Court has affirmed that it is 
open to the Court to prescribe the length of incarceration. This is 
especially true in cases where death sentence has been replaced 
by the life imprisonment. This Court observed: (SCC p. 538, 
para 85)

130. Considering the nature of the crime against a five- 
year-old child, the trial court imposed the extreme penalty of 
death without deciding the question of whether there was no 
alternative to imposing death sentence on the appellant-
accused. There is no finding that in the absence of death 
sentence, the appellant-accused would continue to be a threat to 
the society. The question of whether the appellant-accused could 
be reformed, had not at all been considered.

consider the question of whether the appellant-accused could be 
reformed.

132. For effective hearing under Section 235(2) of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure, the suggestion that the court 
intends to impose death penalty should specifically be made to 
the accused, to enable the accused to make an effective 
representation against death sentence, by placing mitigating 
circumstances before the Court. This has not been done. The 
trial court made no attempt to elicit relevant facts, nor did the 
trial court give any opportunity to the petitioner to file an 
affidavit placing on record mitigating factors. As such the 
petitioner has been denied an effective hearing.

133. Contrary to the dictum of this Court, inter alia, in Dagdu 
and Santa Singh the petitioner was not given a real, effective 
and meaningful hearing on the question of sentence under 
Section 235(2) CrPC. The death sentence imposed on the 
petitioner is liable to be commuted to life imprisonment on this 
ground.
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136. Even though life imprisonment means imprisonment 
for entire life, convicts are often granted reprieve and/or 
remission of sentence after imprisonment of not less than 14 
years. In this case, considering the heinous, revolting, abhorrent 
and despicable nature of the crime committed by the appellant, 
we feel that the appellant should undergo imprisonment for life, 
till his natural death and no remission of sentence be granted to 
him. 

137. For the above reasons, we are of the view that the 
present appeals are one of such cases where we would be 
justified in holding that confinement till natural life of the 
appellant-accused shall fulfil the requisite criteria of punishment 
considering the peculiar facts and circumstances of the present 
case. Accordingly, the death sentence awarded by the trial court 
is hereby modified to “life imprisonment” i.e. imprisonment for 
the natural life of the appellant herein. The appeals are allowed 
accordingly to the extent indicated above.

172. Under these circumstances, this Court finds it difficult to confirm the 
Death Sentence awarded to the respondent/accused.

174. The Supreme Court in the case of Dattatraya (Supra) after considering the 
effect of non-grant of effective opportunity of hearing on the question of sentence 
and in the case of Mohd. Mannan (Supra), has awarded Life Imprisonment till the 
natural death.

“85. ... The court should be free to determine the length 
of imprisonment which will suffice the offence 
committed.”     (emphasis supplied)

(Underline supplied)

171. If the order sheet dated 8-5-2019 is considered, then it is clear that no 
effective hearing on the question of sentence as required under Section 235(2) of 
Cr.P.C. was given to the respondent/accused. No suggestion was given to the 
respondent/accused, that the Trial Court is intending to award Death Sentence, so 
as to give an opportunity to the respondent/accused to argue in the light of 
“Aggravating” and “Mitigating” circumstances. Even the Trial Court has not 
considered the “Mitigating” circumstances.

173. If the allegations, which have been found proved against the respondent/ 
accused are considered, then it is clear that not only he has violated the pious 
relationship of brother and sister, but also committed rape on his 8 years old minor 
cousin sister and also killed her. Thereafter, in order to project himself as an 
innocent person, he was projecting that he is also trying to search for the deceased.
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180. The CRRFC No.8/2019 is answered accordingly and Cr.A. No.4554/ 2019 
is Partly Allowed to the extent mentioned above.

178. The respondent/accused/appellant in Cr.A. No.4554/2019 namely Manoj 
Prajapati, is in jail. He shall undergo the remaining jail sentence till his natural 
death.

177. With aforesaid modification in sentence, the judgment dated 8-5-2019 
passed by Xth Additional Sessions Judge/Special Judge (POCSO Act), Gwalior 
in Special Sessions Trial No.130/2017 is hereby affirmed.

176. Before parting with this judgment, this Court would like to record its 
appreciation for the assistance rendered by Shri Padam Singh and Shri Vijay Dutt 
Sharma, Advocates, who tried their level best to point out each and every minor 
discrepancy in the evidence of the prosecution in order to effectively put forward 
the case of the respondent/ accused.

179. A copy of this Judgment be immediately sent to the respondent/ 
accused/Appellant in Cr.A. No.4554/2019, Manoj Prajapati, free of cost.

175. Therefore, the death sentence awarded by the Trial Court to the 
respondent/accused is hereby commuted to Life Imprisonment till his natural 
death. The respondent/accused shall not be entitled for any remission.

Order accordingly

AMAR SINGH & ors.  …Appellants

CRA No. 660/2008 (Jabalpur) decided on 16 September, 2021

APPELLATE CRIMINAL 
I.L.R. [2021] M.P. 2212 (DB)

(Paras 18, 20 & 23 to 28)

Vs.

Before Mr. Justice Atul Sreedharan & Smt. Justice Sunita Yadav

STATE OF M.P.     …Respondent

A. Penal Code (45 of 1860), Section 302 & 201 – Circumstantial 
Evidence – Last Seen Theory, Seized Weapons & Motive of Crime – Held – Last 
seen theory not proved – No blood found on seized weapons allegedly used 
for murder – No cogent evidence to prove the motive of offence – When 
prosecution is based on circumstantial evidence, motive behind crime 
becomes important – Prosecution failed to prove each of the links in the chain 
of circumstances or that the proved circumstances point unmistakably to the 
guilt of accused – Conviction and sentence set aside – Appeal allowed. 
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B.� Penal Code (45 of 1860), Section 302 & 201 – Circumstantial 
Evidence – Scope – Held – There must be a chain of evidence so complete as 
not to leave any reasonable ground for a conclusion consistent with the 
innocence of accused and it must be such as to show that within all human 
probability the act must have been done by accused – All links in the chain of 
circumstances must be complete and should be proved through cogent 
evidence. �  (Para 9)

x- nkf.Md fopkj.k & lcwr dk ekud & 

Devdatt Bhave, appeared as Amicus Curiae for the appellants. 

[k- n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk 302 o 201 & ifjfLFkfrtU; lk{; & 
O;kfIr & 

Manhar Dixit, P.L. for the respondent/State. 

Case referred:

d- n.M lafgrk ¼1860 dk 45½] /kkjk 302 o 201 & ifjfLFkfrtU; lk{; & 
vafre ckj ns[ks tkus dk fl)kar] tCr'kqnk 'kL= o vijk/k dk gsrq & 

C.� Criminal Trial – Standard of Proof – Held – Standard of proof 
in a criminal trial is proof beyond reasonable doubt because the right to 
personal liberty of a citizen can never be taken away by the standard of 
preponderance of probability – Apex Court concluded that suspicion, 
however strong, cannot take place of legal proof. (Para 23)

(2012) 9 SCC 257.
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2. Being aggrieved by the judgment and order dated 01.03.2008 passed in 
Sessions Trial No.152/2004 and supplementary Sessions Trial No.75/2005 by the 
learned First Additional Sessions Judge to the First Sessions Judge, Panna (M.P.) 
by which appellants Amar Singh (since deceased), Halke, Raju @ Rajaram and 
Raju @ Baghela have been convicted for the offence punishable under Sections 
302 and 201 of the Indian Penal Code and sentenced to undergo life imprisonment 
and fine of Rs.50,000/- and rigorous imprisonment for two years and fine of 
Rs.2000/- each, respectively, in default of payment of fine, the appellants were 
directed to undergo additional rigorous imprisonment for 5 years under Section 
302 of the Indian Penal Code and rigorous imprisonment for 2 months under 
Section 201 of the Indian Penal Code, the present appeal has been filed by the 
aforesaid appellants.

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by :

J U D G M E N T

SUNITA YADAV, J. :- As per letter No.06/Warrant-1/2021 dated 01.04.2021 of 
Superintendent, Central Jail, Satna (M.P.), it appears that appellant no.1 Amar 
Singh S/o Rambharose Singh has died during the pendency of this appeal on 
30.04.2021. Therefore, this appeal so far it relates to appellant no.1 Amar Singh, is 
abated.

3. The prosecution case in nutshell is that on 21.06.2004, the SHO Devendra 
Nagar District-Panna received an information that a beheaded dead body was 
floating in Satna river below the Itwa bridge. It was also informed that a stone was 
tied up with the body with the help of electric wires on the chest and a torn banyan 
was wrapped around the chest and the head of the dead body was lying in the 
nearby field of one Radhelal Kushwaha. After getting the information, the SHO 
Devendra Nagar reached the spot and recorded a Dehati Naleshi. The said Dehati 
Naleshi was sent to P.S. Devendra Nagar District-Panna, on the basis of which, 
Marg No.17/04 as well as Crime No.85/04 was registered against the unknown 
person. After preparing the inquest report/Panchnama, the body was sent for 
postmortem. On 24.06.2004, one Sushil Bilthariya submitted an application to 
SHO Devendra Nagar stating that his brother Ashok Bilthariya was missing from 
the Ashram of Dunha Baba Amar Singh. In that application, it was further stated 
that Halke Vishwakarma, Ashok Singh Thakur, Raju Dhimar, Mahesh Dhimar, 
Bhushan Singh Thakur, Raju Kushwaha, Bablu Singh and Santosh Singh were 
working in the Ashram of Dunha Baba along with Ashok Bilthariya. It was further 
mentioned that the missing person Ashok Bilthariya along with Halke 
Vishwakarma had come to the house of applicant Sushil at Champa on 16.06.2004 
and after having meals in the night, both Halke and Ashok went to the Ashram of 
Amar Singh.
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8. On the other hand the learned counsel for the State argued that the 
prosecution has successfully proved the chain of circumstances to connect the 
appellants with the offence. Therefore, the impugned judgment convicting and 
sentencing the appellants should be sustained.

4. In the said application, it was also stated that on inquiring from Amar 
Singh, Santosh Singh and Halke Vishwakarma, different versions were being 
given by them. Subsequently, on 25.06.2004 another application was submitted 
by Sushil Bilthariya to the SHO stating that the dead body found on 21.06.2004 
might be that of his brother Ashok Bilthariya. Later on, the dead body was 
identified by Prabhudayal (PW-4) Shri Kumar (PW-13) and Rajkumar Bilthariya 
to be that of Ashok Bilthariya.

7. The learned counsel for the appellants has submitted that the trial court 
failed to consider that the prosecution could not prove the death of Ashok 
Bilthariya as the identification of the dead body is not proved. The trial Court has 
also failed to consider the origin of the blood group of the deceased which is said 
to have been found with the seized articles. The chain of circumstances is broken 
from the fact that the seizure of axe from co-accused Santosh Singh did not 
contain any blood stains. He further submitted that the trial court has also failed to 
consider that there is no material evidence to prove that the deceased was having 
an illicit relation with the niece of Amar Singh. The motive is based on suspicion 
which cannot take place of a positive proof. No motive has been attributed to the 
present appellants.

5. Further case of prosecution is that deceased Ashok Bilthariya was having 
illicit relations with the niece of Baba Amar Singh on account of which he was 
killed on 18.06.2004 and after beheading the body, the same was taken in a Jeep 
bearing Registration No. MP 19-E/7384. The beheaded body was tied up along 
with the stone with electric wires and was thrown in the river. The decapitated 
head of the body was thrown in a field. During the course of investigation, clothes 
of deceased along with weapons axe and farsa used for committing the crime 
were seized at the instance of the accused persons. The seized articles were sent 
for Forensic Examination.

6. After completion of investigation, charge sheet was filed against the 
appellants/accused along with other co-accused persons. The trial Court framed 
charge against the appellants and other co-accused persons which was denied by 
them. At the time of filing of charge sheet, accused Bhushan Singh, Bablu @ 
Ravendra and Mahesh Dhimar were found to be absconding. During the course of 
trial, two co-accused persons namely Bhushan and Bablu @ Ravendra were 
arrested and a supplementary charge sheet was filed by the police. Thereafter, 
both the trials were clubbed and a common judgment was pronounced on 
01.03.2008.
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12. Dr. P. Shrivastava (PW-14) has conducted the postmortem on the body of 
the deceased. According to the doctor, while examining the dead body, he found 
an incised wound measuring 11cm x 5cm x 11.5cm round shaped on the back of 
the neck. He further stated that because of this injury, the head got severed from 
the torso. The injury was ante mortem and was caused by a sharp object. The death 
was homicidal in nature and the injury was sufficient to cause the death. In the 
light of the evidence as discussed above, it is proved that the body which was 
found was that of Ashok. The death of Ashok was homicidal in nature and was 
caused by some sharp edged weapon.

13. The prosecution has relied upon following circumstances to link the 
appellants with the crime;

10. Baori Bai (PW-7) and Braj Kishore (PW-8) are the witnesses who saw the 
body of the deceased first. These witnesses have stated that after seeing the dead 
body in the river, Chowkidar of the village was informed. Chowkidar Bukiya @ 
Shivbalak (PW-9) has deposed that after getting the information about the dead 
body which was floating in the river, he informed the police of Devendra Nagar. 
The police arrived and recovered the dead body and the decapitated head of the 
body.

9. In the light of above arguments rendered by opposite parties, we have 
carefully examined the prosecution evidence. The prosecution on its behalf 
examined as many as 18 witnesses to prove its case. On perusal of the evidence 
produced by the prosecution, it is clear that the present case is based on 
circumstantial evidence. It is well settled law that where there is no direct evidence 
against the accused and the prosecution rests its case on circumstantial evidence, 
the inference of guilt can be justified only when all the incriminating facts and 
circumstances are found to be incompatible with the innocence of the accused. In 
other words, there must be a chain of evidence so complete as not to leave any 
reasonable ground for a conclusion consistent with the innocence of the accused 
and it must be such as to show that within all human probability the act must have 
been done by the accused. All the links in the chain of circumstances must be 
complete and should be proved through cogent evidence.

11. Vinod Sonkiya (PW-10), the then Tehsildar, has deposed that he got the 
dead body identified by Prabhudayal (PW-4), Sushil Kumar (PW-12) and Shri 
Kumar (PW-13). These witnesses have corroborated the statement of Vinod 
Sonkiya (PW-10) and deposed that they had identified the body and found that the 
dead body was that of Ashok Bilthariya. Nothing came out in the cross-
examinations of above witnesses which goes to the root of the prosecution story. 
Hence, the argument of the defence counsel is not tenable that the identification of 
the dead body is not proved.
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18. After going through the evidence of Parvati (PW-3), Siyaram (PW-6) and 
Sushil Kumar (PW-12), it is clear that all the above witnesses had seen the 

th
deceased Ashok with the accused/appellant Halke on 16  June, 2004 for the last 

thtime. However, as per the prosecution case, on 18  June, 2004 Asharam (PW-5) 
had taken the deceased Ashok on his tractor to the Ashram of Dunha which, 

14. The prosecution has produced Parvati (PW-3), Asharam (PW-5), Siyaram 
(PW-6) and Sushil Kumar (PW-12) to prove that deceased Ashok was with 
accused/appellant Halke when they saw the deceased for the last time.

15. Parvati (PW-3), who is the sister of the deceased has stated that she had 
two brothers. The deceased was her elder brother and Sushil (PW-12) is her 

thyounger brother. Deceased Ashok worked in Dunha Baba Ashram. On 16  June, 
his brother Ashok came to the house along with a Barhai (carpenter) and asked her 
to cook food for them. She prepared the food and offered her brother to have it but 
her brother refused saying that he would rather have his dinner at the Ashram of 
Dunha Baba. Thereafter she packed the food in a polythene and handed it over to 
her brother Ashok. After taking the food, her brother left the house and never 
come back. During recording her court statement, this witness has identified the 
accused Halke as the barhai (carpenter) who had visited her house with Ashok 
that day.

16. Sushil Kumar (PW-12) has corroborated the statement of Parvati (PW-3), 
who is his sister, and deposed that on 16.06.2004, he saw his brother Ashok for the 
last time when he along with accused/appellant Halke Vishwakarma came to his 
house. This witness has stated that he saw Ashok and Halke carrying their food. 
Ashok and Halke left the house saying that they were going to the Ashram of 
Dunha Baba. Next morning, he got to know that on the previous night his brother 
Ashok had stayed in the house of Siyaram (PW-6). After that day, his brother 
Ashok never returned.

th
17. Siyaram (PW-6) has testified that on 16  June, 2004 deceased Ashok and 
accused/appellant Halke came to his house. Ashok asked him to fetch food and 
when he expressed his inability, Ashok went to his own house and brought some 
food. Halke and Ashok had their dinner in his house and slept in the same house. 
Next morning, Halke and Ashok left his house saying that they were going 
towards Dunha. After that, he had never seen Ashok.

(1) Deceased Ashok was last seen with the accused/appellant Halke and both 
the deceased and the accused/appellant Halke went to the Ashram of accused 
Amar Singh.

(2) The weapon used in the crime, the clothes and shoes of the deceased were 
recovered at the instance of accused persons.
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21. In the light of the above discussion, the finding of the trial Court that the 
deceased Ashok was last seen on 16.06.2004 by the prosecution witnesses Parvati 
(PW-3), Siyaram (PW-6) and Sushil Kumar (PW-12) is found to be contrary to the 
evidence available on record.

23. Seizure of incriminating articles at the instance of accused persons is the 
second circumstance to connect the appellants with the crime. The prosecution 
has produced Shri Kumar (PW-13) to the alleged recoveries at the instance of 
accused persons. According to this witness, a piece of wire was seized before him 
at the instance of accused Ashok Singh as per Ex.P/25. He further stated that in 

according to the prosecution story, had been run by the accused Amar Singh. 
Consequently, it is not proved that Parvati (PW-3), Siyaram (PW-6) and Sushil 
Kumar (PW-12) had seen the deceased on 16.06.2004 for the last time because the 
deceased Ashok was seen by PW-5 Asharam on 18.06.2004. Since Asharam  
(PW-5) is the person who, according to the prosecution story, saw the deceased 
Ashok on 18.06.2004 for the last time; therefore, the evidence of this witness is 
very significant for the prosecution to prove the circumstance of last seen 
together.

20. Asharam (PW-5) has been declared as hostile by the prosecution. During 
the cross-examination, this witness has not supported the case of prosecution that 
the deceased Ashok had gone to the Ashram of Dunha on his tractor along with 
appellant Halke. Consequently, the first circumstance, the prosecution has relied 
upon, that the deceased was last seen with the appellant Halke and they both went 
to the Ashram of Amar Singh is not proved.

19. PW-5 Asharam in his Court evidence has deposed that he used to drive the 
tractor of accused/appellant Amar Singh. He doesn't know the employees, who 
worked in the Ashram of Amar Singh. In the month of June, he went to Devendra 
Nagar by his tractor. There were many passengers on his tractor. Deceased Ashok 
was also traveling on his tractor. Deceased Ashok along with other passengers had 
alighted at Devendra Nagar Square (Chauraha).

22. As per the prosecution story, the appellants Halke, Raju @ Rajaram and 
Raju @ Baghela were the employees of the appellant Amar Singh (since 
deceased) but no corroborative evidence like pay roll, service contracts, work 
assigned to them etc. are produced by the prosecution to prove this fact. PW-5 
Asharam who used to drive the tractor of accused/appellant Amar Singh has not 
supported the prosecution story that the appellants Halke, Raju @ Rajaram and 
Raju @ Baghela worked in the Ashram of Amar Singh. Therefore, it is not proved 
that the present appellants Halke, Raju @ Rajaram and Raju @ Baghela worked in 
the Ashram of Amar Singh as his employees and were under obligation to obey his 
directions.
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pursuance to the disclosure of Raju Dhimar, a lower of tracksuit was seized as per 
Ex.P/27 and one spade along with a pickaxe were seized as per Ex.P/31 at the 
instance of accused Raju @ Rajaram. It is evident from the perusal of the material 
available on record and the seizure memos Ex.P/25, Ex.P/27 and Ex.P/31 that the 
said articles were allegedly seized from the open place, spade and pickaxe were 
seized from the open land of the Ashram and not from the temples of the Ashram. 
As per PW-13 Shri Kumar, the Ashram is surrounded by the fields. All the places 
surrounded by the Ashram are the places where anyone can have access and the 
witnesses have also accepted that the seized articles are easily available in the 
market. The articles seized were sent to the State Forensic Science Laboratory, 
Sagar for the Serological test. The FSL report is Exhibit-P/67. A perusal of the said 
report, reveals that no blood was found on the seized articles i.e spade, axe and 
pickaxe allegedly used to commit the murder of Ashok. Therefore, from the 
solitary circumstance of the alleged recovery of the articles as described above 
does not prove the guilt of appellants without any other incriminating 
circumstance to complete the chain. Standard of proof in a criminal trial is proof 
beyond reasonable doubt because the right to personal liberty of a citizen can 
never be taken away by the standard of preponderance of probability. In 
Subramanian Swamy Vs. A.Raja (2012) 9 SCC 257 it was held that suspicion, 
however strong, cannot take the place of legal proof.

24. When the prosecution is based on circumstantial evidence, the motive 
behind the crime becomes important. In this case, as per prosecution story, the 
deceased Ashok had an illicit relationship with the niece of the accused/appellant 
Amar Singh but the prosecution has failed to produce cogent evidence to prove 
the motive as mentioned above. Parvati (PW-3) who is the sister of the deceased 
Ashok, has stated that she was not aware of the fact that her brother Ashok was 
beaten up because of his relationship with the niece of accused/appellant Amar 
Singh.

25. Sushil Kumar (PW-12) in his Court evidence at para 4 has stated that he 
came to know that 10 to 15 days before the date of incident, accused/appellant 
Amar Singh had beaten up Ashok because he had a doubt that Ashok was having 
an affair with his niece. But when we compare his court statement with the police 
statement, it reveals that there is an omission in his police statement on this fact 
which shows that this witness has improvised his court statement. The evidence of 
this witness on this point is also based on hearsay evidence and he has not even 
disclosed the source of information about the alleged affair between the deceased 
and the niece of Amar Singh. Therefore, his Court statement about the alleged 
illicit relationship between the deceased Ashok and niece of Amar Singh being the 
motive behind the crime is also not found to be trustworthy. Moreover the 
appellant Amar Singh died during the pendency of this appeal and no motive has 
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26. The net result of the above discussion is that the prosecution has not been 
able to prove each of the links in the chain of circumstances or that the proved 
circumstances point unmistakably to the guilt of the appellants. Therefore, the 
trial Court erred in convicting the appellants for the offence under Sections         
302, 201 of IPC.

29. Before parting this case, we record our appreciation to , Mr. Devdatt Bhave
Advocate who has appeared as amicus curiae in this case and assisted this Court.

been attributed to the present appellants Halke, Raju @ Rajaram and Raju @ 
Baghela by the prosecution.

27. Consequently, the impugned judgment of the trial Court and the order of 
sentence are accordingly set aside. The appellants Halke, Raju @ Rajaram and 
Raju @ Baghela are accordingly acquitted of the offences punishable under 
Sections 302, 201 of IPC.

Appeal allowed

28. Resultantly, the appeal is allowed. The bail bonds and surety bonds of 
appellants Halke, Raju @ Rajaram and Raju @ Baghela stand discharged.
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